

This document is a machine translation of Russian text which has been processed by the AN/GSQ-16(XW-2) Machine Translator, owned and operated by the United States Air Fórce. The machine output has been postedited to correct for major ambiguities of meaning, words missing from the machine's dictionary, and words out of the context of meaning. The sentence word order has been partially rearranged for readability. The content of this translation does not indicate editorial accuracy, nor does it indicate USAF approval or disapproval of the material translated.

FTD-MT- 64-115

EDITED MACHINE TRANSLATION

ELECTRONIC ANALOG COMPUTERS AND THEIR APPLICATION FOR INVESTIGATION OF AUTOMATIC CONTROL SYSTEMS

BY: B. Ya. Kogan

English Pages: 521

THIS TRANSLATION IS A RENDITION OF THE ORIGI-NAL POREIGN TEXT WITHOUT ANY ANALYTICAL OR EDITORIAL COMMENT. STATEMENTS OR THEORIES ADVOCATED OR IMPLIED ARE THOSE OF THE SOURCE AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THE POSITION OR OPIMION OF THE FOREIGN TECHNOLOGY DI-VISION.

PREPARED BY

TRANSLATION DIVISION FOREIGN TECHNOLOGY DIVISION WP-AFB, ONIO.

FTD-MT- 64-115



B. Ya. Kogan

「「ないない」と

14 - A.

CARLES AND AND A

.

٩

ELEKTRONNYYE MODELIRUYUSHCHIYE USTROYSTVA

i ikh Primeneniye dlya Issledovaniya Sistem

> Abtomaticheskogo Regulirovaniya

isdaniya vtoroye, ispravlennoye i dopolnennoye

Gosudarstvermoye Isdatel'stvo Fisiko-Matematicheskoy Literatury

Moakva - 1963

Pages 1-510

The author dedicates this book o the memory of his teacher and friend, •

EVGENIY KONSTANTINOVICH POPOV,

Who perished in the battle on the Volga in August, 1942.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Russian and English Designations of the Trigonometric Functions	V
Cyrillic and Other Designations Used in the Text	vi
Foreward to the First Edition	1
Foreward to the Second Edition	4
Introduction	6

SECTION I

ELECTRONIC ANALOG COMPUTER. AND THEIR ELEMENTS

Chapter	I. Methods of Mathematical Simulation	19
1.	Simulation on the Basis of Analogies	19
2.	Mathematical Simulation by Analog Computers	27
3.	Combining Methods of Mathematical Simulation	31
Chapter	II. Linear Computing Elements	36
1.	Computing Elements, Necessary for Solving Linear Differential Equations	36
2.	Linear Computing Elements of Open Type	ы
3.	Linear Computing Elements with Parametric Compensation	50
4.	Computing Elements of Closed Type (with Negative Feedback)	58
5.	Comparison of Various Types of Integrators	75
Chapter	III. Error of Linear Computing Elements	82
1.	Basic Propositions of Error Theory	82
2.	Primary Errors of a Computing Element	89
3.	Random Components of Error of a Computing Element	97
Chapter	IV. Diagrams of d-c Operational Amplifiers	104
1.	Basic Requirements Presented to Operational Amplifiers	10 L
2.	Diagrams with Parametric Compensation of Zero Drift	107

3. Diagrams of Operational Amplifiers with Automatic Stabilisation of Zero Level	. 118
4. Amplifiers with Parallel Amplification Channels	. 132
Chapter V. Diode Functional Generators	. 141
1. General Information	. 141
2. Diode General-Purpose Functional Generators	. 143
3. Diode Specialized Functional Generators	. 153
Chapter VI. Principles of Theory of Diode Functional Generators	. 175
 Determining the Law of Decomposition of the Axis of an Argument and Values of Differential Conductance of a Circuit on Svery Segment During Piecewise-Linear Approximation 	. 175
2. Error of Diode Nonlinear Generators	. 185
3. Methods of Construction of Circuits of Diode Functional Generators	. 195
4. Diode Functional Generators of Two or More Alguments	. 206
Chapter VII. Functional Generators Using Cathods-Ray Tubes	. 219
1. Devices of Closed Type, Based on Principle of Static Servo System	. 219
2. Error of the Functional Generator	. 221
3. Functional Generators with Controlled Beam Scanning	. 230
4. Pulse Functional Generators of Open Type	• 235
Chapter VIII, Multipliers and Dividers	. 237
1. Classification and Short Survey of Principles of Construction of Multipliers	. 237
2. Multipliers Based on Principle of Automatically Regulated Transmission Factor	. 245
3. Multipliers Made from Quadratic Functional Generators	. 265
4. Multipliers Based on Combining the Considered Principles	. 283
Chapter II. Principles of Construction of D-C Electronic Analog Computers.	. 289
1. Composition of Computing Klements, Methods of Their Arrangement in Installation and Interconnection for Solving a Problem	. 289

2

ź

٠

2.	Methods of Setting Initial Conditions and Transmission Factors of Computing Elements	293
3.	Individual and Group Setting of Zero Level of Operational Amplifiers, Methods of Combatting Leak and Methods of Indicating Overloading	301
4.	Main Functions and Principles of Construction of Control System of Simulators	309
5.	Observation and Recording of Solution	315
	SECTION II	
	APPLICATION OF ELECTRONIC MODELS FOR INVESTIGATION OF AUTOMATIC CONTROL SYSTEMS	
Chapter	L. Method of Setting and Solving Problems	323
1.	Composition of Functional Diagram of Connection of Separate Computing Elements for Solution of Given Differential Equations	323
2.	Determination of Transmissions Factors of Separate Computing Elements by Coefficients of Initial Equations. Selection of Scales of Representation of Dependent Variables and Time	332
3.	Determination of Initial Conditions and Disturbing Forces	340
4.	Simulating Systems of Automatic Control with Very Large Time Constants	2بلا
5.	Examples of Solution of Problems	343
Chapter	II. Simulating Linearised Systems of Automatic Control	31.5
1.	Simulating Ordinary Linearised Systems of Automatic Control with Constant Parameters	350
2.	Simulating Systems of Automatic Control with Parameters Variable in Time.	357
3.	Variable Speed Drive of Coefficients	366
4.	Simulation of Systems of Automatic Control with Constant Delay	372
5.	Simulation of Systems of Automatic Control with Interferences	38 6
Chapter	III. Investigation of Dynamics of Automatic Systems with Rational Practional Transfer Functions	390
1.	Method of Direct Integration	391
2.	Decomposition of Transfer Function into Partial Practicus	393

3.	Expansion of Initial Inhomogeneous n-th Order Equation into a System of a Inhomogeneous First Order Equations	396
4.	Method of Combining Derivatives	398
5.	Methods of Simulation of Differential Equations with Variable Suefficients	399
Chapter	XIII. Simulation of Nonlinear Systems of Autometic Control	402
1.	Simulation of System of Automatic Control with Typical Monlinear Characteristics in Electronic Elements	403
2-	Simulation of Synamics of Automatic Control with Typical Menlemarities in Instial Elements	419
3.	Examples of Solution of Nonlinear Problems of Automatic Control	434
Chapter	XIV. Methods of Simulating Automatic Systems with Dynamic Range of Change of Variable, Exceeding Dynamic Range of Electronic Model	huch
1.	Emdemental Equations of Reactor Startup	LU 15
2.	Solution of Equations of Startup by Sections	ميليا
3.	On Solution Error	451
.	Investigation of Starting Processes with the Help of Equations, Preliminarily Converted to Logarithmic Representation of Power	452
	APPENDIXES	
Appendi	I. Reproduction of Combined Linear Operations by One Operational Amplifier	461
Appendi	t II. Brief Technical Characteristics of Certain Types of D-G Electronic Analog Computers	468

Participants and the second

Literature Cited	- 50	0(5
------------------	------	----	---

۲

iv

-

· • •

FOLLOWING ARE THE CORRESPONDING RUSSIAN AND ENGLISH

DESIGNATIONS OF THE TRIGONOMETRIC FUNCTIONS

Russian	English
sin	sin
005	C 08
tg	tan
ctg	cot
80C	Sec
COSEC	CSC
sh	sinh
ch	cosh
ta	tanh
oth	coth
ich	sech
csch	csch
arc sin	sin-l cos-l tan-l cot~l sec-l csc-l
RTC COS	CQ# ⁻¹
arc tg	tan-1
are etg	cot"
arc sec	50C
arc cosec	CSC-1
arc sh	sinh ⁻¹ cosh ⁻¹
arc ch	cosh ⁻¹
arc th	tanh ^{~_}
arc cth	coth-1
arc sch	sech-1
arc cach	csch-1
rot	curl
1 g	log
ct	step

۷

. .

CYRILLIC AND OTHER DESIGNATIONS USED IN THE TEXT

ų

5 i N	-	pulse-shaping unit	ТМ -	•	tachomachine
ВП	-	vibrapack	уст. расч -	÷	steady-state calculated
ΓP	••	scanning generator	УСТ. ЭК С	-	steady-state by experiment
Д	-	diode	- ПФ	-	functional generator
ДН	-	voltage divider	¢ ey -	•	photomultiplier
доп	-	permissible	童笑 -	•	stepping selector
ДП	-	diode generator	urp -	•	reversible stepping selector
3 N	-	sign-inverting amplifier	skc -	•	by experiment
К _Д	-	dynamic range of voltage	- TLS	•	cathode-ray tube
Кобп	-	total amplification factor			
KOM	-	koha			
R _T	-	tach factor			
Ку	••	amplification factor	° oc -	*	capacitor of feedback circuit
•		disturbing moment	÷		input voltage
₩ дв	-	moment of motor			boundary input voltage
(XC)	•	elactromagnetic moment			maximum input voltage
MEOM		negohn	-		initial input voltage
-		nak f	2		approximate input voltage
		retarding moment			output voltage
		mechanical moments	-		boundary output voltage
••		starting moment			ideal output voltage
		potentiometer			maximum output voltage
		transition unit			initia, output voltage
		peak detector	•		real output voltage
·		pf			initial voltage
·		calculated	•		steady-state voltage, initial
		automatic control system	•		reference voltage
°,	-	phase comparator	Ener	-	rectangular voltage

vi

. . . .

.....

° T	- tachogenerator voltage	^t MM ¹
* 3 K.P	- equivalent voltage	^t p en
Fp	- disturbing f roe	t yct
Ігран	- boundary current	^U доп
• • +	- load current	отн
: pe	- feedback current	¹³ п
In	- resting current	^U c
15	- current in frame	^U cp
÷\$3 2	- photomultiplier current	* ج
^I я	- armature pursent	^х вых. уст
. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	- Julse Burn	^х уст
і вых.ср	- AAALASA ONITAL LOMAL	Узад
i motr.	- jumer consumer	7 _H
E HOTF.CT	- average jower consider1	уэкв
^п Эн	- 10 Frag. resistance	- PX
й р х	- injut resistar.»	L BHX
^в рых	- output resistance	йн. -
^К д	- ulode resistance	
^г дос	- autitional resistance	
^{'n} ĸ	- resistor cascade	PERS'C'ILA
^л н	cad resistor	De PHX.CNCT
Roc	- feeitack resistor	L T XHE
ŕ y	т. , МАК. (16.), 19 <u>СКЛ</u> .(16	272 -
^h я	- Armature resistance	oep -

١

4

ł

ارد به مساله الم

- steady-state time - permissible voltage - relative voltage - sawtooth voltage - signal voltage - mean vultage - armature voltage - stealy-state output - Xsteady-state - Y Laca - inductance of load - equivalent conductance - input impeimnes - output resistance - load impedance - random component of error - systematic error - sero drift of output - 2 ro drift

- pulse time

- computing time

der anderen eine

.

NT 64-115 Electronic Analog Computers and Their Application for Investigation of Automatic Control Systems. State Publishing House of Physico-Mathematical Literature. Moscow, 1963. Pages Cover -- 510

FOREWARD TO THE FIRST EDITION

The development of systems of automatic adjustment and control confronts the theory and practice of automatic adjustment with new and increasingly complicated problems.

For the last 8-10 years in the solution of these problems d-c electronic analog computers of direct current found wide application. They are used for calculation, in the carrying out of experimental investigations and settings, and most recently as elements themselves of systems of control and adjustment. However, the value of electronic analog computers is far from exhausted by these applications alone.

The combination of electronic models with electronic digital computers, the construction of combined discrete-continuous computers opens in the technology of modeling broad new prospects.

In spite of all this, in the demestic literature to the present in essence, books containing generalised and systematised questions of theory, general principles of construction and methods of use of d-c electronic models, summarising experience accumulated in the Seviet Union and abroad, are lacking.

The purpose of the present book is to fill the existing gap in the literature on the considered question. Contents of the book are limited to the consideration of electronic models and their main decision elements, and also to questions of

-1-

application of models for solution of problems of the dynamics of automatic control systems.

In this there is taken the assumption that the operational amplifier possesses ideal frequency responses, i.e., its transfer function in the open state is a constant number, equal to the amplification factor. This assumption unde it possible to ignore in this book, intended for the initial familiarisation for a wide circle of readers with the technology of electronic modeling, with a number of complicated, very important, interesting, but at the same time still not completely developed questions.

The limited contents of the book also impelled the author to exclude from investigation a number of questions, which, in regard to the solution of problems of automatic control are not of prime importance or can be solved with great effectiveness with the help of other means of computing technique. The latter questions include in the first place solution with the help of electronic models of algebraic equations, partial differential equations and integral equations.

Contents of the book are calculated for the reader, who is familiar with questions of theory and practice of automatic adjustment and control, and also with the principles of electronics.

In the writing of this book there were used results of the development of a series of electronic models of type EMU*, obtained by the author and his collaborators in the Institute of Automation and Telemechanics of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, and also material from lectures on the course "Simulation of systems of automatic adjustment," prevented by the author from 1950 to 1956 for the Higher Engineering Courses at Moscow Highest Technical School, in the Institute of Automation and Telemechanics of the Academy of Sciences of USSR for scientific collaborators and in the Noscow Physicotechnical Institute.

*DU is Russian abbreviation for electronic analog computer. M. Note.

-2-

References to the literature used are given in the text with indication of the surnames of the author and ordinal number of his work (in brackets). The list of sited literature shown at the end of the book is composed in Russian alphabetical order by surnames of the authors").

I consider it my own pleasant duty to offer my deep gratitude to A. A. Pel'dbaum, I. Z. Tsypkin, I. M. Twtel'baum and L. V. Yamshanov, who examined the manuscript and made a number of valuable remarks, which were considered in the final editing of the book. I express gratitude to V. A. Trapesnikov, whose advice I constantly used during the ten-year joint work in the fields of electronic simulation, and to the collective of collaborators with whom the author worked at the Institute of Automation and Telemechanics.

During preparation of the manuscript for publication great help was rendered to the author by F. Ye. Tranin, V. V. Gurov, A. A. Maslov and T. V. Pritullo, for which the author expresses his sincere gratitude.

Moscow, April 1957.

[&]quot;For a fuller bibliography on questions of simulation from 1947 to 1955 see the journal Automation and Talemochanics, V. XVII, No. 3 and 4, 1956.

FOREWARD TO THE SECOND EDITION

The broad introduction of electronic analog computers (electronic modeling denies) in the practice of scientific investigations and technical developments, apparently explains the fact that the first edition of the present book was sold out very fast and there appeared the necessity for republication.

In the second edition the general structure of book is retained. The introduction was rewritten; in the first Section (Chapter IV) there is added a Sub-Section on amplifiers with parallel channels of amplification. The second Section is supplemented by two Chapters — XII and XIV. The first is devoted to solution of problems of automatic control in cases of fractional rational transfer functions, the second — to methods of investigation of the dynamics of systems, whose range of change of variables (coordinates) exceeds the dynamic range of the analog installation. Corrections are introduced in the table of installations produced in the USSR and abroad (Appendix II); photographs of obsolete samples are replaced by photographs of contemporary ones. The list of literature is completed mainly with names of books on analog computing tochnique, issued after the first edition of this book[#]).

In the second edition are also corrected noticed misprints and inaccuracies.

-ti -

[&]quot;See bibliography on questions of analog computing technique from 1955 to 1960 in the journal Automation and Telemochanics, V. XVIII, No. 9, 1957; V. XIX, No. 5, 1958; V. XX, No. 11, 12, 1959; W. XXI, No. 12, 1960; V. XXIII, No. 2, 3, 1962.

The author considers it his privilege to express deep gratitude to all comrades who indicated errors in the first edition.

Moscow, May, 1962

•

ŧ

B. Kogan

.

INTRODUCTION

The development and wide propagation of systems of automatic adjustment and control in industry and military technology require the solution of a number of problems connected with questions of rational selection of structure and elements of these systems, evaluating the influence of separate parameters on the nature of transient and steady states.

Before the investigator and designer there is placed the problem of giving not only a qualitative solution of these problems, but also to bring the solution to a numerical result. Even for comparatively simple linear systems of automatic adjustment the latter presents known difficulties practically in all stages of development (composition of the mathematical description, calculations of transients, experimental investigation of systems) and requires significant expenditure of time. These difficulties increase with complication of the system of automatic adjustment (for example, in case of the multicircuit systems), with the presence in the system of elements with nonlinear therecteristics and variable parameters, and also with the necessity of taking into account continuously varying random disturbances.

Examples of such systems of automatic adjustment are systems of stabilisation of the motion of aircraft, systems of industrial adjustment with a constant delay (for example, systems of automatic adjustment of "is thickness of rolled material), systems of automatic tracking of target by redar, when into the error signal enter

-6-

besides the useful signals also interferences, systems of automatic adjustment and control with many interconnected regulated magnitudes (boiler, paper-making machine, complex power installation, etc).

On the other hand, the acceleration of processes in objects of adjustment (intensification of production) leads to increase of the influence of small parameters and nonlinearity of the regulator and object. In these cases the systems are described by nonlinear differential equations of a high order, for whose solution, in general, analytic methods are still not developed. With the analogous position one also comes into contact during investigation of automatic control and adjustment, systems which are based on new principles (for example, optimizing control and selfadjusting systems).

The use of the methods and means of simultation at a definite level of the analytic investigation of systems of automatic adjustment allows one to obtain solutions for the enumerated problems, reducing thereby to a minimum the required expenditure of time.

The essence simulation consists of replacement of the whole control system or certain of its elements with a model, in its properties to greater or lesser extent reproducing properties of the initial system or its peparate parts. Then in the system, containing the model, there appear processes analogous to those which take place in the real system. These processes one can observe, record, check for their conformity to the results of theoretical analysis, replace the analytic calculations of the transient with its direct observation, test, and adjust the system in laboratory conditions.

Thus, simulation allows one also to solve the basic problems of experimental in-

At present there are distinguished two basic methods of simulation:

- 1. Physical simulation.
- 2. Mathematical simulation.

-7-

Physical simulating is based on study of phenomena on models of the same physical nature as the original. Examples are tests of aircraft models in wind tunnels, the replacement of huge synchronous generator by a synchronous generator of smaller dimensions.

Inasmuch as the physical nature of the process is retained, the model reproduce whole complex of phenomena, characterizing the investigated process. In this complex enter or can enter, in particular, also such aspects of the phenomena or process, which do not yield to mathematical description and cannot be considered in the equations of the process. Therefore, physical simulation permits one to deepen the knowledge regarding the complex of the occurring phenomena, to refine and to facilitate the mathematical description of separate processes. Methods of mathematical simulation, which reproduce the investigated process only in the frames of the given equations are partly devoid of these possibilities.

Physical simulation has been applied in technology for a long time, mainly in aero- and hydrodynamics and in construction technology; it finds application also in many cases of investigations of control systems.

The method of physical simulation of control systems has the following merits:

a) the properties of the control system are reproduced more fully than in mathematical simulation, resting on an idealized mathematical description of the object;

b) the regulating equipment can be joined to the model without conversion devices, introducing additional errors and distortion.

At the same time physical simulation has also substantial deficiencies:

a) during investigation of each new process it is necessary to create a new model:

b) variation of the parameters of the simulated object usually causes laborconsuming alterations of the model or even its replacement;

c) models of complicated objects (boilers, various power plants) usually are

-8-

very expensive,

Determining the place of physical simulation, one should note that this method, without doubt, is less versatile than the method of mathematical simulation, but in a number of cases it turns out to be very effective; for example, for the investigation of processes of adjustment and various non-stationary regimes in power systems, separate units of chemical and metallurgic productions, in investigation of automation of electric drives, in investigation of pneumatic regulators, otc.

The theory and practice of physical simulation is sufficiently well-developed in domostic and foreign works".

During the investigation of systems of automatic control during the last few years methods of mathematical simulation received wide application, based on the identity of differential equations describing the phenomena in the original and the model. They permit one to accomplish with the help of one device the solution of a whole group of problems, provide speed and ease of transition from one problem to another, the possibility of introduction of variable parameters and various initial conditions, almost complete removal of the influence of its own parameters of the model equipment on accuracy of the solution, simplicity of introduction of various kinds of systematic and random disturbances, possibility of simulating systems of automatic control by elements.

Equally with this with mathematical simulation it is possible comparatively simple to change the parameters of separate elements of the investigated system and explain the influence of these changes on the performance of the system on the whole.

In many cases it is useful to combine installations of physical and mathematical simulation in a single system, allowing one to combine the advantage of both methods.

In mathematical simulation the original is the mathematical description of the

-9-

[&]quot;See in Russian the works of M. V. Kirpichev and M. A. Mikheyev [1], M. P. Kostenko [1], V. A. Venikov [1].

process, and the mathematical models themselves can be considered the devices realizing the given mathematical relationships, i.e., computers.

In each computer the mathematical operations, assigned by the initial equations, are executed on certain so-called machine quantities. Each quantity, participating in the initial relationships, can be, thus, placed in conformity with one or several of the machine quantities.

Depending upon the method of representation of the initial quantities in the machine there are distinguished two classes of computers:

1) digital computers,

2) analog computers.

In digital computers the instantaneous value of each initial quantity is represented as several machine quantities, whose weight, or value, is determined by their spatial or temporary location (the position code of the representation of the initial quantity). In purely digital machines the transition from the initial quantity to its representation is accomplished by quantisation of the first one by level. Elementary mathematical operations, executed on the representing quantities, are limited here to the addition composition and shift. Since each mathematical operation requires a certain number of additions of numbers, represented in position codes, then to obtain a result always requires a finite time. By force of this the selection of the values of initial continuous quantities is executed discretely (with quantisation in tiue).

Anlog computers are characterized by the fact that to each instantaneous value of the initial quantity is placed in conformity an instantaneous value of a machine quantity, often differing in physical nature and scale factor.

Important is the fact that each elementary computing element in the machine executes a strictly defined elementary mathematical operation on machine quantities.

To this operation, as rule, there corresponds a certain physical law, establishing required mathematical dependences between the physical quantities at the

-10-

input and output of the computing element. As such laws it is possible, for example, to indicate the laws of Ohm and Kirchhoff for electric circuits, the expression for the Hall effect, Lorents force and so forth.

The division accepted herein of computers, by the method of representation of quantities, into analog and digital, in distinction from the general-usage division (by the nature of signals circulating in the machine) into continuous and discrete, in the opinion of the author, reflects better the most estential laws of the work of a computer.

Processes in computers of both classes can be described by mathematical relationships (although different), which are analogous to the mathematical relationships of the initial problem, and in this sense from the most general positions computers can be considered means of mathematical simulation and one can preserve for electronic analog computers their former name--electronic similating devices.

In accordance with these determinations in Fig. 1 is depicted the classification of means of mathematical simulation.

Peculiarities of representation of initial quantities and construction of separate computing elements in analog computers to a significant measure predetermine their comparatively high speed of work, simplicity of programming and setting-up, limiting, on the other hand, the dynamic range and accuracy of the obtained result.

As compared with digital computers analog devices differ also by less versatility in the sense that during transition from one class of problems to another it is necessary not only to change the relationship between the number of linear and nonlinear computing elements, but also to supplement the installation in principle with new elements.

The limitation of accuracy in most cases is not a substantial obstacle to use of these devices, since systems of automatic adjustment and control, as a rule, are crude, in the sense of Andronov, dynamic systems whose parameters are known with an accuracy not exceeding 10 to 20%.

-11-

The impossibility of solving any problem by the same equipment should also not be considered a substantial limitation for analog technology, considering its application for the solution of problems of the dynamics of adjustment and control. These problems, basically reducible to the class of ordinary differential equations, can be solved with success within the limits of one, sufficiently great quantity of computing elements, installation which remains still comparatively simple and reliable.

It is impossible to compare digital computers to analog ones. Both classes of computers have an independent value and their own sufficiently clearly outlined region of application.

Future progress of analog technology, apparently, will be connected with the penetration of digital methods. For example, one should point out the development of so-called digital models, for which separate computing elements execute mathematical operations on increments of variables, represended in one of the digital codes, and where the transfer of results from block to block is carried out just as in analog computers. During paralled carrying out of separate arithmetical operations it is possible to reach a comparatively high speed of operation and accuracy, avoiding the necessity of labor-consuming programming of the problem. The skeleton diagram of the joining of two blocks of such a device is shown in Fig. 2*.

Still greater prospects are provised by the construction of combined analogdigital devices, in which to increase accuracy of solution the part of the operations, mainly numlinear placed on digital devices or in which the analog installation solves the problem simultaneously with the digital, where to the analog installation is entrusted solution of the problem in increments, and to the digital---eseking the solution, corresponding to unperturbed motion. Here the error of the analog part will be an error of the second order of smallness as compared to the error of

-12-

^{*}K. V. Diprose [1]. Analogous principle of construction of machines i'or integration of differential equations was offered independently by Prof. L. I. Gutenmakhen



Eig. 1. Classification of means of mathematical simulation.

-51-

ļ

4

determination of the unperturbed motion.



Fig. 2. Skeleton diagram of electronic model with digital elements. 1--input memory units; 2-arithmetical element (adder); 3--cutput memory units; 4--transmission of signal to other units; 5--arithmetical element (integrator); 6---control element; 7--order to start calculations; 8--order to transmit the result.

It is natural that in such combined systems devices connecting the analog part with the digital part acquire great significance.

To the analog computer technique and related disciplines is devoted a great number of works of domestic and foreign scientists. Thus, in the book by I. S. Bruk [1] there is a description of the mechanical integrator created under his leadership and method of its use is presented.

Regarding the theory of the work and construction of the mechanical computers light is thrown upon the subjects in books of N. I. Pchel'nikov [1], A. A. Birshteyn [1], A. Svoboda [1], S. O. Dobrogurskiy [1], S. O. Dobrogurskiy and V. K. Titov [1].

Questions of the general theory of accuracy of mechanical computers and dynamic accuracy of electric circuits are discussed in books by N. G. Bruyevich [1] and M. L. Bykhovskiy [3]. In the book by I. I. Etterman [1] there is considered a number of mathematical aspects of preparation of problems for solution on analog computers, and also there are shown certain approaches to appraisal of the accuracy of solution and there is composed a set of test problems.

Mechanical and electromechanical computers is the subject of books by B. I. Stanislavskiy [1], Ya. V. Novceel'teev and A. N. Lebedev [1], a monograph by

-14-

N. Ye. Kobrinskiy[1], a textbook by N. G. Bruyevich and B. G. Dostupov [1] and summaries of lectures by G. M. Zhdanov [1, 2]. In these books are touched also questions of construction of electronic linear and nonlinear computing elements.

G. L. Shnirman [1] in a work devoted to the development of differentiating and integrating devices for vibrographs, first systematically expounds the analysis of electric differentiating and integrating circuits and indicates the expediency of their use for the construction of electronic amplifiers.

Theory and results of the development of the original electronic integrator with the use of a-c amplifiers, working with artificial iteration of processes, and also an electrointegrator for solution of partial differential equations, carried out on electric nets, are presented in books by L. I. Gutenmakher [1. 2]. Theories and techniques of electronic analog-computers with iteration of processes are developed also in books by R. Tomovic [1], R. Tomovic and W. Kazplus [1].

Principles of the theory of electric and electronic analog computers, besides the monograph by N. Ye. Kobrinskiy and the mentioned books by L. I. Gutenmakher, were developed also in books by F. J. Murray [1] and F. H. Raymond [1]. In the latter the account is conducted with reference to d-c linear electronic integrators, and a number of theoretical computations based on results, published in the book by I. Gutenmakher [2] mentioned above. In the book by F. H. Raymond is discussed experience of the French firm SEA.

Questions of mathematical simulation are most completely considered in the book by W. W. Soroka [1]. Here are the description and principle of work of mechanical, electromechanical, electric and electronic computing elements, devices for solution of algebraic linear and nonlinear equations, description of a mechanical integrator and principles of construction of electronic integrators. In the book there are also expounded the principles of construction of models on the basis of analogies and devices, reproducing partial differential equations and finite differences. The book reminds one in many respects of the work of L. I. Gutenmakher [2]. Principles

-15-

of construction of models on the basis of analogies from passive elements and the application of the theory of similitude to simulation are presented in the book by I. M. Tetel'baum [1].

D-c electronic analog computers received the most detailed discussion in books by G. Korn and T. Korn [3], A. S. Jackson [1] and the four volumes by S. Fifer [1]. Here are questions regarding the method of solution of problems, principles of construction of separate computing elements and description of certain types of electronic models, produced in the United States of America. The books of C. L. Johnson [1], G. Smith and R. Wood [1], I. N. Warfield [1], A. E. Rogers and T. W. Connoly [1], Danloux-Dumesnils [1] are good guides and training aids on application of electronic analog computers. Among training aids one must also mention the summary of lectures by V. S. Tarasov [1], devoted to linear computing elements.

At the same time there appeared books in which the authors sought to embrace the whole field of computer technique, both analog and digital. Among these works first of all one should consider the books by A. A. Fel'dbaum [5] and M. Pelegrin [1]. The encyclopedicness and extraordinarily wide scope of questions, naturally, could not allow the authors to allot sufficient place to questions of analog computer technique.

Problems of mathematical simulation were also considered in a number of books, devoted to the theory and practice of automatic control: T. N. Sokolov [1], A. A. Fel'dbaum [1], F. E. Nixon [1].

Books of the overwhelming majority of foreign authors basically are devoted to questions of terhnique of analog computers and specifically their application for solution of concrete problems.

Together with the extensive literature on questions of techniques of analog computers, produced recently intense scientific and design developments both of machines as a whole, and also their separate elements have not stopped. In the United States, France, England, Yugoslavia, Norway, Belgium and especially in recent

-16-

years in Japan many firms, including aviation firms, are occupied with the development of these machines.

Original constructions of analog computers of various type, built in our country under the leadership of L. I. Gutensmakher, I. V. Korol'kov, V. A. Trapesnikov, A. A. Fel'dbaum, V. B. Ushakov, G. M. Petrov, L. N. Fitsner, I. M. Vittenberg, T. N. Sokolov, P. P. Gorayev, O. V. Kirillov, L. V. Yamshanov, V. A. Kotel'nikov, G. L. Polisar, A. V. Shishkin and others, were successfully used for the solution of problems of automatic adjustment and control.

SECTION I

ELECTRONIC ANALOG COMPUTERS AND THEIR ELEMENTS

CHAPTER I

METHODS OF MATHEMATICAL SIMULATION

1. Simulation on the Basis of Analogies

Mathematical simulation in recent years is developing into two basic directions: construction of models by direct analogy on the basis of known systems of analogies and construction of computers (digital and analog).

In the construction of models of the first type there are used systems of analogies between phenomena of a different physical nature, for example the analogy between mechanical and electric phenomena, between electric and acoustic phenomena, between electric and thermal phenomena. This allows one to transfer the study of phenomena in the original to the models of a physical nature different from the original. Transition from one region of physical phenomena into another here pursues the goal of simplifying chappening manufacture of models, making method easier and increasing the accuracy of measurement of the desired quantities. Thus, for example, the motion of a mechanical pendulum (Fig. 3) near the position of equilibrium with viscous friction under the influence of a perturbing influence F(t) can be described by differential equation of this form

$$J_{u} \frac{d^{2} \dot{q}}{dt^{2}} + h \frac{d \dot{q}}{dt} + mg t_{\dot{q}} = F(t).$$
 (1.1)

Motion of charges in a circuit (Fig. 4) with lumped constants (L, R and C), to which there is applied an electromotive force (emf) B(t), is described analogously

$$L\frac{d^{2}q}{dt^{2}} + R\frac{dq}{dt} + \frac{1}{C}q - E(t), \qquad (1.2)$$

where q is the electric charge.



Fig. 3. Physical pendulum.



Fig. 4. Oecilletory circuit.

The identity of differential equations (1.1), (1.2) allows one with the correspending selection of constants to conduct the study of mechanical oscillations on an electric model and vice versa.

An example of the application of analogy for investigation of systems of automatic control is an electrodynamic device^{*}. At the base of the device is an electrodynamic analog (Fig. 5), a system of five electromagnets and five frames, located in the air gaps of the cores of the elec-

tromagnets.

The first four frames are placed in radial gaps of the electromagnets; the fifth frame is disposed in an uniform field, formed between the plane-parallel poles of the core of the last electromagnet. In the absence of current in the frames of the analog the plane of the fifth frame is perpendicular to the direction of the magnetic flux. Each frame has an outlet from the conter point. In the instrument there is an indicator of the angle of rotation of the frame (the critical angle $i_3 \pm 45^\circ$) and a limiter of current in the frames, triggered with turning of the mobile part at the critical angle. In the lower part of the mobile system are affixed loads on a rod

^{*}A device of this type for solution of equations of the second order was offered by N. F. Minorsky [1] (see also K. A. Ludeke [1], [2]). V. V. Soldownikov [1] applied it in 1939 for investigation of a system of automatic adjustment of a hydroturbine. Results of later works with an electrodynamic analog are described by V. A. Karabanov [1].



Fig. 5. Device of an electrodynamic analog. 1-dural shaft; 2-frames of electromagnets with a radial gap; 3-permalloy cylinders; 4-fixed part (f the magnetic circuit; 5-windings of electromagnets with radial gap; 6-loads, movable on the rod; 7frames of electromagnet with planeparallel gap; 8-electromagnet winding. The equation of motion of the mobile part of the analog can be written thus:

$$J\frac{d^2\gamma}{dt^2} = \sum_i M_i. \qquad (1.3)$$

where J — the moment of inertia of the mobile part, φ — the angle of rotation of the mobile part, counted off from the initial position, $\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{i}$ — the sum of moments of all forces, acting on the mobile system.

The totality of moments of all forces, acting on the mobile system, can be divided into two groups: mechanical moments and electromagnetic moments. Disregarding the moment of dry friction, mechanical moments can be reduced to the sum of the moment, caused by elasticity of the suspension and the moment of friction with air:

$$\mathsf{M}^{(\mathsf{ues})} = -\left(\mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{P} + \mathfrak{d}_1 \frac{d\mathfrak{P}}{dt}\right). \qquad (1.4)$$

Electromagnetic moments, developed

where c_1 and b_1 -- constants.

by frames, can be in turn divided into notive and retarding for each type of magnetic system, utilised in the instrument.

For a magnetic system with radial gap the torque caused by interaction of current in the frame with a magnetic flux in the gap, will be

$$M^{(M)} = k_0 \, \forall \cos \gamma. \tag{1.5}$$

where $\Psi = x D(B = w^{(1)})$ — the total number of flux linkages (D — frame width, B — magnetic flux density in gap,] — frame length), I_p — current intensity in winding of the loop, k — proportionality factor, considering dimension, w — number of turns of the loop winding.

In cases, when φ is small

$$M^{(b1)} = k/_{0} \Psi. \tag{1.6}$$

During motion of the frame in the radial magnetic field in the winding of the frame is induced an emf of rotation, which in the variable flux will be determined by the expression

$$\mathbf{8} = -\mathbf{o} \frac{d\left[\mathbf{\Phi}\left(t\right)\sin\gamma\right]}{dt}.$$
 (1.7)

For small & we obtain:

$$\mathbf{8} = -w\left(\overline{\tau} \frac{d\Phi(t)}{dt} - \Phi(t) \frac{d\overline{\tau}}{dt}\right). \tag{1.8}$$

If the resistance of the circuit of the frame is equal to r + R, then current in the frame under the influence of this emf will be

$$l_{y} = \frac{8}{r+R}$$

and the retarding moment can be found by the formula

$$M_{\rm rop}^{(\rm su)} = -\frac{kw^2}{r+R} \left[\bar{\gamma} \Phi(t) \frac{d\Phi(t)}{dt} + \Phi^2(t) \frac{d\bar{\gamma}}{dt} \right]. \tag{1.9}$$

For the fifth frame, moving in a plane-parallel field, the torque will be

$$M_{3}^{(sol)} = k \Psi_{3}(l) I_{ss}(l) \sin \gamma; \qquad (1.10)$$

for small angles 4

$$M_{5}^{(h_{1})} = k \Psi_{5}(t) I_{p5}(t) \gamma.$$

The retarding moment, caused by the interaction of currents from the emf of the rotation of the fifth frame and the magnetic flux, can be found from the reintionship

$$\Pi_{rop.5}^{(9,1)} = -\frac{k w_5^2}{r_5 + R_5} \left[\Phi_5(l) \frac{d \Phi_5(l)}{dl} \cos \varphi - \sin \varphi \Phi_5^2(l) \frac{d \varphi}{dl} \right] \sin \varphi;$$

for small angles 4

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{rop. }3}^{(s,i)} = -\frac{\hbar v_{3}^{2}}{r_{s} + R_{s}} \left[\Phi_{3}(t) \frac{d\Phi_{3}(t)}{dt} - \varphi \Phi_{3}^{2}(t) \frac{d\varphi}{dt} \right].$$
(1.11)

Distance of the second second

The general equation of motion of the analog for small angles of rotation of the mobile system will have the form:

$$J \frac{d^{2} \varphi}{dt^{2}} + \left[b_{1} + \sum_{i}^{4} \frac{kw_{i}^{2}}{R_{i} + r_{i}} \cdot \Phi_{i}^{2}(t) - \frac{kw_{j}^{2}}{r_{i} + R_{5}} \varphi^{2} \Phi_{i}^{2}(t) \right] \frac{d\varphi}{dt} + \left[c_{1} + \sum_{i}^{4} \frac{kw_{i}^{2}}{r_{i} - R_{i}} \Phi_{i}(t) \frac{d\Phi_{i}(t)}{dt} + kw_{5} \Phi_{j}(t) I_{\mu j}(t) + \frac{\Phi_{5}(t)}{r_{5} + R_{i}} \frac{kw_{j}^{2}}{dt} \right] \varphi = \sum_{i}^{4} kw_{i} \Phi_{i}(t) I_{\mu j}(t).$$

Depending on the nature of change in time of magnitudes $\Phi_i(t)$, $\Phi_5(t)$, $I_{\mu i}(t)$ and $I_{pi}(t)$ the analog can reproduce different linear and nonlinear second order equations.

For an example, let us consider the solution, by an electrodynamic analog, of a linear second order differential equation. The circuit diagram of separate electrodynamic instruments of the analog for this case is shown in Fig. 6.

By adjusting the analog we establish:

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{1}(t) &= (\Phi_{1})_{0} = \text{const.} \quad \Phi_{2} = \Phi_{2} \max \sin \omega t, \quad \Phi_{3}(t) = (\Phi_{1})_{0} = \text{const.} \\ \Phi_{4}(t) &= (\Phi_{4})_{0} = \text{const.} \quad \Phi_{5}(t) = (\Phi_{5})_{0} = \text{const.} \\ R_{4} = - , \quad I_{p} = -0, \quad I_{p} = - , \quad A \frac{d\varphi}{dt}, \quad I_{p_{1}} = I_{p_{1}}(t), \quad I_{p_{2}} = (I_{p_{1}})_{0} = \text{const.} \end{split}$$

The second frame serves to record and, therefore does not participate in the formation of moments.

For selected values of fluxes and currents the equation of the mobile system

$$\frac{d^{2} \bar{\gamma}}{dt^{3}} + \left[\vartheta_{1} + \frac{k w_{3}^{2}}{r_{3} + R_{4}} \left(\Phi_{3} \vartheta_{1}^{2} + \frac{k w_{1}^{2}}{r_{4} + R_{4}} \left(\Phi_{1} \vartheta_{1}^{2} - \frac{k w_{3}^{2}}{r_{4} + R_{4}} \right) + \frac{k w_{3}^{2}}{r_{4} + R_{4}} \right] + \frac{k w_{3}^{2}}{r_{4} + R_{4}} \right] + \frac{k w_{3}^{2}}{r_{4} + R_{4}} + \frac{k w_{3}$$



Fig. 6. Diagram for the solution of linear differential second order equation by an electrodynamic analog. 1--frame for measurement of speed of the mobile system; 2--frame for recording results; 3--frame for creation of damping moment; 4--loop for creation of perturbing forces; 5--frame for reproduction of moments; 6--go-and-return circuit; 7--device, ensuring constancy of current.

With sufficiently great R_5 and small φ component $(\Phi_1)_{r_5}^2 + R_5^2 = 2^2$ can be disregarded as compared to the remaining ones and then the motion of the system will be described by a nonuniform linear differential second order equation. Initial conditions for angle are assigned by the initial setting of the angle of rotation of the mobile system, the initial conditions for speed — by supplying a current pulse to one of the windings of a frame, moving in the radical gap.

-24-
The considered electrodynamic instrument gives the possibility also to solve nonlinear differential equations.

Another example of simulation of systems of automatic control on the basis of analogies is investigation of banking of a neutral aircraft with the help of a d-c electric motor. The equation of isolated motion of banking of an electric, as is known (V. S. Vedrov [1]), has the form

$$J_{x}\frac{d^{2}\gamma}{dt^{2}} = M_{x}\left(v, \frac{d\gamma}{dt}, \dot{v}_{y}\right). \tag{1.13}$$

where φ — the angle of banking (Fig. 7), z_i — angle of displacement of allerons.



Fig. 7. Investigation of the process of stabilisation of banking of an aircraft.

If one were to consider the speed of flight v constant and consider the deflection of the aircraft from the equilibrium regime (the regime in which all parameters, characterizing motion of aircraft, have steady-state values), then the

linear differential equation of motion of banking will have the form

$$J_{x}\frac{d^{2}\tau}{dt^{2}} + \left(\frac{\partial M_{x}}{\partial \tau}\right)_{0} \quad \frac{d\tau}{dt} = -\left(\frac{\partial M_{x}}{\partial \lambda_{x}}\right)_{0} \lambda_{y}, \qquad (1.14)$$

where $J_{\rm X}$ — the moment of inertia of the aircraft relative to the longitudinal axis, $\left(\frac{\partial M_r}{\partial \gamma}\right)_0$ — the moment of high-speed resistance (determines the moment of air friction), $\left(\frac{\partial M_r}{\partial \gamma}\right)_0$ — the coefficient, determining the aerodynamic effectiveness of the ailerons.

We will use now a d-c electric motor for simulating the isolated motion of banking of an aircraft (Fig. 8.). The equation of motion of a d-c electric motor in the absence of load on the shaft and disregarding losses in iron and reaction of the armature will be

$$J\frac{d\sigma}{dt} = M_{\rm m}, \quad M_{\rm m} = f(\sigma, U_{\rm s}),$$

where J - the moment of inertia of the motor.

-25-

For the case of a linear mechanical characteristic of the motor, with constant magnetic flux, disregarding inductance of the armature circuit, we will obtain:

$$M_{ab} = c_u \Phi I_u$$
, and $I_u = \frac{U_u - c_u \Phi_{iu}}{R_u}$.

The equation of the actor here will be

$$J\frac{d_{in}}{dI} + \frac{c_{e}c_{u}\Phi^{2}}{R_{u}} = \frac{c_{u}\Phi}{R_{u}}U_{u}.$$

or

ALL DOLLARS

$$\frac{d^2 t}{dt^2} + \frac{1}{T_p} \frac{d t}{dt} = \frac{c_a \Phi}{i_b R_a J} U_a.$$

where Φ is the flux of excitation, $w = l_p \frac{dx}{dt}$ — the angular velocity of rotation of the motor, i _____ — the transmission ratio of the reductor, $T_p = \frac{R_s J}{c_c c_u \Phi^2}$ — the time constant of acceleration of the electric motor, α — angle of rotation of the potentiometer.

The converted equation of isolated motion of banking of an aircraft can be written in the form

$$\frac{d^2 \varphi}{dt^4} + \left(\frac{\partial M_g}{\partial \varphi}\right)_0 \frac{1}{J_\chi} \frac{d\varphi}{dt} = - \left(\frac{\partial M_g}{\partial \varphi}\right)_0 \frac{1}{J_g} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \varphi}, \qquad (1.15)$$

Thus, if one were to select parameters of motor in such a manner that these equalities were sustained

$$\frac{1}{T_p} = \frac{1}{J_s} \left(\frac{\partial M_s}{\partial \gamma} \right)_0, \quad \frac{c_u \Phi}{l_p R_u J} k_u = \left(\frac{\partial M_s}{\partial k_s} \right)_0 \frac{1}{J_s}, \quad U_u = -k_u \lambda_u.$$

then the angle of rotation of the cursor of potenticmeter P-1 will depict the angle of bank. Here the processes of change of angle of bank of the aircraft and the angle of rotation of the axis of the potenticmeter will proceed in time equally. The general diagram of simulation is presented in Fig. 8. One of the main advantages of this method of simulation consists of the fact that the parameters of the model, for example the moment of inertia, can be used as equivalents of corresponding parameters of the original. Among the deficiencies should be mentioned, in the first place comparatively great error of reproduction of initial equations, since friction, moment of losses, etc., are not considered; the possibility of reproduction by one analog of only an equation of the second order; the difficulties of combination of several such analogs; the difficulties of investigation of processes with nonsero initial conditions, especially for the first and second derivative.



Fig. 8. General diagram of simulation of the isolated motion of banking of an aircraft. KEY: (a) Reducer; (b) Automatic pilot; (c) Computing point.

In simulation of a system with many degrees of freedom to achieve the required accuracy it is necessary to pay special attention to accuracy of manufacture of equipment, or apply special means to combat the harmful influence of dry and highspeed friction, clearances and inertial masses. The last significantly raises the cost and complicates the construction, simultaneously lowering reliability work.

2. Mathematical Simulation by Analog Computers

Analog computers, built from separate computing elements, are based on carmyingout of elementary mathematical operations such as addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, differentiation and integration. From models, made on the basis of direct analogy, they differ by absence of a direct physical analogy between the quantities, characterizing the studied phenomenon, and quantities, obtained as the result of carrying-out separate mathematical operations. Such an analogy does not exist between parameters of the studied physical system and the parameters of the installation.

-27-

Let us consider a method of solving linear differential equations with constant coefficients by an installation, built from separate computing elements. Such an installation should have in its composition computing elements, conditionally designated by the rectangles in Fig. 9a. For example let us "set up" with the help of these computing elements the above-considered equation of motion of aircraft for banking.

The equation can be reduced to the form

$$\frac{d^2\gamma}{dt^2} = -B_1 \frac{d\gamma}{dt} - B_2 \lambda_t. \tag{1.16}$$

Here $S_{1}(t)$. B₁ and B₂ are given quantities, and P(t) is the sought dependent variable.

As follows from equation (1.16), for locating $\varphi(t)$ it is necessary to subject the sum $-(B_1\frac{d\tau}{dt}+B_2\tau)$ to double integration. The unknown component $-B_1\frac{d\tau}{dt}$ can be is formed by means of multiplication of the quantity, received after the first integration and the coefficient $-B_1$. This component by feedback is fed to the adder (Fig. 9b).





elements and a diagram of their connection for solution of the equation of motion of an aircraft for banking. Application of analog computers in automation is extraordinarily varied.

The basic problems solved by these means computer technique, can be boiled down to the following:

Analysis of dynamics of systems
 of control and adjustment.

Here the given equations of an object and the system of control are solved in a selected time scale on installations

(Fig. 10a) for the purpose of explaining the meaning of the main parameters, ensuring the required flow of the process. Application of analog computers gives in this

-28-





-06-

case a sharp reduction of the time required to carry out calculations on the first stages of projection, and also exceptional graphicness of the results obtained.

2. Experimental investigation of the behavior of a system with control and adjustment equipment in laboratory conditions.

With such experimental investigations equipment of control or adjustment is supplemented by an analog computer, reproducing in full time scale for the given equations the behavior of that part of the system of control or adjustment, whose work for one or another reason cannot be reproduced in laboratory conditions.* Coupling of the analog computer with the control or adjustment samplement in ost cases is carried out by a special converter** (Fig. 105).

3. Solution of problems of synthesis of control and adjustment systems.

Problems of this type come down to selection by the given specifications of the structure of the changed part of the system, c^o the required form of functional dependences and values of the basic parameters. The final result is found usually by means of multiple test solutions with appraisal of them in accordance with the accepted criterion of proximity (Fig. 10c). Problems of this type very often car be reduced to locating the actremum of a certain functional (4. A. Fel'dbaum [1]).



Fig. 11. Fundamental diagram of solution of the inverse problem on an electronic model. KEY: (a) Automatic pilot.

""Three-stage plat.orms, electro-hydraulic converters, stc.

Method of simulation with the addition of sections of the control loop was offered by V. V. Solodovnikov, author's certificate No. 67093 of November 10, 1940.

4. Solution of problems of determining perturbations or the useful signal, acting on the systems.

During solution of this type of problem by a given system of differential equations, describing the dynamic system, by values of initial conditions and the nature of change of the output coordinate known from experiment is determined the value of the perturbation or the useful signal at the input. In Fig. 10d is brought a functional diagram of the solution of a very simple problem of this type, based on the imposition of additional negative feedback. This method of application of analog computers can be used during making of instruments, automatically recording perturbations and producing a control signal depending upon the nature and quantity of these nerturbations. The fundamental circuit of solution of the inverse problem for the above-considered case of stabilisation of banking with a real automatic pilot is shown in Fig. 11.

Besides these problems, connected basically with investigation of a system of control and adjustment, analog computers find application also as elements and units of complicated systems of automation. Here they are used for:

a) calculation of the value of a certain combined parameter of adjustment (efficiency, power, productivity, etc.) (see V. A. Trapesnikov, B. Ya. Kogan [2]).

b) for working out optimum adjustments in the process of work of a dynamic system (D. P. Ekkman, I. Lefkovich [1]);

c) for working out correcting signals by carrying out advance analysis of the dynamics of the control system (H. Ziebols, H. M. Paynter [1]);

d) for creation of optimum in high speed of operation control systems by application of prognosticators (H. Chestnut, W. Sollecito, P. Troutman [1]).

3. Combining Methods of Mathematical Simulation

The classification of methods and devices of simulation is, in a known measure, conditional, since often in one device it is possible to observe the application simultaneously of soveral different principles of simulation.

-31-

Combining different principles of mathematical simulation is especially effective when simulating with real regulators, whose sonsitive elements require for bringing into action comparatively great power. Application in these cases of models, made on the basis of analogy, for reproduction of the motion of the output coordinate of the object of adjustment, lets one have an input quantity of the regulator and an output quantity of the model of the object of the same physical nature, which gives the possibility of directly joining the model of the object with the regulator.

As example let us consider the model of the system of automatic adjustment of the speed of a big diesel engine (see I. Ya. Krichevskiy [1]). This system consists of a motor, with whose shuft there is coupled a centrifugel speed regulator, acting on the control mechanism of the rods of fuel pumps (Fig. 12). The simulating installation should give the possibility to adjust and to check new constructions of speed regulators in order to reduce to a minimum the time of their finishing on the object.



Fig. 12. Skeleton diagram of a system of automatic adjustment of the speed of a diesel engine. 1-engine; 2-centrifugal regulator; 3-control mechanism of rods of fuel pumps; 4-fuel pumpa

Equations, subject to simulation, can be written in the form

$$T_{a}\frac{d\gamma}{dt} = \lambda - \lambda_{ss} = s\lambda_{s}$$
 (1.17)

$$A_{AB} == \mu(1-z) - \mu(z) \,, \qquad (1.18)$$

[Ed. Note. Subscript AB = motor.] where T_a is the time of acceleration of the regulated motor, a(z) — the coefficient of self-levelling, z — the relative change of the regulated parameter, z —

the relative (hange of position of the regulating element, z -- total delay in transmission of the regulating influence to the object, Δ -- excess moment.

So that the physical nature of the output coordinate of the φ model coincides with the physical nature of the input coordinate of the regulator, it is expedient

-32-

to place the reproduction of equation (1.17) on the model, made on the basis of analogies, and reproduce equation (1.18) by separate computing elements.

In Fig. 13 is brought the fundamental circuit of one of the possible variants of such an installation. The d-c motor here plays the role of the dynamic model of the object. Indeed, the equation of motion of the motor armature can be written in this form

$$J_{\frac{d_{1}}{dt}}^{C_{n}} = M_{n} - M_{n} = \Delta M, \qquad (1.19)$$

where J is the moment of inertia of the motor, ω - is the angular velocity, M_{RR} the moment, developed by the motor, M_{H} - the moment of load, ΔM - the excess moment on the armsture.

Thus, by form equation (1.19) coincides with the equation of the object (1.17). For reproduction of equation (1.18) there are used separate computing elements. With this aim the coordinate of the regulating unit μ is converted with the help of a potentionster into voltage U_{μ} . This voltage is passed through the block of delay and is summed at the input of an amplifier with a large amplification factor K_y with components, reproducing the term $f(U_{\mu})$, characterising self-levelling, load U_{μ} and excess moment U_{μ} .

For a very great amplification factor of the amplifier K voltage U_{BX} will be minute. Disregarding it as compared with its separate components, we will receive:

$$U_{a}(t-t) + f(U_{a}) + U_{ab} - U_{b} = 0.$$
 (1.20)

Separate components in equation (1.20) can be found from expressions

$$U_{\lambda_{n}} = -c_{1}I_{\pi}R, \quad f(U_{\sigma}) = f(k_{\tau}\omega).$$

As is known, excess moment on the armature of a motor is proportional to the change of current of armature

$$\Delta M = c \Phi I_{\bullet}.$$

where c is constant, Φ is the flux of the motor, I_{e} — the increment of armature

current.



Fig. 13. Fundamental circuit of simulation of the system of automatic adjustment of a speed of diesel engine. A - d - c motor; TT - tachogenerator; BT - booster generator; HP - centrifugal regulator; B3 - dclay block; Φ II - functional converter; P-1, P-2 reducer; Y - amplifier. 2 - load assigner, M - flywheel. KEY: (a) Net.

Therefore

$$U_{\Delta} = -\frac{c_{1}R}{c\Phi} \Delta M. \tag{1.21}$$

We will introduce equations of scale conversions, connecting initial variables of the problems with variables of the model:

$$\Delta M = m_2, \quad \Delta V,$$
$$\omega = m_2 \cdot \varphi,$$
$$U_1 = m_1 \cdot \mu$$

and, substituting them in (1.19) and (1.30), we receive equations of the model, reduced to the initial variable:

$$J\frac{m_{\phi}}{m_{b}}\cdot\frac{d\gamma}{dt}=\Delta A \tag{1.22}$$

and

$$\Delta t = \lambda + \frac{m_{\mu}}{m_{\mu}} \cdot \frac{c\Phi}{c_{1}R} \mu(t-z) + \frac{c\Phi}{c_{1}Rm_{\mu}} f(k_{1}m_{1}z). \qquad (1.23)$$

Comparison of expressions (1.17) and (1.18) with equations (1.22) and (1.23) obtained for the model gives the following relationships between parameters, ensuring identity of the indicated equations:

$$J\frac{m_{\gamma}}{m_{\lambda\lambda}} = T_{a}, \quad \frac{m_{\lambda}}{m_{\lambda\lambda}} \cdot \frac{c\Phi}{c_{1}R} = -1$$

$$\mu(\varphi) \varphi = \frac{c\Phi}{c_{1}Rm_{\lambda\lambda}} f(k_{\gamma}m_{\gamma}\gamma).$$

Nethods of simulation, especially when simulating with real elements of the closed control loop, can also be considered a special variety of experimental methods of investigation of systems of automatic control.

Simulation should not be compared to analytic investigation. Simulation is impossible without analytic investigation, since it anticipates certainly knowledge of the system of differential equations, describing the behavior of the simulated control loop, and requires generalisation of a large number of particular solutions.

CHAPTER II

LINEAR COMPUTING ELEMENTS

1. Computing Elements, Necessary for Solving Linear Differential Equations

As is known, the theory of automatic control is most fully developed for linear systems. However for determination of the nature of transients in a linear system and explanation of the influence of separate parameters on stability and quality of processes it is necessary to execute labor-consuming numerical calculations or graphic constructions. With increase of the order of the equations, describing the control system, the labor-consumption of the above-indicated calculations continually increases. Therefore it is expedient after deriving initial differential equations, describing the behavior of the system, to apply for their solution simulating devices. The latter in this case will be called as mathematical computers.

Differential equations of motion of systems of automatic control can be set up on analog computers in varying form:

1. In the form of one equation, written for the investigated coordinate, usually the controlled variable:

$$a_{0}\frac{d^{n}x}{dt^{n}} + a_{1}\frac{d^{n-1}x}{dt^{n-1}} + a_{n-1}\frac{dx}{dt} + a_{n}x =$$

$$= b_{0}\frac{d^{m}y}{dt^{m}} + b_{1}\frac{d^{m-1}y}{dt^{m-1}} + \cdots + b_{m-1}\frac{dy}{dt} + b_{m}y, \quad y \in F(t).$$
(2.1)

where a, a1,..., an; b0, b1,..., bx are coefficients, x --- the controlled variable

-36-

F(t) — the external disturbance.

2. In the form of a system of first order differential equations of this type:

$$b_{i}\frac{dx_{i}}{dt} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik}x_{k-T} F_{i}(t) = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

where b_i , a_{ik} are coefficients, x_1 , x_2 ,..., x_i ,..., x_n - coordinates of the system, $F_i(t)$ - disturbances acting on the system.

3. In the form of a system, broken down into the equation of the controlled member

$$a_{\sigma} \frac{d^{n} y}{dt^{n}} + a_{1} \frac{d^{n-1} y}{dt^{n-1}} + \ldots + a_{n} y + k_{\mu} = b_{\nu} \frac{d^{m} y}{dt^{m}} + b_{1} \frac{e^{m-1} y}{dt^{m-1}} + \ldots + b_{m} y. \qquad (2.3)$$

$$y = F(t)$$

and the equation of the regulator.

With a static regulator the equation of the regulator will be

$$c_0 \frac{d^{1}\mu}{dt^{4}} + c_1 \frac{d^{1-1}\mu}{dt^{4-1}} + \dots + c_{p-1} \frac{d\mu}{dt} + \mu =$$

= $B_0 \overline{\gamma} + B_{n-1} \frac{d\varphi}{dt} + B_{n-2} \frac{a^2 \overline{\gamma}}{dt^2} + \dots + B_1 \frac{d^{n-1} \overline{\gamma}}{dt^{n-1}}$

with an astatic regulator -

$$c_{n}\frac{d^{2}\mu}{dt^{2}}+c_{1}\frac{d^{n-1}\mu}{dt^{n-1}}+\ldots+c_{n-1}\frac{d\mu}{dt}=g_{n}^{*}+g_{n-1}^{*}\frac{d\tau}{dt}=\ldots+g_{1}^{*}\frac{d^{n-1}\varphi}{dt^{n-1}}.$$

where φ is the controlled variable, μ — the controlling variable, F(t) — disturbance acting on the controlled member, a_0 , a_1 ,..., a_n ; b_0 , b_1 ,..., b_n ; c_0 , c_1 ,..., c_n ; g_1 ,..., g_n ; $g_1^{\#}$,..., $g_n^{\#}$ — coefficients, where g_n — the static amplification factor of the regulator.

4. In the form of equations of dynamic units. If, for example, there are solved equations of a one-circuit system of automatic control, containing one oscillatory, two inertial and one integrating units (Fig. 14), then equations of motion can be

-:7-

written in the form

$$T_{1} \frac{dx_{2}}{dt} + x_{2} = k_{1}x_{1},$$

$$T_{2} \frac{dx_{1}}{dt} + x_{3} = k_{2}x_{2},$$

$$T_{3}T_{4} \frac{d^{3}x_{3}}{dt^{2}} + T_{4} \frac{dx_{4}}{dt} + x_{4} = k_{3}x_{3}$$

$$\frac{dx_{3}}{dt} = k_{3}x_{4},$$

$$x_{1} = y(t) - x_{3},$$
(2.4)

where x_1 , x_2 , x_3 , x_4 , x_5 are coordinates of the system, $y(t_3)$ — the external manipulated variable, T_1 , T_2 , T_3 , T_4 — time constants of separate units, k_1 , k_2 , k_3 , k_4 — amplification factors of separate units.

5. In the form of the initial system of differential equations of the investigated physical object. As an example we will bring the linearized equations of the system of stabilization of course of an aircraft (V. S. Vedrov [1]):^{*}

equation of the object

$$\frac{d\Theta}{dt} = A_1\beta + A_2\beta + \frac{\delta_0}{mv},$$

$$\frac{d\Theta}{dt^3} + A_6\frac{d\gamma}{dt} + A_4\beta + A_5\beta = \frac{M_0}{J_y},$$

$$\Theta = \gamma - \beta.$$
(2.5)

equation of the automatic pilot

$$T_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{dn_{\mathfrak{p}}}{dt^{\mathfrak{p}}} + \hbar \frac{d\mathfrak{k}}{dt} + \mathfrak{d} = l \left(\frac{1}{2} + T_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{d\mathfrak{b}}{dt} + T_{\mathfrak{p}} \frac{d\mathfrak{b}}{dt^{\mathfrak{p}}} \right). \tag{2.6}$$

where Ψ is the angle of the aircraft heading, \Im — angle of side alip, \Im — rudder deflection angle, A_1 , A_2 , A_3 , A_4 , A_5 , A_6 — constants of the aircraft, T_p , n, i, T_1 , T_2 — constants of automatic pilot, N, P_p — disturbing moment and disturbing force, and J_q — moment of inertia of the aircraft.

Whatever the form of notation of the differential equations of motion of the

[#]It is assumed that the movement of the course is isolated, i.e., there is not considered the influence of the motion of banking on the course movement of the aircraft.

system, their reproduction with the help of computing elements can be in principle carried out either by increasing the order of the derivative, or by lowering the order of the derivative.



Fig. 14. Skeleton diagram of a onecircuit system of automatic control.

In the first case the diagram of set-up of computing elements is constructed on the principle of successive differentiation with summation (teking into account sign) at the input of the first unit of quantities after each differentiation. In Fig. 15 is brought as an example the functional diagram of the set-up of the linear second order differential equation

$$a_0 \frac{d^2 x}{dt^2} + a_1 \frac{d x}{dt} + a_2 x = y(t).$$
 (2.7)

During set-up by the method of increasing the order of the derivative equation (2.7) is solved for coordinate x:

$$x = -\frac{a_0}{a_0} \frac{d^2 x}{dt^2} - \frac{a_1}{a_0} \frac{dx}{dt} + \frac{1}{a_0} y(t).$$
(2.6)

Let us assume that to the integrating unit there are passed all addends of the right side of equation (2.8); then at the output of the unit we will obtain quantity x. Subjecting this quantity to double differentiation and multiplying the result of each differentiation with the help of multiplication units by the corresponding constants $\left(-\frac{a_0}{a_0} \text{ and } -\frac{c_1}{a_0}\right)$. We will recieve the necessary components for the first ingetrating unit. In this method of setting-up a problem the basis of the device is composed of differentiating decision alements.* During set-up of the

[&]quot;It is necessary to turn attention to unpracticality of such method of settingup of the problem, since during series differentiation interferences, always existing in the input signal, can increase impermissibly.

problem by lowering the order of the derivative the installation is constructed on the principle of successive integration with summation of quantities after each integration at the input of the integrating unit. An example of set-up of a linear second order differential equation by lowering the order of the derivative is shown in Fig. 16. For composition of the functional diagram the equation given for solution is solved for the higher derivative, where all components of the right side, besides independent variables, are introduced to the integrating unit by feedbacks.



Fig. 15. Functional diagram of set-up of a linear differential equation of the second order by increasing the order of the derivative.



Fig. 16. Functional diagram of set-up of a linear differential equation of the second order by lowering the order of the derivative.

As can be seen from Fig. 16, the basis of the installation in this method of set-up of a problem is composed of integrating decision elements.

The considered examples show that for solution of linear differential equations it is necessary to have the following computing elements; adding devices, integrating devices and devices for multiplication and division by a constant (including

-40-

by a quantity less than zero). The enumerated computing elements are called linear, since the connection between quantity at their output and input is lines.

Linear computing elements are constructed on the most varied principles. By their structure they can be divided into:

- a) computing elements of open type;
- b) computing elements with parametric compensation;
- c) computing elements of closed type (with negative feedback).

2. Linear Computing Elements of Open Type

As an example of a computing element of open type let us consider the friction wheel integrator (Fig. 17).

The frictional wheel integrator consists of a revolving disk \square , connected by friction with wheel 1. The disk can move relative to the wheel swing to movement of carriage 2 along guides. If one were to designate the radius of the wheel by r, then from the condition of equality of linear speed of the disk and wheel at point a, we will receive:

$$kxw_{j}=rw_{j} \tag{2.9}$$

or

$$kx \frac{dz}{dt} = r \frac{dy}{dt}$$

whence

$$y = \frac{k}{r} \int_{b}^{t} x \, dz. \tag{2.10}$$

With a constant angular velocity $=_i = \frac{dr}{dt} = \text{const we obtain:}$

$$y = \frac{b u_1}{r} \int_{0}^{t} x \, dt. \tag{2.11}$$

Thus, the considered mechanical integrator can execute integration not only for independent variable t, but also for any variable, for example s in equation (2.10).

In this lies the great merit of the considered integrating device. However accuracy of work of such a mechanical computing element in many respects depends on accuracy of construction and the amount of load on the output shaft.



Fig. 17. Friction wheel integrator.



Fig. 18. Electric circuit of summation of three voltages.

Usually to decrease load on the output shaft we use additional amplifiers of moments (I. S. Bruk [1]) or electromechanical servo systems (V. A. Bush and C. H. Coldwell [1]). Main deficiencies of mechanical computing devices are their comparatively low speed of work, combersomeness, large labor-consumption of manufacture (thus, for example, grinding of guide prisms, by which the carriage is transferred should be carried out with accuracy up to 1 micron) and consequently, high cost. In spite of these deficiencies,

mechanical computing devices still have not lost their value.

As another example of a computing element of open type let us consider an electric circuit designed for summation of three voltages (Fig. 18). Values of currents flowing in the circuit are determined from the relationships:

$$I = e_{out} \cdot Y_{u}$$

$$I_{1} = (e_{1} - e_{out}) Y_{13}$$

$$I_{2} = (e_{2} - e_{out}) Y_{12}$$

$$I_{3} = (e_{3} - e_{out}) Y_{13}$$
(2.12)

where Y_{H} , Y_{11} , Y_{12} , Y_{13} are corresponding values of conductance.

Since $I = I_1 + I_2 + I_3$, then

$$F = \frac{F_{1,N}}{\sum_{i} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}}$$

$$\Rightarrow e_{2} = \frac{F_{1,N}}{\sum_{i} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}}$$

$$\Rightarrow e_{2} = \frac{F_{1,N}}{\sum_{i} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}}$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{F_{2}}{\sum_{i} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}} = \frac{F_{2}}{\sum_{i} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}}$$

ør

$$e_{\text{out}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{3} e_i Y_{ii}}{\sum_{i=1}^{3} Y_{ii} + Y_{ii}}$$
(2.13)

From the formula it follows that the result of summation will depend on the quantity of load and change of the number of components. With a finite R_{μ} correct summation will be guaranteed only if the number of components and the quantity of load are constant. When $R_{\mu} \rightarrow 0$, and $Y_{\mu} \rightarrow -$ the dependence of the result of summation on change of the number of components and the quantity of load decreases. However, here it is impermissibly to sharply decreases the absolute value of the sum (output quantity).





Fig. 19. Passive electric circuits for construction: a) of integrating and b) differentiating devices. Passive electric circuits may also be used for construction of differentiating and iningration detrices (G. L. Shrifferentian [1]). Here as elements of these circuits are pelected obmic resistances and camacitors (Fig. 19). Possibility of realisation of operations of differentiantion and integration is based on the property of a capacitor to accumulate a charge q during application to its plates of a

[&]quot;Self-inductors practically do not find application as elements of such a circuit, since creation of inductance with minute obmic resistance presents a problem significantly more difficult than creation of capacitance with minute leak.

difference of potentials e.

Indeed,

The current through the capacitor here,

$$I_{g} = \frac{\mathrm{d}q}{\mathrm{d}t} - \frac{\mathrm{d}e}{\mathrm{d}t}$$

can serve as a measure of the derivative of the difference of potentials applied to its plates. On the other hand, the difference is potentials on capacitor plates, connected in an electric circuit, is a measure of the integral in time of the current flowing through the capacitor. These properties of a capacitor in practice cannot be realized in pure form. During construction of an integrator on the basis of a capacitor accurate integration of the input signal can be received only in an idealized circuit (Fig. 20), when the capacitor is fed from an ideal source of current.*



Fig. 20. Give principle of obtaining accurate 1) integration and 2) differentiation. My -magnetic amplifier, PE -- phased rectifier. KEY: (a) current source. Approximation to conditions of obtaining accurate differentiation can be obtained in the circuit of Fig. 20b with series coupling of the capacitor with control coil of the magnetic amplifier, possessing a very low impedance.

It is natural that during use of a passive electric circuit with R and C the result of the executed operation of inte-

gration or differentiation will be obtained with distortion. We will estimate the magnitude of these distortions and their dependence on parameters of the circuit.

^{*}Ideal source of current is such a source of electric energy, which creates in circuits a given current independently of the resistance of the load.

For this let us consider a more general case, where the circuit consists of two impedances Z_1 and Z_3 , and load is impedance Z_H (Fig. 21). We will find the relationship between output and input volt-

ages for the considered circuit. This relationship in operator form* gives the transfer function of the circuit:

$$\frac{\overline{r}_{ent}}{\overline{r}_{es}} = \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_3(p)} \frac{1}{\frac{Y_1(p) + Y_n(p)}{Y_1(p)} + 1},$$
(2.15)

where $Y_1(p) = \frac{1}{Z_1(p)}$ and $Y_3(p) = \frac{1}{Z_3(p)}$ are operator conductances of circuit, $Y_H(p) = \frac{1}{Z_H(p)}$ — operator conductance of load. If conductance of circuit and load are selected so that in the operational range of frequencies of input signals it is possible to disregard the quantity

$$\frac{Y_1(f_{\bullet}) + Y_n(f_{\bullet})}{Y_n(f_{\bullet})}$$

as compared with unity**, then expression (2.15) can be presented in the form

(2.16)

$$\bar{e}_{\text{sum}} = \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_2(p)} \bar{e}_{\text{sum}}.$$

Let us consider a particular case, where the circuit consists of series coupling of resistance R_1 and capacitance C_3 , shunted by load resistor R_{H^*} . In this case

$$Y_{3}(p) = C_{3}p, \quad Y_{1}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{1}}, \quad Y_{n}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{n}}$$

On the basis of expression (2.16) we obtain $\overline{e_{max}} = \frac{1}{R_1 C_{aF}} \overline{e_{max}}$ if in the operating range of frequencies of input signals

 $\left|\frac{\frac{1}{R_{i}}+\frac{1}{R_{i}}}{C_{i}}\right| < 1.$ (2.17)

"Here and henceforth are taken the designations: $P = \tau \pm f_{m}$ is a complex variable r_{mus} . r_{mu} representations of quantities $r_{mus}(t)$, $r_{ms}(t)$.

""As is known, to obtain a frequency response for the transfer function of a system one must replace in the latter p = jw.

-25-



Fig. 21. On appraisal of the magnitude of dis-

tortions during differentiation and integration. a and the second second second

changing to originals, we obtain:

Thus, the considered passive electric circuit executes operation of integration. To satisfy condition (2.17) it is necessary to select the time constant of the circuit $(T_{\rm C} = R_1 C_3)$ and of the load $(T_{\rm H} = R_{\rm H} C_3)$ as large as possible.

Let us consider another particular case, where the circuit consists of capacitor with capacitance C and resistance R, shunted by load R_{H^*} . In this case, if in the operating range of frequencies of input signals

$$\begin{vmatrix} C_{f*} & -\frac{1}{R_{*}} \\ -\frac{1}{R_{*}} \end{vmatrix} = 1.$$
 (2.19)

then

Changing to originals, we obtain:

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{\text{out}} = \boldsymbol{R}_{3} \boldsymbol{C} \frac{d\boldsymbol{e}_{\text{ot}}}{dt} \qquad (2.20)$$

Expression (2.20) shows that the considered circuit executes the operation of differentiation. To our condition (2.19) it is necessary to select the time constant of the circuit $\Gamma_0 \cong R_3^{-1}C$ and relationship $\frac{k_3}{k_2}$ as small as possible.

From analysis of conditions (2.17) - (2.19) it follows that accuracy of fulfillment by a passive electric circuit of a given mathematical operation will be higher the less the voltage taken from the output of this circuit. We will estimate error, introduced by a computing element, made in the form of a passive electric circuit.

Error of such a computing element let us arbitrarily choose to call the difference between instantaneous values of the output quantity in real conditions and during ideal fulfillment of the given mathematical operation for the same value of the input quantity

On the basis of preceding the ideal value of the output quantity will be

$$P_{\text{served}} = \frac{Y_{1}(F)}{Y_{2}(F)} T_{+1}$$

and real value of the output quantity ----

$$\frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} = \frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} + \frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} + 1$$
(2.22)

If in the operating range of frequencies of input signals

$$\frac{Y_1(p_{\omega})+Y_{\omega}(p_{\omega})}{Y_1(p_{\omega})} < \frac{1}{2}$$

then it is possible approximately to write:

$$\frac{1}{1 - \frac{Y_{n}(f_{n}) + Y_{n}(f_{n})}{Y_{1}(f_{n})}} = 1 - \frac{Y_{n}(f_{n}) + Y_{n}(f_{n})}{Y_{1}(f_{n})}.$$

Therefore with accuracy up to sign

$$Se_{intra} = \frac{Y_{i}(p) - Y_{ir}(p)}{Y_{i}(p)} + \frac{Y_{ir}(p)}{Y_{ir}(p)} + \frac{Y_{ir}(p)}{Y_{ir}$$

Formula (2,23) is a general expression for representation of absolute error of a computing element.

As an example let us consider error, introduced by such a computing element during work in conditions of an integrator.

In this case

$$Y_{3}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{1}}, \quad Y_{n}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{n}}, \quad Y_{2}(p) = -\frac{1}{1} - C_{3}p,$$

$$\Im F_{ama} = \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{n}}\right) \frac{1}{C_{3}p}, \quad \frac{1}{C_{3}R_{1}p} = \frac{1}{C_{3}}$$

For \bullet_{xx} , given in the form of a stop function, and zero initial conditions, changing

Po colginale, we will receive

Thus, absolute error during a step change of the input signal grows with increase of the time of integration and with decrease of the time constant of the circuit and load resistor.

Usually as the criterion of accuracy is used the quantity of relative error, the relation of absolute error to maximum or the current ideal value of the output quantity. In the first case for maximum error we obtain:

Considering that $r_{and max} = \frac{1}{K_{cs}} t_{st max}$, we will receive:

In the second chas, considering that $e_{ab} = -\frac{1}{R C_{ab}} e_{ab}$ we obtain:

Thus, relative error grows in time linearly and will be less than the greater the time constant of the circuit R C. Presence of load $R_{\rm H}$ decreases the time constant of the circuit and therefore increases the error of fulfillment of the operation of integration. Hence it directly follows that union of such computing elements together and with other equipment leads to build-up of error of each element. So that error $Se_{\rm error}$ does not exceed a given value for selected values of the time constant and load, it is necessary to limit the total operating time of this integration integration.

Thus, for example, when $\delta_{1}e_{aux} = 1^{*}$. R.C. = 10 sec, and $R_{p} = -\frac{1}{p} = \frac{2R}{1-3}$ $\delta_{1}e_{aux} = 0.2$ sec. With a sinusoidal variable input voltage the error in a given mathematical operation is conveniently expressed in the form of the error of

reproduction of amplitude and the error of reproduction of place of the output wolt are. Expressions for these values of error can meally be obtained after replacing proriju in expression (2.22). Performing this replacement, we find:



Fig. 22. Use of an electronic amplifier in combination with a passive electric circuit. From these expressions it follows that amplitude and phase error with a sinusoidal variable input signal decrease with increase of the frequency of the signal and with increase of the time constant of the circuit $T_0 = R_1 C_3$. Increase of time

constant T_0 , as follows from expression (2.18), leads to decrease of the magnitude of the output signal. This contradiction is possible to avoid, if in erries with the considered passive network one were to connect an electronic amplifier (G. U. Shnirman [1]) (Fig. 22). The connection between output and input quantities now will be

$$F_{aux} = K_y \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_1(p)} + \frac{1}{(p)} = F_{ax}$$

If we were to select the relationship of parameters so that in the operating range of frequencies $\frac{Y_{-}(...)}{Y_{+}(...)}$ then we will receive finally.

$$\sigma_{min} = K_{+} \frac{Y_{-}(p)}{Y_{5}(p)} r_{+1}$$
 (2.25)

With the help of amplifier here we succeed, with sufficiently low value of $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{1}{2}$, determined by requirements of accuracy, in obtaining the necessary quantity of output voltage and simultaneously in unloading the passive network.

The considered principle of construction of a computing element of spun type, based on combination of a parametric system with an amplifier, also has a number of deficiencies: 1. Special selection of parameters of the computing element is necessary, with which in the operating range of frequencies this condition is met $\frac{1}{2} \frac{(r-1)}{r}$

2. The amplifier should possess a sufficiently high amplification factor (of the order of 200 or greater), where for removal of error due to variation of the parameters of the amplifier the amplification factor of the latter should be stabilized with a high degree of accuracy.

3. There is possible appearance of "drift" of zero of the amplifier due to the charge of the capacitor of the passive network at the input by the grid current of the first cascade during operation of the device as an integrator or differentiator.

4. Permissible time of work as an integrator is comparatively small due to the difficulty of obtaining a large time constant for the passive network.

3. Linear Computing Elements with Parametric Compensation

Connection of passive electric circuits with electronic amplifiers opens also a number of new possibilities of improving computing elements. One of these possibilities is compensation of error, introduced by the passive electric circuit, with the help of positive feedback in the amplifier. The idea of this principle of construction of a computing element follows from analysis of the equation for the pasrive electric circuit. Indeed, the connection between the output and input qualities of the circuit (without considering the load) can be presented in the form

 $Y_{1}(p) = Y_{1}(p)$ $F_{nut} = Y_{1}(p)$ $F_{nut} = Y_{1}(p)$

(2.26)

From comparison of equation (2.26) with equation (2.16) it follows that the term $r_{uut} \frac{Y_i(p)}{Y_i(p)}$ determines error of the circuit. If we could manage to add to the input voltage a component, proportional to the output voltage, then, obviously, the problem would be solved. Indeed, let the new value of input voltage be

Cas - Cas - 20 -----

-50-

Then, substituting (... in place of e., in expression (2.25), we will receive:

$$\overline{F_{\text{AMIL}}} = \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_1(p)} \cdot e_{pl} = (1 - 1) \cdot e_{pl} \cdot \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_1(p)} \cdot$$

If one were to select a , close to 1, then we will receive: $\overline{\sigma}_{ave} \approx \frac{Y_{i}(p)}{Y_{i}(p)} \overline{\sigma}_{ave}$



Fig. 23. The principle of construction of a computing element with parametric compensation of errors.

With an amplifier connected with the passive electric circuit, this idea can easily be realised, if with the help of positive feedbark (Fig. 23) we carry out addition to the input signal of a component, proportional to the output signed. Indeed, for the diagrees of Fig. 23 we obtain on

the basis of (2,13):

$$\frac{Y_1(p)}{(p) + Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)} = \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)} = \frac{Y_2(p)}{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)} = \frac{Y_2(p)}{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)} = \frac{Y_2(p)}{(2.27)}$$

The equation of amplifier is:

Henne

$$\overline{F_{out}} = \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p) - Y_1(p) - K_y Y_1(p)} K_y \overline{F_{out}}.$$
(2.29)

If one were to select parameters of system Y_2 and K_y in such a way that in the operating range of frequencies $|Y_1(j\omega) + Y_2(j\omega) - K_y Y_1(j\omega)| \ll |Y_1(j\omega)|$, that is is possible with sufficient accuracy to write the equation of this computing element in the form

$$\bar{e}_{out} = K_y \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_2(p)} \bar{e}_{out}$$
(2.30)

Thus, the considered computing element executes the same conversion as the preeeding one, but without the limitations placed on the parameters of the converter. In order to reduce to zero the left part of the above-mentioned inequality, it is necessary to select an amplification factor of the amplifier equal to

$$A_{1} = \frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} = 1.$$
 (2.31)

In particular when $Y_1(p) = Y_2(p)$, $K_y = 2$.

This principle of construction of a computing element is offered by L. I. Gutenmakher [1]. It is placed in somewhat modified form at the basis of the construction electrointegrators of type ELI-12 and ELI-14 (L. I. Gutenmakher, N. V. Korol'kov, I. A. Vissonov, L. S. Klabukov, G. K. Kus'minok [1]).

In these electrointegrators thanks to application of multiple automatic iteration of the solution computing elements turned out to be possible to construct from a-c amplifiers. The fundamental circuit of such a computing element is shown in Fig. 24. Along with total external positive feedback, here there is provided also negative feedback in the amplifier to stabilize the amplification factor.



Fig. 24. Diagram of an electronic amplifier with parametric compensation of error (ELI). KEY: (a) k

Compared with the case of application of a passive network with an amplifier this method of construction of computing elemente has the Livantage that it does not

.

require an amplifier with a large amplification factor and special selection of parameters of the network. An essential deficiency of the considered method of construction of a computing element is the dependence of its transfer function on the amplification factor which leads to the necessity of stabilization of the amplification factor which leads to the necessity of stabilization of the amplification factor and to selection for operation of a limited band of frequencies, in which the parameters of the amplifier do not occasion a noticeable influence. Furthermore, the condition of complete compensation practically is unacceptable, since it can lead to unstable operation of the computing element even with alight variation of parameters. Indeed, let the computing element work is an integrator when $Y_1(p) = \frac{1}{R_1}$, $Y_2(p) = \frac{1}{R_2}$, and $R_1 = R_2$, $Y_3 = Cp$. Then on the basis of expression (2.29) we will have

$$\bar{e}_{puls} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{K_y} R_i C_p + \left(\frac{2}{K_y} - 1\right)} \bar{e}_{pss}.$$
(2.32)

To satisfy conditions of compensation one must choose an amplification factor of the amplifier equal to $K_y = 2$. If after setting this value for the amplification factor values of resistances R_1 and R_2 slightly change, the condition of compensation will be violated. Let us assume that $R_1 = 1.05 R_2$. In this case

$$\bar{e}_{aut} = 2 \frac{\bar{e}_{ax}}{R_1 C_p - 0.05}$$
 (2.33)

The presence of a negative sign in the denominator of expression (2.33) testifies to the unstable regime of the computing element. With a constant ratio $\frac{R_1}{R_2}$ change of the amplification factor can lead to these results. In connection with this for obtaining stable operation it is necessary to depart from conditions of complete compensation (in the considered case take $K_y < 2$) and thereby knowingly allow qualitative and quantitative distortion of the results of the mothematical operation, executed by the computing element.

This method of construction of computing elements can be compared with the method known in electric machines of parametric compensation (compounding), which

-53-

onsures the required machine regime only with its strictly constant parameters.

The principle of parametric compensation can be used also during construction of electromechanical integrating devices. As is known, for construction of such computing elements there can be used following relationships for rotation:

$$J \frac{d_{\phi}}{dt} = M_{\phi} - \frac{d_{\phi}}{dt} - \omega_{\phi}$$
(2.34)

where J is the moment of inertia, ω — the angular velocity, M — the total moment, φ — the angle of rotation.

If one were to use the first relationship, then the angular velocity can serve as a measure of the integral from total moment M, which is the input quantity. With use of the second relationship the angle of rotation φ will serve as a measure of the integral in time of the angular velocity.

When the input quantity is an electric voltage, it is necessary to supplement the device by a converting link, carrying out the conversions M = kU and $\omega = k_1 U$.

Technically it is quite simple to carry out the conversion M = kU with the help of an ordinary d-c or a-c motor. The conversion $\omega = k_1 U$ is usually carried out with the help of a serve system. Influence of the parameters of the serve system distorts this conversion and lowers accuracy of the executed mathematical operation. In this case $\overline{\omega} = \frac{K_1}{U(p)} \overline{U}$, where D(p) is a ploynomial, whose coefficients are determined by the parameters of the serve system.

For these reasons they prefer to build electroms_manical integrators (A. E. Kharybin [1]) on the basis of the relationships $J = \frac{d\omega}{dt} = M$ and M = kU.

Let us consider as an example the fundamental circuit of construction of an integrator on the basis of a d-c motor (Fig. 25). Voltage of the input signal moves through amplifier to clamps of the armature of a d-c motor with independent excitation. The equation of motion of the motor without considering the moment of resistance on the shaft and the moment of armature losses will be

$$J \frac{d\omega}{dt} + \frac{AI_n}{\omega_0} \quad \omega = \frac{c\Phi}{R_0} \quad U_{\infty}$$

-54-

where J is the total moment of inertia, brought to the shaft of the motor; $M_n = c\Phi I_n$ -- the starting moment of the motor, U_n -- armsture voltage of the motor, R_n -- armature resistance of the motor.



Fig. 25. Diagram of an electromechanical integrator with parametric compensation of error. KRY: (a) Motor; (b) Tachogenerator.

If the tachogenerator is disconnected, then $e_{i}^{i} = e_{i}^{i}$, and then

$$J\frac{d\omega}{dt} + -\frac{M_n}{\omega_0} \quad \omega = -\frac{c\Phi}{R_u} K_y e_{ax}$$
(2.35)

Equation (2.35) indicates that acceleration, developed by the motor, depends not only on the input signal, but also on the speed of rotation of the motor shaft. If to the input signal one adds a component, proportional to the output signal (in the given case, angular velocity ω), then, as in the preceding case, it is possible to compensate error, introduced by the anti-electromotive force. Indeed, if voltage of the tachomachine is added to the input voltage, then

$$e_{ab}^{*} = e_{ab} + ak_{ab}$$
 (2.36)

By joint solution of equation (2.36) and the equation of motion of the motor (2.35) we will receive:

$$J\frac{du}{dt} + \left(\frac{M_u}{u_0} - \frac{c\Phi}{R_v} K_y 2k_v\right) = \frac{c\Phi}{R_u} k_y e_{vt}$$

If select parameters of the system K and a so that the expression in parentheses turns into zero, then the considered electromechanical device will ideally execute the operation of integration:

$$J\frac{du}{dt} = \frac{c\Phi}{R_{\rm s}} K_{\rm y} e_{\rm st}.$$

whence

$$\omega = \frac{c^{10}}{R_{\star}J} - \chi_{y} \int_{0}^{t} e_{\star \star} dt. \qquad (2.37)$$

The required value of $K_{\mathbf{v}}$ here can be found from the expression

$$K_{1} = \frac{1}{4k_{1}}$$
 (2.38)

It is obvious that by considerations of stability one must not approach conditions of complete compensation too closely, and therefore the value of K_y should be taken somewhat smaller than that which was found from expression (2.38).

A more accurate electromechanical integrator can be created on the basis of the considered principle with the help of an asynchronous two-phase motor (Fig. 26). In this case the moment of resistance on

the shaft can be made insignificantly small, since brushes are absent, however the amplifier is complicated here due to the nonlinear dependence of the enf of the rotation on current in the windings.

The equation of motion of the motor can be written in the form

$$J_{ij}^{d^{2}+} = J_{ij}^{d^{2}+} = M(I_{ij}^{I_{ij}}, I_{ij}^{H_{ij}}), \qquad (2.30)$$

where J is the total moment of inertia brought to the motor shaft; Θ — the angle of rotation of the motor; f — coefficient of viscous friction against air; M electromagnetic torque on the rotor, I_x , I_y — currents in coils of the motor stator.

The moment of resistance and moment of losses we will disregard. As is known from the theory of two-phase asynchronous motors (I. M. Sadovskiy [1]), the expression



Fig. 26. Use of an asynchronous two-phase motor for construction of an electromechanical integrator.

for electromagnetic torque can with accuracy sufficient for practice be written in the form

$$M = k \left(\omega_{f_{x}}^{2} + \frac{l_{y}^{2} \pm l_{y}^{2}}{2} \frac{d\theta}{dt} \right).$$
 (2.40)

This expression is correct, if we disregard electromagnetic transients in coils of the motor, attanuating significantly faster than electromechanical transients, caused by inertia of the motor rotor.

In expression (2.40) there is designated: k - constant for the given frequency of the network, which is a function of the impedances of the windings, w_{ii} - the synchronous speed of the motor.

On the basis of (2.39) and (2.40), if quantity f is negligible, we find:

$$J\frac{d^{2}\Theta}{dt^{2}} + \frac{k}{2}(I_{x}^{2} + I_{y}^{2})\frac{d\Theta}{dt} = k\omega_{y}I_{x}I_{y}$$
(2.41)

From expression (2.41) it follows that acceleration of the moto. depends not only on current I_X in the control coil, but also on the rpm of the motor. If one were to use method, mentioned above in the example of a d-c motor, then, obvioualy, for compensation of error – of such a computing element one must also introduce positive feedback, but this feedback should be nonlinear and its coefficient should depend on the square of the control current I_X . Technically this is possible with the help of application of an a-c tachemachine and a special nonlinear elegtronic amplifier (R. L. Coagriff [1]). For the diagram of Fig. 26 it is possible to write additionally the following relationshipe:

$$I_{x} = K_{y} (I_{x} + I_{y}), \quad I_{y} = K_{y_{1}} k_{y_{1}} \frac{dW}{dI}, \\ K_{y_{1}} = c (I_{x}^{2} + I_{y}^{2}); \\ I_{x} = k_{y} e_{xy}.$$

where c, k, are proportionality factors, Hence

$$I_{a} = K_{b,c} k_{b} e_{ac} + c (I_{a}^{2} + I_{b}^{2}) k_{c} \frac{d^{a}}{dI_{b}}$$
(2.42)

After substituting expression (2.42) in (2.41), we will receive:

$$\int \frac{d^{2m}}{dt^2} \approx \int \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \dots + J_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + c I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \dots + J_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + c I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \dots + J_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + c I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \dots + J_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + c I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 + I_{2}^2 \right) \frac{d^{2m}}{dt} = \int d^{2m} K \left(I_{1,\frac{m}{2}}^2 +$$

If one were to select amplification factor K_{y_1} on the condition that $K_{y_1} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{y_1 + x_1}^{1} \frac{1}{y_1}$ then the equation of the computing element can be given in the form

$$j\frac{d^{2n}}{dt^2} = kwJ_{1}K_{2}K_{1}e_{n}$$

or

THE REAL PROPERTY IN

$$\frac{dw}{dt} = \frac{w_{0}I_{1}K_{1}K_{1}}{J_{1}}\int_{0}^{t}e_{0}dt \qquad (2.43)$$

As in the preceding example, to guarantee stability of the system it is necessary to depart somewhat from conditions of ideal compensatio-

4. Computing Elements of Closed Type (witr Negative Feedback).

Lately in construction of computing elements more and more there are used principles, placed at the basis of closed systems of automatic control. Under certain conditions it turns out that accuracy of operation of such elements does not depend on variation of the parameters of the main channel, converting the signal, but is determined only by the magnitude and stability of parameters of the feedback circuit and the input circuit.



Fig. 27. Skeleton diagram of a very simple system of automatic control. Let us consider the diagram of a very simple linear system of automatic control, consisting of three units (Fig. 27). Let the equations of these units have the form:

x. Fripix. V KLIPHER, 28 2 FAPY

where $F_1(p)$ is the transfer function of the input unit, $F_2(p)$ — the transfer function of the feedback, unit $K_y(p)$ — the transfer function of the amplifier. From these equations it follows:

$$\frac{K_{y}(p)F_{z}(p)}{y} = \frac{K_{y}(p)F_{z}(p)}{x}$$
(2.44)

If one were to select so a large value of the amplification factor of the third unit that for values of ω , at which the system works this inequality is satisfied,

$$|K_y(j\omega)F_1(j\omega)| \gg 1,$$
 (2.45)

then the expression, connecting the output quantity y with the input x can be, with accuracy sufficient for practice, presented in the form

$$\frac{1}{y} = \frac{F_{i}(p)}{F_{i}(p)} \frac{1}{x}$$
(2.46)

Thus, with a sufficiently great amplification factor of the main unit of the system of automatic control the connection between output and input quantities is determined only by parameters of the feedback circuit and the input circuit.

Depending upon the form of transfer function $P_1(p)$ and $P_2(p)$ the system of automatic control can execute various mathematical conversions of the input quantity. In general it is possible to consider that a system of automatic control, having a very great amplification factor in the open state, allows one to solve differential equation of the form

$$F_{2}(p) \bar{y} = F_{1}(p) x \qquad (2.47)$$

Let us consider several examples of construction of computing elements on the basis of systems of automatic control:

a) <u>Electromechanical integrator</u>. The fundamental circuit of the integrator is shown in Fig. 28. The input signal is added to the signal from the tachomachine with the help of an electric circuit, consisting of resistances R. Voltage ". at point

I is a signal of minumatch or error of the serve system. The amplified voltage of minumatch is applied to the armature of a d-c matter and determines the change of speed of rotation of the armature in such direction and mough to decrease the appearing mismatch. Therefore this system with accuracy up to e^{-} ensures proportionality between the speed of rotation of the d-c motor and the input voltage.



Fig. 28. Fundamental circuit of the device of an electromechanical integrator.

Indeed,

where $f_1(p) = \frac{1}{r_s} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{r_s} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{r_s}$ is the output voltage of the amplifier; k. --- the transmission factor of the tachomachine, K_0 --- amplification factor of the amplifier. Since $e_{1,min}$ from conditions of physical feasibility of the amplifier has a finite value, then for a value of K_0 very large in modulo the quantity of mismatch e_i will be minute.

If, for example, $e_{1.max} = 100 \text{ v}$, and $E_0 = 50,000 \text{ then } e_{\overline{b}} = 2 \text{ mv}$. Thus, the integrating point obtains a potential differing little from the potential of the ground, i.e., as it is said, it is potentially grounded.

Thus, with a very large amplification factor, it is possible to disregard magnitude r_{1} in expression (2.48) as compared with the remaining terms, and then

or

To the s'aft of the motor through lowering reducer with a transmission ratio there is joined otentiometer \Box , by which the angle of rotation of the output shaft will be
converted into output voltage. Considering that $w = i \frac{d x}{dt^2}$, we will recieve:

$$e_{\text{max}} = k_{n^2} + \int_{k_{12}}^{k_{12}} e_{nx} dt. \qquad (2.50)$$

where k_{yx} is the proportionality factor.

Consequently, the output voltage or the angle of rotation of the output shaft can serve as a measure of the integral in time of the input voltage.

Let us consider in somewhat more detail, how the parameters of the system will influence accuracy of the executed mathematical operation. If one were not to disregard the quantity of mismatch and not consider loss in the motor armature, friction and load on its shaft, and also consider the amplification factor of amplifier K_0 = const in the operating range of frequencies, then it is possible for the motor-amplifier unit to write the relationship

$$= \frac{\lambda_0 \lambda_0}{T_p + 1^{5/4}}$$
(2.51)

where T is the time constant of acceleration of the motor, $k_{\rm H}$ — the amplification factor of the motor.

Substituting value \tilde{e}_{i} from equation (2.48) in equation (2.51), we will receive:

$$= \frac{k_{1}k_{2}}{2(t_{p}+1)+2(k_{1}k_{2})} \qquad (2,52)$$

or

$$e_{au1} = \frac{k_a}{k_b^2} \frac{1}{P} \frac{1}{2(T_P + 1)} \frac{1}{k_b k_a k_b} + 1$$
 (2.53)

If in the operating range of frequencies

$$\frac{2(T_{f^{*}}+1)}{K_{\bullet}k_{\bullet}k_{\bullet}} \ll 1.$$

then

$$\tilde{r}_{aux} = -\frac{k_a}{k_{al}} \cdot \frac{1}{p} \tilde{r}_{ax}$$

and the system executes the operation of integration without error. Error of

operation of such a device will, obviously, depend on the absolute value of the expression $\frac{2(F_{I^{(i)}}+1)}{h_0k_0k_0}$ and the stability of accuracy of sec-up of the ratio $\frac{k_0}{k_0}$.

Decrease of the absolute value of expression $\frac{2(T_{1},\dots,1)}{||k||k_{1}||}$ can be attained by increase of the total amplification factor of the serve system $K_{0}||k_{1}||k_{2}||$, selection of low-inertia elements, for example motors with a low time constant of accelerttion, and finally, by limitation of the operating range of frequencies. Uncrease of amplification factor K_{0} of such a system usually prevents loss of stability, caused by presence of such neglected factors as dry friction, the gap in kinematic circuit, equivalent constant delay, caused the neglected small incrinesses of the system and so forth. By force of this to obtain a given accuracy it is necessary to decrease the band of frequencies of operation of the system, i.e., in essence to limit circle of problems solved with the help of such electromschanical computing elemences.

The pasaband width of electromechanical computing elements for the low-inertia magnetic clutches proposed by P. F. Klubnikin (see Ye. K. Krug and O. Minina [1]), possessing an equivalent time constant of acceleration T = 0.028 sec, does not exceed 4 to 5 c.

The required dynamic stability and fast attenuation of natural motions of the computing element can be attained comparatively simply in a wide range of operating frequencies with use as the computing elements of systems of automatic control, composed of low-inertia units. Special advantages in this respect are presented by d-c amplifiers with negative feedback (I. R. Ragazzini, R. H. Randall, F. A. Russell [1]).

b) <u>Electronic amplifier with negative feedback as a computing element</u>. An operational amplifier (Fig. 29) can be considered as a serve system, reacting to several (in the general case, n) input signals.

Role of the controlled rember here is played by the same d-c amplifier, the role of the regulator --- by a unique mismatch indicator, a multiterminal network,

-62-

composed of input impedances z_{11} , z_{12} ,..., z_{1n} , feedback resistors z_2 and input resistance of the d-c amplifier z_3 . Since feedback in the considered amplifier is negative, output voltage of this multiterminal network z_1 can be considered the error or mismatch of the serve system. Considering the linearity of elements, forming the multiterminal network of the mismatch indicator, it is possible to present the total voltage of error in the form of sum, in which every addend is determined by the value of the voltage, applied to the given input pole. Indeed:

$$e_1 = f_{11}(p)e_1 + f_{12}(p)e_2 + f_{12}(p)e_3 + \dots + f_{1n}(p)e_n + f_{2}(p)e_{nnn}$$
(2.54)

where, as we know (K. A. Krug [1]), transfer functions $f_{11}(p)$, $f_{12}(p)$, ..., $f_{1n}(p)$ and $f_2(p)$, expressed by the conductance of the corresponding pircuits, have the values:

$$f_{11}(p) = \frac{Y_{11}(p)}{\sum_{i}^{n} Y_{1i}(p) + Y_{1}(p) + Y_{1}(p)}, \qquad (2.55)$$

$$f_{12}(p) = \frac{Y_{11}(p)}{\sum_{i}^{n} Y_{ii}(p) + Y_{2}(p) + Y_{3}(p)},$$
(2.56)

$$f_{13}(p) = \frac{Y_{12}(p)}{\sum_{1}^{N} Y_{11}(p) + Y_{2}(p) + Y_{1}(p)},$$
(2.57)

$$f_{1n}(p) = \frac{Y_{1n}(p)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{1i}(p) + Y_{n}(p) + Y_{n}(p)},$$
(2.58)

$$f_{2}(p) = \frac{Y_{1}(p)}{\sum_{k}^{n} Y_{1k}(p) + Y_{2}(p) + Y_{3}(p)}$$
(2.59)

Here

$$Y_{11} = \frac{1}{Z_{11}}, \quad Y_{12} = \frac{1}{Z_{12}}, \quad Y_{11} = \frac{1}{Z_{12}}, \dots$$

$$Y_{1n} = \frac{1}{Z_{1n}}, \quad Y_{3} = \frac{1}{Z_{1}}, \quad Y_{2} = \frac{1}{Z_{1}}.$$

With a sufficiently great amplification factor of the amplifier (in the operating range of frequencies) and limited maximum value of output voltage of the amplifier, the voltage of error ϵ_i is very low. Here, as in the preceding example, it turns out that integrating point Σ is as if potentially grounded. If we disregard in expression (2.54) quantity ϵ_i as compared with the remaining terms, then it is possible to find the connection between the output and input voltage of the operational amplifier:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{ii}(p) \tilde{e}_{i}$$

or after expression of transfer functions through the conductances of the corresponding circuits:

$$\overline{F}_{sht} = \frac{\sum_{i}^{n} Y_{i}(p) \overline{F}_{i}}{Y_{2}(p)}$$
(2.60)

From equation (2.60) it follows that accuracy of mathematical operations, executed by the computing element, does not depend on parameters of the actual amplifier



Fig. 29. Operational amplifier.

if its amplification factor is sufficiently great, but depends on accuracy of set-up and stability of values of the conductances of the input circuits and feedback circuit.

Let us consider several particular regimes of an operational amplifier.

Let the number of inputs n = 1, $Y_{\underline{11}} = \frac{1}{R_1}$, $Y_2 = \frac{1}{R_2}$ then on the basis of (2.60) we will receive:

$$e_{nat} = \frac{R_1}{R_1} e_{nx} \qquad (2.61)$$

The operational amplifier executes here the operation of multiplication by the constant $-\frac{R_2}{R_1}$.

Let there by n inputs
$$Y_{11} = \frac{1}{R_{11}}$$
, $Y_2 = \frac{1}{R_2}$ then
 $e_{aux} = -\sum_{i}^{n} \frac{R_i}{R_{ii}} e_i$.
(2.62)

The operational amplifier executes here algebraic summation of n input signals with multiplication of every component by a given constant $-\frac{R_2}{R_{11}}$. If $R_1 = R_2 = \dots = R_{1n} = R_2$, then here is carried out ordinary algebraic summation.

If in the feedback circuit we connect a capacitance, and on the input -, an chuic resistance, then when n = 1 we will receive:

$$\vec{e}_{\text{BWX}} = -\frac{1}{RCp} \vec{e}_{\text{SX}}$$
(2,63)

Changing from representations to originals, we will have:

$$e_{\rm out} = -\frac{1}{RC} \int_{0}^{t} e_{\rm out} dt. \qquad (2.64)$$

Thus, with these resistances on input and in the feedback circuit^{*} the amplifier executes operation of integration in time of the input quantity. If the number of input signals is n and at the input are connected obmic resistances R_{11} , R_{12} , ..., R_{1n} , then here is executed the operation of integration of the sum of input signals:

$$\bar{e}_{max} = -\frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{Ck_{ii}} \bar{e}_{ii}$$

whence

$$e_{mix} = \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{i}^{n} \frac{1}{CR_{1i}} e_{i} dt.$$
 (2.65)

[&]quot;Here and henceforth for brevity of speech by term "feedback circuit" is designated a circuit, connected between integrating point \sum and the output terminal of the amplifier. In reality a feedback circuit is the totality of this circuit and the circuit connected to the amplifier input.

Finally, with connection at the input of capacitors, and in the feedback of resistance R we will receive when n = 1:

or

$$\mathbf{e}_{\text{max}} = -R_f \mathcal{L} \frac{d\mathbf{e}_{\text{max}}}{dt} \qquad (2.66)$$

The operational amplifier here works as a differentiator.

Thus, depending upon the values of conductances of input circuits and feedback circuits the operational amplifier can execute various mathematical operations. The expression

carries the name of the transfer function of a computing element for the i-th input and henceforth will be designated by letter $F_{\rm b}$ (p) in distinction from the static transfer ratio K, equal for an integrator to $K = \frac{1}{RC}$, for a differentiator K = RC, for an adder for the i-th input -- $K_{\rm li} = \frac{R_2}{R_{\rm li}}$.

In table I are shown the basic mathematical operations executed by such an operational amplifier.

On the basis of the theory of electric circuits at the end of the book (in Appendix I) there is given a more general derivation of equations of the operational element and there are brought cases of obtaining combine i linear operations with the help of one operational amplifier, at whose input and feedbacks there are connected networks of various types.

It is necessary to indicate that the examples in Table I of multiplication and division by constants β_1 and $\beta_2 \in 1$ can also be used for realization of operations of multiplication and division of two variables, if the diagram is supplemented with a serve system. Besides the mathematical operations enumerated in Table I and Appendix I, by an operational amplifier with connection of a feedback circuit and at the input connection of nonlinear resistances there may also be carried out functional

+50-

Table I



-67-

Continuation of Table I



-68-

Continuation of Table I

National dents de- pris of Eggs and Res- bud dends of quantizes egginter	Constructions of Products eleversty	Constructions of Support clarants	Bysolies of operational stylifter	Rothematical opera- tion service on the optimitical angle flar
	$Y_1(p) = C_3 p$	$Y_{12}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{11}}$ $Y_{12}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{12}}$	$ \frac{1}{r_{mut}} = -\frac{1}{C_{1P}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{ot}}{R_{11}} + \frac{\sigma_{mut}}{R_{12}} \right), $ $ \frac{1}{\sigma_{mut}} = \frac{1}{R_{1}C_{1P} + 1} \frac{\sigma_{mut}}{r_{mut}}, $ $ \frac{1}{\sigma_{mut}} = -\frac{R_{1p}R_{11}}{R_{1p}R_{1}C_{1}C_{1}P^{2} + C_{1}R_{11}P + 1} \frac{\sigma_{mut}}{r_{mut}}, $	Antonian of the equilian of a chr- onth, environing of or contributing of other the contri- tion the AL ₁ B ₁ - B ₁₁ L ₁
	$Y_2(p) = \frac{1}{K_1}$	$Y_{i}(p) = \frac{1}{R_{i}}$	$\theta_{max} = -\frac{R_1}{R_1} \theta_{ax}^*$ $\theta_{ax} = \theta_1 \theta_{ax}$ $\theta_{axx} = -\theta_1 - \frac{R_2}{R_1} \theta_{ax}$	Bildionia v B ₁ < 1
	$f_1(p) = \frac{1}{k_1}$	$f_{i}(p) \sim \frac{1}{R_{i}}$	$f_{out} = \frac{R_g}{K_i} f_{ot}$ $f_{out} = \frac{R_g}{K_i} f_{ot}$ $f_{out} = \frac{R_g}{p_g K_i} f_{ot}$	Division w Prot

.

R

conversion and there may be reproduced static characteristics of basic type nonlinearities of systems of automatic control (gap, dry friction, some of insensitivity, limitation of coordinates by modulo, etc).*



Fig. 30. Toward explanation of the work of an operational amplifier as an integrator. We will give a physical explanation of the work of an operational amplifier as an integrator. For this let us consider the equivalent diagram of Fig. 30. In this diagram the amplifier is replaced by an equivalent generator with voltage r_{ext} and a capacitor is connected through resistance R to a voltage, equal

to $e_{aut} + e_{at}$ Let us consider the case when e_{at} is applied in the form of a step function. By force of the fact that the voltage on the plates of the capacitor cannot change instantaneously (assume $e_c = 0$ at moment t = 0), at the moment of switching on the input signal through the circuit will leak current

 $I_0 = \frac{I_{n1}}{R} \, .$

The voltage of error

$$e_1 = e_{11} - I_0 R = 0$$

It is obvious that with passage of time, by measure of the charge of the capacitor; current in the circuit will fall, and the voltage of error will grow. If the time constant of charge is very great, then practically within a certain interval of time it is possible to consider the current constant. So that through capacitor there flows a current of unchanging strength, it is necessary that the voltage on its plates grows linearly in time.

#See Ch. VIII and XIII.

-70-

Indeed, $l = C \frac{de_c}{dt}$; if I = const, then

$$\frac{de_c}{dt} = \text{const} \quad \text{and} \quad e_c = \frac{1}{C}t \tag{2.67}$$

Since with a large amplification factor of the amplifier voltage is minute, then the linear build-up of voltage on the capacitor signifies linear build-up of voltage on output. If one were to consider the input signal constant, then it will become evident that the output signal is a measure of the integral of the imput signal with respon to time.

We will find the law of change of current in the equivalent circuit of Fig. 30 with application of an input signal in the form of a step function. Using Kirchhoff's law, we will receive:

$$e_{\rm st} - e_{\rm sus} = IR + \frac{1}{C} \int I \, dt,$$

but

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{max} = -\boldsymbol{K}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{e}_{\boldsymbol{k}} = -\boldsymbol{K}_{\boldsymbol{y}}(\boldsymbol{e}_{mx} - \boldsymbol{I}\boldsymbol{R});$$

hence

$$\theta_{sx}(1+K_y) = I(1+K_y)R + \frac{1}{C}\int dt.$$
 (2.68)

From relationship (2.68) it follows that the process of change of current, flowing through the capacitor of an operational amplifier, working as an integrator, is equivalent to the process of change of current in a passive electric circuit, consisting of a series connected capacitor of the same capacitance and ohmic resistance, amplified $(1 + K_y)$ times under the condition that to this circuit is connected an input signal amplified $(1 + K_y)$ times.

Sulution of differential equation (2.68) is

$$I = \frac{m}{K} e^{-\frac{1}{(1-K_{j})K}t}$$
(2.69)

. . . .

By expression (2,69) it is possible to calculate the maximum speed of decrease of current, flowing through the capacitor:

$$\begin{pmatrix} dI \\ dt \end{pmatrix}_{min} = \frac{1}{R T (1 + h_{i})}$$
(2.70)

If $e_{BX} = 10 \text{ w}$, R = 1 megohm, T = RC = 1 sec, K_y = 50,000, then

$$\left(\frac{dI}{dI}\right)_{max} = -0.2 \ 10^{-3} \text{ a/sec} = -0.2 \ 10^{-3} \text{ Mc/sec}.$$

Knowing the law of change of current through the capacitor, it is easy to find the law of change of output voltage.

Indeed,

$$e_{i} = e_{ix} - IR = e_{ix} \left[1 - e^{-1} - e^{-1} \right]$$

and

$$\theta_{0w,\tau} = K_{y,e_1} = -K_{y,o_1} \left(1 - e^{-\left(\frac{1}{(-k_{i_1})w^{-1}}\right)} \right)$$
 (2.71)

Expression (2.71) can also be obtained formally as the solution of the differential equation of the circuit (Fig. 30), written in operator form

$$\tilde{e}_{swe} = (\tilde{e}_{st} (1 + \lambda_s) R(p + 1))$$

$$(2.72)$$

For a passive electric circuit, consisting of R and J, we had:

$$e_{\text{sur}} = e_{\text{sr}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \right)$$

Thus, in case of application of an operational amplifier as an integrator the output voltage changes also by exponential law, but with a time constant and steady-state value of the output quantity amplified $(1 + K_y)$ times. This gives an increase of the interval of time in which output voltage grows linearly in time, and consequently, increase of the interval of time, in which the process of integration of

the imput signal is carried out correctly.



Fig. 31. Diagram for determination of a) input and b) output impedances of an operational amplifier.

We will find values of input and output impedances of the operational element, determining the possibility and convenience of its combination with other devices.

By definition input impedance can be found as

$$Z_{ss} = \frac{r_{ss}}{I_1} \qquad (2.74)$$

On the basis of 31a, using the earlier relationships, we will write $t_1 = \frac{e_{11} - e_{12}}{Z_1}$. and $e_1 = -\frac{e_{12}}{K_1}$.

After substituting these expressions in (2,74) we will receive finally:

$$Z_{aa} = Z_1 + \frac{Z_a}{1 + K_y}.$$
 (2.75)

From expression (2.75) it follows that input impedance of the operational amplifier consists of two components: one, equal to the resistance connected at the input, and the other, equal to the resistance of the feedback, decreased by $(1 + K_{y})$.

With a large amplification factor the second component is negligible. Indeed, let

$$Z_1 = R_1 = 10 \text{ Kom}, Z_2 = R_2 = 1 \text{ MION}, K_1 = 5 - 10^4,$$

them

$$Z_{\rm rel} = R_{\rm rel} = 10^4 + 20 \approx 10^4$$
 obm.

Thus, input impedance of an operational amplifier with accuracy sufficient for practice can be considered equal to the resistance connected to the input. With connection at the input of a capacitor the input impedance, obviously will decrease with increase of frequency. For determination of the output impedance of the operational amplifier we will turn to the equivalent diagram in Fig. 31b. Considering this diagram as a quadripole, we will write the equation for currents in the poles:

$$J_1 = Y_{11}e_{0x} + Y_{11}e_{0wx}$$

$$J_2 = Y_{21}e_{0x} + Y_{21}e_{0wx}$$

Output impedance of the amplifier according to definition will be:

$$Z_{\text{out}} = \frac{1}{\gamma_{22}} = \left(\frac{r_{\text{out}}}{I_2}\right)_{r_{\text{out}} = 0}.$$

From the equivalent diagram it follows that

$$I_{2} = \frac{e_{aux}}{R_{a}} + \frac{e_{aux} + h_{x}e_{x}}{R_{i}} + \frac{e_{aux} - e_{x}}{Z_{2}}, \quad e_{a} = e_{aux} - \frac{Z_{i}}{Z_{i}} + Z_{2}$$

After simple conversions for a very large K_{ψ}^{*} we obtain

$$Z_{\text{BMS}} \approx \frac{R_i}{K_y^2} \left(1 + \frac{Z_s}{Z_y} \right). \tag{2.77}$$

It follows from this that the output impedance is smaller, the larger the K_y^* --- the amplification factor of the amplifier without accounting for the plate load of the output cascade --- and the less the transmission factor $\frac{Z_1}{Z_1}$, set on the computing element.

During work of the operational amplifier as an integrator with increase of frequency the output impedance slightly decreases, approaching $R_{aut} = \frac{R_i}{R_i}$. In operation as a differentiator the output impedance slightly increases.

We will define the order of magnitude of the output impedance of the computing element. Let $\frac{Z_1}{Z_1} = 1$, $R_i = 22$ kow, $K_y = 5 \cdot 10^3$. With these conditions

$$Z_{\rm sux} = R_{\rm sux} = \frac{22}{5} \frac{10^3}{10^3} = -0.88$$
 ohm.

Inus, output impedance of the operational amplifier is minute, which ensures simplicity of interconnection of such amplifiers and connection with other equipment.

5. Comparison of Various Types of Integrators.

The morits and deficiencies of various types of linear computing elements (Type I -- with a passive network at the input of the amplifier, type II -- with parametric compensation of error and type III -- with negative reedback) already were considered above in sufficient detail.

It is of interest to compare these devices in the most critical regime -- when carrying cut the operation of integration. As the criterion for appraisal here is expedient to select the least permissible frequency of the sinusoidal input signal and the maximum permissible time of integration of the step input signal. These quantities determine the possibility of simulation with real control equipment and the possibility of use of integrating elements in the composition of control equipment.

These quantities are determined by the totality of properties of the computing element. However for comparative appraisal it is sufficient to determine these quantities, proceeding from the permissible quantity of systematic error and limitation of the dynamic range of voltages of the devices. Calculation of drift of the amplifier, imperfection of the integrating capacitor and grid current is brought in Chapter III.

We will give an appraisal of the least permissible frequency of input signals, proceeding from accuracy of fulfillment of the operation of integration.

On the basis of earlier material the equations of the considered integrators

By the dynamic range of voltages K_i here is understood the ratio of the value of the output signal at the boundary of linearity to the minimum value of the input signal distinguished from interferences.

in operator form can be presented in the form:

The second se

$$\begin{bmatrix} K_{1} \\ T_{p} \sim 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_{1} \\ n_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ N_{11} \\ N_{11} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_{2} \\ N_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ n_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_{2} \\ n_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_$$

where α is the coefficient, taking into account the degree of compensation of error, 0 < x = 1; K_0 , K_0 , K_0 , K_0 , K_0 = amplification factors of amplifiers of integrators I, II, III types without feedback, T = RC -- the time constant of the passive network, taken identical for all three types of devices.

With a sinusoidal input signal for peak values we have:

$$e_{aut} = \frac{K_{1}}{\gamma_{w}} \frac{e_{ut}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{(T_{w})^{2}}}} = \frac{K_{1}}{T_{w}} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(T_{w})^{2}} \right] e_{ut}}$$

$$e_{aut} = \frac{K_{11}}{T_{w}} \left[1 - \frac{\pi^{2}}{2} \frac{1}{(T_{w})^{3}} \right] e_{ut}}$$

$$e_{aut} \approx \frac{K_{111}}{(1 + K_{111}) T_{w}} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(1 - K_{111})^{2} (T_{w})^{2}} \right] e_{ut}}$$
(2.79)

The second addend in the square brackets of these three expressions determines the systematic error of the operation of integration. Designating it) we will receive the expression for the minimum permissible frequency of the processes

From comparison of values of ω_{min} it follows that for the same T and Δ the least permissible ω will be in an integrator type III. However with a sinusoidal input signal, besides error in amplitude, there occurs phase error.

We will find the minimum permissible values of φ proceeding from the given #Signs \tilde{e}_{max} in expressions (2.78) are cmitted, since for the given consideration they do not have essential meaning.

. . . .

permissible phase error $\Delta \varphi$, with the help of expressions (2.79) we find:

$$\mathbf{w}_{\min 1}^{*} = \frac{1}{7} \operatorname{tg} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \Delta \gamma \right).$$

$$\mathbf{w}_{\min 11}^{*} = \frac{\alpha}{7} \operatorname{tg} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \Delta \gamma \right).$$

$$\mathbf{w}_{\min 111}^{*} = \frac{1}{(1 + \Lambda_{111})^{7}} \operatorname{tg} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \Delta \gamma \right).$$
(2.81)

Since $1 < \frac{1}{\tau} < (1 + K_{iii})$, then for given $\Delta \Psi$ and T the least permissible ω will be in an integrator of type III.

Let us consider the case of ideal integration. Here, according to (2.79) we obtain

$$e_{\text{outs}} = \frac{K_1}{T_{\text{o}}} e_{\text{os}}$$

$$e_{\text{outs}} = \frac{K_{11}}{T_{\text{o}}} e_{\text{os}}$$

$$e_{\text{outs}} = \frac{L}{T_{\text{o}}} e_{\text{os}}$$

$$(2,82)$$

Assuming that $\frac{\sigma_{max} - m_{ax}}{\sigma_{ax} - m_{a}}$ is a finite quantity, we will find the minimum permissible ω from expression (2.82):

$$\Psi_{mln\,l}^{n} = \frac{K_{l}}{TK_{A}}, \quad \Psi_{mln\,ll}^{n} = \frac{K_{ll}}{TK_{A}}, \quad \Psi_{mln\,lll}^{n} = \frac{1}{TK_{A}}.$$
 (2.83)

Since $K_{I} > K_{II} > 1$, it follows that an integrator of type III gives in this case too the least permissible value of ω .

Thus, for each type of device there are obtained three conditions for determination of ω_{\min} . Obviously, the determining condition will be the one for which the frequency is higher. Which of the three conditions will be the determining one, depends on the taken values of Δ , Δ_7 , 7, 2, K_4 , K_1 , K_4 and K_{111}

In Table II are brought, for example, results of calculation for values of the enumerated parameters, often met in existing computing elements.

Thus, for integrators of types I and II the quantity w_{min} is determined by the necessity of sustaining the given phase wrrer, and for a device of type III ---by the finiteness of quantity K_{μ} . This last is limited in by output voltage by

-77-

the limits of linearity of the amplifier, and in input signal -- by its minimum value, which it is still possible to distinguish in the output signal from interference, i.e., the quantity of permissible error. In many cases it is possible to consider $\epsilon_{\text{submax}} = 100$, $\epsilon_{\text{st}} = 0.1$, and, consequently, $h_{\pm} = 1000$

All of the lat

During integration of a step input signal output voltages of integrators will change by these laws:

$$e_{\text{sur}} = K_{1}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - e^{-\frac{t}{T}}\right) = K_{1}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - \frac{t}{2T}\right).$$

$$e_{\text{sur}} = \frac{K_{11}}{e}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - e^{-\frac{t^{2}}{T}}\right) = K_{12}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - \frac{3t}{2T}\right).$$

$$e_{\text{sur}} = K_{111}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - e^{-\frac{t^{2}}{T}}\right) = K_{12}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - \frac{3t}{2T}\right).$$

$$e_{\text{sur}} = K_{111}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - e^{-\frac{t^{2}}{(1 - K_{111})T}}\right) = \frac{1}{T + K_{111}}e_{\text{sr}}\left(1 - \frac{t}{2(1 + K_{111})T}\right).$$
(2.84)

Comparison of these formulas shows that error of integration, expressed by the second addend in parentheses, will increase most slowly for integrators of the third type.

(a) Ten	(C) BOLDENIBOLIE (C) BOLDENIBOLIE (C) SCROBHR OUDERL		a an an air an		
устройства	- Tay	(e)	(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	(g)11, #WC (H)(C	
I	22,4	57.3	0,01	A DI	
11	0,224	0,573	0 (#7_	K ₁₁ 2 − 1 mm θθ] 7 − 1	
111	4.5 10 4 4.5 10 4	1.15 10 ³ 1.15 10 ³	1 10	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A} = -5 & 10^{\circ} \\ \mathbf{A}_{1-1} = 5 & 10^{\circ} \\ \mathbf{f}_{20} = 1 \end{array} $	

Table II

KEY: (a) Type of device; (b) Conditions of determination of ω_{\min} ; (c) error; (d) Amplitude error; (e) Phase error; (f) Finite value of dynamic range; (g) Note.

Appraisel of the maximum permissible duration of the process of integration can be conducted just as in the preceding case, proceeding from the given systematic error of the process of integration and the finite value of dynamic range of

-78-

voltages of the instrument,

In the first case obtain:

$$t_{\max 1} = 2T\Delta \quad t_{\max 11} = \frac{273}{\pi}, \quad t_{\max 111} = 2T\Delta(1 + K_{111}).$$
 (2.85)

Proceeding from the finite value of N_{μ} in ideal integration we have:

$$t_{\max 1} = \frac{K_{\star}}{K_{1}} T, \quad t_{\max 11} = \frac{K_{\star}}{K_{11}} T, \quad t_{\max 111} = K_{\star} T.$$
 (2.86)

In Table III are the regults of calculation of t_{max} for the most frequently encountered values of parameters.

Table III					
() Ten Active Active	(b) Yemene empededente imez				
	(c) A 0.001	$\begin{pmatrix} d \end{pmatrix} K_a - kon$	(e) spaweranne		
i i	0,002 cm	100 cen	$\begin{array}{c} K_1 = 10 \\ T = 1 \ concentration \end{array}$		
4	0,2 mm	500 cen	$K_{y} = 2$ y = 1 con		
11E	190 cen: 10.600 cen:	1 000 cerc	Aiu = 5 10" 7 = 1 cex Aiu = 5 10" - 1 cex		

KET: (a) Type of device; (b) Conditions of determination
of max; (c) error; (d) finite value; (e) note.

Data of Table III indicate that for the most frequently encountered values of parameters and permissible error of $\Delta = 0.15$ determining factors for finding the maximum permissible duration of integration are: systematic error for integrators of types I, II and III (when $K_{III} = 5 \cdot 10^4$) and the finite value of the dynamic range of voltages for devices of type III when $K_{III} = 5 \cdot 10^6$. Devices of type III as compared with devices of types I and II, other conditions being equal, ensure a time of integration many orders greater.

For further increase of the permissible time of integration of a stabilised eperational amplifier ($K_{III} = 5.10^6$), as follows from these computations, it is necesmary to increase the dynamic range of voltages of the instrument. This is possible to carry out both by decrease of error and by expansion of the linear range of change

-79-

of output voltage. The last was very shrewdly realized in the step integrator offered by I. V. Korol'kov and I. A. Bubnov [1] (Fig. 32).* The basic idead of this integrator consists of the fact that the operational amplifier integrates only for the duration of permissible time t_{min} HP.

Contraction of the local distance of the loc

Contraction of the second

After e_{int} reaches the value $e_{int,m,t} = \pm 100$ v on the divider of reversible stepping selector // the cursor moves one lamella (one step) and voltage $\pm y$ is stored; simultaneously capacitor C is discharged by contacts of relay 1 or 1 and integration starts all over. Output voltage for is taken from auxiliary adder 2, where there is added the voltage from the divider of the stepping selector and voltage from the output of the integrator. This ensures a smooth curve the whole range of the output signal. Thus, after n steps on the output of the divider there will be established voltage $n \le U_1$, which corresponds as it were to an n time increase of the upper limit of linearity of the amplifier, and consequently, of $K_{\underline{n}}$. Therefore the maximum permissible time of integration now will be increased n times: $t_{min(1)} = \pi K_s T_s$ where n is the number of steps of the divider for voltage of the same sign. Simultaneously with increase of the dynamic range of voltages one can somewhat decrease error due to zero drift of zero due to operation with increased input signals. Thus, application of passive integrating networks with an amplifier is expedient starting with a frequency of the input signal of 10 c and higher. When indispensable to integrate signals of minute frequency it is necessary to change to operational amplifiers. The minimum permissible frequency here will be in $(1 + K_{TTT})$ times less as compared with the case of application of passive cells. The factor determining the quantity value of w_{min} for all three types of devices is the phase error. An exception are integrators based on stabilized operational amplifiers, for which the determining factor becomes finiteness of the quantity K . Maximum permissible time of integration of a step input signal for all

*See also L. N. Fitsner, L. I. Shevchenko, One method of integration of electric voltage, Instrument-making, No. 8, 1957.

-80-

three types of integrators (with the exception of integrators with stabilised operational amplifiers) is determined by methodical error. Here operational amplifiers have the greatest tile of integration. For integrators with stabilized operational amplifiers, the determining factors become lead of the integrating capacitor and finiteness of the dynamic range. The time of integration t_{nex} for such amplifiers does not exceed 1000 sec when $K_{\rm A} = 1000$ and $R_{\rm y} = 4 \cdot 10^5$ megohms. Further expansion of the permissible time of integration can be attained by application of the circuit of a step integrator with simultaneous increase of the leak resistance of the integrating capacitor.



Fig. 32. Functional diagram of a step integrator.
3C -- comparator, H -- stepping selector.

CHAPTER III

FRROR OF LINEAR DOMPUTING ELEMENTS

1. Basic Propositions of Error Theory

Investigation of error of a computing element pursues the goal of giving an appraisal of the accuracy of fulfillme of a given mathematical operation, of determining the main primary sources of error and their influence on total error and, finally, of establishing ways and methods of decreasing the most substantial components of error. Knowledge of error, introduced by a separate computing element, will allow one to proceed to appraisal of the error of a complex of such elements, i.e., to appraisal of error of the solution of a differential equation.

Analysis of errors of linear and nonlinear active and passive electric circuits, including computing elements, is the subject of fairly extensive literature (M. L. Bykhovskiy [1] - [3], M. A. Shnaydman (1]).

Error of a computing element is what we usually call the difference between real and ideal values of output magnitude at a given moment of time for the same value of input magnitude:

Semith conspile constally

where $e_{aut,n}(t)$ is the ideal output quantity, corresponding to a given mathematical operation, $e_{aut,n}(t)$ is the real output magnitude, obtained as a result of operation of the device.

Total error (1) can be divided into two parts: systematic and random.

The systematic part of total error is either constant, or changes by a prior known law. The random part of error is caused by accidental factors or spread of parameters within allowances for parts constituting the computing element. Random errors can change arbitrarily in time, i.e., be random functions of time or not change in time, i.e., be random parameters. Depending upon the character of processes in the computing element calculation of total error can be conducted for two regimes: steadystate and transient.

Determination of dynamic error is significantly simplified, if one were to use operational calculus (see for instance, M. I. Kantorovich [1]). Here it is possible to reduce a dynamic problem to a static one by tre. . .on to a so-called representation circuit, i.e., the circuit of a computing element, composed of operator resistances and the emf of initial conditions, assuming first that the amplifier of the computing element is ideal (its transfer function is constant). Such idealisetion will allow one in the beginning not to worry shout questions of stabilize of the computing element and not consider finiteness its passband.

If the computing amplifier ideally executes the given mathematical operation, then the connection between output and input quantities will be determined by the relationship (see Chapter II, page 51)

$$\overline{e_{\text{sus}}}_{r} = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\varphi_{ij}(p)|_{n} (e_{nij})_{n}.$$
(3.1)

where

$$[\psi_{1j}(p)]_n = \frac{[Y_{ij}(p)]_n}{[Y_{ij}(p)]_n}$$

[Ed. Note, Subscript # = ideal].

The result of the mathematical operation, executed by the operational amplifier, may differ from the ideal (3.1) due to errors in physical realization of the given transfer functions $|z_{ij}(p)|$, due to the presence at the input of the amplifier of an emf Δr_{ij} , equivalent to instability of the zero level at the output (so-cailed sero drift) and due to the presence in input voltages of spurious high-frequency components. Furthermore, there can be inaccurate set up of input data, for example, in case of feeding the operational amplifier from potentiometric (or other type) transducers of the investigated equipment.

If one were to use equation (3.1 and consider the above-mentioned factors, with the exception of spurious high-frequency components of the output voltage, then the connection between output and input quantities for the operational amplifier can be presented in the form

$$(3.2)$$

$$(3.2)$$

$$= \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(p \right) : \left\{ z_{ij} \left(p \right) \right\} \right\} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(p \right) \right\} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(p \right) \right\} \right] - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(p \right) \right\} \right\} \right] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(p \right) \right\} \right\} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} \right] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right\} \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \left(z_{ij} \right) \right) \right\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{ij} \left(z_$$

where

e.

$$\begin{aligned} \left[Y_{t}(p) \right]_{p} &= \frac{\left[Y_{t}(p) \right]_{p}}{\left[Y_{t}(p) \right]_{p}} \\ &= \frac{\left[Y_{t}(p) \right]_{p}}{\left[Y_{t}(p) \right]_{p}} + \frac{1}{\left[Y_{t$$

[Ed. Note. Subscript \mathbf{X} and $\mathbf{P} = ideal and real, respectively],$ $is the transfer function for the i-th input; <math>\Delta_{r_{max}}$ the output voltage, caused by inaccurate setting of zero. On the basis of (3.2) the transfer function for the signal of drift is determined as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{i,i}(\rho) \right\}_{i} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{i,i}(\rho) \right\}_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ z_{i,i}(\rho) \right\}_{i}}.$$

This expression indicates why it is necessary to bring to the input of the amplifier the signal of instability of the zero level, measured at the output of the computing element:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \{y_{i}(F)\}_{p} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \{y$$

-9.-

If the error of the of rational amplifier is small, then $|\varphi_{11}(p)|_p$ differs little from $|\varphi_{11}(p)|_p$ and in this case in the first order of approximation

$$\Delta \bar{e}_{a} = \frac{\bar{e}_{eur,a}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\bar{\varphi}_{ij}(p)|_{p} + 1}$$
(3.4)

Error of output voltage of the computing element can be calculated, if one were to place in ~quation (3.2):

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{r}_{\text{out } p} &= \overline{r}_{\text{out } e} + \Delta \overline{r}_{\text{out }}, \\ \underline{r}_{11}(p)|_{p} &= [\overline{\tau}_{11}(p)]_{e} + \Delta \overline{\tau}_{11}(p), \\ (\overline{r}_{\text{out } 1})_{p} &= (\overline{r}_{\text{out } 1})_{e} + \Delta \overline{r}_{\text{out } 1}. \end{aligned}$$

and subtract equation (3,2) from equation (3,1).

Disregarding product of increments of variables and their squares as compared with the increments themselves, we will receive

$$\Delta \overline{e}_{oc.s} = -\sum_{i}^{n} \Delta \overline{\gamma}_{ii}(p) (\overline{e}_{oc.i})_{u} - \sum_{i}^{n} [\overline{\gamma}_{ii}(p)]_{u} \Delta \overline{e}_{oc.i-\tau}$$

$$\mp \left[\sum_{i}^{n} [\overline{\gamma}_{ii}(p)]_{u} + 1\right] \Delta \overline{e}_{i} \mp \Delta \overline{e}_{ou.i-\tau}$$
(3.5)

Error in the transfer functions $\Delta_{F(q)}(p)$ in turn depends on finiteness of the amplification factor, the presence of leaks at the input, output loss and errors in parameters of elements of the input circuit and the fredback circuit. Therefore

$$\Delta \varphi_{ii}(p) = \{ [\varphi_{ii}(p)]_{p} - [\varphi_{ii}(p)]_{n} \}_{F_{1i}} + \frac{\partial \varphi_{ii}(p)}{\partial Y_{ii}} \Delta Y_{ii} + \frac{\partial \varphi_{ii}(p)}{\partial Y_{s}} \Delta Y_{2},$$

$$Y_{2} - \{ Y_{2} \}_{n}$$
(3.6)

Total absolute error of the unit here will be

$$(\widetilde{\mu}\widetilde{e}_{anx} = -\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\varphi_{ii}(p)_{p} - \varphi_{ii}(p)_{n}| (\widetilde{e}_{ax,i})_{n} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \varphi_{ii}}{\partial Y_{ii}} \Delta Y_{ii} (\widetilde{e}_{ax,i})_{n} + \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \varphi_{ii}(p)_{i}}{\partial Y_{i}} \Delta Y_{ij} (\widetilde{e}_{ax,i})_{n} \right\} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\varphi_{ii}(p)|_{n} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{ax,i} = \\ \left. + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \varphi_{ii}(p)_{i}}{\partial Y_{i}} \Delta Y_{ij} (\widetilde{e}_{ax,i})_{n} \right\} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\varphi_{ii}(p)|_{n} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{ax,i} = \\ \left. + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\varphi_{ii}(p)|_{n} + 1 \right\} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{ax,i} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{anx,i},$$

Thus, total error of the computing block consists of a number of primary errors,

caused by inaccurate phy ical realization of the diagram block (presence of leaks, loak and a finite amplification factor), errors of input quantities, errors in set-up of parameters of input impedances and feedback resistances and, finally, presence of instability of the zero level (de_1) and inaccuracy of its set-up (de_1) .

いいろうまたいいう

, milit

ŝ

Determination of total absolute error by expression (3.7) is possible only when the value of all primary errors are known beforehand. In reality, separate primary errors, being random variables, can take in each new cycle of work of the block different values within the full range of their change.

If a random variable has a normal distribution of probabilities, then, as we know (see, for instance, B. V. Gnedenko, A. Ya. Khinchin [1], P. L. Chebyshev [1]), the probability that its maximum deflection from the mean value exceeds the quantity

3: (where : is the root-mean-square devlection) is minute and constitutes 0.27%. This allows one to take as an appraisal of maximum deflection of a random variable from the mean value the quantity 3: If the considered random variable depends linearly on a number of mutually independent primary random variables, each of which has a normal distribution of probabilities, then its maximum deflection from mean value will, as before, lie within 3: but now the average and root-meat-square deflection will be determined as the sum of mean and root-mean-square deflections of the primary random variables.

If it is considered that $\Delta Y_{(i)} \Delta Y_2$, Δe_i , Δe_i , Δe_i , $\Delta e_{inv(i)}$ are random variables, then the maximum value of the indom component of error can be determined from the expression

$$\Delta e_{\text{awa clys}} = \left[a_{\lambda e_{\text{awa}}} \right] + 3 \left[\frac{D_{e_{\text{awa}}}}{D_{e_{\text{awa}}}} \right]$$
(3.8)

where $a_{1r_{max}}$ is the mean value of error of the output voltage, and $\int B_{r_{max}}$ is the total root-mean-square deflection.

In the considered case the resultant mean and root-mean-square deflection can

-86-

be found from these relationships:

$$a_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}} = + \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \tau_{11}}{\partial Y_{11}} \right) (\bar{\tau}_{n1,2})_{n} a_{2Y_{11}} + \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \tau_{11}}{\partial Y_{n}} \right) (\bar{\tau}_{n1,2})_{n} a_{2Y_{1}} + (3.3)$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left[\bar{\gamma}_{11}(\rho) \right]_{n} a_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}} + \left[\sum_{n=1}^{n} \left[\bar{\gamma}_{11}(\rho) \right]_{n} + 1 \right] a_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}} + a_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}} 0,$$

$$a_{\sigma_{\text{BMA}}} = \sqrt{D_{\sigma_{\text{BMA}}}} = \left[\left[\sum_{n=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{11}}^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{Y}_{n}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{11}}^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{Y}_{n}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{11}}^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{Y}_{n}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{11}}^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{Y}_{n}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{11}}^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial \bar{\gamma}_{11}}{\partial \bar{Y}_{n}} \right)^{n} z_{2ST_{2}}^{2} + z_{2T_{2}}^{2} \right] (\bar{\tau}_{11}^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{n} \left[\bar{\tau}_{11}(\rho) \right]_{n} + 1 \right]^{2} z_{2\sigma_{n}}^{2} + z_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}}^{2} z_{2}^{2} + z_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}}^{2} + z_{2\sigma_{\text{BMA}}^{$$

Quantities of the mean value (expectation) and dispersion of separate errors can be found, using properties of a curve normal distribution (Fig. 33) and knowing the boundaries of the field of telerence for the considered random variables (N. G. Brurovich (1)). In Fig. 35 on the axes of coordinates are placed possible deviations q_1 and their probability density $f(q_1)$.

Indeed, if in the field of tolerance the distributive law of error is a symmetrically located curve, then

$$s_{i}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{i}^{2}, \quad c_{i} = \frac{1}{2} (g_{i} - m_{i}), \quad (3.11)$$

where A_i is half the field of telerance, and g_i and u_j are algebraic boundaries of the field of telerance.

Total absolute error of a computing alcosent here will be

where demander is the systematic error.

As the ariterion of accuracy of a computing element it is impossible to take the absolute value of error, since accuracy of work of the device depends not only on absolute error of its cutput quantity, but also on the value of the maximum output quantity. Obvicualy, for equal absolute values of total error the accuracy is higher for that device, for which the output quantity is greater.

-87-



In measuring technology (see, for instance, Ye. G. Shramkov [1]) there is often used as the criterion of accuracy the quantity of absolute error related to the maximum value of the instrument scale -the relative error. In our case this will be the ratio of absolute error to the maxi-

Fig. 33. Curve of normal distribution.

mum output quantity

いたち、はあいます

$$\delta e_{\rm BMR} = \frac{\Delta e_{\rm BMR}}{e_{\rm BMR}}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where cour max is the maximum value of output voltage of the block.

When the quantity of absolute error is in turn a function of the output quantity, i.e., has different meanings at every point of the instrument scale, one should use the particular practical and integral practical criteris offered in theories of accuracy of mechanisms (N. G. Bruyevich [1]). The particular practical criterion determines accuracy of a device at a given point of the operating range:

$$\frac{\int e_{\text{plat}}(e_{\text{plat}})}{e_{\text{plat}}} = \frac{\int e_{\text{plat}}(e_{\text{plat}})}{e_{\text{plat}}},$$
(3.13)

and the integral practical criterion allows one to estimate accuracy of operation of a device at a definite interval of change of the output quantity

It is easy to prove that both these criteria change into the generally-accepted criterion of accuracy (3.12), when $\sum_{r_{max}}$ does not depend on the value of the output quantity in the operating range. For a linear computing element as the criterion of accuracy we usually take the expression

One should give independent meaning to the absolute magnitude of the criterion

-88-

of ensuracy. By its nature this criterion gives only an appraisal of maximum possible error of element, and therefore allows us to compare various computing elements by their accuracy, and also to explain the most suitable methods of decreasing error. It is obvious, that that computing element for which the magnitude of the expression, taken as the filterion of accuracy takes the least value, is the best one.

2. Primary Errors of a Computing Klement

Let us consider these primary errors, which determine the systematic part of error of a computing element. As was shown above, this part of total error is saused by inaccurate physical realization of the given transfer function, basically due to finiteness of the amplification factor, presence of spurious leaks and capacitive couplings in the circuit of the computing element, and also owing to internal resistance of the last cascade and the load on its output. The systematic part of error of output voltage will be determined from the relationship (3.7):

$$\widetilde{\Delta r}_{\text{obs.cect}} = -\sum_{i}^{n} \left\{ \left[\gamma_{ii}(p) \right]_{p} - \left[\overline{\gamma}_{ii}(p) \right]_{n} \right\} \left(\overline{f}_{\text{ox}\,i} \right)_{u}.$$

Derivation of the expression for the transfer function of $[\overline{\gamma}_{ll}(p)]_{p}$. We will definitise expression of the transfer function of $[\overline{\gamma}_{ll}(p)]_{p}$. received in Section 1 taking into account the above-mentioned distorting factors. For this let us consider the equivalent functional circuit of an operational amplifier, shown in Fig. 34. Using the method of finding the transfer function shown in Chapter II, we will receive for the considered case: the equation for the voltage of error



Fig. 34. Functional diagram of an operational amplifier.

$$\bar{e}_{4} = f_{11}(p)\bar{e}_{1} + f_{12}(p)\bar{e}_{2} + \dots +$$

$$(3.15)$$

$$+ f_{1n}(p)\bar{e}_{n} + f_{2}(p)\bar{e}_{muli}$$

here transfer functions $f_{11}(p), \ldots, f_{1n}(p)$ and $f_2(p)$ have the values:

$$f_{11}(p) = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{e_1} \\ e_1 \end{pmatrix}_{e_2 + e_3 + \dots + e_n \times e_{2n+1} \to \dots} \underbrace{Y_{11}(p)}_{1} + \underbrace{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)}_{1} + \underbrace{Y_1(p) + Y_1(p)}_{1} + \underbrace{Y_{12}(p)}_{1} + \underbrace{Y_{12}($$

the equation of the amplifier taking into account internal resistance of the last cascade and of the load

$$\overline{e}_{nux} = -K_{y}^{*} \frac{Y_{0}(p) \left[1 - \frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{0}(p)K_{y}^{*}}\right]}{Y_{0}(p) + Y_{u}(p) + Y_{u}(p)} e_{y}$$
(3.17)

Comparison of expressions (3.14) and (3.17) with analogous expressions, found earlier, shows that taking into account internal resistance and load in the last cascade leads to a certain decrease of the total amplification factor. Designating for simplification

$$\frac{Y_{0}(p)\left[1-\frac{Y_{1}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)K'_{1}}\right]}{Y_{0}(p)+Y_{0}(p)+Y_{1}(p)+Y_{1}(p)}=\Im(p),$$

we receive

$$\overline{e_{out}} = -\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{ii}(p) \overline{e_{i}}}{Y_{1}(p)} \frac{1}{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{ii}(p) + Y_{1}(p) + Y_{1}(p)\right] \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - K_{1}^{2}(p)}} \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p)}}} \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p)}}} \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p)}}} \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) - \frac{1}{Y_$$

Here $K_y^* = K_y \frac{Y_v + Y_u}{Y_u}$ is the amplification factor of the amplifier without feedback, calculated under the condition that in the output cascade $Y_u \rightarrow 0$; K_y is the amplification factor of the amplifier without feedback, calculated taking into account the dynamic amplification factor of the output cascade, but under the condition that there is no external load, i.e., $(Y_u)_{uveuu} \rightarrow 0$; Y_u is conductance of the plate load of the tube of the output cascade; $Y_u = \frac{1}{R_i}$ is the internal conductance of

-90-

the tube of the output cascade.

Hance

$$\left| \gamma_{ii}(p) \right|_{p} = \frac{Y_{ii}(p)}{Y_{p}(p)} \frac{1}{\left[\sum_{1}^{n} Y_{ii}(p) + Y_{2}(p) + Y_{2}(p) \right] \frac{1}{Y_{2}(p)} \frac{1}{K_{y}^{3}(p)} + 1}$$
(3.19)

Error of the physical realisation of the transfer function can be found by expression (3.19) in the form

$$\Delta \varphi_{\mu}(p) = \frac{\Delta Y_{1l}(p)}{Y_{1l}(p)} \frac{Y_{1l}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} - \frac{\Delta Y_{2}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} \frac{Y_{1l}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} - \left\{ \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{1i}(p) + Y_{3}(p) + Y_{2}(p) \right] \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p)} \frac{1}{K_{3}^{*}(p)} \frac{1}{K_{3}^{*}(p)} \right\} \frac{Y_{1l}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)}.$$
(3.20)

The systematic part of the absolute error of output valtage will be here

$$\Delta \bar{e}_{suscency} = -\sum_{i}^{a} \frac{\Delta Y_{ii}}{Y_{ii}(p)} \frac{Y_{ii}(p)}{Y_{2}(p)} \bar{e}_{ss,i} + \frac{\Delta Y_{2}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} \sum_{i}^{a} \frac{Y_{ii}(p)}{Y_{2}(p)} \bar{e}_{ss,i} + \\ + \left\{ \left[\sum_{i}^{a} Y_{1i}(p) + Y_{3}(p) + Y_{2}(p) \right] \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p)} \frac{1}{\mathcal{K}_{y}^{3}(p)} \right\} \sum_{i}^{a} \frac{Y_{ii}(p)}{Y_{2}(p)} \bar{e}_{ss,i}.$$
(3.21)

Relative systematic error will be

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\text{out. cm},1}^{n} = \frac{\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{p,\text{vir. cm},1}}{\bar{e}_{\text{out. max}}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\Delta Y_{ii}(p)}{Y_{ii}(p)} \frac{\bar{e}_{n\chi_{i}}}{\bar{e}_{\text{out. max}}} + \frac{\Delta Y_{2}(p)}{Y_{1}(p)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{Y_{ii}(p)}{\bar{e}_{\text{out. max}}} + \frac{(3,22)}{\bar{e}_{\text{out. max}}} + \left\| \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{ii}(p) + Y_{3}(p) + Y_{2}(p) \right] \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} + \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} - \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)} \frac{1}{\bar{e}_{y}(p)}$$

Let us consider each component of error.

Error of conductance of the input circuit. This error, as expression (3,22) shows, other conditions being equal is greater, the greater the number of component and the greater the transmission ratio $\frac{Y_{11}}{Y_2}$, set on the computing element. Error of input conductance (systematic) usually takes place during operations of a computing element as a differentiator, when to the input is connected a sepacitor, percessing a finite leak registance R_y . Designating conductance of the leak of

this capacitor by $A_y(p)$, we will receive:

$$\Delta Y_{11}(p) = [Y_{11}(p) + A_{y}(p)] - Y_{11}(p) = A_{y}(p), \qquad (3.23)$$

$$\delta \tilde{d}_{point} c_{w(T_{1}} = \frac{A_{y}(p)}{Y_{z}(p)} \frac{\tilde{e}_{out}}{\tilde{e}_{out}}$$

We will estimate the maximum possible value of this component of error. Lot

$$\frac{\sigma_{011}}{\sigma_{011}} = 1.$$
 $Y_2 = 1 \cdot 10^{-6} aho$, $A_y = 0.2 \cdot 10^{-9} aho$

(for styroflex capacitors). Then

大学には語いやい

$$\delta \sigma_{\text{BMS, CHCT}_i} = \frac{0.2 \cdot 10^{-4}}{10^{-4}} = 2 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ or } 0.02^{+} \text{ or } 0$$

<u>Error of conductance in the feedback circuits</u>. This error is caused mainly by the presence of loak in the capacitor, connected during work of the computing element as an integrator or integrator-adder. Here $\Delta Y_2 = A_y$, and

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\text{part, cherty}} = \frac{A_y}{Y_y} \frac{Y_1(p)}{Y_y(p)} \frac{q_{ncl}}{q_{ncl}}$$

Changing to originals and assuming that c_{si} changes in such a manner that $c_{si} = 0$ when t < 0 and $c_{si} = 1$ when $t \ge 0$, we will receive

$$\frac{d^{2}b\sigma_{\text{post}_{1}}c_{\text{RCT}_{1}}}{dl^{2}} = \frac{A_{y}}{C^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \frac{\sigma_{\text{post}_{1}}}{\sigma_{\text{post}_{2}}}$$

whence for sero initial conditions we will have

$$\delta \sigma_{\text{Dull, CHCT}_{2}} = \frac{A_{y}}{C^{2}} \left[\sum_{1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{y}} \frac{\sigma_{\text{acc}}}{\sigma_{\text{acc}}} \frac{t^{2}}{2} \right].$$
(3.24)

Thus, error due to leak of the capacitor during work of the block as an integretor-adder will grow proportionally to the square of the time.

We will estimate the magnitude of this component of error.

Let C = 1 microfared, $A_{y} = \frac{1}{5000} \left[\frac{1}{\pi com} \right]$. $n = 1, R_{1} = 1$ megchm. Then in the maximum time of solution:

$$t_{a} = \frac{1}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{CR_{ik}} \frac{q_{i}}{q_{aux}}}$$

-92-

we will receive

For $t_{\rm H} = 100$ sec

$$d_{mul. cmr_1} = \frac{100}{2.5000} = 10^{-1} \text{ or } 1\%$$

Error due to finiteness of the amplification factor of the amplifier. This component of error on the basis of expression (3.22) is determined by the relationship

$$\delta \tilde{e}_{\text{pull, curry}} = \left\{ \left[\sum_{1}^{n} Y_{1l}(p) + Y_{2}(p) \right] + \frac{1}{Y_{2}(p)} \right] \frac{1}{Y_{1}(p) \hat{s}(p)} \frac{1}{K_{y}^{2}} \right\} \times \left(\begin{array}{c} (3,25) \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \right) \\ \times \left[\sum_{1}^{n} \frac{Y_{1l}(p)}{Y_{2}(p)} - \frac{\tilde{e}_{\text{pull}}}{e_{\text{pull}}} \right] \right\}$$

Here along with a finite value of the amplification factor, there is also taken into account the influence of lead p(p) and leak of the grid of the input caseade of the amplifier $T_3(p)$. Since usually quantity on β is always less than one, the influence of lead can be accounted for during analysis of error, caused by finiteness of the amplification factor, by means of a corresponding decrease of the amplification factor.

Indeed,

$$\beta(p) = \frac{Y_0(p)}{Y_0(p) + Y_1(p) + Y_2(p)}$$

Here $Y_{n}(p) + Y_{n}(p) + [Y_{n}(p)]_{maxim}$. Since usually $Y_{0} = 10^{-4}$ mbo, $(Y_{n})_{maxim} = 10^{-4}$ mbo, $Y_{n} = 10^{-5}$ mbo and $Y_{2} = 10^{-6}$ mbo, then the quantity Y_{2} is at least two orders less than Y_{0} , Y_{n} and $(Y_{n})_{maxim}$. During operation of a computing element in other regimes this conclusion remains correct, and therefore with sufficient accuracy it is possible to consider

$$\beta(p) = \frac{Y_0}{Y_0 + Y_1 + (Y_0)_{maxwelly}}$$

We will introduce the concept of the resultant amplification factor of an

amplifier taking into account load $(K_y)_{ye} = K_y^{(3)}$. Since

$$K_{y}^{*}=K_{y}\frac{Y_{0}+Y_{0}}{Y_{0}}.$$

then

$$(K_{y})_{ye_{1}} = K_{y} \frac{Y_{e} + Y_{e}}{Y_{e}} \cdot \frac{Y_{e}}{Y_{e} + (Y_{e})_{anewn} + Y_{e}} = K_{y} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{(Y_{e})_{anewn}}{Y_{e} + Y_{e}}};$$

when $(Y_{a})_{averus} = 10^{-4}$. we $Y_{u} = 10^{-4}$. we and $Y_{a} = 10^{-4}$. we

$$K_{\rm pes} = \frac{K_{\rm r}}{15} = 0.67 \, K_{\rm r}$$

Thus, the resultant amplification factor when $(R_n)_{n=0} = 10$ kilohms is lowered 33% as compared with the case, when $(R_n)_{n=0} \rightarrow \infty$.

We will now estimate the error, appearing due to finiteness of the value of the amplification factor for the heaviest case, when the operating amplifier works as an integrator-adder, and input voltages — change instantly by a constant quantity. On the basis of (3.25) when $Y_{11} = \frac{1}{R_{11}}$. $Y_2 = Cp$ and $Y_3 = 0$ we will receive

$$\mathbf{k}_{\text{max. cuct}} = \left\{ \left[\sum_{1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \neq C_{P} \right] \frac{1}{C_{P}} \frac{1}{0.67 \, k_{N}} \right] \sum_{1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{i} \ell_{P}} \frac{\ell_{\text{max.max}}}{\ell_{\text{max.max}}}$$

or, changing to originals,

$$\frac{d^2 3\sigma_{\text{out corr}}}{dt^2} = \left(\sum_{1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{\text{o}}\ell_{n}}\right) \sum_{1}^{n} \frac{\sigma_{\text{out}}}{\epsilon_{\text{out max}}} \frac{1}{R_{\text{o}}\ell_{n}} \frac{1}{U \ln K_{\text{o}}},$$

whence, for sero initial conditions, we will find

$$\mathbf{M}_{\text{survement}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{K_{ii}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}$$

Thus, during work of a computing element as an integrator-adder, the relative error, caused by finiteness of the amplification factor, will be greater, the less

[#]In this equation there is not considered the delta-function found in a strict resolution of the initial equation.

the amplification factor of the amplifier and the greater the value of the sum of transmission ratios for separate components. Error is directly proportional to the aquare of the time of integration. If absolute error of such a computing element is related not to the maximum value of output voltage, but to the ideal value at the given moment,

$$e_{\max,n} = -\sum_{i}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{ii}C} e_{\max} t_{i}^{\dagger}$$

as this is done in literature (M. A. Shnaydman [1], G. Korn and T. Korn [1]), then expression (3.26) will be simplified:

$$\mathbf{k}_{\text{survers}}^{*} = \frac{1}{0.67 \, \text{Åy}} \sum_{i}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{ii}C} \frac{t}{2}$$
(3.27)

From this expression, in particular, one can determine the required values of the amplification factor so that error does not exceed a given value:

$$K_{1} > \frac{1}{0.67} \sum_{i=1,...,i}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{ii}C} \frac{1}{2}$$
 (3,28)

when $t = t_{s} = 100$ sec, $M_{max}^{*} = 0.01$, n = 5, $R_{11} = R_{12} = R_{13} = R_{14} = R_{15} = 0.5$ where, $C = 1 \ \mu f$ we will receive

$$K_{1} > 75000$$

Thus, to execute the operation of integration of five components during the period of 100 sec with accuracy of 1% it is necessary to have an amplification factor of the amplifier of the order of 75,000.

Limit value of the amplification factor of the operational amplifier at zero frequence: As fellows from the above, increase of the amplification factor at zero frequency onuses decrease of error of carrying out a given mathematical operation. This is especially important during the operation of integration. In connection with this, the wide-spread opinion that the higher the amplification factor of the amplifier at zero frequency, the higher the performance of the computing element.

-95-

However if one were to consider real properties of the integrating capacitor, then it is possible to arrive at the conclusion that there exists completely definite value of the amplification factor of the amplifier, further increase of which no longer has practical meaning.

If me were to use the relationship (3.18) and substitute in it preliminarily (taking into account leak in the integrating point and leak of the dielectric of the integrating capacitor)

$$Y_{11} = \frac{1}{R_1}, \quad Y_{12} = Y_{13} = \dots = Y_{1n} = 0, \quad K_n(p) = K_n,$$
$$Y_n = \frac{1}{R_1}, \quad Y_n(p) = \frac{1}{R_1} - Cp.$$

that by simple transformations we will receive:

- いいのないないので、 いって

$$\overline{P_{\text{max}}} = \frac{K_y P_{\text{max}}}{\left[1 + (1 + K_y) \frac{R_y}{R_y} + \frac{R_y}{R_y}\right] \sim (1 + K_y) R_z C p}$$

We will introduce the concept of the effective amplification factor of the computing element in an integrator regime:

$$(K_y)_{y \neq \phi} = \frac{K_y}{1 + (1 + K_y) \frac{R_1}{R_y} + \frac{R_1}{R_1}}$$

Then after division of the maxemilar and denominator of the right side of the expression for \tilde{r}_{max} by $\left[1 + (1 + K_y)\frac{R_y}{R_y} + \frac{R_y}{R_y}\right]$ we finally will receive

Thus, the structure of the formula of an integrating operational amplifier is kept during consideration of imperfection of the integrating capacitor and leaks at the amplifier input. Only the value of the effective emplification factor changes. It is obvious that to lower error one must seek to increase $(h_{1})_{1.5}$

The limit value of $(K_y)_{xy}$ is attained when $K_y =$
We will determine that value of the amplification factor $K_y = K_y^{\#}$ of the amplifier, with which $(K_y)_{y|y}$ will differ from the limit value by not more than 5%. From the formula for $(K_y)_{y|y}$ it directly follows that

$$X_{j}^{*} = -19\left(\frac{R_{v}}{R_{i}} + 1 + \frac{R_{v}}{R_{j}}\right) = 20\frac{R_{v}}{R_{i}}.$$
(3.29)

Thus, the maximum value of the amplification factor of the amplifier, taking into account imperfection of the integrating capacitor at zero frequency, must not be taken higher than $20 \frac{R_y}{R_z}$.

3. Random Components of Error of a Computing Element

The main components of the random part of error of a computing element are instability and inaccurate setting of the zero level of the oucput voltage, presence of harmonics in the output voltage and inaccuracy of setting of resistances z_{11} and z_{2} .



Fig. 35. On the question of sero drift of the operational amplifier.

Instability of the sero level is what we usually call variable voltage, appearing at the output of **> operational amplifier with closed at a common point inp⁺ impedances (Fig. 35). Appearance of voltage at the output of the operational amplifier

in the absence of voltage at input can have the following causes:

1) instability of power supplies of the amplifier;

2) change of emitting propervies of cathodes of electron tubes;

3) presence of grid currents;

A) variation of parameters of elements of the amplifier circuit.

Usually this false output voltage is lead to the input of the amplifier. In the basis of (3.4)

$$\frac{\Delta \sigma_{\mu\nu}}{1 + \sum \{\varphi_{\mu}(\rho)\}_{\rho}}$$
(3.30)

For feeding operational d-c amplifiers we usually apply stabilized electronic rectifiers with an accuracy of maintenance of constancy of voltage of 0.1 to 0.01%.

Changes of the emission current of electron tubes takes place both with high frequency and also very slowly (N. A. Kaptsov (1)) and is caused both by the actual nature of thermionic emission and by oscillations of filament voltage.

For operational amplifiers also changes of the axisalon current have the greatest importance. They lead to an equivalent change of grid bias of the electron tube. Thus, for example, for tube 6N9/equivalent change of bias with a change of filament voltage by $\pm 10\%$ is 210 millivolt (V. I. Sushkevich [1]).

As we know (see, for instance, V. F. Vlasov [1]), even with negative voltage on the grid of an electron tube in the grid circuit there can leak both positive and negative grid current. Let us consider in simplified form by the diagram of Fig. 35, the influence of grid current on the output voltage of the operational amplifier. One part of the grid current flows in the input impedances, and the other -- in the feedback resistance. Therefore

$$\bar{I}_{g} = \bar{I}_{1} + \bar{I}_{1}.$$

where $\vec{l}_1 = \vec{l}_{11} + \vec{l}_{12} + \dots + \vec{l}_{1n}$ is the total current, branching in the input impedances. If the conductance of the input circuits Y_{11} , Y_{12} , Y_{13} ,..., Y_{1n} , then

 $Y_{\text{sws}} = Y_{11} + Y_{12} + \dots + Y_{1n}$ and current $\overline{f_1}$ will be equal to

.

$$\bar{I}_1 = Y_{\text{ave}} \bar{J}_{e_1} \tag{3.31}$$

Current \overline{I}_2 one can determine from the relationship

$$\bar{I}_2 = Y_2 [\lambda \bar{I}_1 - \lambda \bar{I}_{\mu\nu\nu} \bar{I}_2]$$
(3.32)

Considering that $\Delta e_{\text{surf},i} = -K_{ij}\Delta e_{ij}$, we determine from equations (3.31) and (3.32) the quantity of the grid current:

$$\bar{I}_g = \Delta \bar{e}_i \left[Y_{\text{sub}} + Y_2 (1 + K_y) \right]$$
$$\bar{I}_g = \Delta \bar{e}_i Y_{\text{sub}} \left[1 + \frac{Y_y}{Y_{\text{sub}}} (1 + K_y) \right]$$

or

whence

$$Sr_{i} = \frac{I_{e}}{Y_{me} \left[1 + \frac{I_{i}}{Y_{me}} \left(1 + A_{i} \right) \right]}$$
(3.33)

The propence of grid current causes the appearance of equivalent voltage on the input of the amplifier. With a large K_y , when $\frac{Y_2}{Y_{wa}}(1+K_y) \gg 1$, it is possible to consider that

$$\delta \tilde{e}_{s} = \frac{\tilde{I}_{s}}{Y_{1}K_{y}}$$
(3.34)

Thus, with a large amplification factor grid current causes less change of the equivalent grid bias, the less the resistance of the feedback circuit and greater the amplification factor.

The absolute and relative value of error of the output voltage, caused by the presence of grid current, we will determine from expression (3.34) in the form

Let $I_g = 0.1$ microsupere, $Y_2 = \frac{1}{R_2} = 10^{-6}$ mho, $K_y = 50,000$, $e_{out.mod} = 100$ v, $M_s = 2 \cdot 10^{-6}$ v, or 2 microvolt. Then

By itself voltage Δe_i is minute. However its harmful influence can noticeably develop during work of the operational amplifier as an integrator.

Indeed, if in equation (3.34) we substitute $Y_2(p) = Cp$ and assume that grid current is constant, then we will receive

$$\overline{Se_1} = \frac{\overline{I_g}}{C_p K_y}.$$

Changing to originals, we will have

$$\frac{d(\Delta e_i)}{dt} = \frac{I_R}{CK_Y}$$

Ser Trail.

whence

-99-

With constant grid current and absence of voltage on the input the voltage at the output will linearly increase in time:

Seour a Cl.

The relative error of output voltage, caused by the grid current, will be
(3.35)

when $I_g = 0.1 \cdot 10^{-6}$ a, $C = 1 \cdot 10^{-6}$ f, for the solution time $t_F = 100$ sec and $c_{max,max} = 100$ v, we will receive

These results show the necessity of maximum decrease of the quantity of grid current. This can be attained, for example, by selection of a corresponding magnitude of grid bias, introduction in the grid circuit of a corresponding compensating voltage, or application of first amplifier stages of tubes, working in an electrometric regime (L. I. Bayda and A. A. Semenkovich [1]).

The action of grid current, instability of tube emission and oscillation of power supplies can be considered the action of equivalent voltages of interferences, coupled in the grid circuit by the corresponding cascades. In the presence of negative feedback the effect of these disturbances on the output voltage will differ depending on the place of application of the disturbance (A. A. Rizkin [1]). For proof of this proposition let us consider, as an example, an operational amplifier, consisting of three cascades (Fig. 36). Following the above method of determination of the transfer function of the operational amplifier, we will write the equation of the mismatch indicator

$$s_{3} = \frac{Y_{1}}{Y_{1} + Y_{2}} e_{s_{2}} + \frac{Y_{2}}{Y_{1} + Y_{2}} e_{s_{MX}}$$
(3.36)

and the equation of the channel of amplification of the error

$$e_{\text{pus}} = -K_1 K_2 K_3 e_4 - K_1 K_2 K_3 \Delta e_1 + K_2 K_3 \Delta e_2 - K_3 \Delta e_3.$$
(3.37)

After substituting a_i from equation (3.36) in equation (3.37) we will receive

$$e_{\text{pux}} = -\frac{K_1 K_2 K_3 \frac{Y_1}{Y_1 + Y_2}}{1 + K_1 K_2 K_3 \frac{Y_2}{Y_1 + Y_2}} e_{\text{px}} - \frac{K_1 K_2 K_3}{1 + K_1 K_2 K_3 \frac{Y_2}{Y_1 + Y_2}} \Delta e_1 + \frac{K_2 A_3}{1 + K_1 K_2 K_3 \frac{Y_2}{Y_1 + Y_2}} \Delta e_2 - \frac{K_3}{1 - K_1 K_2 K_1 \frac{Y_2}{Y_1 + Y_2}} \Delta e_3.$$
(3.38)

With a very large resultant amplific. On factor, when $|K_1K_2K_3\frac{Y_2}{Y_1+Y_2}| \gg 1$. we will receive

$$e_{\text{swx}} = -\frac{Y_1}{Y_2} e_{\text{sx}} - \left(1 + \frac{Y_1}{Y_2}\right) \left[\Delta e_1 - \frac{1}{K_1} \Delta e_2 + \frac{1}{K_1 K_2} \Delta e_3\right]. \tag{3.39}$$



The second addend in this expression represents the error in output voltage, caused by the eaf of the disturbance in the grid circuits of separate cascades. From this expression it follows that the effect of application of disturbance is

(2 20)

Fig. 36. Three-cascade operational applifier.

less the further from input the disturbance is applied. In connection with this with a large total amplification factor the voltage of the plate supply of the last cascade may be in general not stabilized. At the same time the greatest influence is caused by disturbances applied in the first cascade, and therefore one should take all possible steps to eliminate causes of appearance of the emf of interferences in the first cascades.

Variations of parameters of elements of the amplifier circuit usually proceed very slowly even in the case, where the circuit is assembled from resistors, and therefore they can be considered during tuning of sero every time before beginning the operation setting-up.

In electronic models setting of zero is conducted with the help of a millivoltmeter, connected at the output, and maximum absolute error does not exceed <u>+1</u> mv which, when e_{mix} mix = 100 v, constitutes $e_{mix} = 0.001\%$. This error is more substant al during work of the operational amplifier as an integrator. Thus, for example, with a transmission factor $\frac{1}{RC} = 1$ during the time t = 100 sec error will be

&r = 0,1%.

anter(Daktor

など男ないで

Error in setting the transmission ratios of the operational element is determined depending upon the construction of the installation or by the maximum deflections in values of resistance, or error in the given method of checking transmission ratios. During operation as an integrator the accuracy of setting of transmission ratios depends also on the allowance for the capacitance of the capacitor.

This analysis of primary systematic and random errors of a computing element allows us to formulate a number of conclusions, from which directly ensue design requirements for the amplifier.

1. Greatest error is caused by the finite value of the amplification factor and instability of the zero level in the adder and, especially, the adder-integrator regimes.

2. In order to have small error due to finiteness the amplification factor, one must select an amplification factor for the amplifier as large as possible (at least 50-75 thousand) and limit the transmission ratios, set on the computing element.

3. It is necessary to turn special attention to decrease of leak between the input (grid) and output terminals of the computing element. Resistance of the insulation should be as great as possible. Here it is very expedient to separate input (to the integrating point) and output circuits by a ground shield. This can reduce leaks which exist in the circuit of the operational amplifier and which shunt the capacitor during work as an integrator, to leaks between the integrating point and the output and ground.

4. During selection of capacitors for the feedback circuit or input of the amplifier, one should use capacitors, possessing the largest leak resistance and

-102-

least dielectric after-effect. At present the most suitable for this purpose are polystyrene or styroflex capacitors. The rated capacitance of the capacitor can be sustained at present with error, not exceeding 0.1%.

5. Use as accurate methods of setting of transmission ratios as possible (for example bridge methods).

5. For stabilisation of the sero level it is necessary to provide meausres of compensation of drift in the first cascade and to feed the installation from stabilised power supplies. To decrease the quantity of grid currents it is desirable that the tube of the first cascade have a low μ (that the distance from grid to cathode is as great as possible), low plate current, low voltage between the plate and cathode, lowered value of filament voltage and a negative bias at least 1.4 v.

-103-

CHAPTER IV

DIAGRAMS OF D-C OPERATIONAL AMPLIFIERS

1. Basic Requirements Presented to Operational Amplifiers

Selection of the diagram of the d-c amplifier in many respects is determined by those requirements which are presented to it as to the computer. These requirements basically can be reduced to the following.

The amplifier should be built by an asymmetric diagram with one commong pole. This simplifies setting-up the problem, since it allows one to connect the operational amplifiers in the installation, switching only one pole (lead).

The signal at the output of the operational amplifier should repeat the input signal in such a manner that with a sero input signal there is a zero output signal and with a change of sign of the input signal the sign at the output would change accordingly. In the asymmetric diagram of the amplifier this requires in the output cascade an additional source of constant voltage. The operational amplifier should consists of an odd number of cascades, changing sign, since with this it ensures the additional operation of multiplication of the input signal by -1 and simplicity of realisation of regative feedback.

The total amplification factor of the amplifier is selected depending upon the required accuracy of work. For application in general purpose simulating installations it should not be lower than 70,000. This value of the amplification factor of amplifier ensures almost complete independence of work of the computing element

-104-

from variation of parameters of the amplifier and low value of the output resistance which facilitates connection of computing elements among themselves and with other equipment, and also, as analysis shows, small error (less than 1%) of work as an adder-integrator during summation of up to five components with a transmission factor K = 2 for each component.

In the diagram of the amplifier there should also be provided measures of decreasing zero drift. Zero drift constitutes the basic error of a computing element made of d-c amplifiers and therefore during development of the amplifier, especially its first cascade, there should be considered the requirement of obtaining minimum drift. For operational amplifiers of electronic models of general application the voltage of drift at the output must not extend a magnitude of 1 - 2 millivolt for 10 minutes with a transmission factor of the computing element equal to unity, and during work as an integrator with a transmission factor of unity — must not exceed a magnitude of 100 millimolts for 100 sec.

Along with a high amplification factor the operational amplifier should possess a sufficiently wide passband. Thus, for example, for h general-purpose simulating installations it is desirable that, in the presence of negative feedback, a transmission factor of one and output voltage 100 v, the amplifier has a gain-frequency response with a slump of 3 db, starting from a frequency of $\theta = 10$ kc. The wider the passband of the amplifier, the greater poswibilities the operational amplifier will possess. In particular, on d-c amplifiers with a wide passband there can be built simulating installations, working both in natural time scale (B. Ya. Kogan [1]), and with artificial repetitive operation (L. I. Gutenmakher [2]). The requirement of a high amplification factor and a wide passband are in contradiction with the requirement of stability of the amplifier in the coverage of its negative feedback. Therefore, in the amplifier diagram there should be provided correcting circuits, ensuring such a character of the gain-phase response, with which the amplifier is not self-axcited in the various regimes, covered by negative feedback. Of large value in this respect is correct location of elements on the amplifier chassis, ensuring

15 -

the shortest grid connections, and the least leak between various circuits.

Decrease of leaks also has essential meaning with respect to limitation of the amplitude of spurious alternating voltages at the output of the amplifier. For normal work of an amplifier as a computing element it is required that the amplitude of alternating voltage at the output does not exceed several millivolts. To insulate input circuits from the output is most simple and reliable with the help of correct shielding of wires and separate units of the circuit and grounding of the corresponding parts of the amplifier. Here leakage between input and output circuits is redistributed on leakage between the integrating point and the ground and between the output and the ground. Such a method of combatting leaks has received the name "ground insulation."

The amplifier during coverage by negative feedback should allow connection of load with the input impedance of the order of 10 kilohas and also ensure linear dependence of the output voltage on the input within \pm 100 v.

The formulated requirements can be realized with the help of a three-cascade d-c amplifier, assembled by asymmetric diagram. Diagrams of operational amplifiers known from the literature have much in common. Separate diagrams are distinguished by the given method of decreasing zero drift, the principle of construction of input and output cascades, the types of tubes applied, ratings and number of stabilized power supplies. In certain cases for the purpose of increasing the total amplification factor there is used introduction of local positive feedback.

When operational amplifiers are used with a total transmission factor of one as, for example, for separation of circuits, for feeding loops of the escillograph or for coupling the integrator with other equipment), it is possible to select a total amplification factor without feedback of the order of 2500 to 5000, which significantly simplifies the diagram.

By method of eliminating zero drift it is possible to divide all diagrams of decisive amplifiers into two groups: with parametric compensation of zero drift and

-106 -

automatic control of the zero level. To decrease zero drift, caused by instability of power supplies, they usually realize plate supply from electronic stabilizers, ensuring accuracy of maintenance of the constancy of voltage of the order of 0.1 to 0.01%.

2. Diagrams with Parametric Compensation of Zero Drift.

Operational amplifiers with parametric compensation of zero drift are made in two modifications. In one of them in the first cascade an auxiliary cathods follower is used, and in another the first cascade is built by a diagram with a series coupled triode. A typical diagram of an operational amplifier with compensation of drift by a cathode follower is in Fig. 37. The amplifier consists of three cascades. The first cascade is assembled with a double triode of type 6N9. The left part of the tube is used as the amplifying part, the right is connected in the circuit of the cathode follower and serves for compensation of zero drift, caused by change of filament voltage and oscillations of the emission current.



Fig. 37. Diagram of an operational amplifier with compensation of drift by a cathode follower. KEY: (a) Input; (b) Output.

During change of filament voltage or emission current simultaneously changes the current of the right triode. Voltage drop, which here is singled out on resistance R_2 has a stabilising effect on the current of the left triode.

Depending upon the position of the cursor on resistance R_2 the coefficient of negative feedback of the right cascade 2 anged, and consequently, the mignitude This is a very general condition for adjustment of a diagram of cathode stabilisation. If one were to assume that the right and left triodes possess identical characteristics of incadescence and identical internal resistances $R_{i_1} = R_{i_2}$, then we arrive at a more simple relationship

$$\mathbf{I} = (S_1 - S_1 t) R_{\mathbf{u}} = 0.$$

Magnitude R_{R} usually is selected from calculation of permissible lowering of the amplification factor of the first cascade, and the resulting condition is satisfied by selection of the proper position of curzer of the divider — magnitude a:

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{R_{\mathbf{x}}S - 1}{S_{\mathbf{y}}R_{\mathbf{x}}}.$$

These expressions show that performance of the considered circuit depends on identity and stability of characteristics of both triodes. When $S_1 = S_2$ we arrive at the expression 'nown from literature (see, for instance, L. I. Bayda and A. A. Semenkovich [1], A. M. Bonch-Bruyevich [1]):

$$R_{1}(1-2) = \frac{1}{S_{2}}$$
 (4.2)

It is necessary to note that specifics of the work of an operational amplifier, consisting of the fact that input signal e_a is minute, facilitates compensation of drift by the considered diagram, since current I_{a_1} changes in very narrow limits, and consequently, S_1 can be considered a practically constant magnitude.

In Fig. 39 is presented an experimentally received dependence of the change of output voltage of an amplifier on change of the current of incandescence. ¹⁰rom the figure it follows that cathode stabilization acts not quite symmetrically. If characteristics of cathodes of both halves of tubes strongly differ, it can be that one cannot satisfy conditions of cathode stabilization it is recommended to subject the cathode of the first tube to aging.

The second cascade of the amplifier is made of a pentode of type 6Zh8. Coupling

between cascades is carried out with the help of a bridge circuit (Fig. 40), formed by two stabilized power supplies E_1 and E_2 and resistances R_1 , R_4 , and R_5 for the second tube and R_6 , and R_7 and R_8 for the third (Fig. 37).



Resistance R_{4} and R_{5} one can determine from known (L. I. Bayda and A. A. Semenkovich [1]) expressions:

$$R_{1} = R_{1} = \frac{E_{1} + e_{k}}{E_{1} - E_{2} \left(1 + \frac{R_{1}}{R_{p}}\right)}, \qquad (4.3)$$

$$R_{2} = \frac{E_{2} - e_{k}}{E_{1} - E_{2} \left(1 + \frac{R_{1}}{R_{p}}\right)}, \qquad (4.4)$$

if we know value of R , R $\stackrel{*}{}$ and E and 1 p 0

there is given magnitude e .

Resistance R₅ is usually executed consisting of two parts: one unregulated and other adjustable. The adjustable part serves for setting the zero of the amplifier and should be sufficient in magnitude for compensation of variation of parameters of elements of the circuit (in connection with spread within allowance), and also to consider the possible range of spread of characteristics of the tubes.



Fig. 40. Diagram of interstage coupling.

cade is presented in Fig. 41.

The third cascale usually is constructed on a powerful beam tetrode (6P-2, 6P-3). Obtaining of output voltage of both polarities is attained by connection in this cascade of a source of voltage of \sim 190 v. The diagram of the third cas-

*R_p - resistance of tube to direct current.

In the attende of load, output voltage can be found from the relationships:

$$e_{\text{surv}} = U_{\bullet} = I_{\bullet}R_{\bullet} = I_{\bullet} = \frac{U_{\bullet} + U_{\bullet}}{R_{\bullet} + R_{\bullet}}$$

Hence

$$\mathcal{C}_{out} = \frac{1}{R_a + R_p} \left[U_a R_p - U_a R_a \right]. \tag{4.5}$$

With an input voltage, equal to zero, the operating point is selected in such a manner that $r_{\rm set} = 0$

This will take place when

$$I_{\bullet} = \frac{U_{\bullet}}{R_{\bullet}}$$
(4.6)

Limits of change of output voltage can be found, if one considers two limit cases: the tube is completely locked and completely unlocked. In the first case

and, consequently,

In the second case from characteristics of the output tube for given load R and U we find $R_{\nu} = \frac{l'_{\mu}}{l_{\mu}}$



load for the general case, when to the putput is connected, besides obaic resistance,

also a source of eaf with a given internal resistance. This takes place in a number of cases, when to the output of the operational amplifier is connected the circuit of a diode functional converter. Equivalent schemes of the output cascade for the two limit cases, when the output tube is completely locked or completely unlocked, are shown in Fig. 42.

In the first case we obtain

$$U_{a_1} + E \frac{R_a}{R_{a_1}}$$

$$F_{bux} = \frac{R_a}{R_a} + \frac{R_a}{R_{a_1}}$$

$$(4.7)$$

$$\frac{R_a}{R_a} + \frac{R_a}{R_{a_1}} + 1$$

in the second case

$$e_{out} = -\frac{U_{a_1} R_{a_2} - U_{a_1} - R_{a_2}}{1 + \frac{R_a}{R_p} + \frac{R_a}{R_{a_1}} + \frac{R_a}{R_n}}$$
(4.8)

Analysis of these expressions shows that introduction of load in the form of a source of emf loads to increase of the asymmetry of limit values of e_{int} . The limit of positive values increases with positive E and decreases with negative. The limit of negative values of e_{int} vice versa, decreases with positive value of E and increases with negative.

The considered diagram of the output cascade extremely uneconomically expends the power of the power supplies.

Indeed, when the power consumed by the load is equal to zero, from power supplies there is put in half the maximum value of the power:

$$(P_{\text{morp}})_{r_{\text{put}}=0} = \frac{l'_{a_1}^2}{R_a} + \frac{l'_{a_1}l'_{a_1}}{R_a}.$$

During work at load R_{H} it is possible to estimate the economy of one or another diagram of the output "ascade, introducing the concept of average efficiency

$$\frac{P_{\text{out } cp}}{P_{\text{potp} cp}}$$
 (4.9)



is the average value of power, fed to the load, and



is the average power, consumed by the output cascade from high-voltage sources. Since

$$P_{\text{porp}} = I_1 U_{a_1} + I_2 U_{a_2},$$

$$I_1 = \frac{U_{a_1} - e_{\text{porp}}}{R_a} \text{ and } I_2 = I_1 - I_a = \frac{U_{a_1}}{R_a} - e_{\text{port}} \left(\frac{1}{R_a} + \frac{1}{R_a}\right)$$

for the given case we will receive

$$\eta = \frac{e_{aut max}^2}{3 \frac{R_u}{R_e} U_{e_i} (U_{e_i} + U_{e_i})}$$
(4.10)

 \mathcal{J}_{1} . Selecting initial biases on tubes

when $R_{a} = R_{H} = 10$ kilohms $U_{a_{1}} = 300 \text{ v}$, $U_{a_{2}} = 190 \text{ v}$ and $e_{\text{sut max}} = 100 \text{ v}$, $\eta \approx 2.27\%$. Significant advantages from the viewpoint of economy of power consumption of power supplies are presented by the diagram of an output cascade shown in Fig. 43 (V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. D. Talantsev, V. A. Trapesnikov [1]). In this diagram resistor R_{a} is replaced by electron tube

ь) Fig. 42. Equivalent diagrams of the output cas-

 \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 , it is possible to attain a state where at a sero input signal we receive equal currents through \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 cade for two limit cases.

* a -

and, consequently, zero load voltage. The magnitude of initial current can be here selected sufficiently low. To that with change of the input signal the circuit works correctly, it is necessary to ensure change of grid potentials of tubes J_1 and J_2 in anti-phase. This is attained by connection of the grid of tube J_2 to the second cascade not directly, and through an additional inverting cascade (Fig. 44). As compared with the above diagram of the amplifier here there is required a superfluous half envelope. However, if one were to put two amplifiers together on one chassis, then the total number of envelopes remains approximately the same as for the usual amplifier (3.5 per amplifier).



Fig. 43. Economic output cascade, r_c is the output voltage of the second cascade, r_c — bias voltage. KEY: (a) Tube.

Since for the considered circuit $P_{\text{out}} = \frac{\sigma_{\text{out}}^2}{R_{\text{u}}}$ and $P_{\text{notp}} = \frac{U_{\text{ofout}}}{R_{\text{u}}}$.

then the average efficiency of the output cascade for a zero value of the recting current will be

$$\eta = \frac{P_{\text{BOT} cP}}{P_{\text{BOTP} cP}} = \frac{2}{3} \frac{e_{\text{BOT} max}}{U_{a}}.$$
 (4.11)



Fig. 44. Diagram of amplifler with economic output cascade.

"Modification of the considered diagram, not requiring an additional inverting cascade, is shown in Fig. 59.

When $r_{\rm even} = 100$ v and $U_{\rm ell} = 100$ v, $\tau \approx 20$ %.

Besides a higher efficiency, such an output cascade also possesses that advantage that it allows us to lower approximately 4 times the power of sources of plate supply.

Capacitors C_2 , C_3 and C_4 in the amplifier circuit, depicted in Fig. 37, serve for correction of the gain-phase response for the purpose of eliminating the possibility of self-excitation of the amplifier. With careful fulfillment of such amplifiers and feeding from stabilised sources with accuracy of maintenance of constancy of voltage of the order of $\pm 0.05\%$ we can reduce zero drift to 1 to 2 millivolts (voltage of drift is brought to input).

As example of a circuit with compensation of sero drift by a series couples triode let us consider the diagram of an operational amplifier C. A. Meneley and C. D. Morrill [1](, presented in Fig. 45. The operational emplifier here is made of four cascades.



Fig. 45. Operational amplifier with use of a series-balancing input cascade.

The first cascade is assembled by a series-balancing circuit, the second cascade — by in a parallel-balancing circuit, the third — by a "subtractor" circuit and the fourth — by a circuit, analogous to the circuit of the output cascade,

*Amplifiers of this type (UPT-4, and UPT-12) enter into a number of electronic analog installations. See I. M. Vittenberg [1].

of the above considered (Fig. 37) amplifier. The upper tube of the series-balancing cascade it is possible to consider as a plate load with equivalent resistance

$$R_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu} (1 + \omega) \qquad (4.14)$$

where R_{i_2} is the internal resistance of tube, R_{i_2} — the resistance, connected in the cathode circuit, μ — the amplification factor. Here the amplification factor of the cascade $K_{1} = \frac{r_{i_1}}{r_{i_1}}$ can be found from consideration of the equivalent diagram when $R_{i_1} = R_{i_2}$ and $R_{i_1} = R_{i_2}$:

$$\mathbf{K}_1 = \frac{\mathbf{X}}{2}$$

With application of tube 6N8 one can obtain $K_1 \approx 10$.

If the characteristic of both tubes are identical, then with a constant input voltage increase of filament voltage evokes identical increase of current in the upper and lower tubes, and consequently, identical change of grid voltage. Therefore, the fixed distribution of voltage on the tubes will not change. The circuit of the first cascade can be considered a bridge. two arms of which are formed by tubes $J_{\rm e}$ and $J_{\rm e}$ and two other — by resistances R_{10} , R_{11} and R_{12} . In connection with the fact that during change of incandescence resistances of tubes $J_{\rm e}$ and $J_{\rm e}$ change the same magnitude, the voltage, removed from the diagonal, remains here constant. Likewise this voltage will not change during change of the magnitude of feeding voltage.

If characteristics of both halves of the tubes somewhat differ in incadescence, then it is possible to bring them together by means of change of resistance R_3 in circuits of the cathode of the upper tube. Changes of input voltage on tube T_1 are minute due to the presence of negative feedback and a large amplification factor of the amplifier. Therefore, the bridge is practically always in balanced state.

The second cascade of the amplifier is made according to the circuit of an asymmetric parallel-balancing cascade. In the absence of a signal both grids are under identical potentials with respect to the ground. If characteristic of the tubes and load resistances H_{g} and R_{g} are identica', *** are corrects in the tubes will be equal and the output voltage, obtained as the difference of potentials between points a — t and e — d, will equal zero. Change of potential of the grid of the left half of the tube leads to a change of plate current of this half of the tube, and consequently, to change of the voltage drop in resistance R_{g} . This evokes change of plate current of the right half of the tube. As a result between points a — t and e — d there appears a difference of potentials, whose sign depends on the polarity of the signal applied to the grid of the left half of the tube. Potentials at points a — b will change symmetrically only in the case of large values of resistance H_{q} .

The amplification factor of the cascade can be found from calculation of the equivalent circuit. When the tubes have identical characteristics and parameters:

$$R_{ab} = \frac{R_{a}(R_{ab} + R_{ab})}{R_{b} + R_{ab} + R_{ab}} = \frac{R_{a}(R_{ab} + R_{ab})}{R_{b} + R_{ab} + R_{ab} + R_{ab}} = \frac{R_{ab}}{R_{ab} + R_{ab} + R_{ab}}$$
(4.13)

the expression for the amplification factor can be obtained in the form

$$K_{1} = \frac{R_{11}}{R_{1} + R_{21}} \frac{R_{12}}{R_{1} + R_{21}}$$
(4.14)

Thus, the amplification factor of this cascade is calculated just as for the triode. With application of tube 609 we can obtain $K_2 = -5$.

The third cascade, besides amplifying, should provide reverse transition to the asymmetric circuit. It is made by the known diagram (A. A. Sokolov [1], [2]) of a differential amplifier, called a "subtractor" circuit. Output voltage of the cascade, taken from resistance R_{21} onto the grid of the fourth cascade, should be the amplified difference of potentials $e_{\overline{a}} e_{\overline{d}}$.

The amplification factor of cascade K_3 can be approximately found from the

expression

$$K_{3} \approx \frac{\mu}{1 + \frac{2R_{1}}{R_{05}}} \frac{R_{10}}{R_{10} + R_{11}}.$$
 (4.15)

Here

$$R_{ab} = \frac{R_{1b}(R_{22} + R_{21})}{R_{1b} + R_{2a} + R_{21}}$$

The total amplification factor of the cascade, obtained with use of the tube 6N9, constitutes $K_1 = 19.$

The fourth cascade, made of a beam tetrode, is built similarly to the output cascade of the operational amplifier considered earlier. Dring use of tube 6P3 and $R_{22} = 10$ kilohms we can obtain

$$K_4 = 17$$

Thus, the total amplification factor of the amplifier constitutes

$$K_{y} = K_{1} \cdot K_{2} \cdot K_{3} \cdot K_{4} \approx 10 \cdot 25 \cdot 19 \cdot 17 \approx 80\,000.$$

With well-selected tubes, according to the data of C. A. Meneley and C. D. Morrill [1], the zero drift brought to the input is less than 200 microvolt hour: noises on the output do not exceed 0.3 millivolts.

The frequency characteristic does not introduce phase and frequency distortions in signals up to 1000 cycles (with a transmission factor of 10).^{\star}

3. <u>Diagrams of Operational Amplifiers with</u> Automatic Stabilization of Zero Level

Operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level are based on the known property of systems with negative feedback to decrease the effect of external disturbances, influencing elements covered by feedback. Indeed, from

"The authors do not indicate the magnitude of the amplitude of the input signal.

expression (3.39) it follows that the output magnitude consists as if of two components: one, determined by the input magnitude and the given law of its conversion, and the other, error caused by disturbances to the system. The nearer to the input of the system the disturbance is applied, the greater the error it will cause in the output. Decrease of effect of application of the disturbance is directly proportional to the amplification factor of the section from input to the place of application of the disturbance.



Fig. 46. Skeleton diagram of an operational amplifier with series coupling of an auxiliary amplifier. 1 -- auxiliary amplifier, not possessing zero drift, 2 -- main d c amplifier.



Considering sere drift as a certain equivalent disturbance, brought to the input of the operational amplifier, it is possible to show that the connection between the integrating point and the main d-c amplifier (Fig. 46) of an additional amplifier, to which in principle there is not inherent zero drift, should lead to decrease of the drift voltage by K₁ times, where K₁ — is the amplification factor of the additional amplifier.

The additional amplifier can be built on the principle of modulation of input voltage, subsequent amplification by an a-c amplifier and demodulation. It is most rational here as modulator and demod-

ulator to use an electromechanical vibrator, since all electronic circuits and circuits with the application of dry-disc rectifiers possess significant zero drift. However, series coupling of an additional amplifier by the diagram of Fig. 46 turns out to be not too rational, since simultaneously with decrease of zero drift it leads to sharp narrowing of the passband of the amplifier due to the equation of necessity of operating at a comparatively low carrier frequency, determined by the possibilities of electromechanical vibrators. More rational is the circuit diagram of the additional amplifier, shown in Fig. 47. In considering this diagram one should keep in mind the circumstance that the disturbance, equivalent to zero drift, changes comparatively slowly and by force of this ' ...arrow passband ... one additional amplifier is not an obstacle to limitation of zero drift. Indeed, at low frequencies of the input signal it is possible to disregard parallel coupling for by signal < and, thus, the circuit is equivalent to that brough in Fig. 46. At signal frequencies, lying beyond the limits of the passband of the additional amplifier, it is as if the circuit formed by this amplifier is opened, and there is accomplished transition to the ordinary circuit. This eliminates the deficiency of the circuit of Fig. 46 and provides the possibility of work of the operational amplifier in a comparatively wide range of input signal frequencies.

We will derive the relationship between the output voltage of such an operational amplifier and input[#] for a given conductance of the input circuit and feedback circuit. Following the method, stated above, we will receive

the equation of the mismatch indicator

$$\bar{e}_{i} = f_{i1}(p)\bar{e}_{i1} + f_{i}(p)\bar{e}_{out}$$
 (4.16)

where, as before,

$$f_{11}(p) = \frac{Y_{11}(p)}{Y_{11}(p) + Y_{2}(p) + Y_{3}(p)}$$

is the transfer function of the input circuit, a

$$f_2(p) := \frac{Y_2(p)}{Y_{11}(p) + Y_2(p) + Y_3(p)}$$

is the transfer function of the feedback circuit;

^{*}For simplification of computations we consider that to the input three is fed only one variable.

the main channel of the system

$$\bar{e}_{\text{max}} = -K_{\text{u}}f(p)\left\{\left[1 + K_{1}f_{1}(p)\right]e_{4} + e_{4}\right\}, \qquad (4,17)$$

where K_0 is the static amplification factor of the main d-c amplifier, f(p) is its transfer function, K_1 — the static amplification factor of the additional d-c amplifier, $f_1(p)$ — its transfer function.

Solving equations (4.16) and (4.17) for \bar{e}_{swi} , we will receive

$$\bar{e}_{pur} = -f_{11}(p) \frac{K_0 f(p) [1 + K_1 f_1(p)] \bar{e}_{pr}}{1 - K_0 f(p) [1 + K_1 f_1(p)] f_1(p)} + \frac{K_0 f(p) \bar{e}_1}{1 + K_0 f(p) [1 + K_1 f_1(p)] f_2(p)}$$
(4.18)

If the amplification factor $K_0 K_1$ is selected so large that for the operating range of frequencies in the denominator of expression (4.18) it is possible to disregard unity as compared with the modulo

$$|K_{1}f(p)||^{1} + K_{1}f_{1}(p)||f_{2}(p)|_{1}$$

then equation (4.18), taking into account expression for transfer functions f_{11} and f_{2} can be presented in the form

$$= -\frac{Y_{11}(p)}{Y_2(p)} \bar{e}_{sx} \mp \frac{1}{\{1 + K_1 f_1(p)\}} \frac{1}{Y_{11}(p) + Y_2(p)} \bar{e}_x.$$
(4.19)

From the resulting expression it follows that error, introduced by zero drift, for such an operational amplifier will be $[1 + K_1 f_1(p)]$ times less as compared with an operational amplifier, not supplied with an additional amplifier $(K_1 = 0)$.

Furthermore, at low frequencies the total amplification factor of the main channel sharply increases.

Indeed,

$$K_{\text{obst}} = \frac{e_{\text{obst}}}{e_1} = (1 + K_1)K_0.$$

when $K_1 \gg 1$

$$K_{\rm cóm} = K_1 K_0$$

If $I_1 = 1000$, and $K_0 = 50,000$, we obtain $K_{\rm obtain} = 50 \cdot 10^6$. The great total amplification factor of the main channel leads to decrease of error (especially during work of the operational amplifier as an adder), caused by the limited value of the amplification factor.

츐

One typical diagram (E. A. Goldberg [1]) of such an operational amplifiers is shown in Fig. 48.

As can be seen from the figure, as the main amplifier there is used a somewhat modified d-c amplifier, shown earlier in Fig. 37. In this amplifier the diagram of the first cascade was subjected to a small change and there were introduced other correcting circuits (C_1 , R_L ; C_2 , R_7 ; C_L , R_{11} ; C_3 , R_{10}).

The input of the additional amplifier is connected to the integrating point Σ through filter (R₁₂, R₁₃, C₅, C₆, R₁₄) and connecting capacitance C₇, and the output after demodulation (right half of the vibrator) is connected through smoothing filter C₁₂, R₂₃ to the grid of the cathode follower of the first cascade, utilized in the given circuit as the adder. The filter at the input of the auxiliary amplifier serves to prevent penetration into the amplifier of alternating current of higher harmonics of voltage $c_{.}$, multiples of the commutation frequency of the vibrator, and the filter at the output — for smoothing of the pulsating voltage, received after half wave rectification by the vibrator. The comparatively low commutation frequency (from 50 to 400 c) and parameters of smoothing filter limit the passband of the auxiliary amplifier by approximately a frequency of 5 c. To avoid self-excitation of the a-c amplifier and decrease of inductions there is required thorough the shielding of the vibrator leads feeding its contacts, and also such adjustment of the span of contacts and amplitude of vibration of the armature, with which is ensured work with "coverage" of contacts.

During work as a scale amplifier with a transmission factor K = 1 ($Z_1 = Z_2 = R$)

^{*}Amplifiers UPT-10 made on a similar diagram, enter into the composition of electronic analog MPT-y.

such an operational amplifier according to source material (E. A. Goldberg [1]) has a passband up to a 100 kc. Zero drift brough to the input here does not exceed 50 microvolts.



Fig. 48. Fundamental circuit of an operational amplifier with automatic control of sero level.

 $\begin{array}{c} R_1 = 1 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 1 \text{ acous; } R_3 = 2 \text{ acous; } R_4 = 570 \text{ acous; } R_5 = 10 \text{ acous; } R_5 = 10 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 10 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 4.7 \text{ acous; } R_3 = 33 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 4.7 \text{ acous; } R_3 = 33 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 1.7 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 0.2, 3 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_1 = 0.2, 3 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4 \text{ acous; } R_2 = 0.2, 4$

*Editor's note: wrow = Mohm; Kow = Kohm; nf = pf; wkp = #f.

In projecting the auxiliary amplifier one should consider the necessity of providing negative feedback for low frequency signals. Therefore, in the presence of the auxiliary amplifier it is necessary to be sure that this inequality is observed

 $K_1K_0 < 0$.

Since $K_0 < 0$, then, consequently, K_1 should be greater than zero. The sign of the amplification factor of the auxiliary amplifier, as follows from analysis of the diagram of Fig. 48, is determined by three factors: the number of cascades of the a-c amplifier, which change sign, the method of connection of the vibrator and the character of summation of signals by the main amplifier.

Number of amplifier stages can be even or odd. With an odd number of easeades output voltage of the amplifier has a reverse phase, and consequently, voltage after the demodulator has a reverse sign. Depending upon the construction and circuit diagram of the vibrator it is possible to carry out commutation of input circuits (modulation) and output circuits (demodulation) in the same a-c half period (commutation in phase) or with shift by one half period (commutation in anti-phase). In the first case the sign of output voltage does not change, in the second case — it changes to the reverse. Finally, summation can be carried out in cathode or plate circuits of the first cascade of the main amplifier. During summation in the cathode there is carried out summation of signals of main and auxiliary amplifiers with opposite signs; during summation in plate circuits — with the same signs.

In the considered diagram of Fig. 46 is used an even number of amplifier stages, commutation in anti-phase and summation in the cathode circuit which ensures an even number of changes of sign in the M-DH amplifier (modulation — demodulation) and, consequently, $K_1 > 0$.

It is possible to carry out other variants of circuits (A. D. Talantsev [17], in which the total amplifica ion factor of the auxiliary amplifier remains larger than zero. For example, it is possible to make an a-c amplifier with an odd number of cascades, connect the vibrator to the circuit of anti-phase commutation, and to carry out summation in the plate circuits of the first cascade of the main amplifier or with an odd number of cascades of the a-c amplifier carry out commutation in phase and summation in the cathode circuit.

With an even number of cascades it is possible to have also a variant with commutation in phase and summation in the plate circuits of the first cascade of the main amplifier. This variant is not of practical interest.

In Fig. 498 and b are brought fundamental circuits, showing how new variants of circuits are realized.

Use of an odd number of cascades removes the inclination of an a-c amplifier (with an even number of cascades) to self-excitation due to spurious coupling between input and output and, there'wy, allows one to facilitate work of the vibrator,

- 124 -

since the necessity of adjustment with "covering" of contents drops and large amplitudes of oscillation of the armature connected with it. During summation of signals in the plate of the first cascade of the main amplifier it is possible to use a vibrator of ordinary construction with commutation in anti-phase. Summation in the cathode circuit requires application either of two vibrators, or one special one with a split insolated armature and two pairs of contacts (Fig. 50). The diagram of an operational amplifier with such a vibrator is shown in Fig. 51.[#] As vibrator in the circuits of Figs. 48 and 49 there can be used both special electromagnetic interrupters and ordinary polarised relays.



Fig. 49. Variants of circuits of operational amplifiers with automatic control of sero level. 1 -- main d-c amplifiers, 2 -- auxiliary amplifiers.



Fig. 50. Electromagnetic interrupter.

Appliestion of electromagnetic interrupters has the advantage that they give a doubled or quadrupled commutation frequency of the current feeding their winding, (Fig. 49a and Fig. 49b accordingly) and theyeby decrease interferences with the frequency of the network. At the same time electromagnetic interrupters require more thorough shielding of the contact system

"It is applied in the analog installation of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, type ENU-4.

from the coil and its lead wires, since currents, which it must pass for creation of electromagnetic forces on the armature, generate a noticea le field of scattering.

Polarized relays in this respect have the advantage that the magnitude of variable magnetic flux in their magnetic system is significantly less. Comparison of electromagnetic vibrators and polarized relays shows that the level of interferences in the M-DM are approximately identical, if in both cases we use for feeding of coils source of non-standard frequency (for example, 120 c for the relays). The fundamental circuit of an operational amplifier with polarized relays as the vibrator of the M-DM amplifier and economic output cascade is shown in Fig. 52.



Fig. 51. Diagram of operational amplifier with electromagnetic interrupter (Fig. 50). KEY: (a) Input; (b) Output

An electromagnetic vibrator without adjustment of contacts for "covering" can also be used in the circuit of Fig. 48, but on the condition of thorough shielding of contacts and the armature so that leak between input and output of the a-c amplifier is reduced to leaks between the input and the ground and between the output and the ground. (N. N. Lenov (1)).

"By this diagram were made the operational amplifiers of electronic analog EMY-5 of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR (see V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. D. Talantsev, V. A. Trapesnikov [1]).

- 126

This method of combatting leakage between the input and output of the a-c amplifier is useful to use also in circuits with an odd number of cascades for removal of spurious negative feedback, lowering in this case the amplification factor K_1 of the a-c amplifier.

Connection of 1000 pf capacitors between the fixed contacts of the vibrator (relay) and the common point also helps to remove the above-indicated spurious couplings.

The amplification factor of the auxiliary amplifier at zero frequency it is possible to present in the form

$$K_1 = k_u \cdot \tilde{k} \cdot k_{\phi u} \cdot k_{u s} \cdot (4.20)$$

where $k_{\rm M}$ is the transmission factor of the modulator taking into account the input filter, \tilde{K} — the natural amplification factor of the a-c amplifier at the carrier frequency, $k_{\rm pe}$ — the transmission factor of phasing circuit at the a-c amplifier output, $k_{\rm pe}$ — the transmission factor of the demodulator taking into account the output filter.



Fig. 52. Fundamental circuit of operational amplifier with a polarised relay as vibrator of the M-DM amplifier and economic output caseds. $R_1 = 500 \text{ set}, R_1 = 100 \text{ set}, R_2 = 200 \text{ set}, R_2 = 200 \text{ set}, R_3 = 500 \text{ set}, R_4 = 500 \text{ set}, R_4 = 100 \text{ se}, R_4 = 100 \text{ set}, R_4 = 100 \text{ set}, R_4 = 100 \text{ set}, R_4$

KEY: (a) Modulator-demodulator voltage. •Editor's note: MroM = MQ; KOM = kQ; $TK = \mu\mu f; MRD = \mu f$. Analysis of the work of the modulator together with the input filter shows that the form of voltage on the grid of the input cascade of the a-c amplifier in a steady-state regime will have the form, shown in Fig. 53.

Ordinate of pulses one can determine from the obvious relationships:

$$U_{g_1} = U_{g_1} e^{-\frac{1}{2T_1}}, \qquad (4.21)$$

$$U_{g_2} = U_{g_1} e^{-\frac{1}{2T_1}}, \qquad (4.21)$$

$$U_{g_3} = (e_1 - U_{g_1}) \frac{R_3}{R_3 + R_3}, \qquad U_{g_4} = (e_1 - U_{g_1}) \frac{R_3}{R_3 + R_3},$$

where t is the period of work of the vibrator, $T_1 = C_2(R_2 + R_3)$ — the time constant of the circuit with opened contact of the vibrator, $T_2 = R_3C_2$ — the time constant of the circuit with closed contact of the vibrator. The remaining designations are shown in Fig. 53. Solution of the system of equations (4.21) gives:

$$U_{e_{1}} = e_{1} \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} - 1}{e^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\frac{1}{T_{1}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}}) - 1}} .$$

$$U_{e_{1}} = e_{1} \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} - 1}{e^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\frac{1}{T_{1}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}}) - 1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} .$$

$$U_{e_{1}} = e_{1} \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} - 1}{e^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\frac{1}{T_{1}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}}) - 1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} \frac{R_{3}}{R_{3} + R_{2}} .$$

$$U_{e_{1}} = e_{1} \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} - 1}{e^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\frac{1}{T_{1}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}}) - 1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2T_{1}}} \frac{R_{3}}{R_{3} + R_{2}} .$$

Usually parameters of the input circuit are selected in such a way that:

$$R_2 = 0.5 R_3$$
, $T_1 = 4 \frac{\tau}{2}$, $T_1 = T_2 \frac{R_1 + R_2}{R_2}$.

Here for approximation of the transmission factor of the modulator it is possible to consider that at the amplifier input there will be formed a pulse of rectilinear form, whose amplitude is $0.4 e_i^{-1}$.

[&]quot;More accurate derivation of relationships for calculation of transfer function of input circuit of M-LM amplifier see D. E. Polonnikov, Input elements of electronic amplifiers of autocompensators. Cand. dissertation, IAT Academy of Sciences of the USSR (1956); I. C. Hutcheon, A. M. I. Mech E., Properties of some D. C. - A. C. Chopper circuits. Proc. IEE, N 6, Sept. (1957).



Fig. 53. Form of the voltage curve at the a-c amplifier input; a -- contact P is open, b -- contact P is closed.

Thus, the initial transmission factor of the modulator $k_{\rm M} = 0.4$. The transmission factor of the output phasing circuit $(R_{19}C_6)$ (Fig. 52) at the frequency of modulation w_{\star} will be

$$k_{p_1} = \frac{1}{2} (R_0 C_{p_1} + 1)$$
 (4.23)

where

$$R_{0} = \frac{R_{10}[R_{1} + (v+1)R_{1}]}{R_{10} + R_{1} + (v+1)R_{1}} + R_{10}$$

The value of $R_i C_i$ is chosen from the condition

where φ is the angle of phase shift, introduced by the a-e amplifier at the frequency of commutation $w_{\rm m} \approx 2^{-7}$

The more the phase of output voltage is shifted by the amplifier, the greater should be the time constant in the output correcting circuit and the greater the lowering of the transmission factor.

When $R_{s}C_{s} = 0.004$ sec and $w_{s} = 2\pi f \approx 240\pi$

A. == 0.314

Transmission factor of demodulator it is possible to consider equal to one. Thus, $k_{i} = 1$

For effective lowering of zero drift it is sufficient to have a total transmission factor of M-DM amplifier of order of $K_1 = 1000$. It is obvious that

$$\tilde{k} = \frac{K_1}{k_{\psi v}} \frac{1000}{k_{w} \cdot k_{w}} \frac{1000}{0.4 \cdot 1.0.514} \approx 8000$$

In reality the required amplification factor of the a-c amplifier should be higher (15,000 to $20_{p}(900)$. This is possible to explain by the fact that in output signal of modul for, besides voltage with carrier frequency, there are higher harmonics, for which transmission factor of phasing contour and amplification of amplifier is significantly below described values.

Use of auxiliary amplifier does not completely remove zero drift. Residual drift is caused by change of contact potentials on vibrator, induction from excitation circuit of vibrator and grid currents of first cascade of d-c amplifier. Drift can also appear due to unsuccessful selection of point of grounding of common lead of amplifiers, thanks to which currents, flowing through the common lead, create a ditional signal at input of amplifier in the form of voltage drop in this lead. Therefore, all leads to the common terminal, have to be connected to it in one place and here be reliably grounded with small transitional resistance of grounding.

As analysis of errors shows (see Chapter III), presence of grid current of first cascade causes error in output voltage, determined by expression

$$\delta e_{\text{BWI}, g} = \frac{I_{\text{C}}}{T - \frac{1}{C_{\text{C}}}} \frac{I_{\text{C}}}{I_{\text{AI}}} \frac{I_{\text{C}}}{I_{A$$

For series receiving-amplifying tubes grid current is of the order 10^{-8} a and, therefore, error M_{entern} already at t_{perm} = 100 sec can become very perceptials. Therefore, question of lowering or removal of influence of grid currents is very urgent also for amplifiers with automatic stabilisation of zero level. Decrease of grid current can be attained, for example, by introduction of corresponding

componenting voltage in grid circuit of first cascade of main amplifier, by selection of tubes with small grid current for work in this cascade, use of special circuits for construction of first cascade, ensuring decrease of grid currents (for example, circuit of cathode follower with lowered texaion of plate supply (G. Korn and T. Korn [1]), and also introduction of connection of grid of first cascade of main amplifier with integrating point through capacitor (see RC circuit, delineated by dotted line in Fig. 49a). In last case appears danger of accumulation of charges on this capacitor in period of overloading of amplifier and slow return of it to a normal regime.

Zero drift, caused by presence of grid currents, it is possible also to lower considerably, if one were to use additional feedback circuit for low frequency channel (H. Hamer [1]). By this component of drift voltage due to grid currents of first cascade of main amplifier is removed from input of the M-DM amplifier. Indeed, if one were to use designations from Fig. 54, then for considered case there can be found connection between output and input voltages taking into account grid current in the form:

$$\bar{e}_{mux} = -K_0(\bar{e}_A + K_1\bar{e}_3), \qquad (4.25)$$

$$\vec{e}_{1} = \vec{e}_{ox} \frac{1}{RCp+1} + \vec{e}_{oux} \frac{RCp}{RCp+1} + \frac{T_{g}R}{RCp+1}, \qquad (4.26)$$

$$\vec{e}_{2} = \vec{e}_{ox} \frac{1}{RCp+1} + \vec{e}_{oux} \frac{RCp}{RCp+1}. \qquad (4.27)$$

Solving equations (4.25), (4.26), (4.27) for \tilde{e}_{eux} we receive

$$\overline{e}_{001} = -\frac{\overline{e}_{01}}{\frac{RCp+1}{K_0(1+K_1)} + RCp} + \frac{\overline{RCp+1}}{\frac{RCp+1}{RK_0} + Cp(1+K_1)}$$
(4.28)

For very large K₀ equation (4.28) reduces to

$$\bar{e}_{out} = -\frac{\bar{e}_{ot}}{RCp} \mp \frac{\bar{I}_g}{Cp(1+k_1)}.$$
 (4.29)

- 131 -

From equation (4.29) it follows that separation of channels of low and high frequency with the help of additional feedback circuit gives decrease of error due to grid currents by $(1 + K_1)$ times. Here is required doubled quantity of styroflex capacitors and accurate trimming of time constant of both feedback circuits.



Fig. 54. Diagram of integrating operational amplifier.

4. Amplifiers with Parallel Amplification Channels."

The principle of action of amplifiers with parallel amplification channels is that channels of amplification are divided into two: high-frequency and lowfrequency (assembled by M-MD circuit) --- with subsequent summation in broad-band amplifier with relatively low amplification factor (see Fig. 55).



Fig. 55. Skeleton diagram of T-shaped operational amplifier.

*Idea of parallel channels of amplification in reference to amplifiers of selfrecording instumments was expressed in 1952 in work of Buckerfield [1]. Apparently in reference to operational amplifiers this idea was not used due to a number of difficulties. The passband of separate channels is selected in such a way that during joining there does not occur essential troughs in the gain-frequency response and there is ensured stability during closing of feedback both at high, and low frequencies.

The high-frequency channel, as a rule, is executed by the diagram of the a-c amplifier which lowers requirement on stability of sources of supply. Absence of resistance coupling with the integrating point almost completely removes influence of grid currents.

Assuming for simplification that amplifiers $\frac{1}{1}$ and amplifiers M-DM are inertialess, we obtain expression of transfer function of parallel channels in the form

$$W'(p) = \frac{k_1 T_1 T_2 T_3 p^3 + k_1 T_1 T_3 p^2 + k_{M,2M} T_1 p + k_{M,2M}}{T_1 T_2 T_3 p^3 + (T_1 T_3 + T_3 T_3 - T_1 T_2) p^2 + (T_1 + T_2 + T_3) p + 1}$$
(4.30)

where $T_1 = R_1C_1$, $T_2 = R_2C_2$, $T_3 = R_3C_3$, k_1 — amplification factor of amplifier Y_1 , $k_{M,IM}$ — amplification factor of d-c M-DM amplifier.



Fig. 56. Gain-phase responses of amplifying channel: W(-) — complex amplification factor of parallel channels, k — static amplification factor of circuit of parallel channels. KEY: (a) Cycles.

- 133 -
Frequency response is found, as we know, from (4.30) by replacement p = jw

in the form

$$W'(j\omega) = \frac{(k_{N-1}N - T_1T_3k_1\omega^2) + j\omega(k_{N-1}N T_1 - k_1T_1T_1T_3\omega^2)}{(1 - (T_1T_3 + T_2T_3 + T_1T_2)\omega^2) + j\omega(T_1 + T_2 + T_1 - T_1T_2T_3\omega^2)}$$
(4.31)

Consequently, when $w \to 0$ W $(jw) \to k_{W, TW}$ and when $w \to W(jw) \to k_1$.

We will estimate character of change of phase response

$$\varphi := \operatorname{arc} \operatorname{tan} \varphi_1 - \operatorname{arc} \operatorname{tan} \varphi_2$$

where

.

$$\tan \tau_1 = \frac{\omega (T_1 k_{N-1N} - k_1 T_1 T_2 T_1 \omega^2)}{k_{N-2N} - T_1 T_3 k_1 \omega^2},$$

$$\tan \tau_2 = -\frac{\omega (T_1 + T_2 - T_3 - T_1 T_3 T_1 \omega^2)}{[1 - (T_1 T_3 + T_1 T_3 + T_1 T_3) \omega^2]}.$$

When $w \to 0$ tan $\varphi_1 \to w T_1$, and $\tan \varphi_2 \to w [T_1 \to T_2 + T_3]$. Hence we conclude that at low frequencies $\varphi_1 \smallsetminus \varphi_2$ and, consequently, parallel channels give a lag of output signal in reference to the input signal.

When $w \to \infty \tan \tau_1 \to w T_2$, and $\tan \tau_2 \to w T_2 \frac{1}{1 + T_1} \frac{1}{T_2}$, whence it follows that $\tau_1 \geq \tau_2$ and, consequently, we get lead of output signal in reference to input.



Fig. 57. Fundamental circuit of one of the first modifications of operational amplifier with parallel channels of amplification of installation of type EMU-8.

-134-

Finally, phase response passes through zero at certain frequency $\omega = \omega_0$, when $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ or $\tan \varphi_1 = \tan \varphi_2$. This leads to relationship

$$\frac{T_1 k_{M,1M} - k_1 T_1 T_2 T_3 w_0^2}{k_{M,2M} - T_1 T_3 k_1 w_0^2} - \frac{T_1 + T_2 + T_3 - T_1 T_2 T_3 w_0^2}{1 - (T_1 T_3 + T_2 T_4 - T_1 T_2) w_0^2} = \gamma.$$
(4.32)

Frequency $w = w_0$, at which $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ is also called frequency of union of passbands of parallel channels of amplification.

In Fig. 56 are brought gain and phase frequency responses of one of the first modifications of operational amplifiers with parallel channels of amplification (see Fig. 57), developed in the Academy of Sciences of USSR (V. M Swceyev [1]) in reference to analogs. Parameters of the circuit were selected in such a way that at the frequency of union ω_0 slump of the gain-frequency response does not exceed 30%.

If it is accepted for simplification that $k_1 = k_{M, MM} = k$. then

$$\frac{|\mathbf{T}'(f_{1})|^{2}}{|\mathbf{T}|^{2}} = \frac{1 - T_{1}T_{1}u^{2}}{1 - (T_{1}T_{1} + T_{1}T_{1} + T_{2}T_{3})u^{2}} \sim \frac{1 + \frac{u^{2}(T_{1} - T_{1}T_{1}T_{3}u^{2})^{2}}{(1 - T_{1}T_{3}u^{2})^{2}}}{1 + \frac{u^{2}(T_{1} - T_{1}T_{3}T_{3}u^{2})^{2}}{(1 - (T_{1}T_{3} + T_{3}T_{3} + T_{1}T_{3})u^{2})^{2}}}$$

Considering that at frequency where we the radical equals out, we receive finally

$$\left|\frac{\Psi(f_{2})}{2}\right| = \frac{1 - \frac{T_{1}}{T_{2}}(T_{2})^{2}}{1 - (T_{2})^{2}\left(\frac{T_{1}}{T_{1}} + \frac{T_{2}}{T_{2}} + \frac{T_{1}}{T_{2}} + \frac{T_{1}}{T_{2}}\right)}$$
(4.33)

Considering $\left|\frac{W'(f_{n_0})}{k}\right| = 0,7, w_0 T_3 = 1$ and $\frac{T_1}{T_2} = \frac{T_2}{T_3} = x$. We find

whence

` 3K

a = 4.

Time constant T_3 can be selected from permissible value of voltages of pulsations at output of operational amplifier. Assuming that pulsations of voltage at output of operational amplifier are caused only by voltage of higher harmonics after the demodulator $(r_n)_{M,dM}$, we receive

$$(Je_{aut})_{a} = -k_{J} \left[(e_{a})_{M-MM} + k_{I} e_{a} \right]$$

where $e_{r_1} = (\Delta e_{uut})_n \frac{Y_2}{Y_2 + Y_1}$ is variable component of voltage at integrating point; $(e_u)_{M-1M} = \frac{(e^{-k_u} + e^{-})k^{-k_{2M}}}{w_u T_2}$ — voltage of pulsations at output of M-DM amplifier; e^{-} — voltage of interferences, brought to input of a-c amplifier of M-DM

channel;

No. of Concession, Name

$$k_1$$
 -- amplification factor of integrating and output cascades;

 $e_{i}^{i} = -\frac{(e_{m(i)})_{p-1}}{k_{j}k_{M-1}M}$ - constant component of voltage at integrating point; w_{n} - frequency of modulation.

Considering these expressions, we receive finally

$$|(\Delta \sigma_{aus})_{n}| = \frac{(\sigma_{aus})_{max} + k_{1}k^{-}k_{2u}\sigma^{-}}{\omega_{u}T_{a}\left[1 - k_{1}k_{2}\frac{Y_{a}}{Y_{1} + Y_{3}}\right]}.$$

whence

$$T_{3} = \frac{k_{1}k^{2}k_{1}}{(r_{mu})_{mu}} + 1 \qquad (4.34)$$

The less the required quantity T_{3} , the wider the passband of N-DN amplifier and the higher the frequency, with which the upper channel of amplification should enter and, consequently, the less the time constant T_1 . The last very considerable affects reduction of return of time amplifier to normal conditions after overloading. As follows from (4.34), to decrease T_3 it is expedient to increase frequency w_{m} .

For the circuit of Goldberg $k_1 = 1$ and T_3 other conditions equal, will be considerably larger. Indeed

$$T_{yr} = \frac{k_{y}k_{f}^{-}k_{yu}\frac{\sigma^{2}}{(\sigma_{gaus})_{gaus}} + 1}{\frac{1}{(k\sigma_{gaus})_{u}} - \frac{\gamma_{1}}{Y_{1} + Y_{2}}}$$

"Subscript -1. in subsequent formulas indicates Goldberg circuit.

The ratio of time constant T_3 for the circuit of parallel channels of amplification and Goldberg's circuit will be

$$\frac{T_1}{T_{gf}} = \frac{h^2}{h_f^2} \cdot \frac{1}{h_1}.$$

Thus, for example, for operational amplifier of an installation of type EMU-8 (Fig. 58; B. Ya. Kogan, A. A. Maslov, D. Ye. Polonnikov [1]) we have $\frac{k_{\perp}}{k_{\Gamma}} = 20$, and $k_{\perp} = 1000$, then

$$\frac{T_1}{T_1\Gamma} = 0.02$$

In real circuits this ration attains a magnitude 0.001, since by considerations of stability of the Goldberg circuit value T_{μ} found from the given conditions, must considerably increase.



Fig. 58. Fundamental circuit of operational amplifier with parallel channels of amplification of installation of type FMU-8.

KET: (a) Channel of amplification of high frequency; (b) Integrating and output cascades; (c) Input; (d) Output; (e) Channel of amplification of low frequency N-DN. Further development of circuit of parallel channels of amplification forced us already in circuit of modified amplifier FMU-8 (Fig. 58) to depart from initial structural diagram of Fig. 57. To guarantee stability of low frequency with a very large amplification (10^6) it was necessary to remove filter R₂C₂, and for increase of stability reserve to apply a third channel (C₈ — R₁₅), connecting output of first cascade with input of integrating cascade.

Application as demodulator of semiconductor diodes $(D_1 - D_2)$ allowed us to lower requirement of accuracy of adjustment of the contact vibrapack-modulator (VP). In modified amplifier EMU-8 we managed significantly to lower influence of change of feeding voltage by decrease of time constant $R_{11}C_7$, $R_{12}C_9$ and application in feed circuits of first cascades of decoupling filter $R_9 - C_6$ with large time constant (2 sec).

Use of differential integrating castade, grounding of median point of incandescence, additional shielding, and also correction at high frequencies promoted essential decrease of level of interferences and expansion of the passband.

Main characteristics of such an amplifier: the passband when $e_{out} = 100 \text{ v}$ (peak) and attenuation is not more than 3 db constitutes 15 kc; level of pulsations when k = 1 constitutes 10 mv (peak); amplification factor at zero frequency of the order of 1.2.10⁶; zero shift with change of net voltage by $\pm 10\%$ is equal to 20 mv. In spite of application for feeding the amplifier of two unstabilized power supplies, drift of the zero level, brought to the input in scale amplifier regime, does not exceed 40 mv, and in integrator regime 2 mv for 100 sec.

Amplifiers of this type, besides the installation EMU-8, are used also in the set of nonlinear blocks NNB (see table XIV Appendix II).

In last years were offered circuits of amplifiers with parallel channels of amplification (D. Ye. Polonnikov [1]), for which cascades of high-frequency channel were as if disconnected in series with increase of frequency. Such a principle allows us considerably to expand the passband of amplifier. It can be considered a

-138-

result of development of the method, known from theory of automatic control, of supplying of signal in advance, first applied for broad-band inverter by C. S. Deering [1].



Fig. 59. Fundamental circuit of operational amplifier (TU-10) with parallel channels of amplification of installation of type EMU-10. KEY: (a) Input; (b) Output; (c) From second amplifier.

In Fig. 59 is brought diagram of amplifier of TU-10, developed in Academy of Sciences of USSR for the EMU-10. In this diagram the principle of series eliminating cascades is used partially. In upper channel the signal from integrating point proceeds only to first cascade $(.7_{12})$ possessing wide passband. From output of first cascade signal is branched to second cascade $(.7_{12})$ and through C to ing tegrating cascade $(.7_{12})$. Thus, with increase of frequency the whole signal moves to integrating cascade, passing (as if eliminating) the second cascade. Time constant of first cascade due to application of cathode follower is low red to $8 \cdot 10^{-2}$ sec, and time constant of integrating cascade is of order of $3 \cdot 10^{-7}$ sec. Comparatively small magnitude of time constants of these cascades, and also application of correcting circuits ensure sufficient reserve of stability with a wide passband.

Separating capacitors C_2 , C_5 , C_7 , C_8 and resistances R_2 , R_6 , R_9 , R_{12} are selected in such a way as to ensure stability at low frequency and correct union of

passbands of the channels. Output cascade is made by the circuit of the economic cascade without a signinvertor. Amplifier M-DM and upper channel are fed from stabilized voltages, the remaining cascades from an unestabilized source.

Main technical characteristics of such amplifier:

との見てきましたのでいたとうたいとう

1. Drift of zero level in scale amplifier regime, brought to input (when k = 10), is 30 microvolt in 8 hours.

2. Drift of zero level in integrator regime when RC = 1 constitutes 15 millivolts for 1000 sec (1 millivolt per 100 sec).

3. Interferences (background) at output with transmission factor k = 1 constitute 5 millivolt (peak vigue).

4. Linearity in output voltage of + 145 v when load is 10 kilohm.

5. Amplification factor of open d-c amplifier (1 to 2) \cdot 10⁶, at frequency 200 c $8 \cdot 10^4$ and at frequency 10 kc 600.

6. Passband (slope of gain-frequency response at 30%) when $r_{env} = 100 v$, load 10 kilohm and shunting capacitance 600 pf constitutes 65 kilocycles.

7. Maximum permissible capacitances at output of amplifier are not less than 0.1 microfarad, at integrating point not less than 0.1 microfarad (with output capacitance 1000 pf).

CHAPTER V

DIOUE FUNCTIONAL GENERATORS

1. General Information.

Nonlinear computing elements or functional generators are devices, reproducing given nonlinear functions of one, two or many arguments.

A particular case of a functional generator of two arguments are devices, intended to execute factoring and dividing operations. In view of the great importance of these devices they are usually separated into a special group and considered separately. Equally subject to separate consideration are devices for reproduction of discontinuous nonlinear functions, to which consideration of typical nonlinear characteristics leads CAP (Automatic Control System).

Functional generators it is possible to divide into general-purpose and specialised devices. General-purpose functional generators allow us with the help of one device mechanism, by rebuilding, to reproduce various functional dependences. Specialised generators are adapted (by principle of action) for reproduction of only one specific dependence. Examples of specialized functional generators are devices, using the quadratic nature of dependence of plate current (with small plate currents) on grid voltage of a three-electrode tube (A. Ya. Breytoart {1}) or the logarithmic dependence of grid voltage on grid current (M. J. Tucker [1]). In practice of construction of electronic integrators and analogs, and also separate computers both types of devices found application. "pecialized devices have advantage over general-purpose only when, other conditions equal, they are simpler in construction, are cheap in manufacture and are reliable in operation.

- . -

Depending upon the character of passage of signals through the functional generator we distinguish devices of open type, for which signals pass directly from input to output, and devices of compensational type, reproducing the given function only with coverage by negative feedback. Advantage of compensational devices consists in lowering the influence of external and internal disturbances and oscillations of parameters on accuracy of operation.

Depending upon method of physical realization we distinguish devices made with electron tubes, electron-beam tubes, electromechanical servo systems with functional potentiometers (G. M. Zhdanov [1]) or specially contoured came (N. Ye. Kobrinskiy [1]), etc. Electronic functional generators as compared with electromechanical ones possess this advantage, that with equal accuracy they have a significantly wide passband and are less labor-consuming in manufacture and setting up.

Use of functional generators in combination with linear computing elements allows us with the help of electronic analogs to conduct investigation also of nonlinear CAP. In last years very simple functional generators became widely used also in equipment of automatic control. Here they used for improvement of dynamic properties of the CA^D (A. Ya. Lerner [1], A. A. Fel'dbaum [2]).

Main requirements, presented to functional generators of electronic analogs, it is possible to reduce to the following:

1. Functional generation should be executed for input magnitudes, given in the form of d-c voltages, with a total range of change ± 100 v.

2. Input impedance of functional generator should not be lower than 10 to 50 kilohms, output no more than 10 to 20 ohms.

Functional generator should possess sufficient output power for convenience of union with other elements.

3. Reproduction of given function should be carried out with accuracy of at least 1 - 2% of full scale.

4. Noise content in oucput voltage (direct current) should not be greater than

5 to 10 millivolts (peak value).

5. Functional generators must reproduce unambiguous and multivalue nonlinear dependences, and also nonlinear dependences, reduced to elementary functions and obtained from experiment.

5. It is necessary to ensure possibility of reproduction of nonlinear dependences with low and very large values of first derivative, and also non-monotonic functions with a large number of extrema.

It is natural that one construction of a functional generators can not satisfy all the enumerated requirements simultaneously.

During construction of functional generator is essential selection of the most suitable method of presentation of the function given for reproduction. Here can be used approximate methods, for example, assignment of function in the form of a series, by a totality of poinet on foundaries of discrete intervals of change of the argument with corresponding interpolation between these points (for example, piecewise-linear approximation). Last, the function can be given in the form of a pattern or curve, drawn on paper.

In recent years from the large variety of functional generators, functional generators built on diodes and electron-beam tubes rece /ed the biggest application. Therefore, in the future account main attention is allotted to these types of func-tional generators.

2. Diode General-Purpose Functional Generators.

Diode functional generators are constructed in the form of general-purpose or specialized devices. They represent in most cases parametric devices, using piecewise-linear approximation of the given function.

Let y = f(x) be an unambiguous continuous function everywhere on the considered interval, with the possible exception of a finite number of points of discontinuity of type 1.

-1.1.7-

Then this function it is possible approximately to present by expression

$$y = y_0 + a_0 x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i (x - x_{\mu_i + i_i}), \qquad (5.1)$$

where

100 A

$$b_i = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } x \leq x_{\text{Harry}}, \\ B_i = \text{const when } x > x_{\text{Harry}}, \end{cases}$$

and x_{max} is the value of x at beginning of every segment of the decomposition of the argument.

When initial variables in an electronic analog are in the form of d-c voltage, after transformation of variables $y = M_y e_{\max}, y_y = M_y e_{\max}, x = M_x e_{\max}, x_{\max} = M_x e_{\max}$, we receive

$$e_{\text{plat}} = \frac{M_{y_0}}{M_y} e_0 + \frac{M_y}{M_y} a_0 e_{ix} - \sum_{i}^{n} b_i \frac{M_y}{M_y} (e_{ax} - e_{ix_i}^{0}); \qquad (5.2)$$

$$if \quad \frac{M_{y_0}}{M_y} = \frac{M_r}{M_y} = 1, \quad \text{then}$$

$$e_{\text{max}} = e_u + a_u e_{\text{max}} + \sum_{i=1}^n b_i (e_{n_i} - e_{n_i}^n). \quad (5.3)$$

Summation of voltages in expression (5.3) is most simply executed on resistors, proceeding to summation of currents proportional to each component separately. Indeed, the first two currents can be obtained with the help of ordinary circuits, consisting of ohmic resistances, and the last with the help of circuits which are a combination of ohmic resistances and diodes.

In Fig. 60 are presented four diagrams of diode elements, ensuring required current characteristics with positive tangent of angle of inclination. For obtaining current characteristics with negative slope these diagrams must be supplemented with sign-inverting amplifier at the input of the considered diode elements. Here current characteristics will be a mirror image of characteristics of Fig. 60 with respect to the axis of ordinates.

-144-



Fig. 60. Diode elements and their current characteristics.

Synthesizing such diode elements in the diagram, for example, depicted in Fig. 61, we can obtain total current in output resistor, equal to

$$I_{1} = I_{0} + I_{1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} I_{1i}$$

If we disregard internal resistance of the diode, then

$$I_{0} = (e_{0} - e_{ux}) \cdot I_{0} = I_{1} = (e_{ux} - e_{uy}) \cdot A_{1},$$

$$I_{u} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } a_{1i}e_{ux} \leq z_{1}e_{i0} + e_{uy}, \\ A_{1i}(a_{1i}e_{ux} - z_{1}e_{u0} - e_{uy}) & \text{when } a_{1i}e_{uy} > z_{1}e_{i0} + e_{uy}, \end{cases}$$

where eom is the reference voltage. Output voltage of circuit here will be

where

$$A_{\rm m} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm m}}, \quad A_{\rm b} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm b}}, \quad A_{\rm b} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm b}}, \quad A_{\rm b} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm b}}, \quad A_{\rm b} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm b}}$$

As follows from comparison of expressions (5.4) and (5.3), with the help of the considered circuit we can not correctly reproduce the given relationship, since with change of the number of switched on diode elements $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n}$ in the last addend of denominator also changes.



Fig. 61. Diagrams of summation of currents of diode elements.

Obviously, in the given case, just as for linear computing elements with parametric compensation, it would have been possible by means of addition of amplifier and positive feedback to compensate error, introduced by considered circuit. In Fig. 42 is brought a diagram of such a functional generator, offered and developed in the laboratory of L. I. Gutenmakher (L. G. Kogan [1]).



Fig. 62. Diagram of functional generator with parametric compensation of error of summation.

In this circuit feedback voltage is passed in such a way that it affects currents of all diode elements.

As before,

$$I_{1} = I_{0} + I_{1} + \sum_{i}^{n} I_{ii}, \qquad (5.5)$$

and

$$I_{0} = (e_{0} - e_{out}) A_{0}, \qquad I_{1} = (e_{ot} - e_{out}) A_{1},$$

$$I_{1i} = \begin{cases} 0 \text{ when } a_{1i}e_{ot} - a_{i}e_{ot} + e_{out} (1 - 3K_{1}), \\ A_{1i}(a_{1i}e_{ot} - a_{i}e_{ot} - e_{out} + 3K_{1}e_{out}) \text{ when } \\ a_{1i}e_{ot} > ae_{ot} + e_{out} (1 - 3K_{1}). \end{cases}$$

After substituting these values of currents in equation (5.5) we receive

$$e_{out} = \frac{e_{s}A_{0} + e_{b}A_{1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{i} \left(a_{i}e_{0} - 2e_{i} \right)}{A_{i} + A_{0} + A_{1} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{i} \left(1 - e_{i} \right)}$$
(5.6)

If one were to select 3 in such a manner that $3K_1 = 1$, the denominator of expression (5.6) no longer will depend on the number of coupled diode elements and then output voltages ϵ_{out} will with accuracy up to a constant scale factor reproduce the given relationship (5.3).

However, such a functional generator possesses a number of peculiarities, preventing its direct use in d-c electronic analogs. Among these peculiarities should be mentioned:

 Necessity of additional stabilized power source (reference voltage (...), for which no terminal is grounded.

2. Necessity of stabilization of amplification factor of integrating amplifier.

3. Impossibility of direct connection with operational amplifiers with a common grounded pole.

In Fig. 63 is presented a diagram of a functional generator (A. A. Fel'dbaum and L. N. Fitsner [1]), free from the indicated deficiencies and possessing additional possibility of obtaining of two nonlinear functions from one argument. The basis of the circuit are diode elements, from whose output is removed not current, as in

-... -

the preceding example, but voltage. Voltages of diode elements are summed by operational amplifiers 1, 2, 3 and 4. All diode elements are identical (Fig. 64) and there is assumed identical coupling of the diode in the circut. The characteristic of such a diode element taking into account resistance of diode can be received from the expression for current l_{i_i}



Fig. 63. Diagram of general-purpose diode functional generator with use of integrating d-c amplifiers.

Indeed,

あっていたのであった

12

$$I_{11} = \frac{e_{01}R_1 + e_{00}R_1}{R_1R_2 + (r_0 + R_1)(R_1 - R_1)}$$

where for a vacuum diode

$$r_{a} \approx \begin{cases} 500 \text{ ohms} & \text{when } r_{as} = r_{on} \frac{R}{R_{s}} \\ \sim 50 \text{ megohas} & \text{when } r_{as} = r_{on} \frac{R}{R_{s}} \end{cases}$$

Using these expressions, we find

$$e_{aut}^{*} = I_{1i}R_{a}3 = \begin{cases} 0 \text{ when } e_{at} \ge \cdots e_{au} \frac{R_{1}}{R_{2}}, & (5.7) \\ \frac{(e_{at}R_{1} + e_{au}R_{1})R_{a}3}{R_{1}R_{2} + (e_{a} - R_{1})(R_{1} - R_{2})} \text{ when } e_{at} = e_{au} \frac{R_{1}}{R_{2}}. \end{cases}$$

Graphic presentation of this dependence $e_{aut} = f(e_{at})$ is shown in Fig. 64. As

*In this expression and further ... sust be placed with its sign.

follows from these relationships, input voltage, at which the diode opens, is determined by relationship $e_{au}^{n} = e_{on}^{\frac{f_{au}}{K_{2}}}$ and the slope of the resulting characteristic to the axis of abscissas — by expression

$$\tan t = \frac{R_1}{R_1R_2} + \frac{R_2}{(r_1 - R_1)(R_1 - R_2)} + \frac{R_3}{R_3}$$
 (5.8)



Fig. 64. Diode element and its current characteristic.

The whole characteristic is located only in the third quadrant. In order to obtain a characteristic in all four quadrants with the help of diode elements of only this type, it is necessary to resort to connecting at the output of signinverting amplifiers (Fig. 65).

As follows from expression (5.8) and Figure 55, the steepness of the characteristic of such a diode element

$$\frac{R_1R_1 (R_1, R_2)}{R_1R_2 (R_1 - R_1)(R_1 - R_2)}$$

depends both on resistances R_1 , R_2 and R_3 ,

and on setting of the divider at the output and transmission factors $K_{1,2}$, $K_{2,2}$ of out-

put integrating amplifiers.

Increase of steepness due to increase of k_1 and k_2 runs into difficulties, connected with the resulting lowering of the transmission factor of the didde element and increase of zero drift of integrating amplifiers.

Resistances R_1 and R_2 are selected from condition of decomposition of the argument on the given intervals (proceeding from the accepted accuracy of approximation). In general-purpose functional converters to decrease the number of adjustments they often make this decomposition uniform. Then for n segments of decomposition, of magnitude Δr_{a_1} each, we receive

$$LSe_{ab} = e_{ab} \frac{R_{ab}}{R_{bb}}, \qquad (5.3)$$

where i is the number of the considered segment of the decomposition of the argument.



Fig. 65. Current characteristics of diode elements, used in the circuit of Fig. 63.

Considering $R_{1i} + R_{i1} = R$, we receive $R_{2i} = R - R_{1i}$, and then on the basis of (5.9) we will have

$$R_{11} = R_{11} - \frac{1}{1 + \frac$$

when

$$\Delta r_{\rm ex} = 2.5 \, e_{\rm ex} - e_{\rm ex} \approx 25 \, e_{\rm ex} - R_{\rm ex} - \frac{i}{21} \, e_{\rm ex} - R_{\rm ex} - \frac{i}{21} \, e_{\rm ex} + \frac{i}{21$$

For various intervals in order of increase of number we receive:

$$R_{11} = \frac{1}{11}R_1$$
, $R_{12} = \frac{2}{12}R_2$, $R_{14} = \frac{\pi}{\pi + 10}R_2$

To lower the current, flowing through the diode with voltage on it, near sero, in the circuit is provided lowering of filement voltage to 5 v.

The general appearance of a general-purpose functional generator, made by the diagram of Fig. 63, is shown in Fig. 66. The face panel of the instrument is divided into two parts symmetric relative to the middle. On the panel are located handles of potentiometers, a switch and voltmeter, by which nonlinear functions $f_1 : r_{ss}$ and $f_2 : (r_{ss})$ are set up. During setting up the whole scale of input voltage, proportional to variable r_{ss} is divided into 40 equal intervals by the number of diode

elements in the circuit. At input terminals + x and - x is established voltage, corresponding to boundaries of intervals, and with the help of potentiometers of the given interval we establish by volta. r the required value of the function.





Fig. 66. General appearance of generalpurpose diode functional generator made by the diagram of Fig. 63.

In Fig. 67 is brought a diagram of a general-purpose diode generator (I. M. Vittenberg [2]) made with the described diode elements, differing by the fact that in it are provided possibilities of changing the sign of output voltage and additional adjustment of the relationship between R_1 and R_2 to obtain nonuniform breakdown of the argument. As compared with the circuit considered above besides the quantity of operational amplifiers it requires two reference-voltage sources, doubled quantity of potentiometers and large quantity of switching equipment (toggle switches and change-over switches).

Total number of diode elements is lowered here to 12 which during supplying of input signal through resistance ard with a constant bias ensures 14 segments decomposition of the total scale of change of the argument. The diagram is composed in operation, since set-up of the given function requires a large number of switching operations, including the necessity of selecting the place of installation or diodes, and, as the preceding one, does not allow one to reproduce a function with great steepness.

Of great interest is the general-purpose diale-trieds functional generator (see A. A. Feltibaum, L. N. Fitsner [1]), providing reproduction of curves with steppeass up to 30 v/v. One modification of the circuit of such a functional generator is shown in Fig. 68. In this circuit is used a two-cascade d-c amplifier Y -1 controlled by divider $R_{12}, R_{12}, \dots, R_{2n-1}$ by output triede cascades T_1, T_2, \dots, T_n which with increase of input signal in turn open, and close the isodback circuit of amplifier Y - 1 through resistances $R_{21}, R_{22}, \dots, R_{2n}$. Output voltages of these triede cascades are limited by diodes T_1, T_2, \dots, T_n



Fig. 67. Diagram of general-purpose diede functional generator (industrial model).

Setting of the steepness of the characteristic of every diode-triode element is carried out by selection of corresponding magnitude $\frac{R_{10}}{R_0}$ and can be lowered by divider R_1 . Noment of beginning of limitation is established by assignment of negative bias on divider $R_{11}, R_{12}, \ldots, R_{2n}, R_{2n+1}$. Analogous circuits of functional generators are used in electronic analog, MM-1 and MM-8.

The considered circuit can work only with positive input signals. When $e_{si} < 0$ at the input of amplifier Y - 1 there is connected through R₀ a voltage

of "support" + 100 v (see Fig. 68). Us of the principle of feedback allows one to increase accuracy and steepness of the reproduced nonlinear dependences.



Fig. 68. Diagram of a general-purpose functional generator for reproduction of functions with great slope.

Following the method of synthesis of diode circuits, presented in Chapter VI, it is possible to carry out reproduction of nonlinear dependences with the same steepness, but with use of diode elements alone.

3. Diode Specialized Functional Generators.

The considered diode general-purpose functional devices along equally with positive qualities (wide passband, comparatively low error of the order of 0.5-1%) have also essential deficiencies, consisting in the first place of the fact that they are excessively complicated in construction, require fulfillment of a large number of switching and regulating operations during adjustment on a given nonlinerity, introduce limitation in the permissible steepness of the reproduced function and difficulty during reproduction of nonmonotonic functions, sepecially in the case of several extrems.

During solution of technical problems, creation of various kinds of computers

__::-

and especially during investigation of systems of automatic control it is very often necessary to deal with nonlinearities, expressed by elementary functions (for example, $y = \sin x$, $y = \cos x$, $y = x^2$, $y = x^3$, etc.). Such nonlinear dependences, apparently, are better reproduced with the help of specialized devices, beforehand designed for the given nonlinear dependence and not requiring further adjustment during operation. Summation, multiplication and division of output signals of such nonlinear generators allows us to receive new nonlinear dependences, to expand the class of functions reproduced by these devices.

Method of construction of specialized devices should ensure simplicity of calculation, minimum elements, small cost and large operating stability and reliability.



Fig. 69. Functional diagram of a diode specialised functional device.

During projection and development of such devices it turned out to be more expedient to use another approach or, more correct, another treatment of the principle of work of the functional device, consisting of the fact that it is considered as an operational amplifier, furnished

with nonlinear converters of output and input voltages in corresponding currents. Indeed, for the diagram of Fig. 69 in a steady-state regime these equalities are correct:

$$I_{1} = f_{1}(e_{a1}, e_{s}),$$

$$I_{2} = f_{2}(e_{aax}, e_{s}),$$

$$I_{1} = I_{a} + I_{2}$$
(5.11)

and

$$e_{i} = R_{j}I_{j}.$$

$$e_{int} = -K_{i}e_{j}.$$
(5.12)

$$f_2(a_{\rm out}) = -f_1(a_{\rm out}). \tag{5.13}$$

Function $f_2(e_{sut})$ we call the current characteristic of the feedback circuit, and function $f_1(e_{st})$ the current characteristic of the input circuit of the operational amplifier. Relationship (5.13) is a more general equation of the considered functional device.

To satisfy conditions of static stability (presence of negative feelback) of such an operational amplifier it is necessary that

$$\frac{de_{\text{put}}}{de_i} \frac{df_y(e_{\text{put}})}{de_{\text{put}}} < 0.$$

Since

$$\frac{de_{\rm BWI}}{de_{\rm s}} = -K_{\rm y} < 0,$$

then this condition is reduced to

$$\frac{df_2\left(e_{aut}\right)}{de_{aut}} > 0.$$

If one were to have in mind, henceforth, consideration of diode converters, then it turns out to be to be expedient to translate the derived general relationship (5,13) into the language of conductance of the input circuit and feedback circuit.

Conductance of the circuit determines steepness of the reverse volt-ampere characteristic of this circuit. In the presence of a nonlinear volt-ampere characteristic, as takes place in the considered case, the concept of steepness as a ratio of current to voltage loses its meaning and should be replaced by the concept of steepness at a given point of a nonlinear curve.

Let us arbitrarily call $\frac{dI}{de} = Y(e)$ the differential conductance of a nonlinear cir- it. Then after differentiation of the fundamental equation (5.13) for e_{na} we receive

$$\frac{dl_{\mathfrak{P}}}{de_{\mathsf{DMI}}} \frac{de_{\mathsf{DMI}}}{de_{\mathsf{DI}}} = -\frac{df_1}{de_{\mathsf{DI}}}.$$

Since by definition

$$\frac{df_1}{de_{\text{out}}} = Y_1(e_{\text{out}}), \text{ and } \frac{df_1}{de_{\text{out}}} = Y_1(e_{\text{out}}).$$

-155-

that

$$de_{phr} = -\frac{Y_1(e_{pr})}{Y_2(e_{phr})} de_{pr}.$$
 (5.14)

Expression (5.14) is the equation of a nonlinear operational amplifier in differential form.

During piecewise-linear approximation for the i-th segment of the decomposition, differential relationship (5.14) should be replaced by a difference relationship:

$$\Delta e_{\text{swit}\,i} = - \frac{\Delta Y_{ii}}{\Delta Y_{2i}} \Delta e_{\text{st}\,i},$$

where

$$\Delta e_{\text{ox} i} = (e_{\text{ox}} - e_{\text{ox} i}^{n}),$$

$$\Delta e_{\text{out} i} = (e_{\text{out}} - e_{\text{out} i}^{n}),$$

$$\Delta Y_{1i} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } e_{\text{ox}} \leq e_{\text{ot} i}^{n}, \\ \Delta Y_{1i} = \text{const when } e_{\text{ox}} \geq e_{\text{ox} i}^{n}, \\ \Delta Y_{2i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \text{when } e_{\text{out}} \leq e_{\text{out} i}^{n}, \\ \Delta Y_{2i} = \text{const when } e_{\text{out}} \geq e_{\text{out} i}^{n}, \end{cases}$$

With n segments of the decomposition we receive

$$\sum_{i}^{n} \Delta Y_{2i} \Delta e_{out i} = -\sum_{i}^{n} \Delta Y_{1i} \Delta e_{ot i}$$
(5.15)

Expression (5.15) shows that nonlinear dependences thus will have only negative slope (located in the 2nd and 4th quadrants) and with their help it will be possible to reproduce only monotonic functions.

To reproduce nonlinear functions one should introduce negative conductance either at the input, or in the feedback circuit. As is known, negative conductance can be created only with the introduction of additional sources of emf. Therefore, for reproduction of nonlinear functions or monotonic functions with positive slope one must connect at the input or output of the main integrating amplifier signinverting amplifiers (Fig. 70s and Fig 70b). The circuit diagram of the sign-inverter

-156-

. •

at the input has this advantage, that here only one operational amplifier works as an adder.

When the given nonlinear dependence is such that the current characteristic of the input circuit or feedback circuit contains sections with constant value of current on a definite interval of change $c_{\mu\nu\nu}$ or $c_{\mu\nu}$ equation (5.15) should be written in the form

$$\sum_{i}^{n} \Delta Y_{i} \Delta e_{\text{swr}i} = -\sum_{i}^{n} (\Delta Y_{i} \Delta e_{\text{sr}i} + Y_{i} e_{in}).$$
(5.16)

where \mathbf{Y}_{01} is the conductance of the auxiliary circuit, taking two values: either $\mathbf{A} = \text{const}$, or $\mathbf{A} = 0$ depending upon values ϵ_{a_1} or $\epsilon_{a_{ML}}$.

Every component of the right and left part is reproduced by a diode element, an elementary circuit, made of a conductance, a gate and a reference-voltage source.

Types of diode elements. For synthesizing, specialized functional devices the above-considered diode elements (Fig. 65 and Fig. 67) turn out to be of little use, since they require excessively an large number of resistors. practically do not yield to design and hamper reproduction of functions with comparatively great steepness.





Fig. 70. Circuit diagrams of a signinverting amplifier for obtaining negative conductance. ZI - sign-inverting amplifier.

Lately for specialized devices there was offered use of the following types of diode elements:

1) diode elements with potentially grounded diodes (A. D. Talantsev [2]);

2) diode elements, made like limiters (V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. A. Maslov,

V. A. Trapesnikov [1]);

3) combined diode elements (see the same).

A diagram of a diode element with potentially grounded diodes is shown in Fig. 71a. If we disregard resistance of the diode in the conducting state as compared with resistances R_i and r_i and designate input voltage, with which the diode changes condustance (therm is switching of conductance to another step), by e_{min}^{*} then for the current characteristic we will receive the expression

$$I_{1i} = \begin{cases} \frac{e_{ax}}{R_{1i}} - \frac{e_{aa}}{r_{1i}} & \text{when } e_{ax} > e_{ax}^{a}, \\ 0 & \text{when } e_{ax} - e_{ax}^{a}, \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

Hence when $e_{ax} > e_{ax}^n$

$$\frac{dI_{11}}{de_{nx}} = \Delta Y_{11} = \frac{1}{R_{11}}.$$
 (5.18)

and relationship (5.17) takes the form

$$I_{11} = \begin{cases} e_{ax} \Delta Y_{11} - e_{ax} \Delta y_{1} & \text{when } e_{ax} \geq e_{ax}^{n} \\ 0 & \text{when } e_{ax} = e_{ax}^{n} \\ \end{cases}$$

where $\Delta y_i = \frac{1}{r_i}$.

Magnitude $e_{n_1}^n$ is determined from the condition of equality of the potential of point Σ_1 to the potential of point Σ . taken with accuracy sufficient for practice for zero, when summation of currents of diode elements is carried out by an integrating operational amplifier.

Therefore

$$e_{mi}^{n} = \frac{R_{i}}{r_{i}} e_{un} = \frac{\Delta y_{i}}{\Delta Y_{ii}} e_{un}.$$
 (5.19)



Fig. 71. Diagram of diode element with potentially grounded diodes.

From expression (5.19) it follows that e_{ax}^{n} can be equal to, greater and less than e_{ax} .

When $e_{ax} < e^a_{ax}$, voltage at integrating point Σ_1 is determined by the expression

$$e_{i_{1}} = e_{0i} \frac{\Delta Y_{i_{1}}}{\Delta Y_{i_{1}} + \Delta y_{i_{1}}} - e_{i_{0}} \frac{\Delta y_{i_{1}}}{\Delta Y_{i_{1}} + \Delta y_{i_{1}}}.$$
 (5.20)

Voltage e_{I_1} with increase of e_{I_1} will decrease. When $e_{I_1} = e_{I_1}$ the diode will open and potential of point Σ_1 will differ from the potential of point Σ by the magnitude of the voltage drop on the diode. This difference of potentials will constitute $\Delta U = I_{I_1} e_{\sigma}$. In the worst case, when $I_{11} = 0.2$ ma and $e_{\sigma} = 500$ ohme, $\Delta U = 0.1$ v. Therefore, during coupling of diode the integrating point Σ_1 approaches potentially to point Σ , and consequently, is as if potentially grounded.

With the help of such a diode element it is possible also to effect summation of several voltages, if to integrating point $\frac{1}{2}$, we join several voltages through identical conductances $\Delta Y = \frac{1}{2}$. Indeed, the current characteristic for the

-159-

circuit of Fig. 68b upon the former assumptions will be

$$I_{1i} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } e_{I_i} = 0, \qquad (5.21) \\ \left(\Delta Y \sum_{i}^{n} e_i - e_{in} \Delta y \right) & \text{when } e_{I_i} > 0, \qquad (5.22) \\ e_{I_i} = \frac{\Delta Y \sum_{i}^{n} e_i - e_{on} \Delta y}{\frac{1}{n} \Delta Y + \Delta y}, & \text{where } \Delta y = \frac{1}{r}. \end{cases}$$

Combination of several such diode cells allows us to effect functional generation of the sum of input voltages (especially valuable during creation of functional devices of two or more argument):

$$e_{\max} = \int \{(e_1 + e_2 + \dots + e_n)\}$$
(5.23)

In Fig. 72 are brought possible methods of connecting of diods elements with potentially grounded diodes, ensuring obtaining of current characteristics, located in all four quadrants. Change of character of current characteristic here is attained by change of sign of input signal (auxiliary amplifier), sign of support voltage and method of coupling of diode in the circuit. Circuits of diode elements thus obtained are divided into two groups (Fig. 72a and 72b): diode elements, working on exitching on, and diode elements, working on exitching of and the elements, working on switching on, are those for which with increase of input signal changes from zero to a certain constant value $(\Box M_{\mu})^{\prime}$. For diode elements, working on evitching off, with increase e_{in} conductance decreases a certain constant value $(\Box M_{\mu})^{\prime}$.

Calculation of parameters of the circuit of the considered diode elements with potentially grounded diodes does not cause difficulties. Indeed, after piecewiselinear approximation of the given nonlinear dependence (see Sect. 1 Chapter VI) we already know the values r_{ni} and γ_{i} and γ_{i} and therefore, for a selected value of

-1.60-





calculation reduces itself to determination of Δy_i by relationship (5.19).

$$\Delta y_{i} = -\frac{\Delta Y_{i} r_{i}^{*}}{r_{os}}$$
 (5.24)

where i is the number of the diode element.

The current characteristic of the considered diode element taking into account resistance of diode can be presented in the form

$$I_{1i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \text{when } e_{st} & e_{st+i}^n \\ \frac{e_{st} - e_{os}}{R_i} & \frac{R_i}{r_i} \\ \frac{R_i - r_o}{R_i - r_i} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \frac{R_i}{r_i} \end{pmatrix} \text{ when } e_{st} > e_{st+i}^n \end{pmatrix}$$

If one were to compare this expression for the current characteristic with equation (5.17), then one can be convinced that calculation of resistance of diode can be presented as a simultaneous change of R_i and r_i . Designating $R_i \pm r_o \left(1 \pm \frac{R_i}{r_i}\right) = R_i^*$. and $r_i \pm r_o \left(1 \pm \frac{r_i}{R_i}\right) = r_i^*$. It is possible to write the equation of current characteristic taking into account resistance of diode in the form

$$I_{1i} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } e_{a1} & e_{a1}^{n}, \\ \frac{e_{a1}}{R_{i}^{n}} - \frac{e_{a1}}{r_{i}} & \text{when } e_{a1} > e_{a1,i}^{n}, \end{cases}$$
(5.24a)

A peculiarity of the considered diode elements is the fact that at zero slope of their current characteristic $(\Delta Y_{i} = 0)$ current through the diode element also is equal to zero $(I_{i} = 0)$

Therefore, for reproduction of current characteristics, possessing sections with sero increment of current when $I_{i} \neq 0$, it is necessary to resort to switching on of an additional diode element with a current characteristic, compensating increase of current from all switched on diede elements of the circuit. This circunstance increases the total consumption of current in the circuit, the number of simultaneously switch on diede elements and error of reproduction of the given function. In similar cases large advantages can result from application of diede elements, built on the principle of a limiter. In Figs. 73a and 73b are brought two

typical circuits of such diode elements.



Fig. 73. Diagrams of diode elements, made like a limitor, and their current characteristics.

For the diagram of Fig. 73c with the accepted designations the equation of the current characteristic will be

 $I_{1i} = \begin{cases} \Delta y_i \left(\frac{\Delta y_i}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{y_i}{y_i} + \cos \theta}} \right) & (5.25) \\ \frac{\Delta y_i}{\sqrt{1 + 1 + \frac{y_i}{y_i} - \cos \theta}} & \text{when } e_{ix} < e_{ixi}^n \\ \frac{\Delta y_i}{\sqrt{1 + 1 + \frac{y_i}{y_i} - \cos \theta}} & \text{when } e_{ix} \ge e_{ixi}^n \end{cases}$

where

$$3y_{1} = \frac{1}{r_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{r_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3y_{1}}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3$$

If we disregard resistance of diode $r_s = \frac{1}{r_s}$, then expression for the current characteristic can be reduced to the form

$$I_{ii} = \begin{cases} \Delta Y_i e_{ax} & \text{when } e_{ax} < e_{ax}^{*} \\ \frac{\Delta y_i \Delta Y_i}{2y_i + \Delta Y_i} & \text{const when } e_{ax} = e_{ax}^{*} \end{cases}$$
(5.27)

As follows from these relationships, slope of current characteristic of this diode slowent depends only on the resistance, determined by ΔY_i . Therefore, its

-153-

calculation does not differ at all from calculation of diode element with potentially grounded diode. However, here there is an essential limitation, since $e_{at,i}^{\perp}$ must be less than $e_{at,i}$. Equation of current characteristic for the diode element, depicted in Fig. 73b will be

$$I_{1i} = \begin{cases} e_{ux} \Delta Y_i^* \text{ when } e_{ux} \supset e_{ux}^* \end{cases}$$

$$(5.28)$$

$$e_{ux} Y_{2i} \text{ when } e_{ux} > e_{ux}^*$$

where

$$e_{inl}^{*} = \frac{Y_{il} + Y_{jl}}{Y_{il}} e_{on}.$$

$$AY_{i}^{*} = \frac{1}{R_{yl} + R_{il}}, \quad Y_{yl} = \frac{1}{R_{yl}}, \quad Y_{il} = \frac{1}{R_{yl}}.$$
(5.29)
(5.29)
(5.30)

From expression (5.29) it follows that voltage of switching for such divide element always should be larger than σ_{out} . Using relationships (5.29) and (5.30), it is possible always to determine required values of $R_{\underline{1}\underline{1}}$ and $R_{\underline{2}\underline{1}}$ by the given values of $c_{\underline{1}\underline{1}}^{*}$ and $\Delta Y_{\underline{1}}^{*}$. Divide element of this type allows one to decrease number of remistances in circuit with reproduction of odd characteristics. Indeed, if in the circuit of Fig. 73b we were to switch in still another divide with reference voltage

 r_{ee} as shown in Fig. 73c, then we can obtain a limiter with bilateral limitation, and such a doubled diode element will work during both signs of input signal, not requiring additional diodes for computation of input signal is sign and using the same resistances R₁₁ and R₂₃.

Diode elements shown in Figs. 73a, 73b and 73c are elements, working on switching off. Other possible methods of coupling of diode elements of this type are shown in Fig. 74. As follows from the figure, diode elements of the limiter type, working on switching on, always up to moment of switching on give at the integrating point a constant current component. Diode elements, assembled by diagram I, can be used with switching voltages from 0 to e_{an} and by diagram II — for switching voltages, warying from e_{an} to e_{an} and by diagram II — for switching voltages,

-164-



Fig. 74. Possible methods of coupling diode elements of the limiter type. NEY: (a) Diagram.

Combined diode elements are the totality of various types of diode elements. Actually they are not really an element, but a diode circuit, reproducing a nonlinear characteristic of simplest form. In Figs. 75a and 75b are brought two examples of combined diode elements and their resultant current characteristics. Diode element, depicted in Fig. 75a, is a combination of a diode limiter, made by diagram I $(\mathcal{A}_1, r, \mathcal{R}_1 \text{ and } \mathcal{R}_2)$, with diode limiter, made by diagram II (\mathcal{A}_2 , \mathcal{R}_1 and \mathcal{R}_2). Diode element, presented in Fig. 75b, consists in turn of a diode element with potentially grounded diode (\mathcal{A}_1 , r, \mathcal{R}_1 and \mathcal{R}_2) and a diode limiter, made by diagram II (\mathcal{R}_1 , \mathcal{R}_2 and \mathcal{A}_2).



of both types of doubled diode elements shows that their distinction consists of the fact that in current characteristic of first circuit there is initial current, different from zero. This current can be compensated by supplying additional current at the integrating point from a reference voltage through a corresponding resistance. During use of the second circuit it is possible in the same way to displace the characteristic along the axis of ordinates.

Comparison of current characteristics

<u>Circuits of divde generators</u>. Usually during construction of the circuit of a nonlinear generator separate divde elements are connected in parallel. This means that current at the integrating point of the operational amplifier at a given voltage of the argument, is equal to the sum of currents, set to this point by every divde element under the influence of the voltage of argument and the reference voltage. Thus, for example, during construction

-166-



Fig. 76. Diagrams or connection of diode elements (with potentially grounded diodes), working on switching on.

of a circuit only on diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, working on switching on, we have

$$I_{z} = \sum_{i}^{*} \pm \Delta Y_{i} \left(e_{ax} - e_{ax}^{*} \right), \qquad (5.31)$$

where

$$\Delta Y_i = \begin{cases} A_i \text{ when } e_{ax} > e_{ax}^{a} \\ 0 \text{ when } e_{ax} \leq e_{ax}^{a} \end{cases}$$

and k is the number of simultaneously switched-on diode elements.

When en = ent man

$$I_{\rm X} = I_{\rm X max} = \sum_{i}^{n} \pm \Delta I_{i} \Delta e_{ax\,i}, \qquad (5.32)$$
$$\Delta e_{ax\,i} = e_{ax, max} - e_{ax\,i}^{n}$$

where n is the total number of diode elements. When $e_{s_1} = 0$, $I_1 = 0$.



Fig. 77. Circuit for reproduction of even functions.

Current characteristics, which can be obtained with the help of such elements, are presented in Fig. 76a and Fig. 76b. By change of magnitude r_1 in first diode element characteristics can be displaced along the axis of abscissas a required

.

magnitude. In particular, characteristics start from the origin of coordinates, as this is shown on these figures, when $\ell_1 \rightarrow \infty$. i.e., with disconnecting of reference voltage from first diode element. Shift of current characteristics along the axis of ordinates parallel to themselves is attained by addition of a constant current component by means of connection of a source of constant (reference) voltage through constant resistance to integrating point. Considered circuits give build-up of differential conductance with increase of input voltage. Therefore, they are directly useful for reproduction of monotonic functions with positive value of second derivative (with respect to absolute value of change of argument).

During reproduction of even functions it is possible for two quadrants to use one diode circuit, supplying it additionally with commutating diodes, connecting to the input of the circuit always a voltage of the same sign (Fig. 77).



Fig. 78. Circuit for reproduction of odd functions.
During reproduction of odd functions it is necessary to use in every quadrant its own diode circuit. Transition from one circuit to another is carried out here automatically (Fig. 78). If on first interval of change of argument it is necessary to have current characteristic, whose slope is different from zero, and if with this aim first diode elements are replaced by resistances, then it is necessary to connect to the input of the circuit a commutating diode cell as shown in Fig. 78 by the dotted line.

During use of diode elements of the same type, but working on switching off, we receive

$$I_{z} = \sum_{i}^{k} (\pm \Delta y_{i} e_{on} \pm \Delta Y_{i} e_{ox}). \qquad (5.33)$$

and

$$\Delta y_i := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{r_i} \text{ when } e_{ax} < e_{ax,i}^n \\ 0 \text{ when } e_{ax} > e_{ax,i}^n \end{cases}$$
$$\Delta Y_i = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{R_i} \text{ when } e_{ax} < e_{ax,i}^n \\ 0 \text{ when } e_{ax} > e_{ax,i}^n \end{cases}$$

when

$$e_{ax} = e_{ax, max}, \quad l_x = 0,$$

and when

$$p_{\text{ot}} = 0, \quad I_{\text{S}} = I_{\text{S} \text{ max}} = \sum_{1}^{n} \pm \Delta y_i e_{nn}.$$

Current characteristics, corresponding to expression (5.33), are shown in Fig. 79 for all four quadrants with various parameters of the circuit. They give decrease of differential conductance with increase of absolute values of input signal and therefore, are directly useful for reproduction of nonlinear dependences with negative values of second derivative. As in preceding case, by addition of direct current at integrating point it is possible to shift considered current characteristics along the axis of ordinates up or down. As example, let us consider reproduction

-170-

of nonlinear dependence

Current characteristics of input circuit and feedback circuit will be:

$$I_1 = 10Y_2 \sqrt{e_{sur}}$$
$$I_2 = Y_2 e_{surr}$$

Character of change of differential conductance is determined by relationship

$$Y_1 = \frac{dI_1}{de_{or}} = \frac{5Y_1}{Ve_{or}}.$$

Magnitude I_{1} decreases with increase of e_{xx} Consequently, for reproduction of given nonlinear dependence one should use diede elements, working on switching on, ensuring positive value of differential conductance. However, in given case when $e_{xx} = 0$, $I_{1} = 0$, and when $e_{xx,max} = 100 \text{ v}$, $I_{1} = 100Y_{2v}$



Fig. 79. Current characteristics of circuits, consisting of parallel conection of diode elements (with potentially grounded diodes), working on switching off.

Although parallel connection of diode elements with potentially grounded diodes. working on switching off, ensures required character of change of conductance with change of input signal, it does not give coincidence of current characteristics. since when $e_{nx} = 0$, $I_x = I_{x max}$ and when $e_{ax} = e_{ax, max}$, $I_1 = 0$. In order to receive coincidence of given and obtained current characteristics, it is necessary to carry out shift of current characteristics by supplying at integrating point an additional constant current component, equal to value of l_1 and $e_{n1} = 0$ for a circuit of purely parallel connection of these diode elements.

-171-



Fig. 80. Method of reproduction of dependence by $l_{z} - 10Y_{z} V_{e}^{-10Y_{z}}$ diode elements (with potentially grounded diodes), working on switching off. The circuit of a diode nonlinear generator thus obtained is shown in Fig. 80. Here for simplification is brought approximation by four diode elements. Required quantity of diode elements and initial data for calculation of their parameters are determined after piecewiselinear approximation (see Section 1, Chapter VI).

Current characteristic in Fig. 80, can be obtained also by diode elements of limiter type and working on switching off. Here there is not required additional shift of the characteristic and there do not appear accompanying increase of consumption

of current by the circuit and growth of error for small input signal values. During construction from these diode elements of a circuit one must on the first two segments of the decomposition (for which $e_{sti}^* \leq e_{os}$) apply diode elements, made according to diagram I, and for the last two segments — ones made by diagram II (see Fig. 74b). During reproduction of the last segment of the decomposition it is possible to replace the diode element a resistor, connected to the integrating point and input signal. The circuit of such a diode converter for reproduction of nonlinear dependence of the above-considered example is shown in Fig. 81.

Equation of the current characteristic of the circuit, composed of diode elements of limiter type, working on switching off, can be found on the basis of (5.27) and (5.28) from expression

$$h = \begin{cases} \sum_{1}^{m} \Delta Y_{i} e_{n1} + \sum_{m+1}^{n} \Delta Y_{i}^{*} e_{n1} & \text{when } e_{n2} < e_{n1}^{*}, \\ \sum_{1}^{m} \Delta Y_{i} e_{n1,i}^{*} + \sum_{m+1}^{n} \Delta Y_{i}^{*} e_{n1,i}^{*} & \text{when } e_{n2} \ge e_{n1,i}^{*}, \end{cases}$$
(5.34)

where m is the number of dicde elements, made by diagram I, and n is the total number of diode elements.



Fig. 81. Circuit of connection of diode elements of limiter type, working on switching off, for reproduction of dependence $r_{2} = 10r_{2} V r_{ex}$.

Here

As follows from the expression, with growth of absolute value of input signal total differential conductance of the circuit falls and when $r_{ex} = r_{ex} max}$ conductance $Y_1 = 0$ and

$$I_{\mathbf{X}} = \sum_{1}^{\infty} \Delta Y_i e_{\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}i}^{\mathbf{x}} + \sum_{\mathbf{x}\neq 1}^{n} \Delta Y_i e_{\mathbf{x}\mathbf{x}i}^{\mathbf{x}}$$

When $e_{ox} = 0$ the circuit gives:

$$Y_z = Y_{\max z} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta Y_i + \sum_{n+1}^{n} \Delta Y_i, \quad I_z = 0.$$

For a circuit, composed of diode elements of limiter type, but working on switching on, the expression for the resultant current characteristic can be written in the form

$$l_{\Sigma} = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{e_{i:n}}{R_i + r_i} + \sum_{m+1}^{n} \frac{e_{i:n}}{R_{2i}} & \text{when } e_{n\Sigma} = e_{n\Sigma i}^{n}, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \Delta Y_i e_{n\Sigma} + \sum_{n+1}^{n} \Delta Y_i^* e_{n\Sigma} & \text{when } e_{n\Sigma} > e_{n\Sigma i}^{n}. \end{cases}$$

 $\Delta Y_{i}^{*} = \frac{1}{R_{ii} + R_{2i}}, \text{ and } \Delta Y_{i} = \frac{1}{R_{i}}.$

In considered case total differential conductance of circuit increases with increase of absolute value of input signal.

When

$$e_{os} = 0, \quad Y_{1} = 0,$$

$$I_{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{e_{os}}{R_{i} + r_{i}} + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{e_{om}}{R_{2}}.$$

$$Y_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta Y_i + \sum_{m+1}^{n} \Delta Y_i^*.$$

As in earlier considered cases, it is possible by coupling to the integrating point of an additional constant current component to compensate initial displacement of the characterisitc.

The preceding shows that synthesizing of circuits of nonlinear generators from considered diode elements can be carried out, proceeding from given the character of change of differential conductance and the initial and finite values of current, sent by the circuit to the integrating point. The first condition allows us to explain what kind of circuit (based on switching on or switching off) of diede element of considered type one should use, and the second gives certain indications of the type of diode element which one should apply or about character of shift of total current characteristic.

Final selection of type of diode element can be made proceeding from analysis of errors introduced by diode elements of various types, and taking into account necessity of obtaining parameters of circuit, not exceeding permissible limits. Thus, by conditions of work of operational amplifiers feeding the circuit of the nonlinear generator, total consumption of current must not exceed 10 ms. Therefore, minimum values of resistances r_i , R_i , R_{1i} and R_{2i} should be selected in such a manner that the equavalent input impedance of diode circuit is lower than 10 kilohms. Here quantities r_i , R_i , R_{1i} and R_{2i} will be greater than 10 kilohms and, consequently, error from final resistances of diodes in the straight direction will be negligible. The upper limit of these resistances is also limited by presence of leaks in the circuit, which for large resistances develop more sharply, and by technical difficulties of selection of required resistances. In units developed by the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, the upper limit for these resistances constitutes 5 msgohms, and the lower 50 to 100 kilohms.

-174-

CHAPTER VI

PRINCIPLES OF THEORY OF DIODE FUNCTIONAL GENERATORS

1. Determining the Law of Decomposition of the Axis of an Argument and Values of Differential Conductance of a Circuit on Every Segment During Piecewise-Linear Approximation

Problem of piecewise-linear approximation of nonlinear function $e_{sut} = e_{f(re_{st})^{-1}}$ consists in finding a series of fixed values $e_{st,1}^{n} e_{st,2}^{n} \dots e_{st,n}^{n}$ which provides approximation of broken line with vertices $e_{f(re_{st,1}^{n})} e_{f(re_{st,2}^{n})} \dots e_{f(re_{st,n}^{n})}^{-1}$ to curve $e_{f(re_{st})}$ in such a manner that on the whole interval of change of e_{st} absolute error of approximation of the function does not exceed a given value $\Delta e_{sut} = e_{rt}^{-1}$

Of function $\sqrt{(z_{ext})}$ it is assumed that it is unambigous and continuous in the given interval of change of e_{xx} and has a continuous first derivative everywhere on it, with the exception of, perhaps, a finite number of points of discontinuity of the first kird.

In such a formulation the problem of piecewise-linear approximation present for every interval $e_{n+1}^n = e_{n+2}^n$ the problem of approximation of the given function $e_{n+1} = e_{n+1}^n$ by a ploynomial of the first degree. As is known, error of such approximation is determined by the remainder of the interpolating formula.

For Newton's interpolating formula during linear interpolation the remainder

* . is the scale of the function, : - the scale of the argument.

will have the form

$$R(e_{ax}) = \frac{e_{ax}(1)}{2!} (e_{ax} - e_{ax,k}^n)(e_{ax} - e_{ax,k+1}^n). \tag{6.1}$$

where $e_{\max}(i)$ is the value of second derivative at a certain point inside interval $e_{\max k+1}^n = e_{\max k}^n$

From analysis of formula (6.1) it follows that $R(e_{st})$ will a value of maximum modulo when $\tilde{e}_{sux}(i)$ and expression $[(e_{px} - e^n_{sx,k})(e_{sx} - e^n_{sx,k+1})]$ simultaneously attain their maximum. For that worst case we obtain

$$|R(e_{st})|_{max} = \frac{[P(z)]_{max}}{2!} \left[\frac{[e_{st}^n + 1 - e_{st}^n]}{2} \right]^2.$$
 (6.2)

Considering $\Delta e_{uut} = e = \max[R(e_{u1})]$, we obtain from (6.2) expression for determination of length of a segment of the decomposition in the form $h_k = (e_{ux}^n + 1 - e_{ux}^n)$ $h_k = \sqrt{\frac{8e}{16e}}$. (6.3)

during subdivision of the axis of the argument there is determined in the given range the dependence $\ell_{sux} = \varphi(e_{sx})$. The whole range of approximation is divided into subranges, in which function $\ell_{sux} = \varphi(e_{sx})$ changes monotonically. In every subrange subdivision is begun from the value of $e_{sx} = \ell_{sx,i}^{*}$ with which ℓ_{oxi} is as the greatest value.

Considering piecewise-linear approximation by diede elements, connected to the input of the circuit, it is expedient to cross from initial dependence $e_{sut} = v/(le_{st})$ to current characteristics, for example $I_1 = vY_2 f(le_{st})$ and $I_2 = Y_2 e_{sut}$. In this case formula (6.3) takes the form

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{a}} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{M}_{1})_{\mathbf{a}\mathbf{o}\mathbf{n}}}{[\mathbf{I}_{1}(\mathbf{i})]_{\mathbf{max}}}},$$
(6.4)

where

$$(\Delta f_1)_{aon} = e V_2$$

"For derivation of formula see book of N. Ye. "obrinskiy [1].

Breaking down the current characteristic, it is possible to directly determine the value of conductance of diode circuit on every interval $e_{n_1,p+1}^n = e_{n_2,p}^n$ and then for every diode element.

Indeed,

$$Y_{k} = \frac{I(e_{n+k-1}^{n}) - I(e_{n+k}^{n})}{e_{n+k-1}^{n} - e_{n+k}^{n}}$$

$$Y_{k-1} = \frac{I(e_{n+k}^{n}) - I(e_{n+k-1}^{n})}{e_{n+k}^{n} - e_{n+k-1}^{n}}$$
(6.5)

whence

$$\Delta Y_{k} = Y_{k} - Y_{k-1}.$$

Formula (6.4) is correct when vertices of the approximating polygon lie on the ideal curve. If approximation is conducted so that vertices of approximating polygon lie on lower or upper boundarles of field of allowance, formula (6.4) remains in force during replacement of the given function $-f(\mathbb{F}_{nt})$ by $[-f(\mathbb{F}_{nt}) \pm \epsilon]$ and substitution in (6.4) in place of ϵ its doubled value. Here as the ideal curve is taken the upper or lower found of the field of allowance.

The presented method is not connected with specifics of the given appraisal of accuracy of the considered functional device. Thus, for example, if as criterion of accuracy is selected not $\delta = -\frac{\Delta e_{min}}{e_{min}}$, but $\delta_i = \frac{\Delta e_{min}}{e_{min}}$. Then decomposition can be effected, using expression (6.3), in which in place of ϵ is put $2\delta_i \epsilon_{min} = -2\delta_i \cdot f(\overline{e_{min}})$, and the condition that the approximating straight line inside the considered interval $e_{min+1}^n = e_{min}^n$, is simultaneously tangent to the upper or lower boundary of the field of allowance (depending upon curvature of the given curve) at point $e_{min} = \overline{e_{min}}$.

On the basis of the above we obtain

$$\frac{e_{\text{pur}}\left(e_{\text{st}}^{n}+1\right)-e_{\text{pur}}\left(e_{\text{st}}^{n}\right)}{e_{\text{st}}^{n}+1-e_{\text{st}}^{n}}=\left(1\pm\dot{c}_{1}\right)ij'\left(\bar{e}_{\text{st}}\right)$$
(6.6)

and

$$(e_{ax k+1}^{a} - e_{ax k}^{a})^{2} = \frac{16\delta_{1} v / (\bar{e}_{ax})}{[\ell_{aux}(i)]_{mix}}.$$
(6.7)

Thus, we obtain two equations of two unknowns, e_{ii} and e_{ii}^* , from which we determine the sought value of e_{ii}^* ,

Changing, thus, from one interval to another, we obtain not only the length of separate intervals of the decomposition of an argument and law of decomposition, but also, very important, the value of conductance of the circuit on every interval which allows us in a number of cases immediately to calculate resistance of separate diode elements, and consequently, to obtain complete calculation of the circuit of the functional device.

Let u: consider application of the presented method to a concreate example.

Example. It is required to desing a diode functional generator for reproduction of function $e_{a,a} = 0.01 e_{a}^2$ with error of approximation, not exceeding $\pm 0.25\%$. Diode elements are connected only to the input. Current characteristic of feedback circuit is

$$I_2 = Y_{\mathcal{F}_{\text{even}}} \tag{6.8}$$

Current characteristic of input circuit is

$$I_{1} = 0.01 Y_{2} e_{11}^{2}$$
(6.9)

Characteristic of ideal change of conductance of input circuit here is linear:

$$Y_1 = \frac{dI_1}{de_{ax}} = 0.02Y_{Pax}$$
(6.10)

Second derivative of given function will be a constant:

$$\frac{d^{2}I_{1}}{d\sigma_{ex}^{2}} = 0.02Y_{2}.$$
(6.11)

11 --- 1

Therefore, all segments $e_{2k,k+1}^n - e_{2k,k}^n$ will be identical and equal to

$$h_{\mu} = e_{\mu_1 \mu+1}^{\mu} - e_{\mu_1 \mu}^{\mu} = 20 \sqrt{\epsilon}.$$

The total number of segments of the decomposition will be

$$n = \frac{a_{\text{ev}}}{20 \, \text{y}^{-1}} \,. \tag{6.12}$$



ror of output voltage.

Graph of dependence (6.12) when $r_{\text{st}} = 100 \text{ v is shown in Fig. 82.}$

As follows from the graph, decrease of permissible error below $0.1 \times (0.1\%)$ leads to excessive increase of the number of required steps of decomposition and, apparently, does not have meaning, since due to error, introduced by diode elements themselves, total error here may not be lowered, and increases.

when $e_{\text{at max}} = 100 \text{ v and } \epsilon = 25 \text{ v}$ (vertices of approximating polygon are located on the ideal curve)

 $n = 10, h_k = 10 v$

On basis of (6.5) we obtain breakdown of conductances:

$$Y_{i} = [2e_{nx} - (2i - 1)h] 0.01Y_{2}.$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., n — the number of the interval of the decomposition, starting from the section of the greatest steepness.

In the considered case

$$\Delta Y = Y_{1} = Y_{1} = Y_{1} = 2h \ 0.01Y_{2} = 0.2Y_{2}$$

Since when $e_{n+1}^n = e_{n+1} = 100$ v, $Y_1 = 1.9Y_2$, increases of conductance will be identical on all steps, except the last, and are equal for the first 9 intervals to $\Delta Y_{1,...,9} = 0.2Y_2$, and for the last $\Delta Y_{10} = 0.1Y_2$. Quantity Y_2 we select, limiting the maximum value of resistance of a diode element to 0.5 megohas.

Then $Y_2 = 2 \cdot 10^{-5}$ moh, and $3Y_1 = 2 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mho.

In Fig. 83 is brought the resulting decomposition of the parabola for that value of Y_{2} .



Fig. 83. Piecewise-linear approximation of quadratic dependence. KET: (a) Mho.

Star Hickory



Fig. 84. Piecewise-linear approximation of quadratic dependence, when the points of switching are located on the lower boundary of the field of allowance.

= 100 v will be

when approximation is conducted by the lower boundary of the field of allowance, decomposition is carried out also by expression (6.4), but in place of t we substitute its doubled value. Here

$$h_{h}=40\sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

The total number of segments of the decomposition will be

When $e_{ss min} = 100 v \text{ and } s = 0.25 v$

we obtain

$$n = 7$$
,
h = 40.0.353 = 14.12 v.

Conductance on the first step when en out

$$Y_1 = 1.859 Y_2$$

The increment of conductance will also be constant and equal

$$|\Delta Y_1|_1 \sim 2h \cdot 0.01Y_2 = 0.28^{14}Y_2$$

The increment of conductance on the last step will be

$$[3V_1]_{n-1} [Y_1 - [3Y_1]_{n-1} [n-1]] = 0.1614Y_2$$

The resulting decomposition is placed on a graph (Fig. 84).

As these calculations show, if one were not to put additional requirements on limitation of the magnitude of the first derivative, such approximation allows one to create a more economical circuit, since it requires a smaller number of diode elements.

Use of presented method allows up comparatively simply to determine required value of resistances of separate diods elements and the order of their switching on.

Thus, for example, above-mentioned decomposition of a quadratic function (see page 171) shows that conductance of a circuit increases with increase of input signal, and, consequently, diode elements should work on principle of switching on.

$$(\Delta Y_1)_7 = 0.1644Y_2$$

and conductance of the remaining six elements are identical and are equal to

$$\Delta Y_{1} = 0.2824 Y_{2}$$

When $Y_2 = 1 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mho, $(\Delta Y_1)_7 = 0.1644 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mho, $\Delta Y_{11} = 0.2824 \times 10^{-5}$ mho, R₇ = 6.1.10⁵ ohm, R₁ = R₂ = R₃ = R₄ = R₅ = R₆ = 3.54.10⁵ ohm.

If one were to use in the circuit diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, then on the basis of (5.19) we obtain

$$\Delta y_i = \frac{1}{r_i} = \frac{\Delta Y_{1i} e_{it}^*}{e_{out}}$$

Substituting values of SY_{ii} and e_{ai}^* , received earlier, we receive, when $e_{ai} = 30 \ \forall :$

```
r<sub>1</sub> == 00.

r<sub>6</sub> == 695 kilohm

r<sub>6</sub> == 361 »

r<sub>4</sub> == 244 »

r<sub>3</sub> == 184 »

r<sub>1</sub> == 148 »

r<sub>1</sub> == 123.5 »
```

The circuit of a square-law function generator for selected parameters is presented in Fig. 85a.

In order to ensure work of equare-law function generator for both signs of input voltage, one must at the input of the circuit connect an additional signinverting amplifier and two diodes, as shown in Fig. 85b. With such coupling of diodes, to the input of the circuit of a modilmear generator there always moves voltage of the same sign. It is necessary, common to consider the that on the input divides there appears a voltage drop and, therefore, there may be required additional correction of calculated values of resistances of the circuit, especially on the last steps.

In certain cases it is expedient to use the same diode circuit for obtaining direct and inverse functions, switching it for this purpose from the input circuit to the feedback circuit of the operational amplifier. Here it is necessary to take into account error of approximation of the direct and inverse functions are connected by relationship

$$\mathbf{E}_{obp} = \frac{\mathbf{E}_{obp}}{\mathbf{E}_{obp}} \qquad (b.13)$$



Fig. 85. Fundamental circuit of square-law function generators.

Therefore, if breakdown is carried out by a direct function and if the latter has sections with a steepness less than one, then such breakdown can lead to excessively great error of reproduction of the inverse function during coupling of the diode circuit into the feedback circuit. In these cases there is recommended breakdown segments of the direct function with a steepness larger than one, proceeding from the fact that $\epsilon_{np} = \epsilon_{-}$ and segments of the inverse function with steepness less than one, proceeding from the fact that $\epsilon_{np} = \epsilon_{-}$ with such breakdown of the axis of an argument error of approximation will not excel a given value of with coupling of the diode circuit both to the input and to the feedback circuit.

If function $e_{\mu\nu\tau} = ef(z_{\nu\tau})$ is given graphically, then double graphic differentiation, necessary for construction of dependence

$$\frac{d^3 e_{\rm BNX}}{d e_{\rm BX}^2} = \overline{\gamma} \left(e_{\rm BX} \right)$$

leads to large errors. In this case we usually resort to graphic construction of the approximating polygon. For this nonlinear dependence $e_{\max} = \sqrt{f(e_{\max})}$ or the current characteristic equivalent to it $I_1 = \sqrt{2f(e_{\max})}$ is depicted in the form of a graph on millimeter graph paper in coordinates e_{\max} and e_{\max} or I_1 and e_{\max} . So that graphic error is small compared with error of approximation, it is necessary to draft the given nonlinear dependence by sections in magnified scale. Then for every section there will be set a field of allowance (absolute error $\frac{1}{2}$ or $\frac{1}{2}eV_2$) and in the resulting tube are inscribed straight lines in such a way that on every interval they do not go beyond the limits of the tube. The described method is illustrated in Fig. 86.

During approximation by polygon with vertices, located on the curve of the given nonlinear dependence (Fig. 87), there results a certain increase of number of segments of the decomposition as compared with the preceding case. True, here error in reproduction of alope of given characteristic somewhat decreases. Final choice among these methods of approximation can be made taking into account

-184-



[---

Fig. 86. Method of piecewise-linear approximation.



Fig. 87. An other method of piecewiselinear approximation.

2. Error of Diode Nomlinear Generators

As in study of linear computing elements, absolute error of nonlinear functional devices is determined as the difference of ideal and real values of output quantity, measured at the same moment of time during supplying to the device's input accordingly real and ideal values of the input signal:

$$\Delta e_{\text{out}} = \left[e_{\text{out}}(t) \right]_{p} \sim \left[e_{\text{out}}(t) \right]_{H} \tag{6.14}$$

However the absolute error Δc_{aux} obtained thus will depend on the value of c_{aux} at which it is determined. Therefore, for apprecial of accuracy of a

device here it is possible to use the maximum value of a particular prestical criterion of accuracy:

or the integral practical criterion of accuracy (see Chapter III, page 85).

In connection with the fact that the circuit of diode converters clearly do not contain elements, able to store energy, and spurious capacitive and inductive resistances in the operating band strip of frequencies of these devices are megligible, further consideration is conducted exclusively in reference to error of the steady-state regime.

Depending upon the method of physical realization of the functional device this error can be caused by various factors. However, for most devices it can be divided into three main components:

1) error, caused by errors in input signal;

2) error, connected with the given method of representation of the given nonlinear function in the device (for example, error, introduced during piecewiselinear approximation in the case of diole generators);

3) error of reproduction of approximated nonlinear dependence.

Let us consider each component of error in reference to diode functional generators.

Error, caused by inaccuracy of input signal, can be estimated on the assumption that the generator ideally reproduces the given nonlinear dependence (no errors of approximation and reproduction of piecewise-linear curve).

With such consideration there are rejected errors of the second and higher orders of smallness and results turn out to be correct for any functional device. In fact, if there is given: $e_{nut} = vf(le_{nt})$, then

$$\Delta e_{aux} = \sqrt{\frac{df(T_{ax})}{de_{ax}}} \Delta e_{ax}.$$
 (6.15)

.

and

$$\delta e_{\text{owt}} = \frac{\Delta e_{\text{owt}}}{e_{\text{owt}} \max} = \delta e_{\text{ot}} \frac{d \left[\frac{f(ie_{\text{ot}})}{f(ie_{\text{ot}} \max)} \right]}{d \left(\frac{e_{\text{ot}}}{e_{\text{ot}} \max} \right)}$$

or

$$ie_{sur} = S_{i}ie_{sr} \qquad (6.16)$$

where S, is the steepness of the given function.

Thus, relative error, caused by inaccuracy of input signal, will be greater, the greater the steepness of the nonlinear dependence to 13 reproduced.

In case of use of a diode functional converter, for which a given nonlinear dependence is realized simultaneously by connecting a nonlinear resistor to the input and feedback circuit, we receive

$$\Delta e_{\rm swa} = -\frac{\frac{dI_{\rm s}}{de_{\rm swa}}}{\frac{dI_{\rm s}}{de_{\rm swa}}} \Delta e_{\rm sa}; \qquad (6.17)$$

relative error is

$$be_{out} = -\frac{S_{i_1}}{S_{i_1}} be_{out}.$$
 (6.18)

where $S_{I_1} = \frac{d\left(\frac{I_1}{I_1 \max}\right)}{d\left(\frac{\sigma_{ax}}{\sigma_{ax} \max}\right)}$ — is the given steepness of the current characteristic of input circuit, $S_{I_2} = \frac{d\frac{I_2}{I_2 \max}}{d\left(\frac{\sigma_{ax}}{\sigma_{ax} \max}\right)}$ — the given steepness of current characteristic of feedback circuit.

As follows from expression (5.18), relative error in output signal is greater, the greater the steepness of current characteristic of the input circuit and the less the steepness of the current characteristic of the feedback circuit. Since in feedback circuits there is realised a function, the reverse of the given one (and usually realisable at the input), then by simple transfer of the diode circuit into the feedback circuit we can not lower the error from inaccuracy in input signal. During reproduction of nonlinear functions with value of steepness higher than 10 one should present rigid requirements on accuracy of the input signal, and consequently, to lowering of error of other computing elements of the installation. Thus, for example, when $S_s = 10$ and $\partial e_{sx} = 1\%$ we obtain $\partial e_{sut} = 10\%$, which in a number of cases can be impermissible. Therefore, electronic analogs, intended for solution of nonlinear problems, should be, as a rule, supplied with operational amplifiers with automatic stabilisation of zero level and in them should be thorough "ground insulation" (see Chapter IX, page 289), and provided other measures of increasing accuracy. Let us turn now to consideration of error of piecewise-linear approximation. Selection of the quantity of permissible error during piecewiselinear approximation is an independent and fairly complicated question. Here we will limit ourselves to only several remarks.

Practice of construction of specialized functional converters showed that for many conversions error of approximation $\epsilon = 0.25$ v or $\lambda = 0.25$ gives total error of the order of 0.75 — 1% during reproduction of a given function with steepness, not exceeding 10. Decrease of the quantity lower than the shown meaning leads to sharp increase of the required number of segments of the decomposition of the argument, and consequently, to increase of the number of diode elements and loss of total accuracy.

During reproduction of functions with steepness, exceeding 10, error due to inaccuracy of input signal becomes so great that it is possible without sacrifice : of total accuracy of the device to increase the permissible value of : and to receive thereby economy in the number of diode elements. It is rational to select by the relationship,

$$i_{\theta} = \frac{1}{4} i_{\theta_{01}} |S_{\theta}|. \tag{6.19}$$

Then when $\lambda_{ex} = 0.1\%$ and $S_e = 10$ we will have $\lambda_e = 0.25\%$.

Error of reproduction of approximated nonlinear dependence during coupling of

circuits of diode elements to the input and in feedback circuits of an operational amplifier will be determined by error in value of currents, sent by these circuits to the integrating point of amplifier. Indeed, if given nonlinear dependence $e_{uux} = vf(z_{uux})$ is reproduced by current characteristics $I_1 = v_1 f_1(z_{uux})$ and $I_2 = v_2 f_2(e_{uux})$, then in the worst case total error in output voltage will be

$$\Delta e_{\text{pMI}} = \frac{de_{\text{pMI}}}{dI_1} \, \mathcal{U}_1 + \frac{de_{\text{pMI}}}{dI_2} \, \mathcal{U}_2. \tag{5.20}$$

Here $\frac{de_{aux}}{dI_1}$ and $\frac{de_{aux}}{dI_2}$ have ideal meaning, given by piecewise-linear approximation. Including the error in these quantities would not change the result practically, since here there would be considered only error of the second order of smallness.

Relative error here will be

$$\delta e_{sur} = \frac{1}{S_{I_1}} (\delta I_1 + \delta I_2). \tag{6.21}$$

since

$$S_{e} = \frac{dr_{max}}{de_{mx}} = \frac{S_{I_1}}{S_{I_2}}.$$

Thus, to explain total error of a functional generator from inaccurate reproduction of the approximated characteristic, it is necessary to know, besides steepness of current characteristic S_{I2} , also relative errors in output currents of diode circuits, coupled to the input and feedback circuits. Since determination of error of diode circuits with respect to output current does not depend on the place of coupling of the diode circuit, then in the future it is conducted for circuits, switched into the input circuit. For circuits, switched into the feedback, it is possible to use results received, accordingly replacing the index for current and voltage.

Besides error, introduced by diode circuits, an integrating operational amplifier also introduces error from sero drift. During use of amplifiers with

-189-

automatic stabilization of zero level this error as compared with others can be disregarded.

The main part of error in output current of diode circuits consists of systematic errors, caused by inaccuracy of selection of resistances of separate diode elements, change of current of incadescence, influence of internal resistance of diodes and their resting current, *), inaccuracy of setting of the quantity of reference voltage, influence of change of temperature.

Error of the circuit of a diode converter can be found, knowing errors introduced by separate diode elements, from which the circuit is composed. Therefore, we will conduct an analysis of error for every considered type of diode element separately.

As was shown earlier, current of a diode element with potentially grounded diode can be found from expression

$$I_{\rm U} = \frac{s_{\rm ex} - s_{\rm on} \frac{R_i}{r_i}}{R_i},$$

whence absolute error in current, created by one diode element will be

$$\Delta I_{1i} = \left(\frac{\partial I_{1i}}{\partial R_i}\right)_{R_i} = \left(\frac{R_i}{\partial R_i}\right)_{R_i} \Delta R_i + \left(\frac{\partial I_{1i}}{\partial r_i}\right)_{r_i} = \left(\frac{r_i}{\partial r_i}\right)_{r_i} \Delta r_i + \left(\frac{\partial I_{1i}}{\partial r_{on}}\right)_{r_{on}} \Delta r_{on} + I_u(r_{nvi}^*).$$

$$(6.22)$$

where $I_n(e_{nxi}^n)$ is the resting current of the diode; ΔR_i , Δr_j , Δe_{on} — change of resistances R_i , r_i and reference voltage e_{on} : $(R_i)_n$, $(r_i)_n$ — values of resistances, received from calculation of piecewise-linear approximation.

Proceeding to relative errors and expanding the value of expressions $\frac{\partial I_{il}}{\partial R_l}$, $\frac{\partial I_{il}}{\partial r_l}$ and $\frac{\partial I_{il}}{\partial e_{od}}$, we receive (6.23)

$$W_{11} = -\frac{(e_{ax})_{a}}{(R_{i})_{a} I_{1}} \partial R_{i} + \frac{(e_{on})_{a}}{(r_{i})_{a} I_{1}} \partial r_{i} - \frac{(e_{on})_{a}}{(r_{i})_{a} I_{1}} \partial e_{on} + \frac{I_{a}}{I_{1}} \partial e_{on} + \frac{I_{a}}$$

"Resting current is the current, flowing through diode during zero difference of potentials between plate and cathods. Relative error of resistances R_i and r_i in turn can be proceeded as consisting of three components: one, determined by inaccuracy of selection of resistances $(\partial R_{in}, \partial r_{in})$ the second, caused by change of resistance of diode during change of current flowing through it and oscillations of current of incadescence $(\partial R_{in}, \partial r_{in})$, and, finally, third, caused by change of resistances under the influence of change of ambient temperature $(\partial R_{in}, \partial r_{in})$.

Therefore,

$$\delta R_i = \delta R_{in} + \delta R_{ia} + \delta R_{in}, \quad \delta r_i = \delta r_{ia} + \delta r_{ia} + \delta r_{in}.$$

Quantities δR_{in} and δr_{in} are determined by allowance for selection of resistances. During use of resistors VS and MLT, having factory allowance $\pm 10\%$, usually selection is carried out with accuracy of 0.25\%, applying for decrease of error compound resistors (two). Resistors R_i and r_i are best select with allowance of one sign. In accordance with expression (6.23) this should give certain decrease of total error.

Error due to change of ambient temperature can be determined from expression

$$\delta R_{10} = \delta r_{10} = a(\theta - 20), \qquad (6.24)$$

where a is the temperature coefficient, equal for VS and MLT to $\sim 2 \cdot 10^{-3}$ in the interval 9 from + 20 to + 100°C.

In spite of comparatively large a influence of change of temperature from 20 to 60° C is small, since changes of ∂R_{in} are compensated partially by change of ∂r_{in} and, furthermore, resistance in feedback circuits changes in the same relation, so that with changing input current current of the feedback circuit, also changes, and voltage at output changes little.

The most essential component of the considered error is caused by change of resistance of the diods during operation. This component of error can be found from relationship, brought on page 154, in the form

$$\delta R_{is} = \omega r_{is} = \Delta r_s \Big(\frac{1}{r_{in}} + \frac{1}{R_{in}} \Big).$$

-191-

where Δr_s is the maximum deflection of resistance of diode from the value of $r_s = 600$ of taken for calculations.

Considering that

$$r_{iu} = R_{iu} \frac{e_{ou}}{e_{uxi}^u},$$

we receive

$$\delta R_{ia} = \delta r_{ia} = \frac{\Delta r_{i}}{R_{ia}} \left(\frac{r_{axi}^{n}}{r_{on}} + 1 \right)$$
 (6.25)

In Fig. 88 are brought the curves of

$$\delta R_{ia} = \delta r_{ia} = f(R_{in})$$

where $\Delta r_{a} = 200$ ohm and various relationships $\frac{r_{ati}^{a}}{r_{aa}}$.

From the curves it follows that for considered diode elements error R_{ii} and δr_{ii} grows with increase of r_{iii}^n and when $R_{iii} = 200$ kilohm it can attain magnitudes of the order of 0.4 - 0.5%.



Fig. 88. Curves of change of errors R_{ik} and T_{ik} depending upon R_{ik}

Error due to change of magnitude of reference voltage is proportional to relative changes of this voltage. Therefore, accuracy of operation of a stabilised rectifier for reference voltage should be not lower than 0.1 - 0.05.

Resting current is developed at the moment of unlocking of the diode element

and usually leads to lowering of jumps of the first derivative at the moment of switching.

It was experimentally fixed that during change of R_i and r_i from 50 kiloha to 1 megoha and filament voltage from 4 to 6 the resting current for diodes of type 606 oscillates from 1 to 8 microamperes.

Taking into account the remarks made and disregarding the resting current for the worst case, where signs of ∂R_i and ∂e_{on} are opposite to sign ∂r_i . we receive for maximum relative error of the diode element the final expression

$$U_{il} = \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \max_{max} R_{in}} \left[|\delta R_{in}| + |\delta R_{in}| - \frac{|\Delta r_{2}|}{R_{in}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{\sigma_{00}} + 1 \right) \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{|\Delta r_{2}|}{R_{in}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{\sigma_{00}} + 1 \right) \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{|\Delta r_{2}|}{R_{in}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{01}}{\sigma_{00}} + 1 \right) \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{|\Delta r_{2}|}{R_{in}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{01}}{\sigma_{00}} + 1 \right) \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}^{n}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{R_{in}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \left[|\delta r_{in}| + |\delta r_{in}| + \frac{\sigma_{01}}{T_{1}} \right] +$$

From expression (6.26) it follows that relative error in current of diode element increases with increase of $e_{it,min} e_{it,min}^{in}$ the stappass of current characteristic $\Delta Y_i = \frac{1}{R_i^2}$ of the considered diode element and change of resistance of the diode ΔY_i relative to average calculating value.

Results of determination of error for other diode elements, received, by the above-stated method, are given in Table IV.

Comparison of these results allows us to make the following conclusions:

1. The influence of internal resistance of diodes and inaccuracy of selection of resistances for diode elements of limiter type, assembled by diagram II, is significantly less than for diode elements with potentially grounded diodes. With increase of e_{iii}^n other conditions equal, error from e_i decreases, whole for diode elements with potentially grounded diodes it increases. Influence of inaccuracy of setting of e_{ii} shows only during the turned off state of a diode element of limiter type. In connection with this it is expedient during construction of circuits for $e_{ii} > e_{ii}$ to use diode elements of limiter type, assembled by diagram II.

-193-

	i					
Table IV	the state relative error of surners of lategracing	$M_{ii} = \frac{e_{ii} \cdot e_{ii}}{l_{1e_{ii}} R_{ii}} \frac{1}{1} R_{ii} + \frac{e_{ii}}{l_{1e_{ii}} R_{ii}} \frac{1}{1} N_{ii} + \frac{e_{ii}}{l_{1e_{ii}} R_{ii}} \frac{1}{1} N_{ii} + \frac{e_{ii}}{l_{1e_{ii}} R_{ii}} \frac{1}{1} N_{eii}$	$Z_{i_{1i}} = \frac{e_{m_1,m_2r_1}}{l_{1m_1}R_{i_1}} [\lambda R_{i_1}] + \frac{e_{m_1}}{l_{m_1}} [e_{m_1} - e_{m_2}] \left(\frac{e_{m_1}}{e_{m_1}} - 1 \right) + \frac{e_{m_1}}{l_{1m_1}} \left[e_{m_1} - e_{m_2} \right] \left(\frac{e_{m_1}}{e_{m_1}} - 1 \right) r_a$	$\begin{aligned} & \mathcal{U}_{ii} = \frac{\sigma_{im} _{n} \mathcal{R}_{i} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} - R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{R}_{i} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} _{n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,min}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} _{n} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,n}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,n}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,n}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,n}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_{i,n})^{2} I_{i,n}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{i,n} + \\ & + \frac{\sigma_{in} I_{i,n}}{(r_{i,n} + R_$	$\frac{1}{100} [8R_{11} + \frac{1}{100} (R_{11})^{2} + \frac{1}{1000} (R_{11} + R_{11})^{2} + \frac{1}{10000} (R_{11} + R_{11})^{2} + \frac{1}{10000} (R_{11} + \frac{1}{10000} - \frac{1}{10000} + \frac{1}{10000} - \frac{1}{10000} + \frac{1}{100000} + \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	$+ \frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}}-1\right)} \left(\frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}}-1\right)}$
	State of Line oloner	8 ğ	8	8	8 <u>5</u>	
	الجسمية (م. محمد 14 المتحوية الح	$I_{ii} = \frac{e_{ii} - R_i}{R_i} \frac{e_{ii}}{R_i}$	$I_{ii} = \frac{\alpha_m \frac{r_i}{r_i} + \alpha_m}{r_a + \frac{r_a}{r_i} R_i + R_i}$	1 ₁₁ = 2 4	$I_{ii} = \frac{c_{ai}}{k_{ii} + k_{w}}$ $I_{ii} = \frac{c_{w} + \frac{r_{a}}{R_{ii}}}{c_{w} + \frac{R_{ai}}{R_{ii}}} + R_{y}$	
					A Reference of Internet of States	

7

D

1

2

-194-

2. Diode elements of limiter type, working by diagram I, do not give essential advantages with respect to lowering of error when compared with diode elements with potentially grounded diodes.

3. For all circuits without exception error increases with growth of the given steepness of the current characteristic of the diode element.

Since total current of the diode circuit, send to the integrating point, is equal to the sum of currents of separate diode elements, then total error of the diode circuit can be calculated for the worst case as the sum of errors, introduced in the current by every diode element. Thus, for example, for diode circuit (Fig. 85a), consisting of diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, total relative error will be maximum, when all diode elements are switched on:

$$\delta I_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{T} \frac{f_{\text{ex. max}}}{T_{1,\text{max}}R_{in}} \left[\frac{2}{R_{i}} \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{T} \frac{f_{\text{ex. }}^{2}}{T_{1,\text{max}}R_{in}} \left[\frac{2}{R_{i}} \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{T} \frac{f_{\text{ex. }}^{2}}{T_{1,\text{max}}} \left[\frac{2}{R_{in}} \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{T} \frac{f_{in}}{T_{in}} \left[\frac{2}{R_{in}} \right]$$

When in the circuit there are used diode elements of limiter type, then it is necessary to consider error, introduced by diode elements, in both on and off state. It is necessary to seek to build a circuit of nonlinear converters, so that the number of simultaneously "on" diode elements is minimum.

Total error of a functional device can be calculated by expression (6.21) and values of M_1 and M_2 found as shown.

3. Methods of Construction of Circuits of Diode Functional Generators

As was shown above (see Chapter V, Section 3, page 156), parallel connection of various diode elements does not ensure possibility of reproduction of a sufficiently broad class of functions. For the purpose of expansion of possibilities of diode circuits it is necessary to apply artificial methods, for example shift of current characteristics by connection at the integrating point of an additional constant current component, summation of current characteristics of separate diode circuits and so forth. However ufter, for reproduction of steep functions one must

have current characteristics with great steepness and increase the number of simultaneously working diode elements which unfavorably affects accuracy of work of the considered devices.

職所許能

We will estimate the limit of the given steepness of current characteristics. Taking as base quantities $i_{1,max} = i_{2,max} = 1$ wa. $e_{ax,max} = e_{aux,max} = 100$ v and limiting limits of resistances in circuits of input and feedback to quantities 17 kiloha < R < 5 megoha, we receive

When in input or feedback circuits there is connected a constant resistance, the steepness accordingly will be

$$S_{I_1} = 1, \quad S_{I_2} = 1.$$

When the fields circuit is connected only at the input, $S_{I_2} = 1$ and

$$S_{e} = -S_{I..}$$

i.e., steepness of current characteristic of diode circuit should be equal to the steepness, given for reproduction of the function.

Since steepness of current characteristic of diode circuit by conditions of physical realisation is limited as indicated above, then the class of functions, reproduced by such functional device, will be limited by these limits of change of steepness.

During connection of the diode circuit only in the feedback circuit

$$S_{I_1} = \frac{1}{S_e}, \quad S_{I_1} = -1.$$

and the class of reproduced functions will be limited by conditions

$$S_{I_1} > 0$$
 n $0.02 < S_{I_2} < 10$

Therefore, such functions, as, for example, $c_{uu} = \frac{10}{c_{uu}}$ which within limits of change 0.1 v $\leq c_{uu} \leq 100$ v give change of steepness - 1000 $\leq S_{v} \leq -0.001$, cannot be in general, reproduced with such a method of connection of diode circuits.

-196-

•

It is possible to offer a number of methods of synthesis of dicde elements, allowing us to reproduce a given nonlinear dependence with steepness, varying in a wide range. These methods allow us to make diode converters in such a manner that steepness of current characteritics of separate diode circuits does not go beyond permissible limits and that it is provided by the least number of simultaneously switched-on diode elements. They are based on the earlier derived dependence (6.18), which can be written in the form

$$S_{\bullet} = -\frac{S_{I_{\bullet}}}{S_{I_{\bullet}}}.$$
 (6.27)

Quantity S_e and the character of its change in functions of the input signal usually are given by the initial nonlinear dependence and the problem consists in such distribution of quantity S_e between S_{I_1} and S_{I_2} , so that each of them does not exceed permissible limits. During simultaneous connection of diode circuits in input and feedbacks steepness of the given function S_e , as expression (5.27) shows, can be realized by S_{J_1} and S_{I_2} , where each of them will change in a narrower range.

We will show in the example of reproduction of function $c_{aux} = \frac{10}{c_{ax}}$ the method of determination of current characteristics for circuits of nonlinear converters, utilized simultaneously at the input and in feedback circuits.

Characteristic of steepness of the function for the considered case will be

$$S_{\sigma} = -\frac{10}{\sigma_{ex}^2} = -\frac{S_{I_1}}{S_{I_2}}$$

For the purpose of decreasing steepness S_{I_1} and S_{I_2} as compared with S_0 we will decompose expression S_0 into factors. Such decomposition can be very diverse. Rejecting decompositions leading to increase of the degree of e_{ox} , we receive a number of possible variants:

$$\frac{10}{e_{\text{st}}^2} = \frac{1}{e_{\text{st}}} \frac{10}{e_{\text{st}}}, \quad \frac{10}{e_{\text{st}}^2} = \frac{1}{e_{\text{st}}} \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}}, \quad \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}} = \frac{1}{e_{\text{st}}} \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}}, \quad \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}} \frac{10}{e_{\text{st}}} \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}}, \quad \frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{\text{st}}}} \frac{10}{$$

Hence expressions for steepness of current characteristics accordingly will be:

1.
$$S_{I_1} = \frac{1}{e_{px}}$$
, $S_{I_2} = \frac{1}{\frac{10}{e_{px}}} = \frac{1}{e_{max}}$,
2. $S_{I_1} = \frac{1}{e_{px}\sqrt{e_{px}}}$, $S_{I_2} = \frac{1}{\frac{10}{\sqrt{e_{px}}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{10e_{max}}}$,
3. $S_{I_1} = \frac{1}{e_{px}\sqrt{e_{px}}}$, $S_{I_2} = \frac{\sqrt{e_{px}}}{10} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{10e_{max}}}$.

Current characteristics can be found by integration of expression S_{I1} and S_{I2} . Indeed, when $I_{1} = I_{2} = I_{2} = 1$ ma and $e_{ax.max} = e_{axx.mix} = 100 v$: $I_{1} = 0.01 \int_{e_{ax.max}}^{e_{ax}} S_{I_{1}} de_{ux} [Ma]$. (6.28) $I_{2} = 0.01 \int_{e_{ax.max}}^{e_{ax}} S_{I_{2}} de_{ux} [Ma]$. (6.29)

Here $e_{sx,n}$ and $e_{sux,n}$ are initial values of voltages of considered sections of current characteristics.

Values of S_{I_1} , S_{I_2} , I_1 and I_2 and limits of change of S_{I_1} and S_{I_2} with change of e_{ax} and e_{ax} in the interval from 0.1 to 100 v are brought in Table V.

Comparison of results, brought in the table, shows that in all three cases limits of charge of steepness of S_{I_1} and S_{I_2} are significantly narrower than limits of change of steepness S_0 of the initial nonlinear characteristic. Such an approach actually leads to functional generation of initial characteristics, indicating at the same time a regular way of finding the form of the generation.

First variant of generation of current characteristics one should recognize as the most rational, since it allows us to use identical circuits of nonlinear converters at the input and in feedback circuits.

On the basis of expression (6.27) there can be offered another method of reproduction of a given function with a wide range of change of steepness, with which the given steepness of the current characteristics of the diode circuits does not exceed one. Essence of the method consists of the fact that the given function

-198-

الم	*:	~	• •	
		ş :	51,	Expressions
	1 10		51	Expressions for steepness
10 V TO 10	10 1 /10 50	rm 10 10 0,01		Limits of change of steepness with change of ', and ',, i'ven 0.1 to 100 v
101 10 to	10 1 10 I	rm 10 to 0,01	<i>SI</i> ,	Shange of steepness with of 'm and 'm, irwa 0.1 to 100 v
	$1_{1} = -0.02 \left[\frac{1}{1_{01}} - \frac{1}{1_{01}} \right]$	/, = 0,01 [in est - in est - u]	1, 1.00	Faprestus for car
/ 0.003 [j j · 0.1]	1 1/10 11/1 1/0.11	/, = 0,01 [In cour - In cour - o]	1. 1.40	tone for current characteristics



「おおろう」「「「「「「「「「「」」」」」

-

1

「「「「「「「」」」」

by steepness is broken down into two sections; in general on one the steepness will change from 0 to 1 and on the second from 1 to

Reproduction of the first section of the curve one should place in the diode circuit, connected at the input, the second section, on the diode circuit, coupled in the feedback circuit. If one were now to make these circuits work in that sequence, with which change of steepness of the current characteristic at the input occurs with constant steepness of the feedback circuit (equal to 1) and, vice versa, change of steepness of the current characteristic, coupled in the feedback circuit, is carried out with steepness of the input current characteristic constant and equal to 1, then this task will be carried out.

As an illustration let us consider reproduction of function $e_{sux} = 10^{-4} e_{sx}^{3}$. Steepness of the function will be

$$S_{e} = -\frac{de_{BM1}}{de_{BL}} = 3 \cdot 10^{-4} e_{e_{1}}^{2} = -\frac{S_{I_{1}}}{S_{I_{1}}}$$

Se reaches one when $e_{x} = \sqrt{\frac{10^4}{3}} = 57.8 v$.

Consequently, up to $e_{sx} = 57.8$ v the given curve should be reproduced by diode converters reformers with current characteristics

$$I_1 = -v_1 \cdot 10^{-4} e_{03}^{1}$$
 (6.30)

and

$$l_2 = v_2 t_{out}$$
 (6.31)

wherein $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$

Quantity $\gamma_2 = \gamma_1$ we determine from the condition that on the considered interval of change of argument $S_{I_2} = 100 + \frac{dI_1}{d\epsilon_{out}} = 1$. Since $\frac{dI_1}{d\epsilon_{out}} = \gamma_2$, then $\gamma_2 = \gamma_1 = 0.01$. On the boundary of the first section $I_{1\tau pau} = -0.192$ and $I_{2\tau pau} = 0.192$ we On the remaining interval of change of argument, i.e., from $\epsilon_{11} = 57.8$ v to 100 v, $S_{I_1} = -1$, and $S_{I_1} = \frac{1}{2\eta}$.

Current characteristics on this interval of change of the argument can be found by integration of corresponding characteristics of change of steepness.

Indeed, $S_{1} = 100 \quad \frac{dI_{1}}{de_{ex}} = -1$. whence $I_{1} = -[I_{1 rpes} + 0.01(e_{ex} - e_{ex. rpex})].$ (6.32)

Since

$$S_{I_0} = \frac{1}{S_e} = \frac{1}{3 \cdot 10^{-4} \sigma_{ex}^2} = \frac{1}{0.3 \frac{1}{0.1 \sigma_{max}^2}}$$

then

$$I_{2} = I_{2 \text{ rpss}} + \sqrt[3]{0.01 e_{\text{pss}}} - \frac{e_{\text{ex. rpss}}}{100}.$$
 (6.33)

The graph of current characteristics received thus is shown in Fig. 89. Knowledge of the law of change of current characteristics and their steepness allows one most rationally to select types of diode elements. For a circuit, connected at the input, it is rational to use diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, working on switching on. After $e_{nt} = e_{nt.type}$ all diode elements of the input circuit should be switched on and should provide the given steepness of the input current characteristic, equal to 1. In feedback circuits it is rational to use diode elements of limiter type, working on switching off by diagram II. When $e_{nt} \leq e_{nt.type}$ all diode elements are connected in the feedback circuit and provide a steepness $S_{I_2} = 1$. By measure of increase of e_{nut} diode elements are consecutively turned off.

A complete fundamental circuit of the considered menlinear generator is shown in Fig. 90. In it is foreseen the possibility of work with two signs of input and output signals.

The number of diode elements and their parameters are determined on the basis of piecewise-linear approximation.

In certain cases lowering of the steepness of current characteristics of diede generators, coupled only to imput, can be carried out also by preliminary shift of the curve of differential conductance a constant quantity and connection to the input signal of the equivalent constant componenting conductance.

-201-



Fig. 89. Current characteristics of the nonlinear generator of $r_{max} = 10^{-4} \cdot r_{mx}^{3}$



Fig. 90. Fundamental circuit of nonlinear generator of $r_{max} = 10^{-4} \cdot r_{max}^2$

Let us imagine steepness S_{I_1} as consisting of sum

$$S_{I_1} = S_{I_2} + S_{I_2}$$
 (6.34)

$$\mathbf{S}_{I_{\alpha}} = \mathbf{S}_{I_{\alpha}} - \mathbf{S}_{I_{\alpha}}$$

Thus, if $S_{e} S_{I_{2}}$ does not change sign on the whole interval of change of the argument, then steepness $|S_{e}| < |S_{e}S_{e}|$ Such a shift of the characteristic of differential steepness of a constant quantity is equivalent to turn of the current characteristic a certain angle. It is obvious that the greatest lowering of steepness when $S_{I_{2}} = 1$ constitutes $\frac{S_{e}}{2}$. Therefore, by such method one can obtain current characteristics with steepness, not exceeding one, only for a quadratic function.

Considered methods of lowering steepness of current characteristics remain in force also during reproduction of nonmontonic functions. Of specific is reproduction of a "-igonometric function of the form

$$e_{\rm max} = 100 \sin \frac{\pi}{100} e_{\rm mx}$$

Characteristic for steepness of this function will have the form

$$S_{o} = \pi \cos \frac{\pi}{100} e_{ox}$$
 (6.35)

Steepness will be positive in the interval $0 < e_{ex} < 50$ v and negative when 50 v $< e_{ex} < 100$ v.

According to (6.27) we obtain

$$\pi \cos \frac{1}{10^{1}} e_{at} = -\frac{S_{I_1}}{S_{I_1}}.$$
 (6.36)

As expression (6.36) shows, reproduction of this function can be carried out both by connecting a nonlinear converter to input, and also in the feedback circuit.

In the first case

$$S_{I_1} = -\pi \cos \frac{\pi}{160} I_{00}$$
(6.37)
$$S_{I_2} = 1.$$

Here the maximum given steepness of the diode circuit at input will constitute $S_{I_{\rm c}\,{\rm max}}=\pi$.

In the second case characteristic for steepness ${\rm S}_{\rm I_2}$

$$S_{I_{c}} = \frac{-S_{I_{c}}}{100} = \frac{-S_{I_{c}}}{100} \left(\frac{\pi}{100} - \frac{\pi}{100} \right)^{2}$$

is decomposed depending upon the value of the voltage of the argument on the three sections (offered by A. A. Maslov).

when

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 < e_{ost} < 47.1 & S_{I_{1}} = -0.8, \\ 0 < e_{ost} < 99.6 & S_{I_{2}} = -\frac{0.8}{\pi \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{e_{ost}}{100}\right)^{2}}} \\ 47.1 < e_{ost} < 52.9 & S_{I_{2}} = 0, \\ 99.6 < e_{ost} < 100 & S_{I_{2}} = 5_{I_{1}} \\ 99.6 < e_{ost} < 100 & S_{I_{2}} = 0.8, \\ 0 < e_{ost} < 99.6 & S_{I_{2}} = 0.8, \\ 0 < e_{ost} < 99.6 & S_{I_{2}} = 0.8, \\ 0 < e_{ost} < 99.6 & S_{I_{2}} = 0.8, \\ \end{array}$$

Introduction of average interval is caused by the fact that steepness of initial nonlinear characteristic when $r_{ex} = 50$ v turns into zero. It is expedient that S_{e} turns into zero not due to S_{I_2} seeking infinity, but due to passage to $S_{I_1} = 0$.



Fig. 91. Graph of current characteristics of functional generator for reproduction of function $f_{max} = iw \sin \frac{1}{100} f_{max}$



Fig. 92. Pundamental circuit of double functional generator for reproduction of functions $r_{max} = 10^{10} \sin \frac{1}{100} r_{max}$ and $r_{max} = 300 cm \frac{1}{100} r_{max}$ KEY: (a) Circuit.

Current characteristics, found by integration of above mentioned expressions for S_{I_1} and S_{I_2} , will be:

$$l_2 = \frac{0.4}{\pi} \arcsin \frac{\ell_{\text{max}}}{100}; \qquad (6.30)$$

$$I_{1} = \begin{cases} -0.008e_{ss} & \text{when} & 0 < e_{s1} < 47.1, \\ -0.377e_{ss} & \text{when} & 47.1 < e_{s1} < 52.9, \\ -0.377 + 0.008(e_{ss} - 52.9) & \text{when} & 52.9 < e_{ss} < 100. \end{cases}$$
(6.39)

The graph of these characteristics is shown in Fig. 91.

To obtain function $e_{net} = 100 \cos \frac{r}{100} e_{ne}$ it is possible to use the same current characteristic I_2 . Current characteristic of input sirvuit should be to the left 50 v. The fundamental sirvuit fo functional converter, intended for reproduction of these functions, is presented in Fig. 92 (V. A. Trapeznikov, B. Ya. Keyne, V. V. Curev, A. A. Maslov [1]). Here circuit I (built on diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, working on exitching on) reproduces current characteristic I_2 , and
circuits II and III reproduce current characteristics I_1 , correspondingly for reproduction of function

$$e_{out} = 100 \sin \frac{1}{100} e_{ot}.$$

$$e_{out} = 100 \cos \frac{\pi}{100} e_{ot}.$$

In circuits I and II are applied double diode elements, where in circuit II for construction of double diode elements are used diodes which commutate sign. Diode is common for circuits II and III.

4. <u>Diode Functional Generators of</u> Two or More Arguments

The necessity of reproduction of functions of two or more arguments is usually met during solution of various ballistic problems, investigations of systems of control of flying objects, for which coefficients of moments, lift and lateral aerodynamic forces are functions simultaneously of angular displacements and Mach numbers, in complicated interconnected systems of automatic control of industrial processes, in systems of automatic adjustment and control, designed for maintaining an optimum regime.

Functions of two variables can be directly reproduced by three-dimensional came (N. Ye, Kobrinskiy [1]) or their electric analogs (H. F. Meissinger (1)). Nowever, application of these devices usually requires realisation of mochanical displacements which causes sharp reduction of the pasebund. Their manufacture is extraordinarily labor-consuming and is connected with great expense.

Functions of three and more variables generally cannot be reproduced in much a manner. Therefore, we usually resort even in the case of a function of two variables to various methods of approximation with the help of combinations of functions of only one variable.

For functions, given in table form, it is possible to use decomposition (E. W. Pike and T. R. Silverberg [1]) of the form

$$f(x_i, y_j) = g(x_j) + h(y_j) + g'(x_j)h'(y_j) + g''(x_j)h''(y_j) + \dots$$
(6.40)

Here it is assumed that the mean value of function $f(x_j, y_j)$ equals zero. If the mean value of the function does not equal zero, then it can always be brought to such a form, subtracting from every tabular value of the function its mean value.

 $F_0 = \frac{1}{nn} \sum_{i=j}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} F(x_i, y_j)$ of arguments x_i , y_j it is assumed that they are connected only by operations of addition and subtraction. With these assumptions series (6.40) turns out to be convergent.

The desired functions of the expansion are determined from the condition that the sum of squares of errors of approximation is minimum. When approximation is conducted only by the sum of functions

$$f(x, y_i) = g(x_i) + h(y_i).$$

solution of this variational problem leads to the following expressions for $g(x_j)$ and $h(y_j)$:

$$g(x_i) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i}^{n} f(x_i, y_i).$$

$$h(y_i) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i}^{n} f(x_i, y_i).$$
(6.41)

where n is the number of values of y in the table, n is the number of values of x in the table.

In case of use of more complete decomposition

$$f(x_i, y_j) = g(x_i) + h(y_j) + g'(x_j) h'(y_j) + \dots$$
(6.42)

values of functions $g'(x_j)$ and $h'(y_j)$ are determined by solution by successive approximations of the system of equations

$$g'(x_i) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} R(x_i, y_j) h'(y_j)}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (h'(y_j))^2} \cdot h'(y_j) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} R(x_i, y_j) g'(x_j)}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (h'(y_j))^2} \cdot \frac{h'(y_j)}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (h'(x_j))^2}$$
(6.43)

where

$$R(x_i, y_j) = f(x_i, y_j) - [g(x_i) + h(y_i)].$$

System of equations (6.43) is a result of minimizing the sum of the squares

of errors during approximation for $R(x_i, y_j)$ with the help of

 $g'(x_i) h'(y_i).$

Designating error of this approximation by

$$R'(x_i, y_i) = R(x_i, y_i) - g'(x_i)h'(y_i).$$

it is possible to approximate it in turn by product $g''(x_i) h''(y_j)$, and find function $g''(x_i)$ and $h''(y_i)$ by minimization of the sum of the squares of resulting errors.

Appraisal of acsuracy of approximation can be made by the value of the mean quadratic deflection, which is determined as the square root of the ratio of dispersion of the last remainder to dispersion of the original function

$$= \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{|R_{i}(x_{j}, y_{j})|^{2}}{\sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{P_{i}(x_{j}, y_{j})}{\sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{P_{i}(x_{j}, y_{j})}{\sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{P_{i}(x_{j}, y_{j})}}$$

$$(6.44)$$

Thus, for the given $f(x_i, y_j)$ we find functions $g(x_i)$, $h(y_j)$, $g'(x_i)$, $h'(y_j)$, etc, for fixed values of x_i , y_j . During reproduction of the found functions by diode converters it is natural to use linear interpolation between tabular values of the found function.

This method is useful for representation of functions of many variables, which here are reduced to functions of one and two variables (see for more detail E. W. Pike and T. R. Silverberg [1]).

Functional diagram of a functional generator for a function of two variables, using the decomposition (6.40), is shown in Fig. 93. As follows from the figure, with such approximation there are required six functional generators, two factor devices and one adder.

To a somewhat different composition of the required equipment leads consideration of given function f(x, y) by sections for given fixed values of y_i . In every section here we get a function of one variable $f_j(x, y_j)$.

Transition from $f_j(x, y_j)$ to the curve of the following section can be carried

eut by application of one or another intepolating function. Usually here there s used linear interpolation. An example of such electromechanical device, made the functional potentiqueters, is shown in Fig. 94.



Fig. 93. Functional diagram of functional device for reproduction of functions of two variables.

During application of dicde generators for reproduction of each function $f_j(x, y_j)$ it is necessary to resort to their piecewise-linear approximation. Here transition from one function to another is best carried out by "triangular func-tions."

Skeleton diagram of such a converter is shown in Fig. 95.



Fig. 94. Skeleton diagram of electromechanical device with functional potentiometers for reproduction of a function of two varibles.

-1:12-

[&]quot;A. A. Fel'daum and A. I. Manukhin, Electronic apparatus for obtaining functions of two variables, Auth. cert. No. 100891, priority from October 16, 1951.



Fig. 95. Skeleton diagram of functional generator for reproduction of functions of two varibles.

Variable x moves to the input of diode functional generators designed for reproduction of functions $f_j(x, y_j)$. Voltage, representing in the device the value of these functions, is passed accordingly through dividers $x_j(y)$, so that at the output of each divider we obtain the product of $x_j(y)f_j(x, y_j)$, where $x_j = 1$.

These products then are summed so that the output quantity will be equal to

$$\mathbf{z} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathbf{z}_{j}(y) f_{j}(x, y_{j}).$$
(6.45)

Functions $z_j(y)$ have triangular form. Their form is shown in Fig. 96. When $y = y_1 z_1(y) = 1$, and $z_2(y) = 0$, therefore, $z = f_1(x, y_1)$; when

$$\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{f}_2(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}_2).$$

In the interval between y_1 and y_2

 $y = y_2 z_1(y) = 0$, and $z_2(y) = 1$

1.1

$$z = z_1(y) f_1(x, y_1) + z_2(y) f_2(x, y_2).$$

If one were to fix a certain value $x = x_1$, then during change of y inside the considered interval, s will change linearly between values $s_1 = f_1(x_1, y_1)$ and $z_2 = f_2(x_1, y_2)$.



Fig. 96. Graph of function a, (y).

Thus, application of "triangular" functions also leads to linear interpolation. Here as can be noted from comparison of Figs. 95 and 96, in reproduction of given function simultaneously participate only two adjacent functional generators of $f_j(x, y_j)$ which significantly reduces total error as compared with the aboveconsidered method of representation of a function of two variables, with which there must simultaneously work six functional generators and two factor devices. The fundamental circuit of such a functional generator, developed by A. A. Fel'dbaum and A. I. Manukhin [1], is shown in Fig. 93. Here multiplication of $f_j(x, y_j)$ and

 $x_j(y)$ is carried out by a device based on the time-pulse principle. Quantity ywill be converted in the relative duration of pulses, controlled by connection of outputs of separate functional generators $\Phi H_1 \dots \Phi H_n^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ by diodes $A_1, A_2, \dots, A_n^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ to the integrating point of output operational amplifier 1. Control occurs in such a way that with increase of y within limits adjacent sections Δy_j and $\Delta y_{j+1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ the relative duration of switching on of ΦH_i at first grows from zero to one, and then toward the end of section Δy_{j+1} again falls to zero. Here the mean value of voltage at the output of integrating amplifier 1 from this functional converter will change according to the law of the triangle. Control of diodes A_1, \dots, A_n

"Functional generators $\phi \Pi_1$, $\phi \Pi_n$ consist of separate diode elements (see page 142), whose currents are summed by amplifier 1.

-211-

is produced in the circuit of Fig. 97 by triggers T_1 , T_2 ,..., T_n . Voltage, representing variable y, is fed to auxiliary amplifier 2 through resistance R_{02} . Resistances of feedback for this amplifier are resistances R_1 , R_2 ,..., R_n , coupled to plates of triggers, having potentials U'_1 , U'_2 ,..., U'_n . (utput voltage U_y of amplifier 2 through voltage dividers $R_{T11} - R_{T21}$, $R_{T12} - R_{T22}$,..., $R_{T1n} - R_{T2n}$ moves to grids of the triggers. Here also move reference voltages (U_{01} , U_{02} ,..., U_{0n}) from divisor A H and voltage U_n of sawtooth form with frequency of the order of 1000 cps.

「日本武王

In the absence of an input signal the reference voltage displaces voltage U_n so much that not one trigger works. In this position on some output of triggers there will be large positive potentials U_1 , U_2 ,..., U_n , and on others negative potentials U'_1 , U'_2 ,..., U'_n . Resistances R_1 , R_2 , R'_3 and R'_n of the circuit of auxiliary commutating diodes \mathcal{A}_i are selected with such magnitude that here both diodes are locked and at points M_1 , M_2 ,..., M_n of the circuit there is fed a positive potential. As a result all diodes $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_n$ turn out to be locked, and on the output of the integrating amplifier voltage is zero. With increase of input voltage resultant voltage reaches the threshold of operation of the trigger. This occurs at the end of the period of change of voltage U_n first on the grid of trigger T_1 , whereupon the trigger is switched on for very short interval of time : (Pig. 98). With switching on of the trigger potential U, becomes negative and both diodes \mathcal{A}_i are unlocked, fixing here, the potential of the ground at point M_1 . Diode \mathcal{A}_i is unlocked and voltage, representing function $f_1(x, y_1)$, passes to amplifier 1. With durther increase of y the time of the switched-on state of trigger T1 increases and when $y = y_1$ it equals period T of the change of saw ooth voltage U_n. Further increase of the input signal leads to operation of trigger T_2 at first for a very short interval of time. With switching on of the second trigger diodes A_i are locked and diode \mathcal{A}_i is locked. Thus, with increase of input signal above \mathbf{y}_1 , relative duration of multched-on state of diode \mathcal{A}_1 starts to decrease. The

-212-

remaining parallel circuits work similarly.



Fig. 97. Fundamental circuit of functional generator.



Fig. 98. Explanation of work of circuit of conversion of output signal into relative pulse length.

With the help of feedback through resistances R_1 , R_2 ,..., R_n we can setablish proportionality between input signal and variable mean value of voltage at output

of triggers, and consequently, the relative duration of switching on independently of variation of parameters of the circuit and linearity of change of voltage U_n . Capacitors C_1 and C_2 are connected to decrease the variable component in output voltage.

A deficiency of the considered circuit, besides large volume of required equipment, is also the comparatively small passband, which is limited, as for most systems based on the time-pulse principle, to a frequency of 10 - 15 cps.

Of great interest in this connection is study of the possibility of use of the previously considered diode generators of one variable for reproduction also of functions of two variables.

「おんちかちをいたかかい

If in these generators we make the reference voltage variable also, then there can be obtained a family of nonlinear dependences with parameter $e_{\rm on}$. If we use a functional generator with potentially grounded diodes, then during linear change of reference voltage in function $e_{\rm sid}(e_{\rm sid})$ represents the second variable) there results a family of equidistant nonlinear curves. This follows the fact that for diode elements with potentially grounded diodes change of reference voltage does not lead to change of steepness of the current characteristic, but only to its parallel displacement. If one were to change $e_{\rm on}$ according to a certain nonlinear dependence $e_{\rm on} = K(e_{\rm sid})$, then it is possible to reproduce a more complicated function of two variables. In Fig. 99 is brought the family of curves and circuit of a diode functional generator for their reproduction.^{**}

As it was shown in the work of Meissinger, in general during reproduction of an arbitrary function of two variables it is necessary to change reference voltage of every diode element by its own law depending upon $r_{\rm etc}$. Therefore, for example, with 10 diode elements there will be required ton auxiliary functional generators.

-214-

[&]quot;The figure is borrowed from the work of H. F. Meissinger [2]. It is necessary to note that this circuit possesses the deficiency that toward the end of the scale of the argument all diode elements turn out to be switched-on in the circuit.

However thorough analysis of character of flow of functions given for reproduction by separate sections allows us to reduce the number of required functional generators by feeding from one functional generator $K_{i}(r_{ort2})$ of those diode elements, which participate in formation of sections of the curve, having identical steepness.

It is most convenient in studying the initial dependences to use the method of isoclines receiving wide use in the qualitative theory of differential equations.

Determination of functions of reference voltage $g_1(e_{ux2}), \ldots, g_n(e_{ux2})$, its required for reproduction of a given function of two variables, can be carried out in the following manner: the function given for reproduction $e_{uux} = \sqrt{(z_1e_{ux1}, z_2e_{ux2})}$ will be placed on coordinates $e_{uux} e_{uux}$ or $e_{uux} e_{uux}$ for various fixed values of $(e_{uu2})_i$ in the first case and of $(e_{uu1})_i$ in the second.

By one of the curves of this family are determined current characteristics of input circuit of the operational amplifier and "eedback circuits, which are subjected to piecewise-linear approximation, and then there is determined the number of diode elements, their type and operating regime and switching voltage.

In case of application of diode elements with potentially grounded diodes for the i-th diode element on the basis of (5.19) this equality is correct:

$$\mathbf{r}_{mi} = \left[\mathbf{r}_{mi}^{n}\right]_{\mathbf{k}_{mi}} \frac{\mathbf{r}_{i}}{R_{i}}.$$
(6.46)

where i is the number of the diode element, j — the number of interval of decomposition for variable r_{i+1}

Since from approximation of the given curve we know e_{uv}^{u} for every fixed value of $(e_{uv})_{i}$ then, consequently, we know the relationship

$$\mathbf{r}_{n+1}^{*} = \bar{\mathbf{F}}_{n} \left[(\mathbf{r}_{n+2})_{j} \right]$$
 (6.47)

Substituting (6.47) in (6.46), we find

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{\boldsymbol{m}1} = \boldsymbol{E}_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{\boldsymbol{n}12}\right) = \frac{\boldsymbol{e}_{1}}{\boldsymbol{R}_{1}} \boldsymbol{E}_{1}\left((\boldsymbol{e}_{\boldsymbol{n}12})_{j}\right)$$



Fig. 99. Fundamental circuit of functional generator of two variables and the family of nonlin ar dependences reproduced by them.



Fig. 100. Graphic method of determination of functions $r\{r_{m,i}\}$

In Fig. 100 is brought a method of determination of these functions (H. F. Heissinger [2]), based on graphic construction of relationship (6.46).

Distance CD in a certain scale represents a unit of relative resistance. On this straight line we mark point E_1 is such a manner that distance CE_1 is equal to $\frac{R_1}{R_1+r_1}$. Passing straight lines, connecting points E_1 and r_{n+1}^n (for one and the same diode element, but for various values of (r_{n+2})) to intersection with a straight line, parallel to axis r_{n+1} and passing from it a distance CD, we will receive the desired values of r_{n+1} . This directly ensure from the similarity of the triangles thus obtained. Making like construction for switching voltages of the second diode element, we find for it the function of the reference values.

In many cases with proper selection of $\frac{r_1}{R_1}$ mutching voltages of

-217-

separate diode elements will be so connected among themselves that functions $g_{i}(e_{nel})$ will appear to coincide. Executing graphic construction in reverse order, there can found by the given $g_{i}(e_{nel})$ for one diode element the switching voltages for the remaining.

The presented method of reproductions of functions of two variables can be extended also to functions of more variables, if as the function of the reference voltage we use in turn a function of two variables.

Naterial brought in this paragraph[#] show that the problem of reproduction of a function of two or more variables presents great difficulties. Presently known solutions lead to significant complications of equipment and lowering of accuracy connected with this, and also require a large volume of preliminary calculation.

For these reasons it is possible to consider that development of functional devices for reproduction of a function of two or more variables still is far from completion.

[&]quot;In recent years receiving application are methods of synthesis of functional generators of many variable from diods logical elements, offered independently by T. E. Stern and G. A. Philbrick and further developed by S. A. Ginsburg (see, for sxample, T. K. Stern Piecewise---linear network analysis and synthesis, proceedings of the symposium on nonlinear circuit analysis, New York---London (1957); S. A. Ginsburg, Logical method of synthesis of functional _-enerators, Trans. of First Congress IFAK, Vol. IV, Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1961).

CHAPTER VII

FUNCTIONAL GENERATORS USING CATHODE-RAY TUBES

With necessity of rapid transition from one form of reproduced nonlinear dependence to another, and also in case of reproduction of functions with many extrema and functions, possessing great steepness, as is known from literature,* general-purpose functional generators, based on the use of the cathode-ray tube, can be applied.

Well-known types of such functional generators can be divided into two groups:

1. Devices of closed type with negative feedback, using principle of servo system.

2. Pulse devices of open type.

1. Devices of Closed Type, Based on Principle of Static Servo System.

In Fig. 101 is brought functional diagram of a functional generator based on a cathode-ray tube, built by principle of static serve system. In front of screan of electron-beam tube 1 with electrostatic control is placed opaque plate (mask), whose profile is executed in accordance with the nonlinear dependence given for reproduction. A certain distance from the mask is placed photo multiplier 2. Electronic beam of tube is deflected from axis y to an upper boundary determined by the horisontal side of the inscribed square, by voltage U₀.

*D. Nynall [1], D. N. Mackay [1], D. E. Sunstein[1], G. D. McCann, C. H. Wilts, B. N. Locanthi [1], H. W. Shults [1], E. J. Hancock [1]. During switching on of the photomultiplier the luminous flux, formed by the luminescent point on the screen, will cause appearance of photocurrent. Voltage drop from photocurrent in output resistor of photomultiplier after amplification by electronic amplifier 3 is fed to vertical plates Y-Y of the tube with such polarity that beam begins to lower toward the mask. After arriving at the boundaries of the



Fig. 101. Principal functional diagram of cathode ray functional generator with photomultiplier, 1-electron-beam tube; 2--photomultiplier, 3--amplifier; 4--transition units, 5--mask.



Fig. 102. Fundamental circuit of functional generator, 1--mask; 2--photomultiplier, 3--optics.

mask further lowering of the beam causes decrease of the area of the luminescent point on screen, and together with this decrease of voltage U_y , fed on the vertical plates. This decrease will occur until the difference between the initial value of voltage U_0 and voltage drop from the photocurrent with the given

amplification factor of amplifier provides on the vertical plates the voltage, necessary for setting the beam on the edge of the mask. Obviously, this voltage will also depict the value of the function for the considered value of the argument. If one were to start to change voltage U_{x} on horizontal plates X-X, then accordingly the beam will be transferred along the edge of the mask, and voltage on plates Y-Y will change by the given nonlinear curve. Fundamental circuit of such functional generator as made by Institute of Automation and Telemechanics of Academy of Sciences of USSR is presented in Fig. 102. Here the transition unit controlling horizontal deflection of the beam is made from two tubes I_1 and I_2 , and the transition unit block controlling vertical deflection is made from double triode L_3 . Amplifier 1 serves as the amplifier of main channel, and amplifier 2--for setting the scale of the function. The scale of the argument can be set by potentiometer II-1. Potentiometer II-5 serves to compensate the constant component, appearing during shift of the curve given for reproduction with respect to axes of the tube for the purpose of maximum use of the area of the screen.

2. Error of the Functional Generator.

We will derive the basic relationship for estimating error of the given circuit. For this purpose it is convenient to present the functional diagram of Fig. 101 in the form of a block-diagram (Fig. 103a). Here are designated:

 $\Pi \mathbb{E}\Gamma \longrightarrow \text{bridging amplifier of horizontal deflection,}$ $k_{\text{adr}} \longrightarrow \text{amplification factor of bridging amplifier,}$ $\Gamma\Pi \longrightarrow \text{system of deflection of beam in horizontal,}$ $\lambda_{\text{rs}} \longrightarrow \text{sensitivity of system of beam deflection in the norizontal,}$ $\text{Mask} \longrightarrow \text{nonlinear dependence, given by profile of mask,}$ $\text{B}\Pi \longrightarrow \text{system of beam deflection in vertical,}$ $\lambda_{\text{rs}} \longrightarrow \text{sensitivity of system of beam deflection in vertical,}$

 $U_{\rm se}$. $U_{\rm ce}$ -- voltages on horizontal and vertical plates,

-221-

ITEB -- bridging amplifier of vertical deflection,

 $\Psi(d)$ -- characteristic of screen,

 $i = (y_{a}, y) - error in setting of beam in vertical,$

S -- area of undarkened part of fluorescent spot,

F -- luminous flux,

E -- transmission factor of luminophor,

 T_{i} -- time constant of luminophor,

1. -- current of protomultiplier,

I. -- dark current,

\$\$ (!) -- integral sensitivity of photomultiplier;

 $R_{\rm m}$ -- load resistor of photomultiplier,

 U_1 -- voltage on load resistor,

U₀ -- voltage of initial displacement of beam,

ed -- voltage of zero drift of amplifier, brought to the input,

e -- angle of inclination of profile of mask with horizontal.



Fig. 103. Block-diagram for derivation of fundamental equation of functional generator. KEY: (a) Amplifier.

Equations of separate units of block-diagram, Fig. 103, will be:

1. Equation of input circuit

$$\begin{array}{c} x = \lambda_{y_{H}} \mathbf{k}_{W \delta r} \mathbf{e}_{ux}, \\ y_{ux} = f(x). \end{array} \right\}.$$
 (7.1)

-222-

2. Equations of main channel of amplification of error in turn breaks up into:

a) Equation, determining dependence of unshaded part of spot on error $\delta = y_{MA} - y$

$$S = \Psi(\delta)\delta.$$

Form of function $\Psi(\delta)$ depends on given idealization of the shape of the spot and character of curvature of mask in the region of the spot. With a well focused spot it is possible with accuracy sufficient for practice to consider that the spot has the shape of a circle, and the mask in the region of the spot can be replaced by a sloping straight line AE (Fig. 103b).

With these assumptions

$$S = r^2 \left(\arccos\left(\frac{b}{b_{\min}}\right) - \frac{b}{b_{\min}} \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{b}{b_{\min}}\right)^2} \right).$$

Assuming movements of the light spot about the mask to be small, after expansion of quantity $\arccos\left(\frac{b}{b_{mix}}\right)$ in a series and disregarding all terms $\frac{b}{b_{mix}}$ of a degree higher than the first, we will receive*

$$S = \frac{\pi r^2}{2} \left[1 - \frac{4}{\pi} \frac{b}{b_{max}} \right].$$

b) Equation of luminous flux

$$T_{a}\frac{dF}{dt}+F=E(t)\cdot S.$$

c) Equation of photomultiplier

$$I = I_{\tau} + I_{s} = z(t)F + I_{\tau},$$

$$U_{1} = IR_{s} = R_{\kappa} o(t)F + I_{\tau}R_{s}.$$

d) Equation of amplifier

$$e_{\text{num}} = K_{\text{v}}(-U_0 + U_1 \pm e_0).$$

Solving the given equations for $e_{\mu\mu\mu}$, we receive finally equations of the main channel of amplification in the form

$$e_{ab:x} = K_{y} [R_{y} \circ (t)F + I_{y}R_{y} - U_{y} \pm e_{d}].$$

$$T_{a} \frac{dF}{dt} + F = E(t) \frac{\pi r^{2}}{2} \left(1 - \frac{4}{\pi} \cdot \frac{y - y_{id}}{\delta_{max}}\right).$$
(7.2)

*Derivation of this dependence belongs to A. D. Talantsev.

3. Equation of feedback circuit

$$\mathbf{y} = \lambda_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} \cdot \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{n}} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{u}\mathbf{n}} \tag{7.3}$$

Considering that $\partial_{\max} = \frac{r}{\cos x}$, we find from equations (7.1), (7.2) and (7.3) when $7 \to 0$

In a steady-state regime in ideal conditions, when voltage $U_0 = R_{\mu} z(t) E_{-\frac{r^2}{2}}^{-r^2}$, $I_r = 0$, $e_0 = 0$, with very large K_y and $f(x) = f(x_{\mu})$, from expression (7.4) we obtain

$$e_{\text{BMI-H}} = \frac{f(x_{\text{H}})}{h_{\text{BM}} \cdot k_{\text{BHB}}}.$$
 (7.5)

It follows from this that error of work of such functional generator will be caused by inaccuracy of making the mask $\Delta f = f_{wa}(x_w) - f(x_w)$, the finite value of the amplification factor of the main channel, time constant of luminophor, presence of dark current of photomultiplier, inaccuracy of setting of required quantity $U_{()}$, by drift of the amplifier and instability of sensitivity of the deflecting system.

For the purpose of decreasing error one should take special measures for accurate adjustment and manufacture of the mask. As amplifier of main channel it is desirable to use amplifier with automatic stabilization of zero level.

With very large amplification factor and ideal manufacture of mask the error, as expression (7.4) shows, will have the form

$$\Delta e_{\text{BMI}} = e_{\text{BMI}} - e_{\text{BMII}-H} = \frac{\left(U_0 - R_{\mu} \circ (l) E(l) \frac{\pi r^3}{2}\right) + I_1 R_{\mu} \pm e_{\mu}}{R_{\mu} \circ (l) E(l) 2r^2_{\text{eff}} R_{\mu\delta 0} \cdot c_{\mu\delta 1}}.$$
 (7.6)

It is obvious that this error will be less, the greater the magnitude of the denominator. This indicates a way of selecting parameters of photomultiplier, properties of mask and transmission factors of transition write.

Analysis of work of such functional generator shows that changes of dark current of photomultiplier and brightness of fluorescent point of screen in time in

-224-

essence determined the natural zero drift of functional generator, and inasmuch they act almost directly on the amplifier input, increase of the amplification factor of the latter in the presence of negative feedback does not lead to decrease of indicated drift.

In connection with this there were attempts (by C. N. Pederson, A. A. Gerlach, R. E. Zenner [1]) to surmount these difficulties by increasing dimensions of screen of the tube, transition to another type of screen and application of several photomultipliers. In Fig. 104 is brought a skeleton diagram of such a functional generator. In this generator the luminescent spot, appearing on the screen of the tube, is projected with the help of optics on black sheet of special paper, on which by white paint there will be depicted the graph of the function given for reproduction. Into the circuit of vertical beam deflection there is fed biased voltage, which is sufficient to move the beam to the upper edge of the tube. Light, emitted by the luminescent spot of the screen, passing through the white line on the black screen, is reflected from it and hits the group of photomultipliers. Here at the output of the amplifier there appears voltage of such sign, with which the beam seeks to drop down. As a result the beam will be



Fig. 104. Fundamental circuit of functional generator with photomultipliers and cathode-ray tube with magnetic control. 1--amplifiers of deflecting systems, 2--coil of vertical deflection; 3--coil of horizontal deflection, 4--cathode-ray tube; 5--photomultipliers, 6--optical system, 7--graph of given function (white on black background), 8--light absorber, 9--amplifier of signal.

-225-

held on boundary of the white line and with change of voltage in the system of horizontal deflection will track the boundary of the white line. Thickness of the white line, by which the graph of the function given for reproduction is depicted, should increase with increase of steepness of this function. With an angle of inclination, approaching 90°, for retention of the beam on the white line its thickness should be in the order of 3 mm. By application of four photomultipliers fluctuations of total dark current are sharply reduced.

According to the data of C. N. Federson, A. A. Gerlach, R. E. Zenner {1} the described device ensures accuracy of 0.5%, a passband of 100 c, ease and speed of set up.

Of great interest also are functional generators with application of cathoderay tubes, which do not require conversion of the beam current into luminous flux. From literature we know the principle of construction of such a generator (A. C. Munster [1]). In a cathode-ray tube, equipped with the usual gun with electrostatic deflection of beam, there is placed a plate-target, made from material, possessing a significant coefficient of secondary emission (for example, aluminum oxide).



Fig. 105. Fundamental circuit of functional generator with internal receiver of beam. KEY: (a) Collector.

Part of the target is covered with carbon ink in such a way that the curve,

1

C

t

7

27

t

t

bounding the carbon dye, depicts the function given for reproduction. In the tube is placed an additional electrode-collector (Fig. 105), gathering secondary electrons, flying from the target under the influence of electron bombardment of the beam. Aluminum and carbon have at selected accelerating voltages different coefficients of secondary emission (for aluminum oxide $\sigma = 2$, and for carbon dye

 $\sigma < 1$). Therefore the direction of current in resistor R_H will vary depending upon what part of the target the electron beam strikes. If after preliminary amplification we use the voltage drop at R_H to control deflection of the beam by plates Y-Y, then it is possible with feeding of the input signal to plates X-Y to force the electron beam to follow the boundary between the carbon dye and aluminum oxide. Here voltage after the amplifier will represent the desired value of the function.

Such a functional generator, as follows from this description, does not require conversion of current of the beam into a luminous flux. However there is required accurate adjustment of the target inside the tube, which presents known difficulties, and there also appears an additional source of error due to instability of coefficients of secondary emission along the boundary of the division.

By principle of action the considered functional generator cannot be generalpurpose. Replacement of functions signifies replacement of the electron-beam tube.

For construction of a functional generator based on a cathode-ray tube, which would not require conversion of beam current into a luminous flux, and then into photomultiplier current, it is possible to use the phenomena occurring in the cathode-ray tube with accumulation of enarges (B. Chance, V. Huges [1]). In these tubes the screen should possess a coefficient of secondary emission $\sigma > 1$ in range of operating accelerating voltages and very high resistance. These requirements are met, for example, by Prex glass, from which envelopes of electron-beam tubes are usually p. spared. For use of this phenomenon on the surface of the tube (Fig. 106) is put a signal electrode, and inside is placed an additional

-227-

electrode (collector), under a positive potential, somewhat exceeding the potential of the second plate. As collector there can serve, for example, an Aquadage electrode, utilized for post deflection acceleration.



Fig. 106. Principle of action of a cathode-ray tube with accumulation of charges. 1--capacitor; 2--signal electrode; 3--glass; 4--electron beam.

The surface of the screen, under the influence of the electron beam, will be charged positively until its potential comes near the potential of the collector. Certain secondary electrons, attracted by the field of the charged positive spot, will settle near it and will create a negatively charged region (Fig. 106b). Changing periodically the intensity (brightness) of the beam by the influence on potential of a modulating electrode, it is possible to carry out periodic change of total charge at a given place of the screen which causes appearance of capacitive currents through the signal electrode. During use of the described phenomenon for construction of a functional generator the signal electrode is made of two parts, divided by a slot, made in the form of the function given for reproduction (B. Ya. Kogan [2]). Alternating current, removed from each part of the signal electrode, is amplified by high-frequency amplifier and is rectified. The rectified voltage is added in anti-phase to the input of the operational d-c amplifier, covered by negative feedback through the electron-beam tube (Fig. 107). When the beam is in the middle of the slot, current of each half of the conducting layer is identical and voltage at the output is equal to zero. With displacement of beam in the

-228-





Fig. 107. Functional generator based on cathode-ray tube without photomultiplier. a) fundamental circuit; 1--transition units, 2--high-frequency oscillator; 3-high-frequency amplifiers; 4--detectors; 5--d-c amplifier; b) general view: c) characteristic.

direction of one or the other plate at output there appears voltage of one or the other sign, and of the magnitude, necessary for holding the beam on the slot level. Obviously, this voltage will also represent the value of the desired function. The diagram and general view of a functional generator, built on such a principle by the Institute of Automation and Telemechanics of Academy of Sciences of USSR, is shown in Fig. 108, a and b) and its characteristic in Fig. 108c.*

"Functional generator developed by colleague of Institute, V. V. Gurov.

-229-

Basic data of this functional generator are such: input and output voltage ±100 v, output current--of the order of 10 ma, input impedance--greater than 200 kilohm, accuracy--of the order of 1.5-2% of total scale, passband--greater than 100 c.

2. Functional Generators with Controlled Beam Scanning

Principle of action of such functional generator is based on use of dynamic compensation (F. E. Temnikov [1]). It can be comprehended by the functional diagram in Fig. 108.*

Functional generator consists of cathode-ray tube 1, epague mask 9, iterating the curve given for reproduction, photomultiplier 2, located a certain distance from screen of the tube, pulse shaping unit 3, generator 4 for scanning of the beam of cathode-ray tube along y-y axis, peak detector 5 and integrating amplifier 6. To these elements are added (Fig. 108b) a source of constant compensating voltage 7 (3H) and key 8, protecting break-down of the beam of tube with sharp changes of voltage of the agrument.

Before beginning operation of functional generator cutput clamps of generator of scanning are closed and when $s_{mx} = 0$ the electronic beam of tube is at point 0.

With starting of functional generator output voltage of generator of scanning deflects the beam to one of the edges of the mask. With departure of the beam beyond the edge of the mask, thanks to illumination of the photomultiplier there occurs a sharp change of voltage on its load resistor due to change of current of photomultiplier. This change of voltage is shaped by unit BPM into a standard pulse, which starts the scanning generator in the opposite direction, by force of which the beam will move to the opposite edge. As a result there will be extablished natural oscillation of the beam between edges of the mask. Amplitude

^{*}Offered and developed in Academy of Sciences of USSR by A. D. Talantsev [3], [4]; see also R. Havilend [1].

of these oscillations will be directly proportional, and frequency inversely proportional to the distance between edges, when the beam moves with constant speed along the y-y axis.

Usually in such functional generators we use the dependence of amplitude of natural oscillations on distance between edges, since here rigid requirements are not put on linearity of change of voltage of generator of scanning. During change of e_{at} amplitude of natural oscillations will change by the same law, by which the distance between edges changes. When both edges of mask are symmetric with respect to axis x, amplitude of oscillations will reflect the ordinate of the function given for reproduction with accuracy up to a constant component. Amplitude of natural oscillations will be converted into constant voltage by a demodulator. As demodulator there is used a special circuit of a peak detector, ensuring linearity of rectifying in the operating range of frequencies with accuracy $\pm 0.1\%$. As generator of scanning we apply symmetric trigger, whose plates are loaded by integrating networks.



Fig. 108. Functional diagram of functional generator, based on principle of dynamic compensation. 1--cathoderay tube; 2--photomultiplier; 3--pulse forming unit; 4-generator of scanning, 5--peak detector; 6--integrating amplifier; 7--source of stabilised voltage for compensation of constant component; 8--key; 9--opaque mask.

Presence of initial distance by between edges of mask (Fig. 109) is caused by necessity of obtaining negative values of output voltage, and also the difficulty of obtaining small amplitudes of natural oscillations with very great frequency due

-231-

to inertness of system and nonlinearity of operation of peak detector at small signal amplitudes. Constant component caused by this initial amplitude of natural oscillations, is compensated at output by voltage U_O.

During operation of the generator there is possible random nonoperation of the scanning generator or break-down of natural oscillations owing to sharp change of input voltage . . . Therefore in the generator is provided special protection from break-down of natural oscillations. In case of nonoperation of scanning generator after appearance of beam on edge of mask output voltage of scanning generator will increase, until key K opens which will cause change of voltage at the input of BFI and in turn will cause appearance of impulse at output of BFI and operation of scanning generator. The next operation will occur when the beam reaches the opposite edge of mask, since with setting of beam beyond screen at output of photomultiplier appears a voltage jump, opposite in sign to that, which takes place with emergence of beam from behind the mask. Pulse shaping unit does not react to voltage jumps of this polarity. The very same occurs during nonoperation of TP at the other edge of mask. In absence of mask screen there take place natural oscillations, amplitude of which is greater than amplitude, corresponding to maximum width of mask, which is attained by corresponding adjustment of the key.



Fig. 109. Example of mask for functional generator, built on principle of dynamic compensation.

Frequency of natural oscillations for obtaining the widest possible passband for the device should be as high as possible. With a fixed maximum distance between edges of mask the lower limit of frequency of natural oscillations is determined basically by properties of the luminophor of the tube (time lag of glow and time of afterglow). In connection with this it is expedient in

-232-

such generators to use cathods-ray tube with screen made of calcium tungstate, possessing comparatively small afterglow and giving a blue glow, for which sensitivity of photomultiplier turns out to be the greatest.

With the taken dimensions of mask (Fig. 109) minimum frequency of natural oscillations is approximately 1000 c which provides a passband of about 100 c.

Main sources of error of functional generator are: inconstancy of moment of starting and switching off of scanning due to instability of brightness of the spot, nonlinearity and instability of peak detector, instability of power supplys (especially for compensation of constant component) and inaccuracy of manufacture of screen. Error due to inconstancy of moment of starting and switching off of generator of scanning significantly decreases with application of optics, projecting on photocathode the image of luminescent spot and screen. General view of such functional generator as made by Academy of Sciences of USSR is shown in Fig. 110. In generator is provided possibility of rapid transition from circuit with controlled scanning beam to circuit, operating on static principle.



Fig. 110. General view of cathode-ray functional generator with controlled scanning of beam.

Results of experimental checking of operation of functional generator with controlled unfolding of beam showed that

1) error of reproduction of functions with hand manufacture of mask lies within 1.5%;

2) drift of output voltage of order
 0.4 v in 15 min;

3) passband -- 30 c;

4) limits of change of output voltage +120 v with 10 kilohm load.

Comparison of functional generators, made of cathode-ray tubes on the static principle and those with controlled scanning

-233-

of beam shows that the latter, with other technical indices equal, require for their realisation more electronic equipment and give the worst use of the useful area of the mask. However along with functional generation these devices allow us to carry out also frequency modulation and several other cofunctions. Continuous movement of the beam on the screen in these devices gives a certain increase of period of service of cathode-ray tube, ensuring more uniform wear of screen.

By cathede-ray functional generators it is possible to reproduce also functions of two variables (G. Korn and T. Korn [1]). With this aim between the screen of cathode-ray tube and photomultiplier is placed a mask, whose transparency changes from point to point. The quantity of luminous flux, and consequently, the output current of photomultiplier will be proportional to transparency at a given point of the mask. Making the mask in such a manner that its transparency changes with respect to the given function, from the coordinates of the beam (or voltages on deflecting plates). One can obtain a functional generator of two independent variables.

$$I_{\phi xy} = f(e_{xx1}, e_{xx2}).$$

Application of such functional generator simplifies obtaining of complicated functions of the form

$$e_{\rm BMX} = v \sqrt{e_{\rm BX}^2 + e_{\rm BX}^2}$$

However accuracy of their work is low and constitutes 2-10% and the device itself is complicated, since it requires very stable operation of the screen of the tube and photomultiplier. Furthermore, technology of obtaining of semitransparent masks with given distribution of transparency is sufficiently labor-consuming.

During construction of specialized functional generators of two variables semitransparent mask can be located inside the electron-beam tube. Here the need of a photomultiplier, naturally, disappears.

-234-

4. Pulse Functional Generators of Open Type.

In recent years there have been offered a number of circuits (L. G. Polimerov [1], E. E. Newholt [1]) of pulse functional generators of open type using cathoderay tubes. In these functional generators, just as in those described above (page 239), a photomultiplier serves only as an indicator of appearance of beam in slits of mask.

「「ないない」というないないないできた

Functional diagram of a device is shown in Fig. 111. Here is depicted also a cathode-ray tube with mask, provided with two slits. Slit I corresponds to the function given for reproduction, and slit II serves to fix the axis of the argument. The beam with the help of scanning generator periodically deviates from the horizontal. At the moment of appearance of beam in slit II or slit I at the output of photomultiplier 2 appear pulses which change the position of trigger 6. As a result at the output of the trigger there can be singled out square pulses, duration of which will be proportional to the distance between edges of slits. So that measurement of this distance is made only during forward movement of beam (from slit II to slit I) slits are made of different width. This establishes a definite sequence of pulses during forward movement and other sequence during reverse. In the pulse selection unit 5 there is passed only the sequence of forward movement.



Fig. 111. Functional diagram of pulse functional generator of open type. 1--generator of scanning; 2--photomultiplier; 3--limiter; 4--pulse shaper; 5--pulse selection unit; 6--trigger; 7--key; 8--RC circuit; 9--peak detector; 10--cathode follower.

Conversion of duration of square pulses into voltage is carried out by

-235-

integrating network 8, and voltage on capacitor is fixed by peak detector 9. With frequency of scanning 500 c operating frequency of input signals does not exceed 5 c.

「「「「「「「「「」」」」」」」

Such functional generator is yielding to generators of closed type with controlled scanning of beam, since, other conditions equal, its accuracy depends on linearity of generator of scanning, and the passband turns out to be considerably narrower.

Essential improvement of performance of the considered functional generations was attained in the work of A. I. Petrenko [1], who offered a method of combining of pulse and continuous circuits.

-236-

CHAPTER VIII

MULTIPLIERS AND DIVIDERS

1. Classification and Short Survey of Principles of Construction of Multipliers.

Various constructions of multipliers and dividers are conveniently classified on the diagram, brought in Fig. 112. Here all devices are broken down into two groups: devices of direct and indirect action.



 $(S_{i}, S_{i}, S_{i}) \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, N_{i}\}$

Fig. 112. Classification of multipliers.

.

. . .

In direct action devices the operation of multiplication (division) of two independent variables is carried out directly by use of various physical laws.

In indirect action devices the operation of multiplication is carried out by a number of other mathematical operations. Here usually the transition to other mathematical operations is carried out on the basis of known relationships of analysis or algebra and requires, as ε rule, realization of functional generation. Thus, for example, using relationship

$$4x_{1} = (x_{1} + y_{1} - (x_{2} - y_{1}))$$
(8.1)

it is possible to replace operation of multiplication by operations of algebraic addition and squaring.

Functional diagram of device, reproducing equation (8.1) is shown in Fig. 113.



Fig. 113. Functional diagram of multiplier with square-law function generators. $\Phi\Pi$ -- square-law function generators.

As follows from the figure, for realisation of operation of multiplication there are required linear computing elements for summation and change of sign and two functional generators, carrying out squaring.

For construction of such functional generator, there can be used, for example: quadratic dependence of plate current on grid voltage of three-electrode electron tube in regions of small plate currents, nonlinear characteristics of pentodes (J. M. Dukes [1]), and cathode-ray or diode functional generators.

As another example let us consider obtaining of a product on the basis of

relationship

$$xy = a^{(12a^{x} + 18a^{y})}.$$
 (8.2)

Here it is already required to carry out other functional generation-finding a logarithm of an independent variable. The antilogarithm here is often obtained by coupling a logarithmic generator in the feedback circuit of the operational amplifier.

Since logarithmic function is not definite for negative values of argument, then multipliers of this type are useful directly only if the co-factors do not change sign. Otherwise it is neces ary to add constant positive quantities to co-factors x and y, and then by subtraction of corresponding quantities single out the desired product.

Thus, for example,

$$(x + a)(y + b) = anti [ly (x + a) + ly (y + b)].$$

whence

$$xy = -ab - ay - bx + anti [lg(x + a) + lg(y + b)].$$
 (8.3)

Logarithmic multipliers allow us to execute not only multiplication of several co-factors (two or more) and also involution and extraction of root.



Fig. 114. Functional diagram of multiplier with logarithmic generators.

In Fig. 114 there is presented the functional diagram of such a multiplier. Logarithmic functional generators can be based on the diverse principles. In certain cases there are used natural nonlinear characteristics of electron tubes.

In Fig. 115 is brought circuit (see B. Chance, V. Huges [1]) for obtaining product on the basis of expression (8.2) with use of known property of grid characteristic of triode:

$$U_{g} = h \log I_{g}. \tag{8.4}$$

which is correct with low grid currents, i.e., with large values of resistors, connected in grid circuit. For integrating amplifier it is possible to write

$$U_1 = U_a = -K_y [(U_{a_i})_1 - \mu U_{a_i} + (U_{a_0})_2 - \mu U_{a_i} - (U_{a_i})_3 - \mu U_{a_i} - U_u]$$

or

大学 おぼうま おおんにあして

1111

$$(U_{a_0})_1 - \mu U_{g_1} + (U_{a_0})_2 - \mu U_{g_2} - (U_{a_0})_2 + \mu U_{g_1} - U_0 + \frac{U_1}{K_y} = 0.$$

where subscripts 1, 2, 3 signify the number of the tube in the circuit.

Selecting U_0 in such a manner that $(U_{a_0})_1 + (U_{a_0})_2 - (U_{a_0})_3 = U_0$. and assuming $K_y \to \infty$, we receive

$$-U_{\ell_1} - U_{\ell_2} + U_{\ell_3} = 0,$$

whence it follows

$$\log l_g, + \log l_g, = \log l_g, \text{ or } U_1 = U_g = \beta U_g U_g.$$
(8.5)

Consequently, voltage U_z is the measure of product xy.



Fig. 115. Diagram of multiplier based on logarithmic dependence of plate current on grid voltage of triode.

Instability of characteristics of electron tubes leads to increase of error

١.

of such devices. In connection with this lately widely used are multipliers (B. Davis, I. Swift [1]) in which reproduction of logarithmic function is carried out on the basis of piecewise-linear approximation.

If one were to use the expression for total differential of product of functions

$$d(xy) = x \, dy + y \, dx. \tag{8.6}$$

after integration of both parts of equation we receive

$$xy = \int x \, dy + \int y \, dx. \tag{8.7}$$

In this case operation of multiplication is reduced to integration and summation. Since integration here should be produced for every independent variable, in the general case not being time, this method of obtaining a product cannot be realized on electronic integrators, carrying out, as we know, integration only with respect to time. This method, however, is successfully used in solving problems on mechanical integrators (I. S. Bruk [1], V. Bush [1]).

Comparative complexity of devices of indirect action and dependence of their error on accuracy of fulfillment of separate elements caused development of devices which execute the operation of multiplication (division) directly.

Direct action devices by principle of construction can be divided into two groups: compensational devices, either closed (with negative feedback), or parametric--open.



Fig. 116. Various principles of construction of multipliers.
In parametric devices are used elements, whose physical properties ensure fulfiliment of multiplication. Examples are linear d-d and a-c circuits (Fig. 116, a and b), for which the voltage drop on a circuit element is the product of two independent variables--current and resistance, or a wattmeter element (Fig. 116d), for which the moment developed by the mobile system is the measure of the product of two independent variables -- two currents or current and voltage. Likewise, the electromotive force is developed by a generator on idle running (Fig. 116c), is proportional to the product of two independent variables: speed of rotation of anmature and quantity of magnetic flux.



Fig. 117. Multiplier based on amplitude modulation of signals. 1--first balanced modulator; 2--second balanced modulator; 3--demodulator. KEY: (a) To carrier frequency source.

For obtaining a product there may also be used the phenomenon of amplitude modulation. In Fig. 117 is depicted the fundamental circuit of one such device (G. D. McCann, C H. Wilts, and B. N. Locanthi [1]), made on the basis of two balanced modulators: one, assembled in a annular circuit of dry-disc rectifiers, and the other--tube, using property of variable-mv tubes to change steepness of grid characteristic (in definite limits) directly proportionally to voltage applied to grid.

Modulated in the first modulator the input signal will form as it were the

-2.42-

voltage of the carrier frequency for the second modulator, where this carrier frequency a pecond time is modulated by a second input voltage. Double-modulated voltage of carrier frequency after amplification is rectified by phased rectifier (demodulator). Magnitude of rectified voltage turns out to be proportional to product of U_x and U_y .

In compensational devices the operation of multiplication is executed with coverage of the device or its main elements by negative feedback. Here it turns out that the result of operation of these devices under certain conditions does not depend on change of characteristics of elements, covered by feedback. Compensational multipliers are constructed on diverse principles. They can be divided into three main groups:

.) devices, based on automatic change of transmission factor of a certain network;

2) devices with electrodynamic elements;

3) devices, based on application of electron-beam tube with transverse electric and magnetic fields.





Fig. 118. Methods of realization of multiplication of signalternating signals. 1--multipliers, working with one signalternating co-factor; 2--differential amplifier.

-243-

Multipliers, made in the form of purely electronic systems, provide a sufficiently wide passband of signals and error within 0.1 = 2%. Electromechanical device although they ensure in principle large accuracy, have a narrow paraband (up to 1 c).

Usually to multipliers is presented the requirement to carry out the operation of multiplication of two co-factors, each of which can take both positive and negative values. Above it was shown how, with the help of a multiplier, working in principle only with positive values of co-factors (multiplier with logarithmic generator), it is possible to carry out multiplication of sign-alternating co-factors. In Fig. 118a and 118b are brought methods (G. Korn and T. Korn [1]) of realization of multiplication of two sign-alternating co-factors by multipliers, in principle allowing change of sign for only one co-factor.

In recent years most widely applied are multipliers based on the time-pulse principle, and multipliers made from square-law functional generators. The first ensure comparatively high accuracy 0.1 to 0.2% in a relatively narrow passband, the latter differ by a wide passband and accuracy within 0.5 to 1%.



Fig. 119. Methods of construction of dividers. $\phi \Pi$ --functional generator, 1--- multiplier.

Operation of finding a quotient usually is executed either by a multiplier in combination with a functional generator, giving the reciprocal (Fig. 119a), or by coupling a multiplier in the feedback circuit of an amplifier with large amplification factor (Fig. 119b). In the last case these equalities are correct.

$$I_{\mu} = \mathbf{k} I_{\mu} I_{\mu} = -\mathbf{k} I_{\mu} I_{\mu}$$

and since / / then

$$U_{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{s} & U_{s} \\ \mathbf{k} & U_{y} \end{bmatrix}. \tag{8.8}$$

The latter method of obtaining a divider requires less equipment and gives the possibility to obtaining the operation of division in a wider range of change of U_y as compared with application of a functional generator reformer for obtaining of quantities, reciprocal to U_y .

2. Multipliers Based on Principle of Automatically Regulated Transmission Factor.

These devices usually consist of a network, to whose input is fed a voltage, representing one co-factor, and the transmission factor automatically changes lenearly with change of voltage, representing the second co-factor.

Depending upon peculiarity of physical realization of this network we distinguish:

a) devices, made from an operational amplifier with a transmission factor changed by steps;

b) time-pulse devices, or, as they are otherwise called, devices with pulse dividers;

c) devices, based on double amplitude modulation;

d) AM-FM devices.

For increase of accuracy of conversion of one of the co-factors into the transmission factor of the network there is used introduction of negative feedback.

On skeleton diagram, Fig. 120, by \mathcal{A} -1 is designated the divider, to whose input is fed constant voltage U_{ij} , and from the output is removed part αU_{ij} (where α is the instantaneous value of the divider's transmission factor). This signal is compared by differential amplifier 3 with signal U_{x} , representing one of the co-factors. In case of mismatch, to the divider is fed a signal which

-245-



Fig. 120. Method of automatic control of transmission factor by negative feedback. $\mathcal{A}=1$, $\mathcal{A}=2$

--dividers; 3--differential

amplifiers.

changes its transmission factor in such direction as to eliminate this mismatch. In a steady-state reg me with very large K₃ this relationship is correct:

$$aU_0 = U_x$$

whence

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{1}{U_q} U_r.$$

If the coefficient of division of the second divider A-2 changes owing to the

same mismatch signal, then during feeding its input with voltage of Second co-factor $U_{\mathbf{y}}$ we receive

$$U_{z} = zU_{y} = \frac{U_{z}U_{y}}{U_{\bullet}}.$$
 (8.9)

Let us consider certain practical circuits of the above-mentioned multipliers. <u>a) Multiplier based on step change of transmission factor</u>. In the multiplier, based on step change of transmission factor of operational amplifier, there is used



Fig. 121. Skeleton diagram of multipliers with step change of transmission factor. 1, 2--amplifiers; t 3--reversible binary counter; 4-pulse generator and shaping cascade; U 5--command output, sensitive to polarity and magnitude of mismatch i signals. KET: (a) Count; (b) Add; (c) Subtract.

the basic ratio for an operational amplifier:

$$e_{\rm BMR} = -\frac{Y_1}{Y_2} e_{\rm BV1}.$$

When $Y_2 = \text{const}$ output voltage is proportional to product of conductance Y_1 and $e_{\text{st},i}$. If one were to make conductance Y_1 according to law

$$Y_1 = k e_{s1,2}$$
 (8.10)

then such a device would execute the operation of multiplication.

However it presents great difficulties to execute conductance, linearly changing under the influence of voltage and not introducing here its own emf to the circuit.

-246-

Therefore we usually resort to approximate realisation of relationship (8.10), replacing linear dependence by step or changing to linear dependence between mean values.

In Fig. 121 is brought skeleton diagram of one variant of such a multiplier (E. A. Goldberg [1]). Conversion of one of co-factors into a proportional change of conductance is carried out here by a unique system of negative feedback, including a digital device.

For the first operational amplifier this equality is correct:

$$U_{a} = -\left[U_{a}\frac{Y_{11}}{Y_{1}} - U_{a}\frac{Y_{11}}{Y_{1}}\right].$$
 (6.11)

If this voltage exceeds a specific positive value $U_{A_1}^* > 0$, the device delivering commands lets pulses pass to the binary counter, which for each pulse takes away one from the number earlier fixed on it. To each digit of the binary counter there corresponds a relay and a conductance (iY_{12}) connected by this relay to the input of the operational amplifier. This process will occur until Y_{12} changes so much that with constant U_{a_1} U_{a_2} will be less than U_{a_2} . In this case access of pulses to binary counter will stop. When $U_{a_2} < U_{a_3} < 0$, then device delivering commands again lets pulses pass to the binary counter, but now every pulse already adds one to the number on the counter and thereby switches the relay in such a manner that

$|U_1| < |U_1|$.

When $U_{a} \rightarrow 0$ in a steady-state regime this relationship is correct:

$$U_{\mu}\frac{Y_{\mu}}{Y_{\mu}}-U_{\mu}\frac{Y_{\mu}}{Y_{\mu}}=0$$

whence

$$Y_{\rm m} = \frac{Y_{\rm in}}{U_{\rm r}} U_{\rm r} \tag{8.12}$$

If binary counter simultaneously controls several identical systems of relays, and the latter commute conductance to input of other operational amplifiers, then at the output, for example, of operational amplifier 2 we will receive

$$U_{g} = -U_{g} \frac{Y_{g_{1}}}{Y_{g}}.$$

If we assume that
$$Y_{21} \in Y_{11}$$
, and $Y_{11} = Y_2$, then

$$U_* (C_* = U_* (C_* = U_*))$$
(P.13)

Since input imperance, commuted by the relays, is constituted from passive elements, then for realization of multiplication with sign-alternating co-factor V_X we use addition to the input of first operational amplifer of a positive fixed voltage U_0 , in magnitude exceeding the maximum possible value of voltage U_X . Here in the product there is a superfluous component $\frac{U_2U_2}{U_2}$, which must be deducted by feeding the input of the operational amplifier 2 an additional component after sign-inverter 3 (Fig. 122).



Fig. 122. The same as in Fig. 121 but for multiplication of sign-alternating signals. 1, 2, 3--amplifiers; 4--reversible binary counter; 5--command output; 6--pulse generator and shaping cascade. KEY: (a) Add; (b) Count; (c) Subtract.

In the described device there were provided 11 binary digits in the binary counter and correspondingly 11 passive circuits, commuted to input of operational amplifier which allowed us to set conductance at the output with accuracy of 0.0025% in reference to maximum value.

1.1

For acceleration of operation of levice as commuting devices there were used special high speed relays with a response time, of exceeding 100 microseconds. At a frequency of subscrepetition of 1000 c the time, required to change Y_{12} with intermittent change of U_x by a total magnitude, constituted 1 sec.

The considered device allows us to realize simultaneous multiplication of magnitude U_x by several variables U_{y1} , U_{y2} , U_{y3} ,...Here we need additional conductances, controlled from relays, and corresponding quantity of operation amplifiers. Other equipment will be common for all multiplication circuits.

The device as a whole possesses a low passband and requires a large number of electron tubes.

b)Hultipliers, based on application of pulse voltage dividers (time-pulse devices). Multipliers considered in this section are based on change of spacing of periodic sign-alternating rectangular pulses proportional to one of the co-factors and of the amplitude of these palses proportional to the second.



Fig. 123. Principles of construction of time-pulse multipliers. 3--key controlling units.

In Fig. 123a is a skeleton diagram of the device, explaining the principle of Its operation. Key K is periodically switched from contact A to contact B, grounding thereby the lower, and then the upper voltage divider. To the upper voltage divider is fed a positive value of first co-factor, and to the lower--a negative, obtained with the help of sign-inverting amplifier 1.

To the output of the device moves voltage $a(\cdot)$, when key is on contact λ

-249-

and $- x U_{x}$ with transition of key to contact B.

Let time of stay of key on contact A be t_1 , on contact B, t_2 , and total period of operation of key--T.

We will calculate mean value of output voltage of device for period T:

$$U_{\text{BWX cy}} = 2U_y \frac{t_1 - t_2}{T}$$
. (8.14)

From formula it follows that mean value of output voltage will be proportional to product of U_v by relative duration (spacing) of operation of key:

$$\mathbf{t} = \frac{t_1 - t_2}{T} \,. \tag{8.15}$$

If one were to construct circuit of control of key K in such a manner that

 $E k_1 U_x$, then

$$U_{yu1,cy} = U_y U_{x^2} k_1. \tag{8.16}$$

So that such a device operates correctly, it is necessary that frequency of switching of key is significantly higher than frequency of change of input signals U_X and U_y , i.e., that for the period of operation of key K these voltages can be considered practically constant. Capacitor C serves to smooth the sign-alternating high-frequency pulses.

For simplification it is possible to execute the circuit of the multiplier with sign-alternating co-factors, using only a one-way key (Fig. 123b). In this case, so that output voltage of amplifier 2 had equal amplitudes during open and closed state of the key, obviously, it is necessary, that

$$R_3 = 2(R_1 + R_2).$$

In recent years there have been offered a number of devices, working on this principle. These devices differ mainly in method of physical realization of key and circuit of obtaining the dependence $\xi = k_1 U_x$. As key frequently there are used polarized relays, fed by alternating current (D. Isle [1], G. Korn and T. Korn [2]).

Simultaneously with feeding by alternating current into coil of relay is introduced magnetizing, created by voltage U_X of second co-factor. Thanks to flow

of magnetizing current armsture of relay lags in one extreme position longer than in the other, and thus there is attained change of spacing of rectangular pulses.



Fig. 124. Electromechanical time-pulse multipliers with negative feedback. IIP -polarized relays, i --static transmission factor of filter, 1--smoothing filter.

To improve linear dependence of spacing of pulses on voltage U_x there is applied the compensational circuit (G. Korn and T. Korn [2]) shown in Fig. 124.

This circuit can work also in the absence of external alternating voltage due to natural oscillations.

Such multipliers are outstanding in their simplicity and comparatively low cost.

Error of their work is 3-3.5%, and passbell is not higher than 1 cycle. Desire to expand passband of such devices and increase accuracy of their operation lead to replacement of relays by the electronic key.



Fig. 125. Circuit of diode key.

The most wide-spread circuit of diode key, applied in these devices, is shown in Fig. 125 for the case of a one-way key. To terminals M---N is fed alternately voltage from control unit by the key first ± 150 v and then ± 150 v. When there is fed ± 150 v, both pairs of diodes open, whereupon

the difference of potentials between points a and b becomes equal to zero; the key is closed. In the case of opposite polarity diodes are closed and the key is open; the input signal passes into the operational amplifier.

In Fig. 126a is the functional, and in Fig. 126b the fundamental diagram of a multiplier, developed at the Academy of Sciences of USSR.*

*Figs. 126 and 127 are borrowed from work of I. S. Bruk and N. N. Lenov [1].

Stable frequency oscillator creates sinusoidal oscillations, which with the help of pulse shaping circuit $\frac{1}{2}M$ will be converted into pulses with frequency 2.5 kc, starting oscillator of saw-tooth oscillations IIT .

The pulse shaper at the beginning of each operating period of the saw-tooth oscillator gives a pulse to trigger T, bringing it to initial position. If for each cycle of operation gives a voltage linearly variable in time with a small return time (of the order of 0.05 T), symmetric relative to zero (Fig. 126b). Voltage $U_{\rm ar}$ moves to gain comparator CA, where it is compared with input voltage $U_{\rm X}$. At the moment of equality of $U_{\rm ar}$ and $U_{\rm X}$ the gain comparator sends a pulse to second input of trigger T and transfers it to another position. Output voltage of the trigger controls the diode key, consisting of four double diodes and two voltage dividers (Fig. 127).

From the diagram of change of voltages at separate points of the circuit, in Fig. 126b, it follows that spacing of rectangular pulses at output will be

$$\xi = \frac{t_1 - t_2}{T} = \frac{U_x}{U_{\text{nr}}}$$

Therefore according to expression (8.14) mean value of output voltage will constitute

$$U_{\text{awx cp}} = \frac{1}{U_{\text{BF}}} U_x U_y. \tag{8.17}$$

Stable frequency oscillator, pulse shaper and saw-tooth oscillator are mounted separately and are equipment, common to all multipliers the simulator.

Voltage from HP moves to gain comparator through cathode follower, reproducing input signal with error, not exceeding 0.05% (tubes J_1 and $-\frac{1}{2}J_2$ on the diagram of Fig. 127), and eliminating interaction of separate multipliers of the installation. The gain comparator is built by a circuit with positive feedback through transformer HT (tube J_4). Trigger consists of double writele $\delta N8$ (I_5). Diode key consists of four $\delta N8$ tubes ($J_6 - J_9$), working in diode regime. With the help of toggle switch T it is possible to change the sign of output voltage of the device. Sign-changing amplifier and output amplifier are standard operational amplifiers

of an analog.



P: 226. Multiplier of analog of Academy of accusaces of USSR. KEY: (a) Sign-changing amplifier; (b) Diode key.

As expression (8.17) and analysis of work of such devices show, main sources of error for them will be: unequalness of steepness of leading and trailing edges of pulses at the trigger output, instability of amplitude, error in linearity of voltage $U_{\rm ar}$, and also imprecise work of keys with increase of the commutation frequency. According to the data of N. N. Lenov [1], total error of such a device constitutes 1%, and the passband is 19 c.



Fig. 127. Operation of multiplier of Fig. 126. KEY: (a) Germanium; (b) Sign-changing amplifier.

-253-

It is possible to significantly decrease influence of above-mentioned factors on the device's error, if the circuit of conversion of co-factor U_X into spacing of rectangular pulses is excuted on the principle of negative feedback, as this is offered in Vol. 21 of Trans. Massachusetts Institute of Technology and in further developed by A. A. Fel'dbaum and A. I. Manukhin [1].

In distinction from earlier considered circuit here trigger T simultaneously controls two diods one-way keys (Fig. 128). Key K₁ passes voltage of one of the cofactors Uy to output operational amplifier. To key K₂ is fed a constant "reference" vol age U₀. Output voltage U₂ of key K₂ is averaged by filter R_{ϕ} , C_{ϕ} and is fed into amplifier 1 through resistor R₂ with a sign, opposite the sign of voltage U₂.

Thus, for amplifier 1 there will be formed a negative feedback circuit through trigger T, key K₂, filter and resistor R₂. When $U_{\chi} = 0$ there is established voltage U_1 of such magnitude that $\xi = 0$. Voltage at integrating point Σ of amplifier 1 will be

$$U_{a} = U_{a} \frac{R_{a}}{R_{i} + R_{a}} - \frac{R_{i}}{R_{i} + R_{a}} U_{cp}.$$
 (8.18)

With a very large amplification factor of amplifier 1 magnitude U_i can be disregarded as compared with components of the right side of equation (8,18), and

$$U_{cp} = U_s \frac{R_1}{R_1}.$$

On the other hand, according to (8.14)

 $U_{co} = aU_{co}$

whence

ときいたいでいた」を、「ないないない」ない、あませい

$$i = \frac{R_s}{R_1} \frac{1}{aU_0} U_s. \tag{8.19}$$

From expression (8.19) it follows that considered circuit with large meaning of amplification factor of amplifier 1 establishes proportionality between input signal and spacing of rectangular pulses at the key output.

Instability of amplitude of voltage of saw-toothed oscillations U_{nr} , amplification factor K: amplifier 1 and value of initial spacing does not affect accuracy of conversion. Equally small deflections in linearity of voltage U_{nr} are



Fig. 128. Skeleton diagram of time-pulse multiplier with negative feedback and diode keys. KEY: (a) To input of output operational amplifier. Accuracy of result will depend on stability of U_0 , $\frac{R_2}{R_1}$ and 2.

This investigation carries a qualitative character, since by force of the finite value of amplification factor there will be introduced certain error. Furthermore, unequalness of time constant of charge and discharge of capacitor C_{φ} during operation of the key will also affect the departure from linear dependence (8.19).

Fundamental circuit of a multiplier is shown in Fig. 129. Six envelopes in the circuit are distributed as follows: J_1

and I_2 constitute d-c amplifier 1, I_3 will form an asymmetric trigger with cathode coupling, I_4 , I_5 and I_6 --diode keys K_1 and K_2 . Tube I_5 is common to diode keys K_1 and K_2 . Capacitor C_2 serves to prevent of generation of the d-c amplifier, but capacitor C_1 will form integrating feedback, improving filtration of voltage in the circuit. Setting of trigger in initial position is carried out by a voltage pulse, appearing at the moment of a jump of saw-toothed voltage. Output voltage of considered multiplier is determined on the basis of (8.14) and (8.19) by expression

$$U_{\text{surf. ep}} = U_{s \text{ ep}} = \frac{R_s}{R_1} \frac{U_s U_y}{U_y}$$

If reference voltage U_0 and voltage U_y change places, such a time-pulse device will execute the operation of division.

Main parameters of the device (according to the data of A. A. Fel'dbaum and A. I. Manukhin [1] with $U_{\rm BF}$. frequency equal to 1000 c are such:

1) time of initiating the operating mode 12 min;

2) maximum drift of output voltage in 100 sec 80-100 mv, in 10 min-140 mv;

3) maximum error of product 10.4v;

State States

Association and

4) maximum background at output 1 mv;

5) gain-frequency response has a slump of less than 5% for channel U_X up to frequency 12 c, for channel U_V --- up to frequency 16 c.

Further improvement time-pulse multipliers has been in the direction of increase of static accuracy and expansion of passband.*

In the circuit (C. D. Morrill and R. V. Baum [1]) shown in Fig. 130 this is attained by transition to stabilized electronic keys (K_1 and K_2) and introduction into the self-excited regime a circuit of conversion of U_X into spacing of pulses. Here there drops the need for a source of saw-toothed voltage.

Stabilized electronic key is an operational amplifier with two feedback circuits parallel to the amplifier. Each feedback circuit is commutated by a double triode, controlled through two-cycle amplifying cascade by rectangular pulses of trigger circuit.

Depending upon polarity of rectangular pulses, arriving at grid of tube I_3 tube I_1 or I_2 opens. Output voltage is removed from points A and A' of keys K_1 and K_2 accordingly. When the upper feedback circuit (R_{01}) is closed, the lower is open, and voltage U_A is equal to voltage at integrating point of amplifier 1. In practice one can consider it equal to zero. Upon closing the lower feedback circuit the upper one opens and output voltage obtains the value

$$U_{\mathbf{A}} \simeq -\frac{R_{\mathbf{H}}}{R_{\mathbf{H}}} U_{\mathbf{a}}.$$
 (8.20)

With such a principle of construction of a key there is removed drift and influence of natural parameters of commutating tubes on accuracy of work of system, and we can also increase frequency of commutation of voltage U_X and thereby expand the passband.

#See, for example, E. A. Goldberg [3], E. Flater and K. Fräntz [1].



Fig. 129. Fundamental circuit of multiplier.

We will derive basic relationships for the considered circuit (Fig. 130).



Fig. 130. Time-pulse multiplier with stabilized key. 1, 2, 3, 4-amplifiers; 5--trigger circuit with two stable equilibrium positions.

Let voltages of operation of trigger circuit be e_1 and e_2 ($e_1 > e_2$). Let us assume also that operation of trigger circuit after reaching e_2 corresponds to closing of key (\mathbf{J}_2 is open, and \mathbf{J}_1 is shut), and operation upon reaching e_1 corresponds to opening.

Change of voltage at output of integrator 3 for both cases when $\frac{R_{O2}}{R_{11}} = 2$, $R_{31} = R_{32}$ and $U_0 < 0$ will be:

$$e_{1} - e_{2} = \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{T_{1}} \left(\frac{U_{0}}{R_{10}} - \frac{U_{1}}{R_{10}} \right) dt.$$

$$e_{1} - e_{2} = \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{T_{2}} \left(\frac{U_{0}}{R_{10}} + \frac{U_{1}}{R_{10}} \right) dt.$$
(8.21)

two stable equilibrium positions. If U_X changes little during the time T_1 and T_2 , then duration of the section of build-up of voltage at output of

. . .

integrator will be

Sand Brand

$$T_{1} = \frac{(e_{1} - e_{3})C}{\frac{U_{0}}{R_{10}} - \frac{U_{z}}{R_{10}}}.$$
(8.22)

For section of voltage drop we obtain analogously

$$T_{1} = \frac{(e_{1} - e_{1})C}{\frac{U_{0}}{R_{11}} + \frac{U_{s}}{R_{11}}}.$$
 (8.23)

Spacing of pulses, created by keys K_1 and K_2 when $R_{31} = R_{32}$, is determined by expression

$$\xi = \frac{T_1 - T_2}{T_1 + T_2} = \frac{T_4}{U_0} \cdot \frac{R_1}{R_{11}}.$$
 (8.24)

Mean value of output voltage of operational amplifier 4 when $\frac{R_{op}}{R_{21}} = 2$ and $R_{41} = R_{42}$ will be $R_{a1} = R_{a2} R_{a1} R_{a2} R_{a2} R_{a2} R_{a3} R_$

$$U_{x cp} = U_{y} \frac{R_{01}}{R_{12}} \xi = \frac{R_{11}}{R_{13}} \frac{R_{01}}{R_{12}} \frac{U_{x}U_{y}}{U_{0}}.$$
 (8.25)

Frequency of natural oscillations of circuit of conversion of voltage U_X can be found when $R_{32} = R_{31}$ from expression

$$f = \frac{1}{T_1 + T_2} = \frac{1}{(e_1 - e_2) CR_{21}} \frac{U_0^2 - \left(\frac{R_{21}}{R_{22}} U_s\right)^3}{2U_0}, \qquad (8.26)$$

which shows that frequency of natural oscillations depends on magnitude of voltage U_0 , U_x , time constant CR_{31} and voltages of operation of trigger circuit. When $U_0 = 100$ v this frequency of natural oscillations according to the data of C. D. Morrilland R. V. Baum [1] changes from f = 15 kilocycle when $U_x = 0$ to f = 10 kilo-cycle when $U_x = 100$ v. Error of product of such a multiplier does not exceed 0.14 and passband lies from 0 to 200 cycles. Total of required envelopes is 18.

Described devices, although possessing comparatively good technical characteristics, still are excessively complicated, unreliable and have exceptionally high cost. In recent years in connection with development of technology of semiconductor instruments and magnetic amplifiers there were repeated efforts to realize the timepulse principle on tubeless elements (L. A. Finzi and R. A. Mathias [1], L. J. Craig [1], F. L. Van-Allen [1]). As example let us consider the multiplier offered by R. L. Van-Allen. In it are used pulse dividers, controlled by keys, built on semiconductor triodes (R. L. Bright [1]). Relative duration of switched on state of key changes proportional to voltage, representing one of the co-factors, and amplitude of the voltage, commutated by the key, represents the second co-factor. Mean value of voltage, taken from load resistor here will be proportional to the product of the mentioned voltages of separate co-factors.



Fig. 131. Principle of action of time-pulse multiplier on semiconductor triodes and transformer with core, possessing a rectangular hysteremis loop.

Conversion of voltage in relative duration of work of semiconductor key is carried out by special circuit, the basis of which is a transformer with core, made from material with a rectangular hysteresis loop. Change of flow in such a core under the influence of applied voltage U_x one can determine from expression

$$\bullet = h \int_{0}^{T} U_{t} dt \{ \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{sec} \}.$$
 (8.27)

if one were to ignore voltage drop in chmic resistance of winding circuit I (Fig. 131a).

If at moment of application of voltage U_X the core already was saturated under the influence, for example, of voltage of rectangular form $F_{\Pi \oplus D}$ and polarity U_X such that the core is here magnetically reversed, then change of flow for a fixed interval of time will be proportional to the mean value of voltage U_X for the same interval of time. With application of constant voltage of magnetization E_{Her} and a disconnected U_X the recovery time of saturated state will be proportional the accumulated change of flow, and consequently, to the mean value of voltage U_y .

Thanks to inclusion of diodes A_1 and A_2 in the circuit of windings I and II there is achieved the required sequence of application of voltages U_X and $E_{\Pi\Theta P}$. Indeed, in the half-period, when $E_{\Pi\Theta P}$ is disconnected from winding II, under action of voltage U_X in the core is stored a change of flow; in the other halfperiod after opening diode A_2 there is a return to the former saturated state. Here for the duration of time $\left(t-\frac{T}{2}\right)$ diode A_1 closed under the influence of the voltage induced in the winding. Since S = S₁ (Fig. 131b), then

$$t_{\text{max}} = U_x \frac{T}{2E_{\text{arg}}}.$$
 (8.28)

In the half-period of connection of voltage U_X in winding III there is induced a voltage of such polarity, that the semiconductor triode is closed (potential of base is higher than potential of the emitter) and resistance of the emitter-collector section sharply increases. This state corresponds to opening of the key.

In interval $\left(t-\frac{T}{2}\right)$ polarity of induced voltage changes, the triode opens and to load resistor in practice there is fed total voltage.

Thus, the mean value of voltage on load resistor for period T will be proportional to the desired product

$$f_{\text{out. }ep} = \frac{U_{y} t_{\text{out.}}}{y} = \frac{U_{z} U_{z}}{2E_{\text{out.}}}$$
(8.29)

In Fig. 132 is brought a full fundamental circuit, designed for multiplication of sign-alternating co-factors. In this circuit for improvement of commutation of circuits of voltage U_X and $E_{\Pi \oplus p}$ there are introduced two semiconductor keys Tp-5 and Tp-6 and an auxiliary transformer with windings W_1 , W_2 , W_3 and W_4 , fed by voltage $E_{\Pi \oplus p}$. Besides, for limitation of current in the circuit $E_{\Pi \oplus p}$ there

-260-

are introduced diodes \mathcal{A}_L and \mathcal{A}_3 with reference-voltage scames E.

To guarantee accurate work there is required high degree of stabilization of voltages E and $E_{\Pi \Theta P}$. It is necessary also that sources of U_X and U_y possess constant internal resistance, not exceeding 1000 ohms.

The passband is determined by the frequency of $E_{\rm Hep}$, and usually its upper boundary is at least an order lower than the frequency of $E_{\rm Hep}$. Static accuracy according to the data of R. L. Van-Allen [1] constitutes <u>-</u>1% at constant temperature. During change of temperature from 0 to 60° accuracy falls to <u>-</u>4% (during change of input voltages in an interval from 0 to 16 v).



Fig. 132. Fundamental circuit of timepulse multiplier made of magnetic elements with a rectangular hysteresis loop and semiconductor trick keys.

A dividing time-pulse device, made out of these elements, is based on peculiarities of cores with rectangular hysteresis loops, consisting of the fact that the time of reverse magnetization of core from one state of saturation to the other is reciprocal to the amplitude of the magnetism-reversing voltage (D. Schaefer [1]).

Analysis of work of described devices shows that they still cannot completely replace tube devices. Their further development and improvement are in direct dependence on improvement of technical indices of semiconductor triodes and cores with a rectangular hysteresis loop.

<u>Multipliers based on modulations of input voltages.</u> Application of various methods of modulation of Lignals allows us practically with that same tatic accuracy to construct a multiplier with a significantly wider passband as compared with the above considered time-pulse systems.

We distinguish 'evices, based on amplitude (M. Mehron and W. Otto [1]) and on a combined amplitude and frequency system of modulation of signals.

An example of a device of the first type is the multiplier of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (see B. Chance, V. Huges [1]), a skeleton diagram of which is shown in Fig. 133.



Fig. 133. Multiplier, based on amplitude modulation of signal. 1--controlled amplifier with amplification factor m₁; 2--controlled amplifier with amplification factor m₂, 3, 4--generators with frequency w₂, w₁; 5, 6, 7--rectifiers, 8--cathode follower; 9, 10--filters, tuned to frequencies w₁, w₂.

Basis of this device is two modulators 1 and 2, made in the form of amplifiers with amplification factor, changing proportional to one of the applied voltages. As such amplifiers one can use, for example, cascades of vacuum-tube amplifiers, constructed from "varimu" tubes or multigrid tubes.

To amplifier 1 is fed signal U_1 constant in amplitude and of frequency ω_1 . This signal after amplification is rectified and is compared with input signal U_X . If both signals are unequal, then there appears a differential signal at the input

-262-

of integrator, and to amplifier 1 is fed tension until its amplification factor changes so that

$$U_{s} = b_{1}m_{1}U_{1}(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{1}). \tag{8.30}$$

Thus, by the considered negative feedback circuit there is established linear dependence of the amplification factor of the amplifier 1 on voltage U_X of the first co-factor independently of change (within certain limits) of parameters and operating conditions of amplifier 1.

Output signal of amplifier 1 here is a signal with frequency ω_1 and an amplitude, variable proportional to input signal U_x . This signal is summed with a signal of frequency ω_2 and constant amplitude U_2 . This sum moves into amplifier 2 with changed amplification factor. Linear dependence between amplification factor of amplifier 2 and voltage U_y , representing the second co-factor, is attained also by application of a negative feedback circuit. Here output voltage of amplifier 2 after separating voltage of frequency ω_2 and rectification is compared with U_y , and the difference after intergration changes the amplification factor of amplifier 2 until

$$U_{q} = b_{2}m_{2}U_{2}(a_{2}).$$
 (8.31)

Output voltage of arplifier 2 is simultaneously passed through filter 9, separating signals with frequency ω_{1} , and then after rectifier 7 moves to the cutput through cathode follower 8.

Output voltage of cathode follower here will be

$$U_{a} = b_{3}b_{4}m_{2}m_{1}U_{1}(u_{1}).$$

Substituting in this expression values of m_{λ} and m_{2} from (8.30) and (8.31), we will receive finally

$$\boldsymbol{U}_{s} = \frac{\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{s}\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{s}}{\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{s}\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{s}} \frac{\boldsymbol{U}_{s}\boldsymbol{U}_{y}}{\boldsymbol{U}_{s}}.$$
 (8.32)

Such a multiplier can be made with accuracy up to $\pm 0.1\%$ and a passband with one constant co-factor up to 1000 cycles.

The main deficiency is comparative equipment complexity (there are required more than 12 envelopes), and impossibility of direct fulfillment of operation of

-263-

multiplication with sign-alternating co-factors, since during conversion of input signals into voltage of carrier frequencies polarity is lost.

The latter deficiency can be eliminated, if we use a special modulator circuit (L. A. Lukashevich [1]), which permits us to obtain also negative values of the modulation factor, i.e., change the phase of the voltage of the carrier frequency depending upon the sign of modulating voltage and replace in the circuit of Fig. 133 ordinary rectifiers with phase-sensitive ones.

Fundamental circuit of such modulator is presented in Fig. 134.

Voltage of carrier frequency U(w) is fed in anti-phase by secondary windings of transformer T to grids of a triode and heptode, which work on the total plate load. Voltage U₀ controls steepness of characteristic of heptode.

If steepness of heptode and triode is identical for a certain value $U_0 = \overline{U_0}$, then the variable output component will equal zero and, consequently, m = 0. With increase of voltage U_0 steepness of heptode increases, and output voltage receives phase, determined by halfwinding 1 of the transformer. Here m > 0. When $U_0 < \overline{U_0}$ the phase of output voltage changes 180° and the modulation factor becomes m < 0.

A multiplier made with such modulators by the general diagram of Fig. 133, ensures accuracy of 0.3% with a band of frequencies up to 10 kilocycles for both co-factors. Frequency of carriers in the circuit of L. A. Lukashevich was selected $f_1 = 1200$ kc and $f_2 = 500$ kilocycles.



Fig. 134. Furtamental circuit of phasesensitive modulator.

As compared with time-pulse circuits here there is attained a significantly wider passband, although there is lost simplicity of realization of several dividers with identically changing transmission factor.

Multipliers with combined amplitude and frequency modulation of signals do not have advantages as compared with devices with double amplitude modulation and therefore are not considered here.

Description and detailed analysis of these devices can be found in works of K. E. Erglis and W. A. McCool [1].

3. Multipliers Made from Quadratic Functional Generators.

Methods of constructing multipliers from quadratic functional generators. Structure of multipler, reproducing expression (8.1), in many respects depends on two factors: the method of obtaining sums $(U_x + U_y)$ and $(U_x - U_y)$ and peculiarities of functional generators, utilized for obtaining quadratic dependence.



Fig. 135. Multiplier with quadratic functional generators.

In functional generators, made on the basis of piecewise-linear approximation

.

by diode elements (see Ch. V and VI), and also with artificial deformation of nonlinear characteristics of certain semiconductors (thyrite, germanium), quadratic dependence of current of nonlinear element on input voltage is reproduced only with one sign of the input signal. In connection with this in such multipliers appears the problem singling out the modulo of sums $(U_X + U_y)$ and $(U_X - U_y)$.

The necessity of singling out the modulo of these sums completely drops with use of a quadratic functional generator, in principle allowing work with both signs of input signal. Among such functional generators in first place are devices based on use of electron-beam tubes with an inner or outer screen (see Ch. VII). Application of these devices brings the necessity of inverting of output voltage of one of the quadratic functional generators.

In Fig. 135 is brought a circuit of a multiplier based on diode square-law generators, developed in industry (see I. M. Vittenberg [2], and also L. N. Fitsner [1]). In this circuit for formation of the required sums there are used three operational amplifiers 1, 2, and 3. Amplifier 1 works as a sign inverter. For formation of modulo there is applied an ordinary circuit (see, for example, Fig. 85, page 172), in which as gates are used circuits of quadratic functional generators, working only in one quadrant. Amplifiers 4 and 5 serve to change polarity of input signal. By force of such specifics of use of quadratic functional generators in the circuit there are introduced four generators.

The upper two quadratic generators work only with positive input voltage, and the lower--only with negative. Their output currents have opposite directions. This is attained by various methods of coupling diode elements (Fig. 135).

Multipliers of electronic analogs must give the possibility of establishing the required (positive or negative) sign of output voltage independently of the sign of input voltages. In the considered circuit this is possible to execute by a switch by change of the place of connecting of the upper and lower pair of square-law generators. Such multipliers equipped the electronic analog of type

-266-

MN-2.

Simplification of the circuit of Fig. 135 can be conducted by change of the methods of summation to input voltages and methods of singling out the modulo of sums. In the functional diagram (M. A. Shnaydman [2]) in Fig. 136, summation of input signals is carried out by two operational amplifiers, where the halfdifference of U_x and U_y is obtained here by addition to one of co-factors (in the considered circuit to U_y) the halfsum of U_x and U_y with reverse sign, obtained from output of operational amplifier 1. Singling out of modulo is carried out by coupling in each channel of square-law generators with various signs. Depending upon polarity of the signal in the channel one or another quadratic functional generator works. So that output current of upper square-law generators always has a positive direction, and the lower--negative, there is connected an additional sign-inverting amplifier 3. Switch III serves to change polarity of output voltage. Further simplification of circuit (Fig. 137a) can be is attained by transition to summation of input signals by resistances and singling out of the modulo of these sums by diode gate circuits (I. M. Vittenberg [2], L. N. Fitsner [1]). Such multipliers are applied in the latest types of nonlinear models (type MN-7).



Fig. 136. The same as Fig. 135, but with another method of formation of the sum and singling out of modulo.

Analysis of these variants of functional circuits shows that in the last

-267-

circuit of Fig. 137a the number of operational amplifiers can be reduced to two by another method of summation of input voltages of Fig. 137b. This variant requires for its realization a minimum of elements and, apparently, represents the limit of simplification of the circuit, which can be achieved.

 ${\bf r}^{\prime}$

All circuits in Fig. 137 are built on quadratic functional generators with diode elements, which differ from these applied in diode universal generators only by the fact that in them the output magnitude is current, and steepness of their characteristic is established not by a voltage divider, but by selection of the required value R_3 for given R_1 and R_2 .

For the purpose of conserving on resistors for assignment of reference voltage there is used a series, and not a parallel divider. Circuits of square-law generators with positive and negative output currents are shown in Fig. 138.

Error of these multipliers is 0.6-0.8%. Passband is limited to the passband of the operational amplifiers.

Main deficiency of these circuits (especially the two latter ones) consists in difficulties of calculation and adjustment of separate square-law generators. This is caused by the fact that source of signal $\frac{U_x + U_y}{2}$ and $\frac{U_x - U_y}{2}$ has significant internal resistance and is loaded with variable resistance of diode circuits, depending on magnitude of voltages applied to them. Furthermore, to guarantee correct summation it is necessary to introduce secondary voltage for compensation of influence of reference voltage on integrating circuits. To decrease influences of resistance of diodes of the gating circuit in conducting direction it is necessary to increase resistance of series divider which in turn requires transition to higher ratings of resistances in the remaining circuit.

Application for construction of square-law generators for multipliers of diode elements with potentially grounded diodes, possessing integrating properties, allows us to eliminate above-indicated deficiencies. In Fig. 139 is brought functional diagram of multiplier with potentially grounded diodes of the analog







Pig. 137. Modification of circuits of Figs. 136 and 135.

-269-

EMU-5 (V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. D. Talantsev, V. A. Trapeznikov [1]). Summation of voltages of separate co-factors is transferred directly to diode elements of square-law generators.

Functional diagram, shown in Fig. 140, indicate a way of further simplification of multipliers constructed from square-law generators, possessing integrating properties.

Of principal interest is the method of singling out the modulo of the sum and difference of input magnitudes, offered in the work of A. A. Maslov [1] and depicted in Fig. 140b.

On diode elements of the upper square-law generator here are summarized the following quantities:

$$SU = (U_{x} + U_{y})\frac{1}{2} + \text{when} + \begin{cases} 0 & U_{x} + U_{y} > 0 \\ -2\left[\frac{U_{x} + U_{y}}{2}\right] \text{when} & U_{x} + U_{y} < 0 \end{cases} = \frac{|U_{x} + U_{y}|}{2}.$$
(8.33)

On diodes of the lower square-law generator

$$\Sigma U = -\frac{U_x + U_y}{2} + \min(U_x, U_y) = -\frac{|U_x - U_y|}{2}.$$
 (8.34)

Coefficient $\frac{1}{2}$ in the first component of formula (8.33) is obtained by summation on the diode element of voltages U_x and U_y with weight $\frac{1}{2}$; second component, included in braces, is obtained by switching on diode A_1 , wherein voltage after diode $\overline{A_1}$ is summed on resistors of the main diode element with weight 2. Second component in expression (8.34) is obtained by application of special circuit of singling out the least of the two voltages U_x and U_y .

As is known from theory of rectifying circuits, during connection of two rectifiers by like-sign electrodes and feeding of remaining electrodes from two independent sources that rectifier will pass the current, on whose plate the potential is higher and on the cathode, lower. Therefore during supplying cathodes



Fig. 140. Modification of a multiplier according to Fig. 139.

Fig. 139. of diodes \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_3 voltages U_X and U_Y there will be transmitted to the circuit that voltage, which at the given moment has the least value. So that the device worked also during positive voltages U_X and U_Y , the potential of point a is

raised by voltage

When the formation of modulo fo a difference with a plus sign is indispensable expression (8.34) is replaced by

$$\sum U = -\frac{U_{x} + U_{y}}{2} + \max(U_{x}, U_{y}) = \frac{|U_{x} - U_{y}|}{2}$$
(8.35)

Here it is necessary to single out the greater of the two voltages U_X and U_y . Obviously, for that it is sufficient to change the circuit diagram of diodes, coupling diodes by cathodes, and change the sign of the reference voltage.

We will calculate the value of the potential at point a when $U_X > U_y > 0$ in the circuit of separating min (U_X, U_y) . Considering equivalent the resistance of the diode circuit of the square-law generator R_H and resistance of diode A_3 in conducting direction R_{II} , we will receive

$$e_{a} = \frac{\frac{R_{a}}{R_{o}} e_{oa} + l'_{y}}{\left(\frac{1}{R_{a}} + \frac{1}{R_{o}}\right)R_{x} - 1}$$
(8.36)

If resistance $R_{\mathbf{A}}$ is small as compared with $R_{\mathbf{O}}$ and $R_{\mathbf{H}}$, then it is possible to consider that

$$e_a = + U_y$$

Thus, the circuit will work more accurately, the less the value of $R_{\rm g}$. From this point of view for such circuits it is most rational to use semiconductor diodes.

In the considered circuits of multipliers the total input current always should be equal to

$$I_1 + I_2 = \pi \{ U_1 + U_2 = U_1 + U_2 \}.$$
(8.37)

where a is the proportionality factor.

For an output integrating operational amplifier this equality is correct:

$$I_1 + I_2 = -I_{at} = -\frac{U_t}{R_{at}}.$$

whence

$$U_{s} = - 2R_{m}[_{1}U_{s} + U_{s}]^{2} - [U_{s} - U_{s}]^{2} - 42R_{m}U_{s}U_{s}$$
(8.38)

So that when $U_x = U_y = 100$ v we receive $U_x = 100$ v, coefficient α on the basis

-272-

of (8.38) should be

$$a = \frac{1}{400R_{ex}}$$

Multipliers of this type may also be used to exectue dividing operations according to the diagram brought earlier in Fig. 119b. With this aim the multiplier is connected in a feedback circuit of an integrating amplifier (V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. D. Talantsev, V. A. Trapeznikov [1]).

Input voltages of the multiplier now will be U_y and U_z , where U_z is removed from the output terminal of the integrating amplifier. To the integrating amplifier through resistor R_1 is fed voltage U_x , representing the dividend. As before, for the integrating amplifier the relationship $I_x = I_z$ is correct and, since

$$I_{s} = \frac{U_{s}}{R_{i}}, \quad I_{s} = sU_{s} \cdot U_{y}.$$

then

$$U_{s} = -\frac{U_{s}}{\mathbf{e}R_{i}U_{y}} \cdot \tag{8.39}$$

Voltage U_y changes the conductance of feedback circuit so that with growth of U_y conductance increases and output signal decreases. With a low U_y conductance becomes minute and integrating amplifier approaches even with a minute signal U_x saturation ("reproduction of ∞ "). During change of sign of voltage U_g it is necessary for observance of conditions of static stability (presence of negative feedback) to change the sign of the current characteristic of the multiplier. Coefficient $\frac{1}{aR_1}$ due to selection of R_1 usually is selected equal to 10.

Error of fulfillment of operation of division does not exceed 1.5-25.

Transition from a multiplication circuit to a division multiplication is carried out by means of simple commutation by a toggle switch.

<u>Peculiarities of calculation and construction of quadratic elements of multi-</u> <u>pliers.</u> Calculation of square-law generators, made from diode elements with load resistor (see diagram of Fig. 138.) presents great difficulties.

We will show, how one calculates a circuit when using diode elements with potentially grounded diodes.

Current characteristics of separate square-law generators on the basis of (8.37) will be: $I_1 = x |U_x + U_y|^2$.

$$I_1 = a_1 U_x + U_y |^2,$$

$$I_2 = -a_1 U_x - U_y |^2,$$

$$a = \frac{1}{400 R_{ux}}.$$

Steepness of current characteristics will be

$$S_1 = 2i |U_x + U_y|, S_2 = -2i |U_x - U_y|.$$

Maximum voltage of the argument will be

$$U_{s} + U_{s}$$
 = 200 v.

Allowing an error of approximation * - 0.25 v and decompossing in such a manner that the first segment of the straight line originates from the origin of coordinates, and points of switching lie on the ideal curve, we will receive directly from Fig. 141 all data necessary for calculation. Indeed, shaded area F expresses error in reporduction of current characteristic, and therefore



generators of multipliers.

On the other hand, from expression for steepness of current characteristics it follows:

$$\Delta Y_1 = \mathcal{C}_{a_1} 2a_1 \tag{8.41}$$

(8.40)

From expressions (8.40) and (8.41) we find:

$$e_{ss1}^{2} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{eR_{ss}}}$$

$$bY_{1} = 2\sqrt{\frac{31}{R_{ss}}}$$

$$(8.42)$$

When $x = \frac{1}{40R_{sc}}$ and s = 0.25 v we will receive $\Delta Y_1 = \frac{1}{20R_{sc}}$ and $e_{sc1} = 10v$.

From Fig. 141 it follows that decomposition of argument will be uniform:

$$e_{ax}^{*} = 0,$$

$$e_{ax}^{*} = 2e_{ax}^{*} = 20 \text{ V},$$

$$e_{ax}^{*} = 2e_{ax}^{*} (l-1),$$

$$e_{ax}^{*} = 2e_{ax}^{*} (n-1) = 180 \text{ V}.$$

whence the number n of sections of decomposition is

$$n = 10.$$

Increase of conductance for first diode element will constitute

$$\Delta Y_1 = 0.05 \frac{1}{R_{\rm ex}} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm is}}.$$

For subsequent diode elements all increases turn out to be identical and equal

$$\Delta Y_{2} = \Delta Y_{3} = \dots = \Delta Y_{10} = 2 \Delta Y_{1} = 0.1 \frac{1}{R_{ee}} = \frac{2}{R_{12}}$$

Thus, immediately are determined values of all equivalent resistances:

$$R_{10} = 20R_{oc}.$$

 $R_{20} = R_{30}... = R_{100} = 10R_{oc}.$

By resulting values of e_{ex}^n we find:

and a second second

$$r_{1} = R_{10} \frac{e_{0}}{r_{ax 1}^{0}} = \infty,$$

$$r_{2} = R_{20} \frac{e_{00}}{r_{ax 2}^{0}} = 10R_{0x} \frac{30}{20} = 15R_{rc},$$

$$r_{3} = R_{30} \frac{e_{00}}{r_{ax 3}^{0}} = 10R_{0x} \frac{30}{40} = 7,5R_{uc},$$

$$r_{4} = 5R_{ec},$$

$$r_{5} = \frac{300}{100} R_{ec} = 3.75R_{oc},$$

$$r_{6} = \frac{300}{100} R_{oc} = 2.5R_{oc},$$

$$r_{7} = \frac{300}{140} R_{oc} = 1.8R_{uc},$$

$$r_{9} = \frac{300}{140} R_{uc} = 1.67R_{oc}.$$

-275-

Using theorem of equivalent generator, we determine by found values of equivalent resistances of resistance R_{1i} , R_{2i} and R_{3i} in each i-th integrating diode element.

Thus, for example, for upper square-law generator of the circuit of Fig. 140b, we obtain

$$e_{yu0} = 4\left(\frac{U_x + U_y}{2}\right) - U_x - U_y = \left(\frac{U_x - U_y}{2} - \frac{1}{R_{11}} - \frac{U_x}{R_{21}} - \frac{U_y}{R_{21}}\right)R_{21}.$$

From this expression it follows that

$$\frac{R_{\rm M}}{R_{\rm H}}=4, \qquad \frac{R_{\rm M}}{R_{\rm M}}=\frac{R_{\rm M}}{R_{\rm M}}=1,$$

whence

$$R_{11} = \frac{1}{4}R_{N}, \quad R_{21} = R_{31} = R_{N}.$$

Fundamental circuit of diode square-law generator is shown in Fig. 142.



Fig. 142. Circuit of square-law generator of multiplier made by the circuit of Fig. 140b.

Application of diode square-law generators, based on piecewise-linear approximation, in considered multipliers along with merits (wide passband and sufficiently high accuracy (0.5-1%) has also a number of deficiencies. Among them one be mentioned the necessity of expenditure of power on heating diodes and stabilization of reference-voltage source, stepnature of reproduction steepness of characteristic and limited period of service.

Multipliers, based on application of square-law generators, using natural

quadratic nonlinear resistances, in principle should be free from these deficiencies. However till now wide application of such multipliers has been limited by unstability of natural nonlinear characteristics and inaccuracy of approximation of their characteristics to quadratic ones. In connection with this such devicer on the whole possessed a low operating accuracy. As an example there is the multiplier for a correlator (I. N. Holmes, M. A. Duken [1], K. W. Goff [1]), in which as quadratic nonlinear characteristic is used dependence of plate current of pentode on voltage of its grid, approximated by expression

$$l_a = a + be_a + ce_a^2$$
. (8.43)

Error or such a multiplier is not less than 8%.

In recent years considerable attention was allotted to use for quadratic elements of certain carborundum resistors (thyrite, villaite), possessing stable volt-ampere characteristics (A. A. Maslov [1], M. A. Rosenblat and O. A. Sedykh [1], L. D. Kovach and W. Comley [1], G. N. Balasanov [1], V. L. Benin [1], L. N. Fitsner [2]).

In Fig. 143a is brought a typical volt-ampere characteristic of carborundum (thyrite) disk 50 mm in diameter and 10 mm in height. This characteristic differe from a quadratic one and usually is approximated (N. A. Rosenblat and O. A. Sedykh [1]) by expressions:

or
$$l_{\tau} = a_1 e_{\tau} + b_1 e_{\tau}^3 + c_1 e_{\tau}^5$$
 (8.44)
 $l_{\tau} = k e_{\tau}^6$

where a_1 , b_1 , c_1 and k, n are constants, determined from experimentally received characteristics.

In order to obtain a nonlinear dependence, close to a quadratic one, by the natural characteristic of thyrite, the latter should be deformed, constituting an electric circuit, which is a combination of linear resistances and the resistance of thyrite.
Circuit diagrams of thyrite, applied at present, are presented in Fig. 143b. Coupling in a series resistor (L. D. Kovach and W. Comley [1]) as it were stretches and straightens the volt-ampere characteristic of tyrite, at the same time reducing its working section in the same limits of change of input signal.

Margaret Conta

Coupling in a parallel resistor (A. A. Maslov [1], L. N. Fitsner [2]) cause turn of the characteristic a certain angle to the left or to the right depending upon sign of conductance of parallel circuit. Therefore in general in parallel circuit there should be a sign-inverter.

Application of two adjusting resistors R_1 and R_2 allows us more accurately to move the characteristic of thyrite to the given characteristic, not complicating here considerably calculation of the circuit.



Fig. 143. Volt-ampore characteristic of thyrite and circuit diagram. I--ideal quadratic current characteristic; II--current characteristic of thyrite; III-current characteristic of thyrite with series connected resistor. KEY: (a) Thyrite. Determination of required values of resistors R_1 and R_2 in principle can be done analytically (V. L. Benin [1]), using one or another analytic expression for volt-ampere characteristic of thyrite and placing the condition of minimum integral quadratic error. However this does not lead to expressions in closed form and an answer can be obtained only by method of successive approximations.

More expedient turned out to be the method, consisting of the fact that the characteristic of thyrite is approximated by an expression, determining the ideal characteristic which thyrite ought to have in the considered circuit so that the circuit as a whole had a quadratic current characteristic.

For a circuit with parallel connection of resistances it turns out that ideal current characteristic of thyrite, deturmined through parameters of circuit, should have form

$$I_{\eta} = \frac{k_{\rm b}^2}{2m} - \frac{k_{\rm b}^2 g_1^2}{4m^2} - \frac{g_1^2 e_{\gamma}}{m} - g_1 e_{\gamma}. \tag{8.45}$$

where $k = \frac{g_1 - g_1}{g_1}$, must be scale factor of ideal quadratic current characteristic of circuit, $g_1 = \frac{1}{R_1} \cdot g_2 = \frac{1}{R_2}$ --linear conductances of circuit, e_1 --voltage on thyrite resister.

Taking for approximation of volt-ampere characteristic of real thyrite the form of relationship (8.45), we obtain

$$l_{y} = \mathbf{e} - \sqrt{\mathbf{e}^{2} - b\mathbf{e}_{y}} - c\mathbf{e}_{y}. \tag{8.46}$$

From comparison of expressions (8.45) and (8.46) ensue relationships, connecting parameters of circuit with parameters of thyrite:

$$R_{1} = \frac{1}{R_{1}} = \frac{1}{c},$$

$$R_{2} = \frac{b}{(2ac+b)c},$$

$$R_{3} = \frac{c^{2}}{b}.$$
(8.47)

Coefficients a, b and c are determined by coordinates of three points of

experimentally received characteristic of thyrite $(e_{11}, I_{11}); (e_{12}, I_{12}); (e_{13}, I_{12})$

ron expressions:

$$c = \frac{1 + \sqrt{3^2 + 3}}{4},$$

$$e = \frac{e_{12}(l_{11} + ce_{12})^2 - e_{12}(l_{11} + ce_{13})^2}{2(e_{12}l_{12} - e_{12}l_{11})},$$

$$b = \frac{2e(l_{12} + ce_{12}) - (l_{12} + ce_{12})^2}{e_{12}}.$$

Values of α , β and γ are found from expressions:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{e} &= [\mathbf{e}_{11}\mathbf{e}_{22}f_{13}(\mathbf{e}_{12} - \mathbf{e}_{11}) - \mathbf{e}_{11}\mathbf{e}_{13}f_{12}(\mathbf{e}_{13} - \mathbf{e}_{11}) + \mathbf{e}_{22}\mathbf{e}_{13}f_{13}(\mathbf{e}_{13} - \mathbf{e}_{11})], \\ \mathbf{p} &= [f_{11}f_{22}\mathbf{e}_{13}(\mathbf{e}_{12} - \mathbf{e}_{11}) - f_{11}f_{13}\mathbf{e}_{12}(\mathbf{e}_{13} - \mathbf{e}_{11}) + \mathbf{e}_{11}f_{22}f_{13}(\mathbf{e}_{13} - \mathbf{e}_{12})], \\ \mathbf{p} &= [f_{11}f_{22}\mathbf{e}_{13}(f_{12} - f_{11}) - f_{11}f_{13}\mathbf{e}_{12}(f_{13} - f_{11}) + \mathbf{e}_{11}f_{22}f_{13}(\mathbf{e}_{13} - \mathbf{e}_{12})]. \end{split}$$

These formulas* allow us to calculate parameters of circuit of square-law generator so that its characteristic will coincide with the given one at three points. So that at remaining points we receive the best approximation of characteristic of circuit to the given, selection of points on experimental volt-ampere characteristic of thyrite for finding parameters a, b and c one should execute graphically by the polygon of P. L. Chebyshev (F. Ye. Fobrinskiy [1]).

Since at the basis of analytic determination of values of linear conductances of circuit $g_1 = \frac{1}{R_1}$ and $g_2 = \frac{1}{R_2}$ lie experimentally received values of coordinates of three points on volt-empere characteristic of thyrite and since the variance of characterisites of thyrite from sample to sample is very great, then the expreimental method of determination of these conductances also merits attention. Essence of method is easily perceived from Fig. 144. To input of integrating amplifier 2 are connected two input circuits. One circuit is composed of a standard square-law generator and sign-inverting scale unit 1 the other circuit will be formed from tested thyrite with series connected resistor R_1 and resistor R_2 , connected to a source of reverse polarity. In case of complete coincidence of characteristics of ideal square-law generator and circuit with thyrite the sum of

*Derivation of these formulas and development of methods of calculation belong to A. A. Maslov [1].

currents $l_1 + l_2 = 0$ for all values of input voltage E. Coincidence of currents is fixed by a zero reading of a voltmeter, connected to output of adder. In practice selection of the resistance is conducted taking into account given allowances for noncoincidence of current characteristics. Selecting on the basis of calculation textatively resistor R_1 , then by change of scale m by setting of the transmission factor of amplifier 1 we seek straightening of the characteristic of error (see curve M_{13} in Fig. 144b). After that by coupling R_2 we introduce error within the given allowance.



Fig. 144. Method of experimental determination of parameters of circuit diagram of thyrite for square-law generators. 1--scale unit; 2--integrating amplifier; 3-standard square-law generator. I--ideal quadratic current characteristic; II-current characteristic of thyrite; III--current characteristic of thyrite with series connected resistance. KEY: (a) Thyrite; (b) Permissible. Circuits of multipliers made from thyrite square-law generators (L. N. Fitsner [2], A. A. Maslov [1]) are shown in Figs. 145 and 146. The circuit shown in Fig. 146 is outstanding in its minimum number of operational amplifiers (two) and gaves at low current levels great accuracy of approximation of characteristic of circuit with thyrite to a quadratic one. Switch IIII serves to change polarity of output signal, and switch IIP --for selection of operating regime (division or multiplication). In both circuits summation is carried out directly on thyrite resistors.



Fig. 145. Circuit of multiplier made of thyrites. KEY: (a) Thyrite; (b) Thermistor.



Fig. 146. Modification of circuit of multiplier with thyrites. KET: (a) Multiply; (b) Divide; (c) DGTs 21, etc; (d) Thyrite; (c) Thermistor.

For compensation of error, caused by dependence of resistance of thyrite on temperature, there are used thermistors with negative temperature coefficient. Resistors R_9 , R_{10} (Fig. 145) and R_{16} (Fig. 146) serve for equalising transmission factor of lower square-law generator. Circuits of Fig. 145 and Fig. 146 differ in

-282-

methods of singling out the modulo and method of approximation of characteristic of thyrite to the quadratic. In the first there are used for singling out the modulo commutating circuits; in the second--the method, presented on pages 268 and 270, in reference to a multiplier with dicke square-law generators. One deficiency of the latter circuit as compared with a circuit with three operational amplifiers is increase of requirements for lowering phase distortions, introduced by inverting amplifier 1.

Error of work of such multipliers does not exceed 15, and passband is 100 c.

4. Multipliers Based on Combining the Considered Principles

Multipliers of this type reproduce relationship (8.1) without use of special quadratic functional generators.



Fig. 147. Circuit of multiplier, based on obtaining the mean value of rectified sum and difference of two a-c voltages.

In Fig. 14? is brought fundamental circuit (offered by I. S. Bruk, see N. N. Lenov [1]) of a multipler, in which reproduction of shown relationship is based on obtaining mean value of rectified sum of two alternating voltages, shifted 90°. To input of device are fed voltages $U_{\rm X} + U_{\rm y}$ and $U_{\rm X} - U_{\rm y}$, modulated by frequency $\omega_{\rm p}$ and the voltage of carrier frequency E ($\omega_{\rm p}$), shifted with respect to voltages ($U_{\rm X} + U_{\rm y}$) and ($U_{\rm X} - U_{\rm y}$) 90°. Diodes $\Delta_{\rm 1}$ and $\Delta_{\rm 2}$ serve as halfwave rectifiers, providing

simultaneous correct operation of the device with sign-alternating input signals. Hean value of rectified voltages U_{∞} and U_{∞} can be found from expressions:

$$(U_{a})_{a} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{R}{r_{a} + R} \sqrt{(U_{a} + U_{y})^{2} + E^{2}},$$

$$(U_{a})_{a} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{R}{r_{a} + R} \sqrt{(U_{a} - U_{y})^{2} + E^{2}},$$

$$(8.48)$$

-283-

which with sufficiently large E can approximately be presented in the form:

$$(U_{a})_{cy} \approx \frac{E}{\pi} \frac{R}{r_{a} + R} \left[1 + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{U_{y} + U_{y}}{E} \right)^{2} \right],$$

$$(U_{a})_{cy} \approx \frac{E}{\pi} \frac{R}{r_{a} + R} \left[1 + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{U_{y} - U_{y}}{E} \right)^{2} \right].$$

$$(8.49)$$

Difference of potentials between points a and b of circuit will be

$$U_{a} = U_{ab} - (U_{a})_{cp} - (U_{b})_{cp} = \frac{1}{2\pi E} \frac{R}{k c} \frac{1}{r_{a}} [(U_{a} + U_{a})^{2} - (U_{a} - U_{a})^{2}] = \frac{2}{\pi E} \frac{R}{r_{a} + R} U_{a} U_{a}$$
(8.50)



Fig. 148. Gircuit of multiplier in which for obtaining quadratic dependences there is used the theorem of the area of similar triangles.

In the muliplier (I. S. Bruk [2]) presented in Fig. 148 for squaring there is used the theorem known from elementary geometry that the area of similar triangles vary as the squares of their altitudes. For conversion of voltage of input signals into pulses of triangular form with altitude, proportional to the resultant input signal $U_X + U_y$ or $U_X - U_y$, to the input of each branch is fed additionally a saw-toothed voltage. Voltages at points a and b of the circuit will differ from zero when $|U_x + U_y - |U_w|$ and $|U_x - U_y > |U_w|$ and diodes \mathbb{Z}_0 and \mathbb{Z}_6 are locked. Here voltages at points a and b will change as shown in Fig. 148, representing triangular pulses with altitude $(U_X + U_y)$ and $(U_X - U_y)$.

$$S_1 = h(U_1 - U_1), \quad S_2 = -h(U_1 + U_1), \quad (8.51)$$

where

$$=\frac{r}{2U_{rr}}$$

Mean value of output voltage is

$$U_{xxy} = -\frac{S_1 + S_2}{T} = \frac{-1}{2U_{w'}} \left[(U_x - U_y)^2 - (U_x + U_y)^2 \right] = \frac{2}{U_{w'}} U_x \cdot U_y.$$
(8.52)

For correct operation of the device it is necessary that $U_x + U_y|_{\text{min}} < |U_{\text{min}}|$ and the frequency of repetition of saw-toothed oscillations was, at least, two orders higher than the frequency of change of input signals. It is natural that accuracy of operation of the multiplier directly depends on linearity and stability of voltage of generator of saw-toothed voltages.



Fig. 149. One variant of realisation of circuit of Fig. 148. 1--subtractor-1; 2--filter.

On this principle there was built a Kultiplier (R. L. Mills [1]) using cyclic connection of rectifiers for singling out triangular pulses of required polarity (Fig. 149). Potential diagram of voltages, applied in sections a and b of the annular circuit when $(U_X + U_y) > 0$ and $(U_X - U_y) > 0$, is shown in the same figure.

From analysis of the circuit it follows that mean value of output voltage of the subtractor for the period of change of U_{TTT} will be

$$U_{sep} = \frac{S_{i} - (S_{j} + S_{i}) - (S_{i} - S_{i})}{T}$$
(8.53)

Since triangles with areas S_1 , $(S_2 + S_3)$, S_3 , S_4 are similar, then:

$$\begin{split} S_1 &= k (U_m + U_s + U_y)^2, \quad S_1 + S_2 &= k (U_m - (U_s - U_y))^2, \\ S_3 &= k (U_m + U_s - U_y)^2, \quad S_4 &= k (U_m - U_s - U_y)^2. \end{split}$$

where $k = \frac{r}{4U_{er}}$

After substituting these values in (8.53) we will received finally:

$$U_{xxy} = \frac{4}{2U_{yx}} \left[(U_x + U_y)^2 - (U_x - U_y)^2 \right] = \frac{2}{U_{yx}} U_y U_y.$$
 (8.54)



Fig. 150. Second variant of multiplier on the circuit of Fig. 148. 1--generator of saw-toothed voltage, Σ --adder; 2--subtractor; 3--unit for change of sign.

An interesting modification of method of physical realization of considered principle of construction of multipliers (K. H. Norsworthy [1]) is illustrated by skeleton diagram of Fig. 150. Instead of an annular circuit diagram of rectifiers here are used two identical commutating circuits. In each circuit the cathode of one diade is supported by a positive voltage, while plates of other diades are connected through resistances to the ground. Amplitude of saw-toothed voltage $U_{\rm GF}$ is selected equal to magnitude of reference voltage $e_{\rm OH}$. Potential diagrams of voltage at points P_1 , Q_2 and P_2 , Q_2 show that mean value of voltage at these points are:

when

「ないたいといろう

「日本のない」というので、日本のないというで、

$$(U_{x} + U_{y}) > 0$$

$$(U_{P_{i}})_{cp} = e_{cn} + \frac{1}{2e_{cn}} (U_{x} + U_{y})^{2},$$

$$(U_{Q_{i}})_{cp} = 0;$$



Eig. 151. Fundamental circuit of multiplier fulfilled according to Fig. 150. 1--sawtoothed generator; 2--unit of change of sign; 3--reference-voltage source; $R_1 = R_2 = R_3 =$ = $R_4 = R_5 = R_6 = 100$ kom, $R_7 = R_8 = 470$ kom, $R_9 = R_{10} = R_{11} = R_{12} = 68$ kom, $R_{13} = R_{14} =$ = $R_{15} = R_{16} = 820$ kom. KEY: (a) Outlet.

.....

when

No. of the second se

$$(U_x + U_y) < 0$$

$$(U_{P_1})_{cp} = e_{un},$$

$$(U_{Q_1})_{cp} = -\frac{1}{2e_{un}}(U_x + U_y)^2;$$

when

$$U_{x} - U_{y} > 0$$

$$(U_{P_{1}})_{cp} = e_{on} + \frac{1}{2e_{vn}} (U_{x} - U_{y})^{2},$$

$$(U_{Q_{1}})_{cp} = 0;$$

when

$$U_{x} - U_{y} < 0$$

$$(U_{P_{1}})_{cp} = e_{cn},$$

$$(U_{Q_{1}})_{cp} = -\frac{1}{2e_{cn}}(U_{x} - U_{y})^{2}.$$

Mean value of output voltage of subtractor here is determined by sum

$$U_{scp} = \{(U_{P_1})_{cp} + (U_{Q_1})_{cp}\} - \{(U_{Q_1})_{cp} + (U_{P_1})_{cp}\}.$$

With any combinations of signs of input signals this expression leads to relationship

$$U_{x cp} = \frac{1}{2t_{out}} \left[(U_x + U_y)^2 - (U_x - U_y)^2 \right] = \frac{2}{t_{out}} U_x U_y.$$
(8.55)

Fundamental circuit of such a multiplier is shown in Fig. 151.

As source of saw-toothed voltage there is used a special generator, made from three envelopes, providing a frequency of output voltage from 1 to 2 kilocycles.

Reference-voltage source in the circuit should have low internal resistance. Error of device constitutes 1%. Maximum frequency of input signal 50 c.

CHAPTER IX

PRINCIPLES OF CONSTRUCTION OF D-C ELECTRONIC ANALOG COMPUTERS

1. Composition of Computing Elements, Methods of Their Arrangement in Installation and Interconnection for Solving a Problem.

Composition of computing elements of an electronic analog is determined by assignment of computer. We distinguish general-purpose and specialised devices. General-purpose computers have as their main assignment solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential equations, occurring during investigation of dynamics of various technical devices. Specialised computers are intended for investigation of only one definite class of these devices and therefore must provide resolution of differential equations of fixed structure. As an example there can serve various link trainers (see G. B. Ringham and A. E. Culter [1]), installation of type "Typhoon"*) and "Tridae, "** adapted correspondingly for instruction of flying staff and solution of problems of dynamics of guided missiles.

In specialized devices depending upon their assignment there can be provided completely definite composition of computing elements.

. . .

[&]quot;New computer aids air defense (Project Typhoon), Electronics, 1951, Vol. 24, No. 2, page 132. (For short characteristic and photo of general appearance see appendix II, page 168.

^{**}Three-dimensional analogue computer, Engineer, 1954, Oct. 15, Vol. 198, No. 5151, page 532. (For short characteristic and photo see appendix II, page 468.

In general-purpose devices it is impossible in principle to limit composition of computing elements, since beforehand it is unknown what problems will be posed for solution.

Until now in world practice during construction of general-purpose analog computers they either went the way of limitation of the order of differential equations, solved by the computer (so-called stand installation): IPT-4, EDA (I. 3. Bruk, N. N. Lenov [1]), MPT-9, MN-2, MN-7, EMU-1, EMU-2, EMU-3, EMU-5*, or the way of fulfillment of the computer in the form of separate identical units, assembled in needed quantities and types each time before beginning work (computers IPT-5, MPT-11, installation computer of the Philbrick firm)*. In first case most installations are limited to solution of linear differential equations up to the 6th order inclusively (IPT-4, EMU-3, OME-12, installation of Short firm REAC, MN-2). For solution of nonlinear problems to them there was added or in their composition there was provided a definite quantity and assortment of nonlinear blocks.

Solution of problems, beyond the capabilities of one installation, was carried out by means of connection of several monotypic one (sae, for example, MPT-9, MN-7, EMU-5, EMU-6, OME-L2).

During designing of such installations rational selection of rolationship between number of linear and number computing elements presents great difficulties and has not yet found positive solution. Apparently, solution of this question can be found in designing simulators of block type. However in distinction from existing analogs of block type (IPT-5, MPT-11, the Philbrick firm) dimension of block should be increased so that with its help it was possible to reproduce equation of motion of system with one degree of freedom. Furthermore, separate blocks do not have to be connected by common power supplies and a common setting field, as takes place in the installations mentioned above.

It is useful to equip linear computing elements with nonlinear feedback circuits to execute nonlinear operations. Such construction of installation will allow us with the least number of standard sizes of blocks to satisfy various requirements.

*Short technical characterisation and general appearance of enumerated installations are brought in Appendix II.

-290-

not fixing rigidly the general composition of computing elements of model. Furthermore, every separate block can also have idependent application (solution of differential equations of the second order, pickup of sinusoidar exciliations, instrument for measurement of resistance, etc.).

Electronic analog EMU-8 (see Appendix II) can serve as an illustration of a first attempt at constructive embodiment of these ideas. Use in this installation of operational amplifiers, not requiring stabilised feed, and semiconductor elements (germanium diodes and thyrite resistorsy) in many respects promoted successful solution of the problems posed.

Linear and nonlinear computing elements considered in preceding chapters constitute the basis of both general-purpose and specialised installations. To these computing elements, executing operations of summation, integration, differentiation, multiplication, division, reproduction of given functional dependences, there usually are added devices for reproduction of typical nonlinear characteristics of CAP (Automatic Control Systems), for introduction of constant delay, factors variable in time, random disturbances, and also converting devices for connection with tested equipment.

All these additional devices are considered below during analysis of simulation of separate types of CAP.

In certain simulators (see T. N. Sokolov [1], L. V. Polonskaya [1], N. Klamka [1], J. T. Carleton [1], I. Obradovich [1]) designated for study of CAP, at present along with operational amplifiers they still provide passive electric circuits for reproduction of transfer functions of separate dynamic sections of the system (inertial link, link of the second order, etc.). If 8-10 years ago such a solution could be justified by absence of well-developed operational amplifiers, then at present it can be considered economically rational only for narrowly specialized devices.

-291-

By method of arrangement of separate linear computing elements in the installation we distinguish matrix and structural models. In matrix models separate computing elements are united beforehand in groups, each of which is intended for solution of a first-order differential equation (see, for example, ELL-6, ELI-14, IPT-4, OME-L2).

Set-up here consists in setting coefficients for the variables, introduction of signals corresponding to right side, and interconnection of such separate groups.

Structural models differ by the fact that in them all computing blocks are free and are coupled by the operator in an order, determined by the system of differential equations to be solved coupling of computing elements can be carried out on an operating field, formed by face panels of operational amplifiers (see, for example, computers EMU-3, of the Boeing firm, IPT-5, EDA) by flexible cords with plugs or by a special setting-up field, where leads from all inputs and outputs of operational amplifiers, their integrating points, units of input impedances, potentiometers, nonlinear computing elements and other additional equipment, added to the computer are assembled (see EMU-4, EMU-5 MPT-11, MN-7, REAC-400). Matrix models facilitate operation of computer, since they require a minimum number of switching operations during set-up of a problem. However as compared with structural models they require approximately twice as many operational amplifiers (see for more detail Ch. X). Furthermore, during solution of nonlinear problems we can not sustain completely the matrix principle of connection of blocks (sea, for example, ELI-6 whose linear part is assembled by matrix principle, but the nonlinear part -- by structural principle). In connection with this most simulators are constructed at present by the structural principle.

Connection of separate computing elements by flexible wires with plusgs has the advantage that connecting wires between separate computing blocks, and especially important, between their integrating points and input impedances cun be made very short. During set-up of the problem on separate setting field these connecting

-292-

wires, other conditions being equal, are significantly longer, which leads to increase of spurious capacitance between the integrating and common point of the amplifiers and impairment of their frequency responses. However, during solution of complicated problems the large number of wires, emmeshing the front panel of the simulator, leads to loss of graphicness and to subjective errors of the operator. Presence of a plug-in setting field (see computors of the Reeves firm, SEA firm, MN-14 and EMU-10) allows us to conduct preparation of problem beforehand and thereby considerably to reduce solution time.

Simulators are also divided into devices working in natural and unnatural time scales. In computers of first type processes are reproduced with the speed, which is determined by the initial differential equations given for solution. In computers of second type processes are reproduced at an accelerated rate.

During solution at an accelerated rate we often introduce artificial iteration of processes which allows us to observe the solution on cathode oscillograph and to build operational amplifiers in the form of a-c amplifiers (analogs ELI-14, ELI-12, Philbrick firm, and others), and also to adapt electronic analogs for solution of two-point boundary value problems in complete derivatives, certain variational problems, integral equations, etc.

Artificial iteration of solution is used in d-c electronic models for visual observation of the solution on electronic oscillograph, furnished with an electronbeam tube with a screen possessing afterglow. Frequency of iteration is established here from 0.5 to 8 c. Such computers can work both with a natural and unnatural time scale; here there do not appear excessive requirements as to width of the passband of separate computing elements.

2. Nethods of Setting Initial Conditions and Transmission Factors of Computing Elements.

Before beginning solution of a problem on a computer it is necessary for every dependent variable (coordinate) to establish initial values. This is possible

-293-

to carry out in principle two ways: charging the integrating capacitor and by connection to each integrating amplifier of an additional adder, to one of whose inputs there is fed constant voltage, corresponding to the constant of integration.



Fig. 152. Circuits of setting initial conditions. KEY: (a) Input; (b) Control relay; (c) Output; (d) Initial conditions relay.

In Fig. 152a is the most wide-spread circuit of setting of initial conditions (computers IPT-4, IPT-5, MPT-9, REAC, EMU-1, EMU-2, EMU-3, EMU-4). Here each integrating unit before beginning work is shifts into the mode of a delay component. Here its output voltage will change in accordance with expression

$$\bar{e}_{\text{owt}} = -\frac{R_{\text{pu}}}{R_{\text{iu}}} \frac{1}{(1+R_{\text{pu}}C\rho)}\bar{e}_{\text{u}}.$$
 (9.1)

In steady-state regime

$$e_{\text{out}x} = -\frac{R_{\text{bu}}}{R_{\text{iu}}}e_{\text{m}} \qquad (9.2)$$

Thus, integrating capacitor before beginning work of the computer is forcibly

charged to the required voltage.

The circuit does not reque limitation in duration of preoperational period, since in this interval of time the integrating capacitor is forcibly charged from a source of voltage of initial conditions. The main deficiency of the circuit is the fact that voltage, equivalent to initial conditions, is not established at output of amplifier at once, and therefore accurate adjustment is hampered and is linked with excessive waste of time. Acceleration of the setting-up process for initial conditions can be achieved in this circuit by coupling an additional capacitor C_H in parallel to resistor R_{1H} (see dotted line on Fig. 152a).

Here

$$F_{\text{rest}} = -\frac{R_{\text{ps}}}{R_{\text{in}}} \frac{(R_{\text{in}}C_{n}p+1)}{(R_{\text{res}}C_{p}-1)} F_{n}.$$
(9.3)

If one were to select parameters in such a manner that $R_{1H} C_{H} = R_{2H} C$, then $e_{out} = -\frac{R_{bu}}{R_{ba}} e_{a}$

and output voltage of amplifier will be set practically instantly.

Inaccurate observance of equality of time constants of both RC-chains leads in the case, when $R_{1\mu}C_{\mu} < R_{2\mu}C_{\nu}$ to delay in achievement of steady-state at output voltage, while when $R_{1\mu}C_{\mu} > R_{2\mu}C_{\nu}$ it leads to a jump of voltage at integrator output, exceeding steady-state voltage of initial conditions. The latter at

 e_{nycr} near 100 v, may cause output of the block beyond the limits of linearity.

In the circuit in Fig. 152b* acceleration of process of setting the voltage of initial conditions is attained by switching the integrating capacitor to the output of the computing block, which in the period of setting of voltage of initial conditions in converted into the regime of a scale block. Since output resistance of the operational amplifier is low, the capacitor is charged practically instantly to the required voltage.

$$e_{\text{max}}(0) = -e_{\text{s}} \frac{R_{\text{bs}}}{R_{1\text{s}}}.$$
 (9.4)

In transition to operating regime the capacitor is switched to the feedback circuit, and resistors $R_{1 H}$ and $R_{2 H}$ are disconnected from the integrating point. Resistor R_{H} serves to preserve negative feedback of the block during transition of the armature of the relay of initial conditions *PHY* from contact to contact. It is selected from 100 kilohms to 1 megohm.

In simulators with iteration of processes at a frequency above 10 c (computers ELI-14 and ELI-12 see L. I. Gutenmakher [2]) there is applied the circuit for setting initial conditions shown in Fig. 152 c. Due to low internal resistance of the source of e_H capacitors C_H and C are charged practically instantly:

(9.5)

*Applied in EMU-5 of Academy of Sciences of USSR.

Due to the fact that voltage at C_H equals voltage e_H , current does not flow in this circuit, and the source of e_H is disconnected from integrating amplifier. Resistances R_g serve to limit current during discharge of capacitors C_H and C in the half-period of preparation of the circuit for solution of a problem.

A circuit, illustrating setting of initial conditions by adders, connected to output of integrating block, is shown in ^Pig. 153. Such method of setting initial conditions has the advantage that it does not require commutation of the circuit at the integrating point of the operational amplifier, it lowers requirement of high speed operation of control relay and allows us to open block in preparation for solution of a problem by short-circuiting integrating capacitors by contacts of PV-1. Resistor R, serves to limit current through contacts of the relay at the moment of short-circuiting of the capacitor. Main deficiency of this means of setting initial conditions is the necessity of connecting the adder with every integrator.* Often as such an adder there car be used a unit in set-up circuit. However in general the number of operational explicitors required here increases.



Fig. 153. Circuit of setting of voltage of initial conditions at output of integrating amplifier. KEY: (a) Input; (b) Control relay; (c) Output.

Setting of transmission factors is carried out in most cases on linear computing elements. Monlinear blocks usually are supplied with a fixed transmission factor,

[&]quot;Besides this one should consider that application of this circuit requires having of scale of voltages of setting to eliminate possible subput of suplifiers beyond the limits of linearity.

determined from the condition of obtaining at output a total voltage of the model scale (100 v) when supplying input with voltages of the argument, 100 v.

To solve differential equations it is necessary to provide possibility of change of transmission factors of every linear computing element in wide limits (from 100 and to 0.001). Setting of transmission factors greater than one usually is carried out continuously by change of registance, connected to the input, and in steps by feeding the feedback circuit from a divider, connected to the amplifier output.

Setting of transmission factors less than one is carried out continuously by connection of voltage divider to output and in steps by transition do another magnitude of resistance of feedback. In case of work in integrator regime stepby-step change of transmission factor is carried out in the direction of decrease by parallel connection of an additional capacitor and in the direction of increase by transition to capacitors of lower capacitances, connected to the block from without. Smooth change of transmission factors greater than one is achieved by change of the resistance, connected to input, and smaller than one--by a divider at the output, In Fig. 154 is brought a circuit, in which are provided the abovementioned methods of setting transmission factor of an operational amplifier.



Fig. 154. Nethods of setting transmission factor. KET: (a) Input; (b) Output.

In certain simulators the potentionster, connected to the output of the block,

is executed in the form of a ten-turn wire potentiometer, (for example, in EMU-10, PACE, REAU and others) or a three-decade divider according to the diagram in Fig. 155 (for example, IPT-4, IPT-5, MPT-9, etc.). Voltage dividers f-1 and f-f have eleven sections of equal resistances each, and divider f_1-3 has 10 sections. If resistance of section of separate dividers are selected in such a manner that relationship $r_3 = 0.2r_2$ and $r_2 = 0.2r_1$ were fulfilled, then in the given diagram connections of dividers of resistance between cursors a and b, and also c and d will be constant and accordingly equal to r_1 and r_2 .

$$r_{cd} = \frac{2r_s \cdot 10r_1}{2r_1 + 10r}$$

whence when $r_3 = 0$, r_2 we obtain $r_2 = r_2$; $s_b = \frac{2r_1 \cdot 10r_2}{2r_1 + 10r_3}$

Indeed,

whence when $r_2 = 0.2r_1$ we obtain $r_{ab} = r_1$.

Therefore independently of position of cursors ab and cd to divider A-2there will always be fed voltage $U_{ab} = \frac{\sigma_{ax}}{10}$, and to divider A-3 --voltage $U_{cd} = \frac{\sigma_{ax}}{100}$.



Fig. 155. Circuit of three-decade divider.

Total voltage at output of circuit will be

$$e_{\text{out}} = U_1 + U_2 + U_3 = \frac{s_{\text{ot}}}{10} n_1 + \frac{s_{\text{ot}}}{100} n_2 + \frac{s_{\text{ot}}}{1000} n_3 = \frac{s_{\text{ot}}}{10} (n_1 + 0.1n_2 + 0.01n_3).$$
(9.6)

-298-

where n_1 , n_2 , n_3 are the numbers of lead-outs of a section of the dividers.

Thus, with the help of such a divider it is possible to set coefficient z < 1with accuracy up to the third significant digit. Usually resistors of sections r_1 , r_2 and r_3 are made wire resistor.

Setting transmissions factors greater than one is realized by change of input impedance. This resistance in certain analogs (EMU-3, EMU-4) is executed in the



Fig. 157. Plug-in resistance box. a--General view; b--circuit.

form of a two-decade box with smooth setting of the third significant figure by a series connected resistor (Fig. 156). Here there is necessary for each box to have two switchs of 10 positions each. Accuracy of setting of transmission factor with the help of smooth change of the third step of a 10 kilohm resistance will vary depending upon the magnitude of the series-connected resistance.



Fig. 158. Bridge circuit for measurement of resistances. *m* --potentiometer; *3A* --standard divisor. KEY: (a) Resistance box; (b) Standard resistance box.

In connection with this of interest is the method of change of input impedance, used in electronic analog EMU-5. Here input impedances are made in the form of separate plug-in blocks (Fig. 157). The blocks are made in three modifications, covering total range of change of transmission factor (from 1 to 10). Inside each block are mounted three constant resistances and one potentiometer for accurate a adjustment of the coefficient. First modification ensures smooth adjustment in range from 1.14 megohm to 270 kilohm, the second--from 320 kilohm to 150 kilohm and the third--from 184 kilohm to 91 kilohm. In Fig. 157b are diagrams for connection of resistances in each modification. Switching of resistances in each block is carried out by setting the installation block in one of three positions, provided by an octal tube plug.

-300-

Application of resistors calibrated with great accuracy for setting of coefficients usually leads to sharp appreciation of the installation cost. Transmission factors of blocks can be fixed with accuracy up to 0.1% with application of ordinary carbon resistors of type EC, potentiometers with tolerance of $\pm 10\%$ and use of a bridge circuit for measurement of resistances (Fig. 158). Input impedance R_{uc} , subject to setting, resistor R_{uc} in feedback circuit, and two standard resistances: R_{uc} --unregulated and R_{uuc} (standard three-decade wire resistance box 94C) form the bridge. To points A and B of this bridge is connected a zero-indicator. Zero-indicator is an a-c amplifier with contact modulator at the input and an output tube of type 6E5 ("magic eye"). During appearance of alternating voltage on grid of this tube the dimension of the shady sector decreases. Therefore, when bridge is in equilibrium, the whole shady sector is cleared.

When setting transmission factor of potentiometers, connected to output of operational amplifier, bridge will be formed by standard divider, whose diagram is shown in Fig. 155, and the most tested potentiometer ΠT (Fig. 158b).

Amplification factor of amplifier of zero-indicator is selected equal to 10 to 15 considering that it is possible reliably to distinguish one step of the third decade of the \Im -NC and \Im_{I} .

3. Individual and Group Setting of Zero Level of Operational Amplifiers, Methods of Combatting Leak and Methods of Indicating Overloading.

At the output of operational amplifier in the absence of input signal there can be a certain voltage. This voltage usually consists of a constant (or, more correct, slowly variable) component and higher harmonics. It appears as a result of inaccurate setting of voltages of power supplies, presence of grid current and change of emission of first cascade, leaks at integrating point from side of power

-301-

supplies, etc (see for more detail Ch. III). In connection with this before beginning to solve a problem there always is carried out a check of zero level.

During use of operational amplifiers with a triode circuit of compensation for drift (see Ch. IV, page 102) setting of zero level is executed, as a rule, before each computation by a potentiometer, switched into the coupling network between the first and second cascades. With application of amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level the need for frequent check of zero level is gone. Here in the process of initial adjustment of the operational amplifier by a potentiometer of the interstage coupling they select an operating regime for the least amplitude of higher output harmonics, and displacement of zero under the influence of grid currents is eliminated by introduction of a certain additional emf at the input of the operational amplifier.

When the simulator consists of a large number of operational amplifiers with triode compensation (MN-2, EDA, etc.), for the purpose of facilitating the operation operation of setting of zero can be automated. Here all amplifiers of the computer are broken down into separate groups, and setting of zero of the amplifier of each group is produced in turn.

The system of group setting of zero is executed in two modifications: electromechanical and electronic. In both cases setting of zero is carried out by measurement and amplification of the signal of error e_i at integrating point Σ . In electromechanical variant (Fig. 159) an M-AM amplifier (see Ch. IV, page 116), with polarized relay 2, connected to output, is periodically connected by stepping switch 3 to integrating point of amplifier. If voltage e_i exceeds 2-3 millivolts, output relay works and one half of electromagnetic clutch 4 is switched on, moving the cursor of potenticmeter of zero setting 5.

Such a system ensures control of sero of amplifier not only before beginning work, but also during operation. According to the data of I. M. Vittenberg [1] with a periodicity of adjustment of 20-30 minute error due to inaccuracy of setting

-302-



Fig. 159. Electromechanical variant of device for group correction of zero level of operational amplifiers. 1--main d-c amplifier; 2--control relay of clutch; 3--stepping switch; 4--electromagnetic clutch. KEY: (a) To integrating points of other amplifiers.

of zero level does not exceed 2-3 millivolts. In electronic variant of the device (N. N. Lenov [1]), brought in Fig. 160, amplifier M- μ M periodically is connected to integrating point of amplifier and charges capacitor, connected to grid of right half of first tube.



Fig. 160. Electronic variant of device for group adjustment of zero. KEY: (a) Main amplifier; (b) Stepping switch; (c) Screen; (d) M-AMamplifier.

-303-

Jince in the absence of correction the amplifier in this circuit remains without triode compensation, then it is necessary to switch on a device of periodic correction continuously and increase the frequency of control to 1 time each 10-15 sec. Error in setting of zero in such a circuit is not less than 2-3 millivolt (on grid of first tube).

Pesides setting zero level, the described systems somewhat lower instability of zero level, mainly for an operational amplifiers, working in regimes of scale blocks and integrators. During work of amplifier in integrator regime these systems cannot in accuracy of stabilization of zero level complete with operational amplifiers equipped in individually with a system of automatic stabilization.

Experience shows that application of systems of group setting of zeries in both variants in magnitude of zero drift does not give results better than in emplifiers with triode compensation, however it provides a complete process automation of setting zero.

Accuracy of work of integrating operational amplifiers depends both on the degree of stabilization of zero level and also on spontaneous discharge of integrating capacitor due to leaks through the dielectric and external insulation. In fig. 161a are shown possible leaks in the circuit of an operational amplifier on the example of the amplifier of analog EMU-5. Besides these leaks, change of charge of integrating capacitor can be caused also by leaks between current-carrying wires of power supplies and the integrating point of the amplifier.



Fig. 161. External leaks of integrating capacitor and their removal. Mc --resistance box; P^{y} -control relay, P^{y} --relay of initial conditions. KEY: (a) Input; (b) Output.

-304-

Application of improved insolation between the indicated parts of the circuit has significantly less effect than introduction of so-called "ground insulation" (V. V. Gurov [1]). In Fig. 161b is brought a diagram of an operational amplifier, in which all elements, coupled with the integrating point and output, are separated from each other by metallic grounded parts. Here all connections to the integrating point should be by shielded wire with reliable grounding of the shield. The lead to the integrating point should be conducted not through a common plug, but to a separate jack, fixed in the metallic chassis. The metallic housing of the integrating capacitor should be reliably grounded.

Contacts of relays of discharge of integrating capacitor must not be on the general insulating plate. In order to use here ordinary telephone relays, it is expedient to connect contacts by the diagram brought in Fig. 162. Contacts a and b are connected correspondingly to the integrating point and the output of the operational amplifie.



Fig. 162. Diagram of connecting of contacts of relays with "ground insulation."

Enumerated measures lead to replacement of leaks between integrating point and output of operational amplifier through surface of insulation by leaks R_{sl} between integrating point and the ground and leaks R_{sl} between output and the ground (Fig. 163). Increase of leaks between integrating point and the ground has not so essential an influence on error of work of the unit. Additionally appearing here, spurious capacitance between integrating point and the ground leads to certain reduction of passband of amplifier.

Effectiveness of described method "ground insulation" can be illustrated by example of solution of a differential equation of type



1.1.1. AND



when $\varphi(0) = A$ and $\gamma(0) = 0$.

In Fig. 164a is brought oscillogram of solution of this equation, when a = 0.314, by ordinary operational amplifiers, and in Fig. 164b, when a = 0.003, by amplifiers (electronic analog FMU-6), for which there is "ground insulation." As follows from these figures, lowering of amplitude after 30 min in first case constituted nearly

4.5%, while in the second it practically is inconspicuous. Lowering of amplitude of oscillation by 2% is observed in second case only after 120 min.

These data indicate possibility of use of such operational amplifiers for simulation of slowly proceeding processes of automatic control.

In simulators there are two accepted methods of signalling departure of operational amplifier beyond the limits of linearity. Usually for this on cutput of operational amplifier is connected a neon signal bulb, which burns upon achievement of a voltage on amplifier output of ± 100 v. Often simultaneously there is connected a relay for supplying an audible signal and the command to cease computation.

When operational amplifiers are made with a system of automatic stabilization of zero level, it is possible for indication of overloading to use signal of error e_{δ} , amplified by an N-... amplifier.

As is known,

$$e_{0} = e_{m} \frac{R_{0}}{R_{1}(1+K_{j})+R_{0}}$$
(9.8)

with departure of amplifier beyond limits of linearity, $K_y \rightarrow 0$. End $e_i \rightarrow e_{ai} \times \frac{N_y}{R_1 + R_2}$ and will grow with increase of input signal.

In literature signs of this method of indication of overloading is met for the first time in the book of G. Korn and T. Korn [1] during description of operational

-306-





unjlifter of simulator of the Rund firm.

In Fig. 165 is brought diagram of indication of overloading based on measurement of amplified signal e g and applied in electronic analogs EMU-5 and EMU-6 (Academy of Sciences of USSR).

Voltage of error e 5 in this circuit after amplification by M-M amplifier moves from demodulating contact of vibrator B/I to one of the electrodes of neon tube H.7. The second electrode is connected to a common terminal, to which are connected neon tubes of other operational amplifiers. The common terminal is connected to the ground through resistor R₃. With ignition of neon tube on resistor R₃ there will be formed alternating voltage, which is amplified by tube \mathcal{A}_1 , rectified by diode \mathcal{A}_2 and after smoothing by filter R₆ C₃ moves to the control grids of tube \mathcal{A}_3 . Relay P_1 , connected in plate circuit of tube \mathcal{A}_3 , here is triggered and closes contacts, P_1 and $2P_1$. Contacts of the relay give signals to cease work. The system is tuned in such a manner that the relay works with a voltage at the integrating point, exceeding 2 millivolts.



Fig. 165. Circuit for indication of overloading. улт --d-c amplifier, <u>M-ДМ--amplifier with</u> modulation and demodulation; нл --neon tube; ин -vibrapack. KEY: (a) Stop (reset); (b) Stop.

-308-

Such a method of signalling departure from the limits of linearity has the advantage that it allows one to use in the absence of load on output of operational amplifier the full range of linear change of output voltage, considerably exceeding usually ± 100 v. Furthermore, it indicates malfunction in the circuit when output voltage remains within limits of model scale ± 100 v, but real limits of linearity are narrowed, for example, by too many potentiometers, connected in parallel to the output.

4. Main Functions and Principles of Construction of Control System of Simulators.

To control system of simulator usually are entrusted fulfillment of following operations: switching on process of solution ("Start"), ceasing process of sclution ("Stop") and return to initial position before switching on process of solution ("Stop").*

Ceasing solution is necessary to carry out measurements of values of separate coordinates at corresponding moments of solution, and also during overloading or fault of computing elements. Furthermore, the control system should ensure necessary switching operations when setting initial conditions, transmission factors of separate computing units and supply of disturbances.

For possibility of visual observation of solution on screen of cathode-ray oscillograph with tube, possessing afterglow, system of control should ensure division of process into periods with period of 2 to 30 sec. It is very desirable here to carry out supplying of time marks and in turn connect to plates of electron-beam tube one of the two input quantities for their simultaneous observation on the screen.

Together with this in the installation there is often provided automatic ceasing of the process of solution and switching on or disconnecting input signal at a

[&]quot;Editor Note. Author apparently means "reset" for second version of "Stop." We will put (reset) after this varient.

moment of time given beforehand.

The control system should be simple, reliable and convenient in operation. The less the switching contact equipment in the circuit, the greater its reliability.



Fig. 166. Control circuit of electronic model, type
IPT-5.
KEY: (a) Repeat; (b) Once; (c) Cycles; (d) Indicator
unit; (e) Time mark; (f) Input; (g) Integrator; (h)
Output.#

As example let us consider control circuit of electronic analogs IPT-5 and EMU-5. In Fig. 166a is brought the fundamental control circuit of simulator, IPT-5.** In addition of functions, mentioned above, in this circuit there is provided control of stepping switches of variable coefficients. In connection with the fact that power of contacts of the interrupter is insufficient for commutation of circuit of coils of stepping relays, in the circuit is provided control by contacts of multiple-throw switch K. Circuit of coil of multiple-throw switch K is interrupted by contacts of interrupter. To installation are added plug-in interrupters with pulse frequency 2/3, 1, 4/3, 2, 4 and 10 c.

With 100 steps of stepping selector this gives a time of duration of working cycle of 120 sec, 100 sec, 75 sec, 50 sec, 25 sec and 10.0 sec.

*Editor Note: this is basically illegible diagram

^{##}See description and operation instruction of electronic linear analog of type IPT-5, 1954.

Beginning of process of solution is this circuit is connected with beginning of first pause between pulses, issued by interrupter. This is achieved because the control relays in blocks of operational amplifiers are connected only after relays P_2 interlock P_2 and thereby feeds the coils of relay P_3 and relays P_y through normally closed contact $1P_1$.

Here relay P_3 interlocks by contact $2P_3$ and feeds of relays P_y in computing units for the duration of the whole time of solution.

To obtain time mark there is provided a circuit, consisting of series linked normally closed contact $2P_1$ and normally open contact $1P_4$, shunted normally by closed contact $3P_3$. At the beginning of each pause (starting with the second) between pulses of interrupter at a moment, when relay P_1 has already released its reed and, relay P_4 still holds, the indicated circuit is closed a short time. This is used for supplying time marks.

Duration of supplying time mark is determined by response time of relay P_{4} . In the circuit there is provided a pulse counter of type SI-1, by which it is possible to count these pulses.

Key Π_6 has two positions: work with constant and work with variable coefficients. In first position key Π_6 disconnects coil of contactor K. In second position pulses of interrupter through contacts $1P_0$ and $2P_0$ proceed to winding of contactor K, the lattor by its contact 1K gives pulse to coils of all selectors of blocks of variable coefficients of analog.

Control by work of blocks of variable coefficients is realized by stepping selector H_0 , giving on the 49-th step the signal of switching of output circuits of blocks of variable coefficients from one field of lamellae of the selector to the other.

Cn the 90th step of the selector H_0 there moves a signal to relay P_{B_1} , by which is prepared a circuit for operation of relay P_{K} at the zero position of brush of selector H_0 .

Operation P_k ensures return of installation to initial position.

-311-

In Fig. 166b is brought the timing circuit of the main switching elements of the circuit.

If it is required without interruption in work to iterate the solution, then for this toggle switch Π_{0} must be placed in the "repeat" position. Here on the First step of selector H_{0} excitation moves to windings of relay \bar{P}_{a} , fixed in blocks of operational amplifiers. Relay \bar{P}_{a} , disconnecting by means of contact H_{a}^{p} the circuit of relays P_{y} , which disconnect inputs of amplifiers and discharge, through a resistance of 1 kilohm, the integrating capacitors. On the lolst step of selector H_{0} relay \bar{P}_{a} is disconnected and to the operational amplifier there moves the voltage of initial conditions. With the help of contact $3P_{6}^{p}$ relay P_{a} remains switched on and the whole circuit continues the following operating cycle.

The circuit allows us to stop solution and to fix the value of desired variables. For this we press button "Stop"--K₀, which excites relay P_5 through contact P_6 . Relay P_5 interlocks through contact $2P_5$ and excites through contact $1P_5$ relay P_9 in computing blocks which breaks the input circuit of integrating amplifiers. Simultaneously with this by opening contact $3P_5$ we disconnect contactor K which causes a halt of all stepping selectors of blocks of variable coefficients. Continuation of solution is carried out by pressing the push button KII.

The control circuit of electronic analog computer EMU-5* is divided into two parts. One part, mounted directly in linear part of computer, ensures "Start" "Stop" and return of installation to initial position "Stop" (reset) and also switching operations during supplying of disturbances, setting of initial conditions and protection from overloading. Fundamental circuit of this part of the control system is shown in Fig. 167a.

In Fig. 167b is brought the circuit of an auxiliary control unit, intended for

*See V. A. Trapeznikov, B. Ya. Kogan, V. V. Gurov, A. A. Maslov, [1].

-312-

realization of repetitive operation, automatic ceasing of solution, supplying of time marks on screen of electron-beam tube, switching on and switching off of input signal at a predetermined moment of time. For bringing the circuit to a working state toggle switch of network T_c is set at the "On" position. Here there starts to revolve synchronous electric motor CA, which is coupled with three contacts of interrupter. These contacts produce pulses of direct current with frequency 1, 2, 5 c, which can be used for switching of stepping selector IIIH. Frequency of pulses is selected by switch II.

Upon pushing the "Start" button $K3\Pi$ relay $P3\Pi$ works, which locks itself by its own contact $IP3\Pi$. Here the signal tube lights up and contact $2P3\Pi$ closes.

The first pulse coming from contacts of interrupter of synchronous electric motor $C_{\mathcal{A}}$, switches on the circuit of winding of relay p_{Π} . Contact $l^{2^{\prime}}$ is closed, which produces the operation "Start" of analog EMU-5. Simultaneously stepping selector switch makes the first step. During rotation of electric motor $C_{\mathcal{A}}$ relay p_{Π} works with the frequency of the interrupter (1, 2 or 5 c) and stepping selector starts to count the number of pulses, coming from interrupter of electric motor $C_{\mathcal{A}}$. In the circuit there is applied a stepping selector with a maximum of steps, equal to 50.

To perform the operation "Stop" at a predetermined second to the "Stop" terminal they connect by a flexible cord with corresponding lead-out from lamellae of the supping selector.

With connection of the brush of the selector with a lamella, to which is connected the cord "Stop" relay PO works and by contact 1PO breaks the circuit of blocking of relay P3/7. Contact 2PO produces in the analog EMU-5 the operation "Stop." With disconnection of relay P3/7 contact 2P3/7 will be opened, the winding of relay P/7 is disconnected from the interrupter of the motor 12, and the stepping selector stops.

Period of iteration of the process is set by switch I and connection of cord

-313-
"Stop" with the corresponding lamella of the stepping selector. During switching on of toggle switch of division into periods T_n relay P/I/I works and by contact 3P/I/I produces the operation "Start," contact IP/I/I closed, contact group 2P/I/I is switched and stepping selector begins to switch.



Fig. 167. Fundamental control circuit of electronic analog of type EMU-5.

Contact of the zero position of the selector H_{u2} closes, and contact H_{u1} . opens.

With connection of the brush of the selector to the lamella, united by the flexible lead with socket "Stop", relay PO is triggered. Contact 2PO closes and switches on relay PC; simultaneously to analog EMU-5 moves the signal "Stop" (for discharge of capacitors of integrators and setting of initial conditions). Relay PC interlocks by its contact IPC.

Contact 3PC closes and through the normally closed head contact of melector *FKH* switches on the winding of stepping selector 11/11; here the brush of the selector automatically is set to zero position. With return of brushes to zero position contact H_{ol} will open and relay *PC*. is disconnected, which will open contact 3 *PC*. Furthermore, contact H_{ol} through contact *IPII* produces the operation "Start" of the model. The stepping selector again starts to switch and upon connection of the brush of the selector with the lamella, to which is connected the cord "Stop," the process is repeated.

In the additional controlling block there are two relays Pi and P2. With the help of these relays and contact group 2PI it is possible to execute the following operations:

- 1) switching on of input signal at a given moment of time;
- 2) disconnecting the input signal at a given moment of time;
- 3) switching of couplings in the set-up problem.

To execute the enumerated operations socket "On" is connected by cord with corresponding lamella of the stepping selector. When the brush of the selector is connected with this lamella, relay PI works and interlocks by contact IPI. Contact 2PI is switched on. For switching off relay PI socket "On" is also connected with the corresponding lamella of the selector.

In the control circuit there is foreseen the possibility of parallel work of several simulators of type EMU-5 with control of the solution process from any installation. In distinction from installation IPT-5 here there is not anticipated work with blocks of variable coefficients, based on stepping selectors (see Ch. XI).

5. Observation and Recording of Solution.

Every simulator usually is supplied by means for observation and recording of the process of solution. These means are distinguished depending upon the speed of processes, which are to be recorded or examined. With slow processes with frequency, not exceeding 1-2 cycles, we can use self-recording instruments with

-315-

drive of the stylus mechanism from servo systems (instruments of the type of recording self-balanced potentiometers, for example, EPP-9). At frequencies up to 100 cps for recording of the solution there usually are used loop oscillographs).* At higher frequencies they use oscillographs with electron-beam tubes.

RAPHC NOT





Fig. 168. General view and diagram of recording device of the Goodyear firm (United States). 1--drum; 2--conducting layer; 3--currentcollector; 4--amplifier; 5-drive motor, 6--potentiometric pickup. Spark recorders of type EIS-2 (developed in industry), based on the principle of dynamic compensation, work in the same range as loop oscillographs, not requiring here comparatively expensive light sensitive material and time for its processing. However accuracy of recording here is 2-3 times lower. Heterogeneity of paper leads to puncture occurring with a large spread of points.

In Fig. 168 are brought the general view and diagram circuit of recording device of Goodyear firm (Goodyear Co, USA; see P. R. Vance and D. L. Haas [1]) with drive of the stylus and drum from servo systems. Analogous installations are also produced by the Reeves firm (G. Korn and T. Korn [1]). In case of rotation of drum with constant speed this device works as an ordinary recording instrument. Upon feeding the input of the servo system of the drum drive with another dependent variable there can be obtained recording of dependence

^{*}It is necessary to indicate that with the help of loop oscillographs in principle it is also possible to record processes of higher frequency. However here the power consumed by loop and required speed of movement of paper sharply increase.

between two coordinates in the process of solution; in particular, there can be obtained recording of trajectories of flying objects or phase portraits of studied dynamic systems. Accuracy of recording here is 0.25 at a maximum frequency of reproduced processes of 2 c. The device can also reproduce in the form of voltage an earlier registered dependence between two coordinates and, consequently, work as a functional generator.

They also apply two-coordinate recording tables with drive from two servo systems. Thus, for example, recording device put out by the firm "Dobbie Mc. Innes Limited" (England; see S. A. Wass [1]) has a table 456 x 764 mm and ensures accuracy of 0.25% during recording of very slow processes. Error during reproduction of sinuscidal oscillations with frequency of 0.2 c and amplitude ± 228 mm already constitutes 0.5%. With increase of frequency it is necessary to lower accordingly permissible amplitude of oscillations.

During operation of simulators it is expedient along with loop to use also a cathode-ray oscillograph. The latter serves here mainly for visual observation of the process and singling out from the endle set of received solutions those, which will be recorded. Here there can be used standard cathode-ray oscillographs of type EO-4 or EO-7, for which instead of tube 132037 there is installed a tube of type [32036 with long afterglow. Voltage of scanning of the beam is fed to the oscillograph from integrating amplifier of the analog and by this synchronizes beginning of the process with beginning of scanning. The time of scanning changes with change of the time constant of the integrator.

There are also constructed specialized cathode-ray indicators of type I-4, I-5 and ERU-1. The first two are equipped with tubes with long afterglow of type CUIDECand IEROSE accordingly. The third type has an electron-beam tube with dark recording.

In Fig. 169 is brought the diagram of an indicator, made with small differences from the diagram of indicator 1-4 Scanning of beam here is internal and is

-317-

Fig. 169. Diagram of indicator I-4.



-816-





Fig. 170. General view and fundamental circuit of ERU-1.

-319-

-

....

· • · ·

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

-

carried out with the help of a phantastron oscillator circuit. Synchronization is carried out from a 50 cps network. There is anticipated possibility of setting duration of scanning of beam within 1-10 sec, 5-40 sec, 10-80 sec, 10-100 sec, 50-400 sec and 100-800 sec. The time mark is given also by oscillator circuit of phantastron type every 1, 5, 10 or 25 sec. The time mark acts on cutoff of the beam. In indicator is provided also relay P_{A_1} , which commutates plates with two inputs for obtaining on screen simultaneously the image of change of two coordinates.

Starting and stopping of scanning is carried out from the panel of the simulator. During starting of the analog to the phantastron there moves a starting pulse through capacitor c. When stopping the process, scanning is stopped by breaking of contact $1Pa_1$ in grid circuit of tube 5.

In cathode-ray recording device ERU-1 there is used a cathode-ray tube of type 10%PH2-T with recording by a dark line with magnetic deflection and focusing of beam.

Screen of this tube is covered by a layer of crystals of potassium chloride. When the electronic beam strikes the screen on it there will be form i dark violetblue lines, caused by absorption of light by those crystals of potassium chloride, which experienced the electron bombardment of the beam.

Contrast of recording decreases in time and depends on illumination and temperature of screen. With ordinary temperature and illumination of screen the recording can be kept for several days.

Discoloration of screen--erasing of the recording is carried out by heating the screen by an external electric furnace. Therefore to the device is provided two sets of electron-beam tubes. While recording is conducted on one tube, the other is prepared for work. General view and fundamental circuit of the instrument is shown in Fig. 170. Coils, deflecting the beam, are fed through operational d-c amplifiers with negative feedback for coil current. This ensures linearity of dependence of current of coils on input voltage with accuracy up to U.IS.

-320-

Sensitivity of circuit for both inputs is not less than 0.8 mm/v. For realization of scanning in time amplifier V-1 can be used as a generator of scanning, for which it is converted into integrator made. In the circuit by relays $P\Pi_1$, $P\Pi_2$, $P\Pi_1$, and $P\Pi_4$ there is ensured simultaneity of starting of analog and beginning of scanning of beam, ceasing of scanning upon stop of process of solution and return to initial position during switching off of simulator.

Ta	ble	6
----	-----	---

No. in order	Type of indicator Main characteristics	I-4	I-5	ERU~1
1	Diameter of tube screen	180 X 220	130 mm	100 mm
2		311.033	131036	10LPK2-T
3	Sensitivity on both axes at maximum amplifi-	8 mm/v	1	0,8 mm/v
	cation	8 mm/v	7 mm/v	0.8 mm/v
4	Duration of single scanning	from 10 to 400 sec	from 10 to 250 sec	from 1 to 1000 sec in three steps from 1 to 10, from 10 to
	with repetition	from 1 to 80 sec	from 1 to 25 sec	100 and from 100 to 1000 sec
5	Frequency of internal time marks			Pulses of time marks move from without
6	Error of measurement	2%		
7	Feeding	from net 220 v	from net 220 v	From stabiliser recti- fier ESV-1M

Basic data of the above-mentioned cathode-ray indicators are given in Table VI.

SECTION II

.

APPLICATION OF ELECTRONIC MODELS FOR INVESTIGATION OF AUTOMATIC CONTROL SYSTEMS

CHAPTER X

METHOD OF SETTING AND SOLVING PROBLEMS

For successful use of simulators of great importance is correct fulfillment of a number of operations, connected with preparation of initial system of differential equations for setting on the installation. These preparatory operations include: composition of functional diagram of connection of computing elements in accordance with given system of differential equations, calculation of transmissions factors of separate computing elements with respect to coefficients of initial equations, selection of scales of representation of dependent variables and time, determination of initial conditions and disturbances in those physical quantities, which in the simulator are represented by initial variables of the problem.

1. Composition of Functional Diagram of Connection of Separate Computing Elements for Solution of Given Differential Equations

Differential equations, subject to solution by a simulator, can be given in the form of one equation of high order, in the form of a system of differential equations of different orders, and, finally, in the form of a system of differential equations of the first order. In principle set-up can be realized by increasing the order of the derivative or lowering the order of the derivative. In the first case the equation is solved for the desired function and separate computing elements are connected in such a way as to carry out sequential differentiation with subsequent summation

-323-

of separate derivatives. In the second case equations are solved for the derivative of highest rank of the desired function. If one were to assume that the value of the derivative of highest rank is known, then to obtain the desired function it is necessary to execute consecutively many operations of integration as the order of the highest ranking derivative, and then sum all components, constituting the highest ranking derivative. One group of these components is the desired function and its lower rank derivatives are obtained by imposition of feedback from the output of the integrators to input of the adder; while the other is obtained by supplying from without (right side of equations, other dependent variables in case of solution of a system differential equations).

Thus, set-up by lowering the order of derivative requires that the basis of the simulator be integrating computing elements. Here there is attained essential decrease of influence of interferences, created, for example, by the stepped nature of potentiometers at input of separate units, the presence of higher harmonics in voltage of power supplies, and so forth. Therefore, as a rule, set-up on simulators is constructed by lowering the order of the derivative. Let us consider several practical examples. As the first example let us consider composition of functional diagram for a linear differential equation of the sixth order with constant coefficients

$$a_3 \frac{d^3x}{dt^5} + a_1 \frac{d^3x}{dt^5} + a_3 \frac{d^3x}{dt^5} + a_4 \frac{d^3x}{dt^5} + a_5 \frac{dx}{dt} + a_6 x = y(t). \quad (10.1)$$

Solving equation (10.1) for the highest ranking derivative, we will receive

$$\frac{d^{4}x}{dt^{6}} = -b_{1}\frac{d^{4}x}{dt^{6}} - b_{2}\frac{d^{4}x}{dt^{6}} - b_{3}\frac{d^{4}x}{dt^{6}} - b_{4}\frac{d^{6}x}{dt^{6}} - b_{5}\frac{dx}{dt} - b_{6}x + b_{0}y(t), \qquad (10.2)$$

where

$$b_1 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \quad b_3 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \quad b_3 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \quad b_4 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \\ b_5 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \quad b_6 = \frac{a_1}{a_0}, \quad b_9 = \frac{1}{a_0}.$$

The functional diagram is shown in Fig. 171. During composition of functional diagram there was taken into account the property of computing elements, built on d-c amplifiers with negative feedback, to change the sign of the input signal.

-324-

It is possible to somewhat simplify the functional diagram by combination in the first unit of functions of summation and integration and unification in one auxiliary adder of the function of change of sign of input signals, which was executed in the above-mentioned circuit by three computing elements (units No. 8, 9 and 10). In Fig. 172 is brought a diagram of set-up taking into account these remarks.



Fig. 171. Functional diagram of set-up of computing elements for solution of an inhomogeneous linear differential equation of the 6th order with constant coefficients.



Fig. 172. Another variant of functional diagram.

As a second example let us consider composition of functional diagram for system of linearised differential equations, describing processes of course stabilization of an aircraft by automatic pilot. Not considering banking, with constant speed of aircraft $\Psi = \text{const}$ and an automatic pilot with proportional feedback and

-325-

response to the first and second derivatives we will obtain

equation of moments with respect to y axis

 $T_1 \ddot{\psi} + \dot{\psi} = -k_1 \delta - k_2 \delta + f_1(t).$

equation of projections of all forces on z axis

$$T_{2}^{3} + \beta = T_{2}^{2} + f_{2}(t).$$

equation of runder drive

$$T_{\lambda}\delta + \delta = k_{\lambda}$$

.

equation of amplifier and sensors

 $TJ + I = k_{\phi}\phi + k_{\phi}\dot{\phi} + k_{\phi}\ddot{\phi} - k_{\phi}\delta.$

In these equations there are designated:

$$T_{1} = \frac{J}{M_{e}^{2}},$$

$$T_{2} = \frac{mv}{Z^{2}}$$

$$= -\text{time constants of aircraft;}$$

$$T_{1} = \frac{mv}{Z^{2}},$$

$$= -\text{amplification factors of aircraft;}$$

$$= \frac{M_{e}^{3}}{M_{e}^{2}},$$

$$= -\text{amplification factors of aircraft;}$$

$$= \frac{M_{e}^{3}}{M_{e}^{2}},$$

$$= -\text{increments of disturbing moment and forces;}$$

 T_{L} — time constant of acceleration of rudder actuator,

 T_i — time constant of amplifier,

 k_3 — static transmission factor of rudder drive,

 k_{i} - coefficient, determining rigid ty of feedback,

A, A, A, - coefficients, determining influences with respect to deflection of its

first and second derivatives,

course angle increment,

- g increment of slip angle,
- a increment of angle of rudder,
- / increment of t tal control signal.

(10.3)



Fig. 173. Functional diagram of set-up of computing elements for investigation of processes of course stabilization of aircraft by an automatic pilot.

We construct the functional diagram of these equations, as before, preliminarily solving each equation of the system for the highest ranking derivative:

$$\frac{d^{2}}{dt^{2}} = -\frac{1}{T_{1}} \frac{d^{2}}{dt} - \frac{k_{1}}{T_{1}} - \frac{k_{2}}{T_{1}} - \frac{k_{1}}{T_{1}} + \frac{f_{1}(t)}{T_{1}}$$
(10.4)

$$\frac{d_3}{dt} = -\frac{1}{T_0}\beta + \frac{d_3}{dt} + \frac{f_1(t)}{T_0}, \qquad (10.5)$$

$$\frac{d^{2}}{dt^{2}} = -\frac{1}{T_{1}}\frac{dt}{dt} + \frac{k_{1}}{T_{1}}, \qquad (10.6)$$

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = -\frac{1}{T_1}I + \frac{h_1}{T_1}I + \frac{h_2}{T_1}I + \frac{h_2}{T_1}\frac{dV}{dt} + \frac{h_2}{T_1}\frac{dV}{dt} - \frac{h_4}{T_1}\frac{dV}{dt} - \frac{H_4}{T_1$$

The overall functional diagram is shown in Fig. 173. Dotted lines circle circuits, corresponding to separate equations of investigated system.

When there is given a system of first-order differential equations of the form

$$\frac{dx_{i}}{dt} = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_{j} + b_{ij} (t), \qquad (10.8)$$

for each equation there can be composed an identical functional diagram (Fig. 174).

This allows us once and for all to connect computing elements in similatoramong themselves, and to set-up by setting coefficients aij and bi, as this is shown



Fig. 174. Functional diagram of set-up of computing elements for solution of linear differed ial equation of first order in matrix models.

in Fig. 175 for solution of a linear differential equation of the third order

$$a_{2} \frac{d^{3} x_{1}}{dt^{3}} + a_{1} \frac{d^{3} x_{1}}{dt^{3}} + a_{2} \frac{dx_{1}}{dt} + a_{3} x_{1} = f_{3}(t).$$
(10.9)

By preliminarily substitution $\frac{dx_1}{dt} = x_2$ and $\frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_3$ equation (10.9) is reduced to a system of three differential equations of the first order:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = 0 \cdot x_1 + x_2 + 0 \cdot x_3 + 0 \cdot f_1(t),$$

$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = 0 \cdot x_1 + 0 \cdot x_2 + x_2 + 0 \cdot f_2(t),$$

$$\frac{dx_3}{dt} = -\frac{a_3}{a_0} x_1 - \frac{a_2}{a_0} x_2 - \frac{a_1}{a_0} x_3 + \frac{1}{a_0} f_3(t),$$

Here:

100 A

For set-up there is not required composition of a functional diagram; it is sufficient only to determine values of coefficients a_{ij} and b_i and set them by cursors of corresponding dividers.

The diagram of Fig. 175 is the totality of the three diagrams of Fig. 174, but with this distinction, that in each diagram, solving a first order equation, besides an adder, integrator and sign-change unit, there is introduced a unit for setting the scale of variable x_i (units No. 2, 6 and 10 on the diagram of Fig. 175).

Such a principle of set-up is called matrix. Simulators, for which computing



Fig. 175. Example of commutation of blocks in matrix models.

equatic 3, also are called matrix.

Use of matrix principle of set-up ensures an automatically correct sequence of coupling separate computing elements, and also indicates the way of transforming equations to a form, with which natural parameters of computing elements do not disturb stability of work of the device as a whole (I. S. Gradshteyn [1]). However such a principle of set-up also requires increases of the quantity of computing elements in the installation. Indeed, in considered example of solution of a third order equation there were required 12 operational amplifiers. In general it is possible to consider that for solution of a third order differential equation in this way there will be required, at least, 4n operational amplifiers. Often it may be that a significant part of these computing elements either in general, will not be used, or may be absent during solution of the formulated problem with another rethod of connection of computing elements. Increase of the number of computing elements leads to the necessity of increasing the number of prime units, and consequently, dimensions and cost of the installation. Besides this, the matrix method

-329-

of set-up hampers investigation on models of systems of automatic control by squations of their dynamic sections which significantly lowers the graphicness of solution of problems of automatic control and hampers research on syntheses of their structures.



During composition of functional diagrams of connection of computing elements for solution of differential equations with variabla coefficients one should provide possibility of connecting to the output corresponding units voltage dividers, controlled from special bunchers (see Ch. XI).

brought a functional diagram for solution

Fig. 176. Functional diagram of set-up of computing elements for solution of a In Fig. 176. for illustration there is linear differential equation with variable coefficients.

of equations

$$\frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{2}} + a_{1}(t)\frac{dx}{dt} + a_{2}(t)x = f(t).$$
(10.10)

Equations with coefficients variable in time can also be set-up on installation by nonlinear computing elements, multipliers and functional generators.

In Fig. 177 is brought a functional diagram of set-up of a Mathieu equation

$$\frac{d^{2}y}{dx^{2}} + (a - 2q\cos 2x)y = 0.$$

Since the independent variable in electronic models is time, then it is useful to introduce in Mathieu's equation replacement of variables by relationship designates here angular frequency of change of paremeter q. $x = \frac{\omega}{2} l; \ \omega = \frac{2\pi}{2}$

After replacement of variables we will receive

$$\frac{d^2y}{dt^2} + \frac{\omega^2}{4} ay - \frac{\omega^2}{2} qy \cos \omega t = 0.$$

Expression $z = \frac{w^2}{2} q \cos \omega t$ can be obtained in the form of solution of the corresponding differential equation

$$\frac{d^2s}{dt^2} + w^2 s = 0 \text{ When } \begin{cases} s(0) = \frac{w^2}{2}q, \\ \dot{s}(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

-330-



Fig. 177. Functional diagram of set-up of computing elements for solution of a Mathieu equation.

Therefore for composition of the functional diagram of Fig. 173 we use the system of equations:

$$\frac{d^{2}y}{dt^{4}} + \frac{\omega^{2}}{4} ay = zy.$$
(10, 11)
$$\frac{d^{2}z}{dt^{4}} + \omega^{2}z = 0.$$

ţ

The presented method of presentation of the right side of the set-up equation as the solution of a corresponding differential equation, introduced first by Bush for a mechanical integrator, turned out to be very fruitful also for electronic models.

Composition of functional set-up diagrams of nonlinear differential equations does not present any essential peculiarities.

A number of cases with typical nonlinear characteristics are examined in Chapter XIII.

2. Determination of Transmissions Factors of Separate Computing Elements by Coefficients of Initial Equations. Selection of Scales of Representation of Dependent Variables and Time

Puring determination of transmission factors of separate computing elements we will start from the position that processes of simulators must be described by differential equations the same in form as for the initial problem, and initial variables and their physical analogs and models can differ only by scale factors. Therefore in principle there can be two methods of determination of transmission factors of computing elements in a circuit. The first consists in replacing in initial equations variables by their physical analogs by the corresponding transformation. On the basis of the resulting equations we constitute the functional setset-up diagram. By this diagram we write equations, connecting variables of the model, and these equations are compared with the transformed initial equations. From comparison of equations they determine relationships between coefficients of initial equations and scales of transformation of variables on the one hand, and transmission factors of separate computing elements on the other.

In the other method in equations, composed by functional set-up diagram, we effect by transformation of variables replacement of physical analogs by initial variables and compare resulting equations with the initial. Both systems of differential equations should be identical. From this condition there are obtained relationship between transmission factors and scale factors on the one hand, and coefficients of the initial system on the other. From this ensues complete equivalence of both methods of determination of transmission factors of computing elements in a circuit.

Both methods assume composition of differential equations by functional set-up diagram. For each computing element, participating in the set-up diagram, one should write an equation, connecting output magnitude with the input, renumbering preliminarily in succession all computing elements and their input and output circuits.

-332-

Transmission factor of a unit here acquires a number in the index, consisting of two or three figures: the first figure (or first two figures) indicates the number of the unit and the second, the number of the input circuit.

Thus, for example, in the general case for the i-th operational amplifier, working in adder regime with n components, it is possible to write

$$U_{i} = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{b} K_{ij} U_{b} \qquad (k = 0, 1, 2, ..., n), \qquad (10.12)$$

where a_k --is the coefficient, indicating what part of the output voltage U_k of the k-th unit is fed to the j-th input of the given unit from the potentiometer, utilized for setting the coefficient of the smaller unit.

For a unit, working in integrator-adder regime,

$$U_{i} = -\frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{k} K_{ij} U_{k} \qquad (k = 0, 1, 2, ..., n). \qquad (10.13)$$

When using operational amplifier as an adder-differentiator

$$U_{i} = -p \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{k} \cdot K_{ij} U_{k} \quad (k = 0, 1, 2, ..., n). \quad (10, 14)$$

Equations of computing units, working in scale amplifier regime, and also utilized for change of sign or integration, can be obtained from the given equations as a particular case, when the number of components n = 1.

For nonlinear computing elements there is fixed only an ordinal number in the diagram, and this number is assigned to the corresponding transmission factor. Thus, for a multiplier-divider we have:

$$\begin{array}{c}
U_{i} = \beta_{i} U_{a} U_{a}, \\
U_{i} = \gamma_{i} \frac{U_{a}}{U_{a}}.
\end{array}$$
(10.15)

where β_i is the scale factor of the multiplier, T_i —the scale factor of the divider, i—the ordinal number of the unit in the circuit.

Usually so that output voltage does not exceed the scale of 100 v, β_i is taken squal to 0.01 with permissible change of U_m and U_n within ± 100 v. Coefficient γ_i usually is taken equal to 10 in the interval of change of dividend $U_m \pm 100$ v and divisor U_n from 10 to 100 v. For functional generator of one argument the equation, connecting output magnitude with the input, will be

$$U_{i} = v_{i} f(t_{i} U_{i}). \tag{10.16}$$

In particular, for units, reproducing given functions, in analog #MM=5 there is taken:

$$U_{i} = 100 \sin \frac{\pi}{100} U_{0}.$$

$$U_{i} = 100 \cos \frac{\pi}{100} U_{0}.$$

$$U_{i} = 0.01 U_{0}^{2}.$$

$$U_{i} = 10 \ \overline{U}_{0}.$$

$$U_{i} = 0.0001 U_{0}^{3}.$$

$$U_{i} = 21.54 \ V_{0}.$$
(10.17)

In general when using general-purpose functional generators (for example, built on electron-boam tubes in Academy of Sciences of USSR) magnitude τ_i can change from U to 15, and τ_i from 0.8 to 5.

If the problem is solved with rigidly fixed coefficients, greater than one, then all x_{i} , which can change within limits $0 \leq x_{i} \leq 1$, should be set equal to one. Turing calculation of transmission ratios one should also consider static transmission factors of generators, connected to input and output of simulator in case of simulation with elements of the control loop.

Values of resistances at the input of operational amplifier required for realization of given transmission factor are calculated from expressions:

for integrator $K_{ij} = \frac{1}{R_{ij}}$.

A STATE A STATE AND A STATE

for differentiator $K_{ij} = R_i C_{ij}$.

for scale amplifier $A_{ij} = \frac{R_i}{R_j}$.

Capacitances C_{ij} and C_i here are expressed in microfarads, but resistance R in merchus.

For example we will constitute equations, connecting input and output

magnitudes for separate computing units of the functional diagram considered in Fig. 172. Using relationships (10._2) and (10.13) we will receive:

$$U_{1} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{11}U_{5} + K_{12}U_{3} + K_{13}U_{7} + K_{14}U_{1} + K_{15}U_{9}),$$

$$U_{2} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{21}U_{1}),$$

$$U_{3} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{31}U_{2}),$$

$$U_{4} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{41}U_{3}),$$

$$U_{5} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{51}U_{4}),$$

$$U_{6} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{61}U_{3}),$$

$$U_{7} = -(K_{71}U_{2} + K_{72}U_{4} + K_{73}U_{6}).$$
(10.18)

Here $p = \frac{d}{dt_m}$; t_m is an independent v.riable of the installation for time.

In the resulting equations voltage U_6 represents the sought for variable x. Solving this system for U_6 , we receive

$$U_{6}[p^{6} + K_{14}p^{5} + K_{13}K_{21}K_{71}p^{4} + K_{12}K_{21}K_{31}p^{3} + K_{13}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{72}p^{2} + K_{14}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{51}p^{4} + K_{13}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{51}K_{61}K_{73}] = (10.19)$$

$$= K_{41}$$

Magnitude 0, can represent the initial variable in a certain scale; analogously the independent variable, time, can differ from time of initial problem in the sense that processes on installation are reproduced in a somewhat delayed or accelerated rate.

Introducing equations of transformation of variables, we receive:

$$\begin{array}{c} x = M_{y}U_{0}, \\ y = M_{y}U_{0}, \\ t = M_{f_{w}}, \end{array}$$
 (10.20)

ł

where M_X is the scale of representation of magnitude x in the installation in the form of voltage, M_y is the scale factor of representation of magnitude y, M_t is the time scale.

Substituting relationships (10.20) in equation (10.19), we receive equation of modelling circuit, written in transmission factors, scale factors and initial variables:

$$\frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{4}} + \frac{K_{11}}{M_{1}} \frac{d^{3}x}{dt^{3}} + \frac{K_{11}K_{21}K_{11}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{d^{4}x}{dt^{4}} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{31}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{d^{3}x}{dt^{3}} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{d^{3}x}{dt} + \frac{K_{11}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{dx}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{12}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} \frac{M_{1}^{2}}{dt} + \frac{K_{1}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}}K_{21}K_{21}K_{21}K_$$

It is obvious that coefficients of this equation should be equal to coefficients of initial equation (10.2).

Equating coefficients for corresponding derivatives and right sides in equations (10.2) and (10.21), we receive:

$$\frac{K_{14}}{M_{f}} = b_{1}, \quad \frac{K_{13}K_{31}K_{71}}{M_{f}^{2}} = b_{2}, \quad \frac{K_{13}K_{31}K_{31}}{M_{f}^{3}} = b_{3}, \\
\frac{K_{13}K_{31}K_{31}K_{41}K_{72}}{M_{f}^{4}} = b_{4}, \quad \frac{K_{11}K_{31}K_{31}K_{41}K_{31}}{M_{f}^{5}} = b_{5}, \\
\frac{K_{12}K_{31}K_{41}K_{4}, K_{51}K_{61}K_{51}}{M_{f}^{4}} = b_{6}, \\
\frac{K_{13}K_{31}K_{31}K_{4}, K_{51}K_{61}}{M_{5}M_{f}^{4}} \quad M_{g} = b_{0}.$$
(10.22)

From these relationships it follows that during selection of transmission and scale factors there is some free play since the number of equations is less than the number of unknowns. Therefore for determination of magnitudes of separate transmission factors additional considerations are brought in, connected with peculiarities of work and properties of utilized computing elements. Among these considerations is the desire to limit error from zero drift and the finite value of the amplification factor, and also not to allow saturation of separate computing elements in process of solution of problems due to boundedness of linear range $(\pm 100 \text{ w})$.

Experience shows that maximum transmission factor, established on computing unit (made with triode circuit for drift compensation in the first cascade) working as an integrator, must no exceed 5-10 and in scale block regime 20. For a computing element, made with automatic stabilisation of zero level, the permissible transmission factor increases accordingly to 20 in the first case and to 100 in the second. Here the adder can be considered a scale unit with equivalent resistance at input, equal to resultant resistance of parallels connected input resistances.

-336-

If for given values of coefficients of initial equations transmission ratios required of operational amplifiers exceed the indicated boundaries, transmission ratios must be decreased by reconsideration of the functional diagram (changes of scale factors) or introduction of additional units. 「「「「「「「」」」」

During selection of scale factors one should see that solution occurs at the highest permissible level of voltages in the installation, since this will ensure best use of its possibilities in the sense of obtaining low error of the solution.

During calculation of transmissions factors for the case of factors of variable in time there are predetermined their maximum values and by these values, setting all $z_a = 1$, we select values of K_{ij} . During solution of a problem required values of transmission factors of separate units are obtained automatically by decrease of these coefficients by introduction of voltage dividers $a_a(t)$ in needed places in the circuit. Often the dividers are introduced also and when they wish to establish a transmission factor less than one or when it is necessary to pase investigation in a wide range of change of certain coefficients (parameters) of the initial system.

Expressions (10.22) also permit one to formulate rules of composition of relationships between transmission factors of computing units, scale factors and coefficients of initial linear differential equations, by which these relationships can be written only on the basis of a functional set-up diagram.

Indeed, each coefficient of the initial equation in a dependent variable or in its derivatives is expressed by the product of transmissions factors of separate computing elements which form a closed circuit, at whose output there is obtained the considered dependent variable. If investigation is conducted not in natural time scale $(N_{t} \neq 1)$, then this product of transmission factors is divided by scale factor M_{t} in a degree, equal to the number of considered coefficient b_{1} . Coefficient in an independent variable is equal to the product of transmission factors of computing units, connected in series between the place of application of the independent variable and output of the sought for dependent variable, multiplied by the

-337-

ratio of scale of representation of the dependent variable to the product of scales of the independent variable and time in a degree equal to the order of the highest ranking derivative.

It is known that accuracy of solution of differential equations on electronic analog computers is higher, the faster the solution converges. This means that error during investigation of stable systems of automatic control will be significantly smaller, than during investigation of unstable ones.

In the latter case error grows in time and can reach an impermissibly great magnitude. At the same time there exists a number of linear systems of autoratic control with parameters variable in time, motion of which on separate time intervals for a number of reasons is characterized by instability, leading to build-up of deflections. The problem is to explain the magnitude of deflections and nature ef motion of the system on a given time interval in order, by corresponding selection of parameters, to limit maximum deflection at the end of this time interval.

To solve such problems on simils⁺ s without elements of the control loop it is expedient to introduce *k*-transformation for every variable of the initial problem:

 $\mathbf{x}_i = \mathbf{e}^{\lambda_i} \mathbf{y}_i. \tag{10.23}$

where λ is a sufficiently large positive number. Introduction of β -transformation of variables* for solution of such problems on installations of type dLI leads to change of diagonal coefficients of initial equations by quantity λ . The resulting new system of differential equations will have a solution, characterized by diminishing deflections, which it is possible with sufficient accuracy to obtain by an electronic analog computer. For calculation of solutions of $x_i(t)$ from solution of $y_i(t)$ of the stable system we use again transformation equation

[&]quot;Offered by M. L. Brodskiy (see L. I. Gutenmakher, N. V. Korol'kev, I. A. Vissonov, L. S. Mabukov, and G. K. Kuz'minek [1]).

(10.23). For acceleration of conversion it is possible to apply nomographs.

when set-up is carried out an a matrix analog, selection of factor λ can be accomplished experimentally on the actual installation, for which to diagonal coefficients $a_{ii}(i = 1, 2, ..., n)$ there are added numbers, proportional to $b_{ii}(i = 1, 2, ..., n)$ until the process of solution on the installation converges. Indeed, if the initial system of equations is reduced to the form:

with initial conditions $x_1(0)$, $x_2(0)$, . . , $x_n(0)$, then after transition to variables $y_1 = e^{-it}x_1, \dots, y_n = e^{-it}x_n$ we will receive

$$b_{1} \frac{dy_{1}}{dt} = -\left[(a_{11} + b_{1}\lambda) y_{1} + a_{12}y_{2} + \dots + a_{1n}y_{n} \right] + f_{1}(t) e^{-\lambda t},$$

$$b_{2} \frac{dy_{2}}{dt} = -\left[a_{21}y_{1} + (a_{22} + b_{2}\lambda) y_{2} + \dots + a_{2n}y_{n} \right] + f_{2}(t) e^{-\lambda t},$$

$$b_{n} \frac{dy_{n}}{dt} = -\left[a_{n1}y_{1} + a_{n2}y_{2} + \dots + (a_{nn} + b_{n}\lambda) y_{n} \right] + f_{n}(t) e^{-\lambda t}.$$

From comparison of transformed and initial systems there ensues the above-indicated rule of change of coefficients of an initial system of equations for finding the required value of .

when the initial system of equations is set up on an installation of structural type with respect to the general differential equation of a system with constant coefficients $e^{i\pi}$, $e^{i\pi}$

$$B_{0} \frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{0}} + B_{0-1} \frac{d^{0-1}x}{dt^{0-1}} + \dots + B_{1} \frac{dx}{dt} + B_{0} = f(t),$$

for determination of the required value of λ it is possible to use known theorems of algebra (A. G. Kurosh [1]) about limits of roots of a polynomial F(x). For example, it is possible to use the calculation

$$M < 1 + \frac{|A|}{|a_n|}$$
 (10.24)

where H is the upper limit of moduli of all real and complex roots of a characteristic

equation, |A| is the modulus of the largest coefficient, $|a_n|$ is the modulus of the leading coefficient.

If coefficients of the characteristic equation are positive, it is possible to use a generalization of Cockay's theorem according to which moduli of roots of characteristic equation A_{ϵ} are enclosed between numbers m and M, the least and greatest ratio of a subsequent coefficient of the considered characteristic equation to the preceding one. Knowing magnitude λ it is possible to calculate coefficients of a new equation, subject to solution on an installation by Horner formulas:

$$A_{b}=\frac{D^{b}(\lambda)}{k!},$$

where

$$D^{(k)}(k) = \left(\frac{d\left(H(p)\right)}{dp^{\lambda}}\right)_{p^{nk}}.$$

and H(p) is characteristic polynomial of initial equation. It is necessary to note that initial conditions for transformed equation and the initial remain with this identical.

In the transformed equation only coefficients of the left and the form of the right side change.

3. Determination of Initial Conditions anu Disturbing Forces

To determine initial conditions and disturbing forces in those physical quantities, in which they are represented in the computer, one should use transformations (10.20). Thus, for example, if in solving differential equation (10.2) we are given initial conditions:

$$x_{1}(0) = C_{0}, \quad x^{(1)}(0) = C_{1}, \quad x^{(2)}(0) = C_{2}, \quad x^{(3)}(0) = C_{3},$$

 $x^{(4)}(0) = C_{4}, \quad x^{(5)}(0) = C_{5},$

and disturbance y(t) = B = const, then on the basis of equation (10.20) we will receive

$$\mathbf{x} = M_{\mathbf{x}}U_{\mathbf{0}}, \quad \mathbf{y}(t) = B = M_{\mathbf{y}}U_{\mathbf{y}}.$$

whence
$$U_{\phi}(0) = \frac{x(0)}{M_{\phi}} = \frac{C_{\phi}}{M_{\phi}}$$

and
$$U_y = \frac{y(t)}{M_y} = \frac{B}{M_y} = \text{const.}$$
 (10.25)

In order to find expressions for initial conditions for remaining derivatives, we will use equations (10.18).

On the basis of these equations we obtain:

$$U_{4}(0) = -\frac{x^{(1)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}} = -\frac{C_{1}}{M_{x}K_{6i}},$$

$$U_{4}(0) = \frac{x^{(2)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}} = \frac{C_{2}}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{5i}},$$

$$U_{3}(0) = -\frac{x^{(3)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}} = \frac{C_{3}}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{5i}K_{6i}},$$

$$U_{3}(0) = -\frac{x^{(4)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}} = \frac{C_{4}}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}},$$

$$U_{3}(0) = -\frac{x^{(4)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}} = -\frac{C_{4}}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}K_{6i}},$$

$$U_{1}(0) = -\frac{x^{(5)}(0)}{M_{x}K_{6i}K_$$

If disturbance represents a given function of time, it can be reproduced on the installation by solution of a certain auxiliary equation (see page 331) or by introduction of a buncher of coefficients. In the latter case it is useful to present y(t) in the form

$$y(t) = y_{max} \alpha(t),$$
 (10.26)

where y_{max} is the maximum value, taken by function y(t) on considered time interval. Here $U_{y max} = \frac{y_{max}}{My} = \text{const}$, and change of $U_{y max}$ in time is carried out by the buncher, as shown in Fig. 178.



Fig. 178. Method of introduction in analog of given functions of time.

-341-

4. Simulating Systems of Automatic Control With Very Large Time Constants

Furing investigation of these systems of automatic control on analogs without elements of a regulator the problem boils down to selection of proper time scale. By introduction of a time scale they reduce speed of model processes to such a magnitude, there is no error due to leaks and output beyond the passband of separate computing elements.

In case of work with elements of a regulator, naturally, it is necessary to keep the tire scale natural, and then in slowly flowing processes of adjustment it is necessary to solve differential equations with minute coefficients. Indeed, let us assume that on the analog there will be investigated a controlled members, described by differential equation

$$(p^2 + 2kp + w_c^2) x = ky.$$
 (10.27)

and let the period of natural oscillations of the object be T = 15 minutes, and their attenuation such that with zero initial conditions and a step-by-step change of y the x coordinate reaches 95% x_{vct} during the time t = 2T.

In these conditions

$$h = -\frac{\omega_0}{4\pi} \ln \frac{1}{20} \approx 1.6 \cdot 10^{-3}, \quad \omega_0^2 \approx 49 \cdot 10^{-6}.$$

Functional set-up diagram of differential equation (10.27) on installation is shown in Fig. 179.

On the basis of presented method coefficients of initial equation are connected with parameters of computing units by relationships:

$$2h = \frac{a_1}{R_{13}C_1}, \quad a_y^2 = \frac{a_yv_3v_1}{R_{13}C_1R_{31}C_3}, \quad k = \frac{M_x}{M_y}, \quad \frac{a_0s_2}{R_{11}C_1R_{31}C_3}.$$

Taking $R_{12}C_1 = R_{13}C_1 = R_{21}C_2 = R_{11}C_1 = 1$ and $K_{31} = 1$, we obtain
 $a_1 = 4h = 0.003, \quad a_2a_3a_4 = 49 \cdot 10^{-h}, \quad a_ya_2 = \frac{hM_y}{M_x};$

when

 $a_3 = a_4 = 0.007$, k = 1, $\frac{m_1}{M_2} = 1$ we obtain $a_2 = 1$ and $a_0 = 1$. Thus during modeling of slow processes there is no necessity to have capacitors of very great capacity for integrators. Large time constants it is possible to reproduce by combination of the usual integrators and dividers. Here one should

-342-



Fig. 179. Functional set-up diagram on simulator of equation of an object with slow processes.

apply operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level and turn special attention to eliminating possible leaks between their integrating point and output, especially during work as an integrator. A number of practical methods of decreasing these leaks is considered in Chapter IX.

5. Examples of Solution of Problems

Solution of linear differential equation with constant coefficients. Let us assume that it is required to find in full time scale solution of the differential equation

$$\frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{2}} + b_{1}\frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{4}} + b_{2}\frac{d^{2}x}{dt^{4}} + b_{3}\frac{d^{3}x}{dt^{3}} + b_{4}\frac{d^{3}x}{dt^{3}} + b_{5}\frac{dx}{dt} + b_{6}x = b_{6}y(t) \qquad (10.28)$$

with given initial conditions: x(0) = 1, $x^{(1)}(0) = 0$, $x^{(2)}(0) = 0$, $x^{(3)}(0) = 0$, $x^{(4)}(0) = 0$, $x^{(5)}(0) = 0$ and the following numerical values of coefficients:

$$b_1 = 3, b_2 = 3.75, b_3 = 2.5, b_4 = 0.937, b_5 = 0.187, b_6 = 0.0155, b_4 = 0.$$

The functional set-up diagram of the problem is shown in Fig. 180. It differs from the one considered earlier (see Fig. 172) by inclusion of two voltage dividers

 (z_1, z_2) for reproduction of coefficients less than one. Using the relationship received earlier (10.22) between transmission factors of separate units and coefficients of initial equation, we will receive when $M_t = 1$:



Fig. 180. Functional set-up diagram of differential equation of sixth order with wide range of magnitudes of coefficients.

$$K_{14} = 3, \ K_{11}K_{21}K_{71} = 3.75, \ K_{13}K_{21}K_{31} = 2.5, \\ K_{11}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{72} = 0.937, \ K_{12}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{51}z_1 = 0.187, \\ K_{11}K_{21}K_{31}K_{41}K_{51}K_{61}K_{73}z_2 = 0.0155.$$

Taking $K_{11} = K_{12} = K_{21} = K_{31} = K_{41} = K_{51} = K_{61} = K_{73} = 1$, we will obtain $K_{71} = 3.75$, $K_{13} = 2.5$, $K_{14} = 3.0$, $K_{72} = 0.937$ and $e_1 = 0.187$. $e_2 = 0.0155$.

To guarantee work at the highest possible level of voltages in the installation we select scale M_{χ} , proceeding from the fact that x = 1 corresponded to H = 100 v. Then

$$M_{s} = \frac{x}{U} = \frac{1}{100} = 0.01.$$

Voltage of initial conditions is

$$U_0(0) = -\frac{x(0)}{M_0} = \frac{1}{0.01} = 100 \ s.$$

On the oscillogram of Fig. 181 there is brought solution of considered equation, received on computer EMU-5. Comparison with calculating data shows that relative error does not exceed 1%.



Fig. 181. Result of solution of linear differential equation of sixth order.

Solution of Mathieu equation. It is required to find periodic solution of the equation

$$\frac{d^2y}{dx^2} + (a - 2q\cos 2x) y = 0$$
 (10.29)

when y(0) = 1, $\dot{y}(0) = 0$ and q = 2.

As it is known, periodic solutions for the given q wake place not for all values of coefficient a.

If we want to obtain a periodic solution of the form

$$y = A_1 C e_1 (q, x),$$
 (10.30)
 $A_1 = \frac{y(0)}{C e_1 (q, x)}.$

where

then, using known relationships or tables (see M. Strett [1]), we find that $a = a_1^2 = 2.38$. Replacing independent variable x by time t, we move to system of equations (10.11), whose set-up on a computer is shown in Fig. 177.

Equations of voltages for separate computing units of the circuit give:

$$U_{1} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{11}U_{c} + K_{12}U_{c}),$$

$$U_{2} = -\frac{1}{p} K_{21}U_{1},$$

$$U_{3} = -K_{31}U_{3},$$

$$U_{4} = \beta_{c}U_{2}U_{b},$$

$$U_{5} = -\frac{K_{11}}{p}U_{7},$$

$$U_{6} = -K_{61}U_{5},$$

$$U_{7} = -\frac{K_{11}}{p}U_{6},$$

$$(10.32)$$

Solving systems of equations (10.31) and (10.32) for U_2 and U_5 , we will obtain

$$p^{2}U_{3} + (K_{11}K_{12}K_{31} - \beta_{4}K_{21}K_{11}U_{3})U_{2} = 0,$$

$$p^{2}U_{3} + K_{41}K_{11}K_{41}U_{5} = 0.$$

Introducing equations of transformation of variables $y = M_y U_2$ and $z = M_g U_5$, we will obtain

$$p^{2}y + K_{21}K_{12}K_{31}y = \frac{1}{M_{0}} \hat{\gamma}_{4} \cdot K_{21}K_{11}zy, \qquad (10.33)$$

$$p^{2}z + K_{41}K_{11}K_{41}z = 0.$$

-345-

Comparison of coefficients in equations (10.33) and (10.11) gives

$$\frac{\omega}{4} = K_{21}K_{12}K_{31}, \quad \frac{1}{M_{g}}\beta_{1}K_{21}K_{11} = 1, \quad \omega^{2} = K_{1}K_{21}K_{61}$$

Initial conditions are determined on the basis of transformation equations of variable relationships

$$U_{2}(0) = \frac{y(0)}{M_{y}}, U_{s}(0) = \frac{z(0)}{\dot{M}_{s}}$$

when q = 2, a = 2.38, $\beta_4 = 0.1$, y(0) = 1, $s(0) = \frac{\omega^2}{2q} = 1$, s = 1 we will obtain

$$K_{12}K_{31} = 0.595, \ K_{41}K_{71}K_{61} = 1, \ \frac{1}{M_s}K_{21}K_{11} = 10.$$

Taking $K_{12} = 1$, $K_{21} = 1$, $K_{11} = 1$, we will obtain $K_{31} = 0.595$, $M_{12} = 0.1$. Knowing M_{12} , we find

$$U_{\rm s}(0) = \frac{s(0)}{M_{\rm s}} = \frac{1}{0.1} = 10 \text{ v.}$$

Scale M_y must be select such that units do not leave the bounds of linearity. Let M_y = 0.02; then $U_{y}(0) = \frac{y(0)}{M_{z}} = 50 \ s.$

Change of magnitude $U_2(0)$ influences only the scale of the obtained curve, and not on its shape. In Fig. 182a and b are brought results of solution of this problem on computer EMU-5 for a quarter period and for several periods of solution. Error of solution on the first quarter period does not exceed 2.5%

Solution of problem of oscillation of rotor of synchronous machine with step disturbance. Equation of machine without considering damping and electromagnetic processes in coils can be approximately presented in the form

$$\mathbf{F} + A \sin \delta = \mathbf{F}(t), \qquad (10.34)$$

where δ is the angle of displacement of axis of the rotor flux with respect to the axis resultant stator flux, F(t) is acceleration, equilivalent to applied disturbance, A is magnitude, proportional to synchronizing moment. It is required to find the nature of change of $\delta(i)$ for various values of F(t), given in the form of a step function with A = 2 and zero initial conditions $\delta(0) = 0, \ \delta(0) = 0.$

Functional set-up diagram in accordance with equation (10.34) is shown in Fig. 183. Equations of voltages for separate computing units will be:



Fig. 182. Resul's of solution of Mathieu equation.

$$U_{1} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{11}U_{0} + K_{12}U_{4}), \quad U_{2} = -\frac{1}{p} K_{21}U_{1}, \\ U_{3} = -i_{3} \sin(i_{3}U_{2}), \quad U_{4} = z_{4}U_{3}.$$
(10.35)

Solving these equations for voltage U_2 , we will receive

$$P^{2}U_{2} + K_{21}K_{12}a_{4}a_{3}\sin(\tau_{3}U_{2}) = K_{21}K_{11}U_{0}. \qquad (10.36)$$

Introducing equations of transformation of variables

$$M_{1} = M_{1}U_{2}, F(t) = M_{p}U_{0}, M_{1} = 1$$

and changing to initial variables, we will receive

$$\frac{1}{10} + K_{21}K_{12}x_{4}x_{3}M_{4}\left(\sin\frac{\pi}{2}\frac{4}{M_{4}}\right) = \frac{K_{11}K_{11}M_{1}}{M_{p}}F(t).$$
(10.37)

Comparing equations (10.34) and (10.37), we obtain



Fig. 183. Functional set-up diagram of computing elements for solution of problem of escillation of rotor of synchronous machine.

-347-

.

In functional generators of computer EMU-5 for trigonometric functions we take $r_3 = 100$ and $r_3 = \frac{\pi}{100}$. Therefore $M_4 = r_3 = \frac{\pi}{100}$. When A = 2 and $r_{12} = r_{11} = \frac{\pi}{100}$. $-K_{21} = 1, F(t) = 1, we obtain:$

district.

$$a_4 = \frac{2}{\pi}, M_p = M_b = \frac{\pi}{100}, U = \frac{P(t)}{M_p} = \frac{100}{\pi}$$

In Fig. 184 is presented the oscillogram of the solution. Comparison of the given oscillogram with results, recieved on a mechanical integrator (see I. M. Markovich 1), shows that error of solution does not exceed 2%.



Fig. 184. Results of solution of problem of oscillation of rotor of synchronous machine. KEY: (a) $\frac{red}{sec^2}$; (b) sec.

CHAPTER XI

SIMULATING LINEARIZED SYSTEMS OF AUTOMATIC CONTROL

In principle every system of automatic control during strict calculation of various acting factors is described by a nonlinear system of differential equations. Linearized systems therefore are only coarse models, as it was a first approximation of the studied or recreated system of automatic control.

If in a number of cases the stability of the initial system can be judged by the stability of its linear model*, with respect to the quality of the transient this can be done, apparently, only for a very limited class of systems.

One can create the impression that in these circumstances investigation of transients of linear models of CAP loses its meaning in general, and, in particular, there is no sense for solving these problems in applying electronic simulators. However the matter is not so. As we know, development of systems of automatic control is conducted in separate stages. On the first stage, when the initial structure of the system is explained and there are established technical requirements on the object and regulator, analysis of a linearised system gives necessary initial data. Furthermore, analysis of a linearised model serves during further investigation for compariosn and explanation of influence of separate nonlinear

"See, for example, M. A. Ayserman [1].
dependences, accompanying physical realisation of the system, lying at the basis of the principle of action of the object or regulator, or introduced artificially for the purpose of improvement of dynamic properties of the system.

Application of electronic analog computers allows us to accelerate and facilitate investigation of stability and transients in linearized sustems, especially when they are described by differential equations of a high order with variable coefficients and constant delay.

Equally with this combination of linear model 1 an object in the form of an electronic integrator with elements of control equipment gives the possibility to consider the influence of deflections of technological order and earlier ignored non-linear dependences in this equipment.

Solution of linearized systems appears also of great help during checking of correctness of set-up and solution of nonlinear problems on electronic integrators. This check is carried out by means of maximum transition to a linear system, for which it is easy to analytically estimate stability and certain characteristics of transients. It is necessary to note that obtaining of correct results with the help of mathematical computers of any types requires from the researcher a clear idea of the physical processes in the system, skill to estimate a number of partial solutions, obtained as the result of such investigation.

1. Similating Ordinary Linearised Systems of Automatic Control with Constant Parameters

Let us consider as an example simulation of the processes of automatic control of speed of d-c motor, fed from a generator with regulated voltage. A skeleton diagram of such a system of automatic control is shown in Fig. 185. Equations of motion of considered system of automatic control after linearisation and disregard of reaction of armature and inductance of armature circuits of generator and motor can be presented in the form of the following system:

-350-

equation of indicator of error

$$U_{\bullet} - U_{\tau} = \Delta U_{\star} \tag{11.1}$$

equation of tachogenerator

$$U_{\mu} = k_{\mu} \Omega. \tag{11.2}$$

equation of amplifier

$$\boldsymbol{\ell} = \boldsymbol{K}_{,\mathbf{J}}\boldsymbol{U}, \tag{11.3}$$

equation of exciter

$$T_1 \frac{d \mathcal{L}_0}{d l} + \mathcal{E}_0 = k_1 e. \qquad (11.4)$$

equation of generator

$$T_1 \frac{dE_r}{dt} + E_r = k_2 E_s. \tag{11.5}$$

equation of motion of motor

Y VTA

$$T_3 \frac{dQ}{dt} + Q = \frac{E_r}{c_q} - \frac{m_q}{r_0}.$$
 (11.6)

where U_{0} is the master signal, Ω is angular velocity of motor, T_{1} is time constant of excitation circuit of exciter, T_{7} is time constant of excitation circuit of generator, T_{3} is electromechanical time constant of acceleration of motor, m_{H} is the load moment, k_{1} , k_{2} , k_{3} are proportionality factors, K_{y} is amplification factor of amplifier $r_{0} = \frac{c_{1}c_{2}}{R_{1}}$.

Fig. 185. Fundamental circuit of simulation of processes of automatic control of speed of d-c motor. B-exciter, Γ -generator, Π -motor, T-tachogenerator.

ŧu,

It is necessary to explain stability of such a system of automatic control and the influence on stability and nature of transients of imposition of internal feedback with respect to acceleration of regulated motor with the following numerical values of parameters of the system:

$$r_0 = \frac{c_{k_1}}{R_0} = 8 \frac{k}{r_0} \frac{300}{r_0}$$

$$c_{s} = 4 \frac{v \sec}{rdn}$$
 $m_{u} = 48 \text{ kg-m}$ $k_{3} = 1 \frac{v \sec}{rdn}$
 $T_{1} = 0.1 \sec$ $T_{2} = 0.5 \sec$ $T_{3} = \frac{IR_{s}}{c_{fe}} = 1 \sec$
 $k_{1} = 5, k_{2} = 5, K_{y} = 10, \Omega_{0} = 110 \frac{rdn}{rdn}$

Before investigation on an electronic model it is expedient preliminarily to explain whether the system is stable for the given numerical values of parameters. With this aim it is possible to use known criteria of stability of linear systems. The quickest is the modification of Routh's criterion little-known in automatic control practice, offered by A. M. Kats, useful for systems of any order.

In order to explain stability of a system, it is sufficient according to this criterion to constitute a table from coefficients of the characteristic equation and prove that diagonal members of this table are all greater than zero. Below is described a sample of composition of Kats' table for the characteristic sixth order equation

$$p^{6} + a_{3}p^{3} + a_{4}p^{4} + a_{3}p^{3} + a_{2}p^{3} + a_{1}p + a_{0} = 0.$$
 (11.7)

System is stable when $a_{1} > 0, b_{4} > 0, c_{3} > 0, d_{2} > 0, c_{3} > 0, f_{0} > 0$.

In the considered case the characteristic equation will be of the third order:

$$p^{2} + a_{1}p^{2} + a_{1}p + a_{0} = 0, \qquad (11.8)$$

where

$$a_{2} = \frac{1}{T_{1}} + \frac{1}{T_{2}} + \frac{1}{T_{3}} = 13, \ a_{1} = \frac{1}{T_{1}T_{3}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}T_{3}} + \frac{1}{T_{1}T_{3}} = 32,$$
$$a_{0} = \frac{1 + \frac{h_{1}h_{2}h_{3}K_{3}K_{7}}{C_{4}}}{T_{1}T_{3}T_{3}} = 1270.$$

-352-

*	4.	а,	•	•,	4
	\$. = a \$3	$b_1 = \frac{a_1}{a_2}$	$b_2 = a_2 - b_1$	$b_0 = \frac{a_1}{a_b}$	b s.
		c3 = b3 c3	$c_2 = \frac{b_2}{b_1}$	$c_i = b_i - c_0$	$c_{\phi} = \frac{b_{\phi}}{b_{\phi}}$
			$d_3 = k_3 - d_1$	$d_1 = \frac{c_1}{c_2}$	ć, == (,
				$\boldsymbol{\theta}_1 = \boldsymbol{d}_1 - \boldsymbol{\theta}_0$	$t_0 = \frac{d_1}{d_1}$
					/

Kats' Table for that case has the form

Table VIII

ē,	e 1	4	
	$b_1 = a_1 - b_0$	$b_0 = \frac{3_0}{s_1}$	
())))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))		¢₀ = ∅₀	

and leads for positive a_2 , a_1 , and a_0 to the known Hurwitz criterion of stability

$$\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}}\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}} \geq \mathbf{e} \tag{11.9}$$

For given numerical values of parameters this criterion is not satisfied, and therefore, if by considerations of accuracy it is undesirable to lower magnitude a_0 by a decrease of the total amplification factor of the system, then it is necessary to introduce means of stabilization.

Introduction of a signal, proportional to acceleration of motor, leads to increase of coefficient a_1 :

$$\mathbf{e}_1 = \frac{T_1 + T_2 + T_3 + k_1}{T_1 T_2 T_2}, \qquad (11.10)$$

and, consequently, satisfaction of criterion of stability (11.9) with proper selection of coefficient k_{j_i} in the acceleration signal.

Using the method brought in chapter X, we will constitute a diagram of connection of operational amplifiers and calculate their transmission factors for solution

-353-



Fig. 186. Functional diagram of set-up of equations, describing processes of automatic control of speed of d-c motor.

of the system differential equations (11.1 - 11.6) in the absence and in the presence of the acceleration signal.

With introduction of acceleration signal after simple transformations we will obtain:

$$\frac{dE_{0}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{T_{1}}E_{0} + \frac{k_{1}K_{y}}{T_{1}}U_{0} - \frac{k_{1}K_{y}k_{1}}{T_{1}}\Omega - \frac{k_{1}K_{y}k_{1}}{T_{1}}\frac{d\Omega}{dt},$$

$$\frac{dE_{r}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{T_{0}}E_{r} + \frac{k_{0}}{T_{0}}E_{0},$$

$$\frac{d\Omega}{dt} = -\frac{1}{T_{0}}\Omega + \frac{E_{r}}{c_{r}T_{1}} - \frac{m_{0}}{T_{y}}.$$
(11.11)

The functional set-up diagram of these equations is shown in Fig. 186.

Equations of separate units of the circuit of Fig. 186 will be:

$$U_{1} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{11}U_{0}^{*} + K_{12}u_{4}U_{4} + K_{13}U_{3} + K_{14}U_{3}),$$

$$U_{2} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{21}U_{1} + K_{22}u_{3}U_{2}),$$

$$U_{3} = -\frac{1}{p} (K_{31}U_{2} + K_{32}U^{*} + K_{33}u_{3}U_{3}),$$

$$U_{4} = -(K_{41}U_{2} + K_{42}U^{*} + K_{43}u_{3}U_{3}).$$

Intriducing equations of transformatuon of variable:

$$E_{0} = M_{E_{0}}U_{1}, \quad Q = M_{2}U_{2}, \quad m_{n} = M_{n}U^{*}, \\ E_{r} = M_{E_{r}}U_{2}, \quad U_{0} = M_{n}U_{n}^{*}, \quad t = M_{n}t_{n}.$$

we will obtain:

-354-

$$\frac{dE_{3}}{dt} = -\frac{M_{E_{0}} \cdot K_{11}}{M_{1}M_{a_{0}}} U_{0} - \frac{M_{E_{0}}}{M_{0}} K_{12}^{a_{4}} \frac{dQ}{dt} - (11.12)$$

$$-\frac{K_{13}M_{E_{0}}}{M_{0}M_{1}} Q - \frac{K_{14}}{M_{1}} E_{0}.$$

$$\frac{dE_{r}}{dt} = -\frac{M_{E_{r}}}{M_{1}M_{E_{0}}} E_{0} - \frac{K_{22}^{a_{7}}}{M_{1}} E_{r}.$$

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = -\frac{M_{0}K_{11}}{M_{1}M_{E}} E_{r} - \frac{K_{32}M_{2}}{M_{1}M_{0}} m_{0} - \frac{K_{13}}{M_{1}} a_{3}Q.$$

Comparison of the received system of equations (U1.12) with the initial (11.11) gives

$$\frac{1}{T_{1}} = \frac{K_{14}}{M_{f}}, \qquad \frac{k_{1}K_{y}}{T_{1}} = -\frac{M_{E_{0}}K_{11}}{M_{f}M_{B_{0}}},$$
$$\frac{k_{1}K_{y}k_{3}}{T_{1}} = \frac{K_{13}}{M_{y}}\frac{M_{E_{0}}}{M_{f}}, \qquad \frac{k_{1}K_{y}k_{1}}{T_{1}} = \frac{K_{13}^{2}M_{E_{0}}}{M_{J}},$$
$$\frac{1}{T_{0}} = \frac{K_{22}^{2}}{M_{f}}, \qquad \frac{K_{2}}{T_{3}} = -\frac{M_{E_{1}}K_{21}}{M_{f}M_{E_{0}}},$$
$$\frac{1}{T_{0}} = \frac{K_{33}^{2}K_{31}}{M_{f}}, \qquad \frac{1}{C_{4}T_{3}} = -\frac{M_{3}K_{31}}{M_{M}E_{f}}, \qquad \frac{1}{T_{3}C_{0}} = \frac{K_{32}M_{0}}{M_{f}M_{m}},$$

We select the time scale, proceeding from the condition that frequency of processes does not exceed the passband of the computing elements of the installation.

Estimating coarsely duration of process of adjustment by magnitude of the largest time constant $T_3 = 1$ sec, we will take $M_t = 1$. Here duration of processes in the simulator will be equal to duration of processes in initial system. Remaining scale factors, coefficients K_{ij} and a_k , are selected from condition of work of computing elements within limits of permissible error and the linear range of change of output voltage.

For the given numerical values of parameters we obtain:

$$\frac{K_{14}}{M_{f}} = 10, \quad \frac{M_{P_{g}}}{M_{f}} \frac{K_{11}}{M_{e_{g}}} = -500, \quad \frac{K_{13}M_{P_{g}}}{M_{f}M_{g}} = 500,$$

$$\frac{K_{12}P_{4}M_{P_{g}}}{M_{y}} = 50(N_{4}, \quad \frac{K_{13}P_{2}}{M_{f}} = 2, \quad \frac{M_{P_{f}}K_{21}}{M_{f}M_{P_{g}}} = -10,$$

$$\frac{K_{33}P_{3}}{M_{f}} = 1, \quad \frac{M_{y}K_{11}}{M_{f}M_{P_{f}}} = -0.25, \quad \frac{K_{32}M_{g}}{M_{f}M_{g}} = \frac{1}{8}.$$

-355-

When $M_t = 1$ we take $M_{E_B} = -100$, $M_{\Omega} = -1$, $M_m = -10$, $M_{U_O} = 1$, $M_{E_T} = 10$. As a result when $a_s = 1$ we find:

$$K_{11} = 10, \quad K_{11} = 5, \quad K_{12} = 5, \quad K_{12} e_4 = 5k_4, \\ K_{22} = 2, \quad K_{21} = 100, \quad K_{33} = 1, \quad K_{31} = 2.5, \\ K_{32} = \frac{10}{3}, \quad U^* = -4, 8v, \quad U^*_0 = 110v, \quad e_2 = 1.$$

Transmission factor $K_{21} = 100$ is carried out by connecting to the feedback circuit of operational amplifier No. 2 a capacitor with capacitance C = 0.1 microfarad, and at input of resistor $R_{21} = 100$ kilohm, $K_{22} = 2$ is here carried by feeding input impedance $R_{22} = 1$ megohm from divider $a_2 = 0.2$.

In Fig. 187 are brought oscillograms of transients in the investigated system, received with the help of electronic model EMU-5 accordingly in the absence of feedback with respect to acceleration and with introduction of this feedback with coefficient $k_{ij} = 0.159$ and application to the shaft of the motor of a constant moment of lead $m_{ij} = 48$ kg-m.

As follows from the data, brought in the oscillograms, coincidence with calculated values is sufficiently near.

Indeed:

$$\Delta \Omega_{yer. pers} = -\frac{\frac{m_{u}}{r_{0}}}{1 + \frac{A_{1}A_{2}A_{3}\Lambda_{v}}{c_{0}}} = -0.096 \text{ rdn/sec}$$

$$\Delta \Omega_{yer. pers} = -0.1 \text{ rdn/sec}$$

Frequency of process it is possible tentatively to estimate by equation (11.8), using formula

$$\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{a}_{2} = -(\zeta - 2\gamma), \\ \mathbf{a}_{0} = (\mathbf{u}^{2} + \gamma^{2})\zeta, \end{array} \right\}$$
(11.13)

where ζ is a real root, and $-\gamma \pm j_{0}$ - are complex roots of equation (11.8).

For process with small attenuation it is possible in expressions (11.13) to disregard magnitude $2_{\rm T}$ as compared with ζ and τ^2 as compared with ω^2 .

Then we will obtain:

$$e_{pare} \approx \sqrt{\frac{a_0}{a_0}} \approx 9.9 \text{ rdn/sec}$$
 $e_{bar} = 9 \text{ rdn/sec}.$

With the help of electronic models it is possible also to determine in the plane of parameters of adjustment of the boundary of the region of stability, boundaries

-356-





ъ)

Fig. 187. Oscillograms of transients of automatic control of speed of d-c motor. KEY: (a) Sec; (b) Kg-m; (c) <u>rdn</u>.

of the region with given qualities of the transient, and execute rapid selection of parameters of various means of stabilization. This allows to accumulate factual material about properties of separate classes of systems of automatic control and thereby to fill the gap existing at present in theories of automatic control.

2. Simulating Systems of Autometic Control with Parameters Variable in Time

To differential equations with coefficients variable in time are brought problems of investigation dynamics of processes of stabilisation of motion of flying objects about the center of gravity with variable flight speed. As an example let us consider simulating isolated motions of banking and course with elements of stabilisation equipment.

Simulation of connected motion does not present any principal peculiarities, with the exception of the appearance of additional cross connections in the set-up diagram.

-357-



Fig. 188. Diagram of union of model with stabilization equipment. 1-feedback potentiometers, 2-steering motors, 3-relay units, 4-amplifier, 5modulator, 6-differentiating cell, 7-potentiometers for receiving signal, proportional to deflection of steering motor, 8-load stand, A-analog, B-stabilization equipment.

Equation of motion of object with respect to banking in this consideration will differ from equation (1.16) by the fact that coefficients B_1 and B_2 are no longer constant, and functions of time are given:

$$\Psi + B_1(t)\gamma = -B_2(t)\delta \pm F(t),$$
 (11.14)

where $F(t) = B_{2}(t) t_{a}$ is the disturbance acting on the object.

The diagram of coupling the model with stabilisation equipment is shown in Fig. 188. In the general case at places of union with real equipment there must be established converters, whose transmission factors dictate selection of scale factors of conversion of corresponding variables.

In the considered problem tension, representing the regulated coordinate in the model, is converted by a special device into the angle of rotation either of all the

-358-

stabilization equipment, or only of its sensory—a gyroscopic instrument. In those cases, where dynamics of the gyroscopic instrument can be disregarded, the need for a converter drops.

Output of stabilization equipment is connected with input of simulator by potentiometers. Voltage from cursors of potentiometers, proportional to angle of rotation of steering motors, moves to input of model. Here on shaft of the steering device there should be reproduced load (hinged moments) by the help of a special load stand. This load can change in time and depend on the angle of displacement of the steering wheel and the coordinates of the object (angle of incidence or angle of slipping). As such a load device in the simplest cases we apply stands equipped with springs (Fig. 189).



Fig. 189. Fundamental circuit of load stand. PM-steering machine, P-reductor, 7 -spring mechanism.

Set-up of the equation of motion of the object is conducted by maximum values of coefficients for the considered time interval, and to output of the corresponding units of the circuit are connected voltage dividers, bringing at every moment of time the voltage to the output of the units to the required value.

Let us assume that in the considered problem $B_{1 \text{ max}} = 4.45$, $B_{2 \text{ max}} = 309$, the gyroscope is taken as a zero-moment element with transmission factor $k_{\gamma} = 2.3$ v/deg, and potentiometers on steering machines will convert the angle of rotation

-359-



Fig. 190. Functional diagram of modeling of equations of banking with variable parameters.

of steering wheels ; into voltage U with transmission factor $A_i = 1$.

The set-up diagram is shown in Fig. 190 a.

Equations of separate computing elements give

 $U_{2}[p^{2} + K_{12}z_{1}(l)p] = -K_{11}K_{21}z_{2}(l)U_{4} - K_{12}K_{21}z_{1}(l)U_{0}.$

After transformation of variables $U_r = M_r U_2$, $\delta = A_s U_s$. $T = M_t t_m$, we will re-

$$\frac{d^{2}U_{r}}{dt^{2}} \stackrel{L}{\to} \frac{K_{12}T_{1}(t)}{M_{2}} \frac{dU_{r}}{dt} = -\frac{M_{r}K_{11}K_{21}T_{2}(t)}{A_{2}M_{2}^{2}} \stackrel{L}{\to} -\frac{K_{12}K_{21}M_{r}T_{2}(t)}{A_{2}M_{2}^{2}} \stackrel{K_{12}}{\to} (11.15)$$

Comparing equation (11.15) with initial equation, in which coordinate = is replaced by U_r by substitution U_r = k_r, we will receive $\frac{K_{12}}{M_{f}} = B_{i}(t), \quad k_{i}B_{2}(t) = \frac{K_{11}K_{21}M_{r}(t)}{k_{i}M_{i}^{2}}$ During investigation with elements of control loop M_t = 1. Furthermore, it is

During investigation with elements of control loop $M_t = 1$. Furthermore, it is necessary to take $M_r = 1$ so that it is possible directly to feed output voltage of installation to the differentiating circuit of the equipment.

Therefore finally we obtain when $a_1(t) = a_2(t) = 1$ and $k_1 = 1$:

$$K_{13} = B_{1 max} = 4.45,$$

 $K_{11}K_{21} = B_{2 max} k_r = 711.$

-360-

These transmission factors could have been realized on two units of this circuit, 'f coefficients B_1 and B_2 were constant. In this case in the first unit it wou_______. we been possible to realize a transmission faction of the order of 50 by selection of a capacitor with 0.1 microfarad capacity and resistors $R_{11} = R_{12} =$ = 200 kilohm, and $R_{13} = 2.24$ megohm. Transmission factor of the second unit here should have been $K_{21} = 14.2$ which for operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level can be considered permissible.

Considering that coefficient B_1 can also take zero values, it is necessary to supplement the circuit with amplifiers at input and output (Fig. 190b).

Before solving a problem with variable coefficients and real equipment, it is useful to prove the correctness of set-up and solution of equations on models for several fixed values of coefficients.

Analytic solution of equation (11.14) with $\varphi(0) = 0$, $\dot{\varphi}(0) = 0$, $F(t) = -B_2 \hat{\phi}$ and constant coefficients gives

$$\mathbf{q} = \frac{B_1 A_2}{B_1^2} (1 - B_1 t - e^{-B_1 t}). \tag{11.16}$$

In Fig. 191 is brought the oscillogram of solution of this equation on a model for $B_1 = 0.98$, $B_2 = 19.8$ and $\lambda_0 = 1.9$, and in the table are brought results of comparison of this solution with the analytic one. The table indicates the near coincidence of calculated and experimental data.

In Fig. 192a are brought oscillograms of change of coordinate φ during solution of a problem with variable coefficients, given by graphs in Fig. 192b. From the oscillogram one may see characteristic change of period of oscillations, which follows a change of coefficient B_2 in time. Transients during application and removal of disturbance converge to natural oscillations which bears witness to the presence of nonlinearities in the stabilization equipment.

In the case of stabilization of course motion it is necessary to solve on the model system of differential equations (2.5) with the distinction that coefficients A_1 , A_4 , A_5 and A_6 are given functions of time.

-361-



Fig. 192. Processes of stabilization of banking with variable parameters and supplying and removal of disturbing moment. KEY: (a) Time T snc; (b) Experimental; (c) Calculated; (d) Deg; (e) Kg-m; (f) Equation of object; (g) Sec.

Proceeding by the above-stated method, we arrive at the set-up diagram brought in Fig. 193. As in the preceding case, it is useful before beginning a solution with coefficients variable in time to check accuracy of solution of equations on the model.

Solution of system (2.) for coordinate ψ under the condition that $A_2 - \psi$, disturbances $F_b = M_b = 0$, coefficients are constant and steering wheels at moment

-362-



Fig. 193. Functional diagram of modeling of "quation of course motion with variable parameters. KEY: (a) Disturbance; (b) Te autopilot.

t = 0 are instantly shifted an angle λ_{i} leads to equation

$$\frac{1}{2} + (A_1 + A_0) \frac{1}{2} + (A_0A_1 + A_0) = -A_0A_1A_0 + C_0$$

The integral of this differential equation in the case of complex roots of

the characteristic equation will be

$$= C_{1}e^{-\mu} = d + C_{2}e^{-\mu} \cos d - \frac{A_{1}A_{1}}{A_{2}A_{1} + A_{1}} \frac{\partial_{2}f}{\partial_{2}f} +$$

$$+ \frac{C_{2}}{A_{2}A_{1} + A_{2}} \frac{A_{1}A_{1}b_{2}(A_{2} + A_{1})}{(A_{1}A_{1} + A_{2})^{2}}.$$
(11.17)

where C_1 , C_2 , C_0 are constants of integration, determined by initial conditions $\psi(0) = 0, \ \psi(0) = 0, \ \psi(0) = -A_i \psi$ in the form of expressions:

$$C_{1} = A_{3} k_{0} \left[\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}}{\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}}{\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}} + \frac{1}{A_{3}A_{1} + A_{1}} \right].$$

$$C_{2} = A_{1} k_{0} - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}}}{\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}}{\frac{1 - \frac{2_{1}A_{1}}{A_{1}A_{1} + A_{1}}}}$$

$$(11.18)$$

$$C_{0} = -A_{3} k_{0} \left[\frac{A_{1} + A_{1}A_{0} - 2_{1}A_{1}}{\frac{A_{1} + A_{1}}{A_{2}A_{1} + A_{1}}} + \frac{A_{1}(A_{0} + A_{1})}{A_{2}A_{1} + A_{1}} \right].$$

Where γ - is the attenuation factor, and ω is the frequency of oscillations, determined by relationships:

ź

$$1 = -\frac{A_{4} + A_{1}}{2}.$$

$$= \sqrt{A_{4}A_{1} + A_{4} - \left(\frac{A_{4} + A_{1}}{2}\right)^{2}}.$$
(11.19)



In Fig. 194 is brought the oscillogram of solution of the considered system of equations (2.5) in case of constant coefficients, equal to $A_1 = 0.435$, $A_2 = 0$, $A_4 = 17.67$, $A_5 = 20.65$, and $A_6 = 1.59$. Comparison of received solution with the analytic solution in distinction from the preceding case can be made not for separate points of the solution, but by comparing characteristic parameters of the solution:

$$\begin{aligned}
\Psi_{1} &= \frac{C_{0}}{A_{0} + A_{0}A_{1}} + \frac{A_{0}A_{1}(A_{0} + A_{1})\delta_{0}}{(A_{0}A_{1} + A_{0})^{2}}, \\
\dot{\Psi}_{1} &= \frac{A_{3}A_{1}\delta_{0}}{A_{0}A_{1} + A_{0}}, \\
T &= \frac{2\pi}{3} = \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{A_{0}A_{1} + A_{0}} - \left(\frac{A_{0} + A_{1}}{2}\right)^{2}}, \\
\end{aligned}$$
(11.20)

Results of comparison, shown in the oscillogram, bear witness to satisfactory accuracy of obtained solution. It is necessary to note that error of solution for parameter $\dot{\gamma}_{yer}$ in significant measure is determined by how much transmission factors for both inputs of the operational amplifier, producing coordinate 3 (angle of slipping) differ. Accuracy of setting of these transmission factors should be not lower than the third significant digit.

As follows from this example, for estimating accuracy of a solution, received

-364-



Fig. 195. Processes of stabilization of course with variable parameters. KEY: (a) In degrees; (b) Sec; (c) Regime; (d) Kg-m.

on the model, in a number of cases it is more correct to conduct comparison not for separate points, but of characteristic parameters of the solution. This is sensible to do especially when the solution has an oscillatory character or sharply expressed extrema.

In Fig. 195 are brought three oscillograms of processes of course stabilization with coefficients variable in time, received during work of electric automatic pilot with proportional feedback, controlled by the signal and its first derivative. Parameters of the differentiating circuit changed as a function of time in steps. From oscillograms one may see characteristic change of amplitudes of natural oscillations, connected basically with change of coefficients A_4 and A_5 . On the oscillogram of Fig. 195b is shown the influence of disturbances, applied in the form of rectargular pulses of various duration, and on the pscillogram of Fig. 191c is shown influence of brief change of sign of coefficient A_4 (statistically unstable object).

- 365-

3. Variable Speed Drive of Coefficients

Devices, intended for introduction of coefficients variable in time, are called variators variable speed drives of coefficients.

We distinguish electromechanical and electronic variable speed drives of coefficients. In those cases, when solution of a differential equation is produced in full time scale and change of coefficients of differential equations occurs slowly, we apply electromechanical devices. With iteration of the solution with a frequency greater than 10 cps electromechanical devices cannot be applied due to great inertness. In these cases for introduction of variable coefficients we use diode functional generators, in which voltage of the argument changes linearly in time according to saw-tooth law with the frequency of iteration, and corresponding multipliers.

The simplest electromechanical variable speed drive of coefficients (Fig. 196) consists of a certain number of linear potentiometers, cursors of which are moved in time by a draw line and profiled cams, made in accordance with the function of time given for reproduction. A tension spring serves to guarantee constant contact of the roller and cam. All cams are planted on a common shaft, moved by an electric motor with constant speed.

One wide-spread modification of cam variator is shown in Fig. 197. Pulse stepby-step motor, moving the cam shaft, can be fed from a pulse generator of stable frequency, provided in electronic models (for example, in IPT-4, IPT-5, MPT-9) or from any other interrupter of current. This ensures possibility and simplicity of change of speed of rotation of cams in comparatively wide limits. Considered cam variators with accuracy of profile of cam \pm 0.1-0.5 mm and maximum can radius 60mm introduce error of \pm 0.16-0.33%. Among deficiencies of these devices one should mention comparatively high labor-consumption of manufacture of cams.

In the design of variator of coefficients offered by engineer Ivanovskiy cams are replaced by slip-rings, made of wire, bent by a given Low and fastened to fixed

-366-



Fig. 196. Fundamental circuit of cam variable speed drive of coefficients. 1-slip-ring, 2-potentiometer, 3-tension spring, 4-string, 5-drum, 6-cam, 7-lever, 8-roller.

insulating plates 1 (Fig 198a). Along these plates moves a trolley with linear wire potentiometers 3 of cylindrical form. Potentiometers by springs 4 are pressed to the wire. Drive of the trolley is carried out from an asynchronous motor through reductor with a changeable transmission ratio (movement of trolley at full speed is provided after 440, 220, 110 and 55 sec). For stabilization of speed, on the shaft of the drive motor is put in a flywheel. The general appearance of such a variator of coefficients as made by the Academy of Sciences of USSR is shown in Fig. 198b.

Examples of variable speed drives of coefficients with step-by-step approximation are the units of variable coefficients of electronic models IPT-4 and IPT-5 (Fig. 199). The basis of each unit is a 100-lamellar stepping selector. Step-bystep motor is controlled by pulses from an interrupter, located in the control panel. Time of switching irom lamella to lamella can be fixed equal to 1.5 sec, 1 sec, 0.75 sec, 0.25 sec and 0.1 sec. Consequently, to time of cycle of work of variator can have 6 values from 150 sec to 10 sec. Values of voltages, brought to lammellae of variator, can be set in steps by any law from the voltage divider, where on the divider there are 100 divisions of positive voltage and 100 divisions of negative voltage. Commutation from the divisor to lamellae of the selector is carried out

-367-



Standard States and a state

Fig. 197. Kinematic diagram of modification of cam variable speed drive of coefficients. 1--can shaft, 2--cam, 3--step-by-step motor, 4--lever, 5--tension spring, 6--winding of potentiomster. KEY: (a) d-c pulses.

on a special setting field. Besides, the level of a coefficient can be lowered by an additional voltage divider with a coefficient of division $0 \le a \le 1$ at an interval 0.001 of the step.



Fig. 198. Variable speed drive of coefficients with wire-wand shaped slip-rings.

To obtain pulses, controlling the step-by-step motor, in analogs IPT-4 and IPT-5 there is a special device, consisting of a quartz oscillator with a frequency divider (with division of frequency from 1000 cps to 50 cps) and an auxiliary pulse generator, consisting of 6 synchronous motors, working from a frequency of 50 c and interrupting contacts with six different frequences. If permissible error of scanning of coefficients in time is 2%, then motors can be fed directly from an a-c net.

-



Fig. 199. Variable speed drive of coefficients with stepping selector. KEY: (a) Setting field; (b) output; (c) Stepby-step motor; (d) Fulses.

Among the merits of the considered variable speed drive one should include the fact that in separate moments of time there can be received coefficients with great accuracy, since separate sections of the voltage divider can be made very accurately. Essential deficiencies of these devices are complexity of construction, large dimensions, appearance of additional interferences due to step-by-step introduction of the variable coefficient.

- 369-

Variable speed drive of coefficients of analog MPT-9 is a modernization of the considered device. On the setting field of the unit of the variable coefficient there is no divider with negative values of voltages. Negative values of coefficients



Fig. 200. Modification of variable speed drive of coefficients of Fig. 199. KEY: (a) Setting field; (b) Output; (c) From pulse generator; (d) cps.

result from general displacement of level of the graph of the variable coefficient by a special device, introducing negative input voltage with a constant coefficient into the model. Furthermore, to the stepping selector of the variable coefficent unit there can be fed pulses with one of five frequencies by program in time which allows us to approximate the curve of the law of change of the coefficient more accurately, i.e., on steeper sections of the curve to increase the frequency of switching.

-370-

To obtain programmed introduction of frequencies of pulses on the stepping selector the variable coefficient unit, there is an additional device, including still another stepping selector with 100 lamellae and a setting field, where to every lamella there can be passed pulses with one of the following five frequencies: 8 cps, 4 cps, 2 cps, 1 cps, 0.5 cps. Lamella can also remain unconnected, and in this interval of time not one pulse will pass to the stepping selector of the variable coefficient unit. All main elements of variator of coefficients and auxiliary devices (generator of stable frequency and others) remain the same as in variator of analog IPT-4. The basic circuit i: shown in Fig. 200.

Shown designs of variators of coefficients cannot be recognized as totally perfect. Cam variators require comparatively great expenditure of time on manufacture and replacement of cams; variators with wire on the insulating plate, do not ensure smooth change of the time—speed scale of potentiometers and have complicated drive mechanism. Variators with stepping selectors also are not very simple and frequently serve as a source of undesirable interferences, caused by the step nature of approximation of the variable coefficient.

Apparently, improvement of variators with wire, glued on insulating plate or drum, can lead to creation of devices which are simple, accurate and at the same time convenient to use. Significant simplification here can be attained by transition to smoothly regulated drive, in the form of a servo system. Supplying this servo system with feedbacks with respect to speed and position, it is possible to use the variator of coefficients also as a functional generator or multiplier-divider during investigation of processes with frequency up to 1 cps. By this it is possible considerably to supplement the possibilities of the electronic model without increasing the number of additional units.

-371-

4. <u>Simulation of Systems of Automatic Control</u> with Constant Delay

Constant delay is met primarily in industrial process systems.*

An essential role in formation of constant delay in industrial systems is played by the terminal velocity of transfer of the substance. An example is the system of automatic control of thickness of a sheet on a rolling mill, where the meter of thickness of the sheet 1 (Fig. 201a) and pressure device 2 are located a certain distance L from each other, due to which with a terminal velocity v of motion of the rolled sheets there appears delay τ between influence of pressure device and measurement of its result by the sensor. Another characteristic case of the presence of constant time delay takes place in system of automatic control of concentration of solution by change of input of one of the components (Fig. 201b).





Fig. 201. Examples of systems of automatic control with delay. a) control circuit of thickness of sheet on rolling mill. 1--meter of thickness of sheet, 2--pressure device; b) control circuit of concentration of solution; 1--meter of concentration, 2--regulating element. Furthermore, often it is convenient in studying multicapacity industrial processes to replace the equation of motion of high order by equations of the first or second order with constant delay. Finally, during investigation of control systems with very fast processes it is often necessary to explain the influence of small constant delays of the order of 10-100 millisecond in the controller, or delay of such an order, to which it is possible to reduce small parameters of system.

The general range of constant delay, encountered in systems of automatic control,

"See, for example, V. L. Lossiyevskiy [2].

embraces intervals of time from 5 milliseconds to 100 minutes. However during simulation, apparently, it is possible to limit maximum delay to 5 minute, since with greater delays processes of adjustment proceed already so slow'/ that the dynamics of equipment of adjustment, in essence, can be disregarded and one can conduct investigation on an electronic model of the total system of differential equations of the system of automatic control in an unnatural time scale.

For reproduction of delay in electronic models there are applied special devices, named delay blocks. In ideal case the delay block should be characterized by the following dependence between input e_{ax} and output e_{awa} magnitudes:

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{\mathsf{BML}}(l) = \boldsymbol{e}_{\mathsf{BL}}(l-\tau), \qquad (11.21)$$

where $\tau = \text{const}$ is the constant delay. In operator form equation (11.21) will have the form

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\text{sut}}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \boldsymbol{e}^{-\boldsymbol{p}} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\text{st}}(\boldsymbol{p}). \tag{11.22}$$

Thus, output magnitude of delay block should copy accurately the input magnitude, but with a shift in time . Transfer function of block should be

$$\Psi_{n}(p) = e^{-p}.$$



Fig. 202. Passive networks, utilised for obtaining delay.

contributed of separate constructions of delay blocks and their appraisal can be carried out on the basis of comparison of frequency responses. For an ideal delay block the gain-frequency response is $(W_{+}(f_{+}))^{+}=1$, and the phase-frequency is $q_{+}=-w_{+}$. Fnown constructions of delay blocks can be divided into two groups depending upon how the given gain and phases frequency responses are realized. In devices of the first group the gain-frequency response is reproduced in principle accurately, and that of phase, approximately; in devices of the second group, vice versa, the phase response is reproduced in principle accurately, and gain, approximately. Among devices of the first type are, in particular, RC circuits of passive and active quadripoles, simulating long lines. In Fig. 202a is shown one circuit, consisting of passive RC networks, isolated from one another by separating amplifiers (for example, cathode followers).

Transfer function of each such network is

$$W_{i}(\rho) = \frac{1 - RC\rho}{1 + RC\rho}$$
 (11.23)

Transfer function of circuit of such identical sections will be

$$W_{I}(p) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} W_{i}(p) = \left(\frac{1 - RCp}{1 + RCp}\right)^{n}.$$
 (11.24)

We will estimate error, introduced by replacement of $W'_{\tau}(p)$ by $W_{\tau}(p)$. This estimate can be made by comparison of frequency responses. For considered the bridge circuit we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{g} &= -2n \operatorname{arctg} RC\omega, \\ & |W_{i}(f\omega)| = 1. \end{aligned}$$

$$(11.25)$$

From this, considering $2nRC = \frac{1}{2}$ and comparing with ideal values of $|W_{\tau}(j\omega)|$ and γ_{τ} , we will find error in phase response

$$\Delta \gamma = -\omega \tau + 2\pi \arctan \frac{\omega \tau}{2\pi}$$

or when $\frac{\omega}{2n} < lapproximately$

$$\Delta \varphi \cong \frac{(\upsilon;)^{\mu}}{12\pi^{4}}.$$
 (11.26)

Error in gain response is

-374-

where

$$F_{\mu,\nu}(x) = 1 + \frac{\nu x}{(\mu + \nu) 1!} + \frac{\nu (\nu - 1) x^{2}}{(\mu + \nu) (\mu + \nu - 1) 2!} + \dots + \\ + \frac{\nu (\nu - 1) \dots 2 \cdot 1 x^{\nu}}{(\mu + \nu) (\mu + \nu - 1) \dots (\mu + 1) \nu!} + \\ O_{\mu,\nu}(x) = 1 - \frac{\mu x}{(\mu + \nu) 1!} + \frac{\mu (\mu - 1) x^{2}}{(\mu + \nu) (\mu + \nu - 1) \dots (\nu + 1) 2!} - \dots + \\ + (-1)^{\mu} \frac{\mu (\mu - 1) \dots 2 \cdot 1 x^{\mu}}{(\mu + \nu) (\mu + \nu - 1) \dots (\nu + 1) \mu!} +$$

When $\mu = 1 = 2$, x = -pT we obtain

$$e^{-pT} \cong W'(p) = \frac{T^{2}p^{2} - 6Tp + 12}{T^{2}p^{2} + 6Tp + 12}$$
 (11.28)

Conducting, as and before, comparison of the frequency response, received from (11.28) with the ideal, we find that

and
$$|W'(j\omega)| = |W_{\tau}(j\omega)| = 1.$$

$$\Delta \gamma = -\omega \tau + 2 \arctan \frac{\beta_{\omega \tau}}{12 - (\omega \tau)^2}.$$
(11.29)

where = T.

If we take maximum permissible error $u_7 = 4^\circ$, then from expression (11.29) it follows that $\omega_{i_{npex}} < 2.3$. Connection in series of identical cells with transfer function (11.28) leads to increase of permissible magnitude of ω_{i}



Fig. 204. Dependence of error on - for various types of sections.

-375-

In Fig. 203 is brought graph of dependence of number of sections n on we for various $\Delta \varphi$. From expression (11.26) and graphs of Fig. 203, calculated by this expression, it follows that when the number of cells n = 6 and permissible error $\Delta \varphi = 0.04$ rdn maximum permissible value of $(\omega z)_{np} = 2.5$. If one were to limit magnitude of resistances R and capacitances C of capacitors of the circuit to 1 megohr and 0.1 μ f, then maximum possible delay when n = 6 will be

$$\tau_{max} = 2n RC = 1.2 sec.$$

Besides limited range of delay time application of passive circuits also has the deficiency that it does not allow us continuously to change delay time and requires during its setting variations of parameters of every link.



Fig. 203. Graph of dependence of number of sections on with given phase error.

Application of active circuits has significant advantages in this respect. Let us consider one such circuit, reproducing the first two members of expansion of e^X into a Pade fraction series (see 0. Perron [1]):

$$r^{a} = \lim_{(a_{1}+1)\to\infty} \frac{r^{a}_{a_{1}+1}(x)}{O_{a_{1}+1}(x)}.$$
 (11.27)

In Fig. 20.4 are shown comparative curves of $\Delta_1 = f(\omega_1)$ with various n and various types of sections. Solid lines are curves for sections with transfer function of type (11.28), and dotted lines are for type (11.23). From the figure it follows that for values of ω_2 greater than 3, it is expedient to change to devices of the second type. Transfer function (11.28) can be realized both by passive (Fig. 202b) and active quadripoles. Application of active quadripoles allows us to simplify setting of required parameters and removes difficulties, connected with necessity in case of passive quadripoles to have inductance with high quality.



Fig. 205. Functional diagram of reproduction of delay.

Of special interest is application for these purposes of operational amplifiers (C. D. Morrill [1]). In Fig. 205 are shown two variants of such circuits. During composition of these circuits* it is more convenient to present the given transfer function (11.28) in the form

$$W(p) = 1 - \frac{12pT}{p^{1}T^{1} + 6pT + 12}$$
 (11.30)

The circuit shown in Fig. 205b is used when in the process of the experiment it is not required to change delay time. Amplifiers 1 and 3 here often can be taken from remaining set-up circuit, so that on creation of delay there is expended only one

*According to methods of Ch. XII and Appendix I.

operational amplifier. Helationships for determination of parameters of these circuits are obtained for given value of the by comparison of transfer functions of these circuits with expression (11.30). For the circuit of Fig. 205a we have:

$$K_{22} = \frac{12}{s}, \quad K_{12} = \frac{6}{s}, \quad K_{21}K_{11}K_{31} = \frac{12}{s^2}, \quad K_{21}K_{12} = K_{22}K_{13}.$$

Magnitude \cdot can be changed smoothly by setting voltage dividers and in steps—by change of magnitudes of capacities of capacitors C_1 and C_2 . With physically possible values of transmission coefficients K_{ij} general range of time of delay constitutes from 0.05 to 100 sec. In Fig. 206 are shown oscillograms of work of circuit when

 $\tau = 0.1$ and 0.90 sec. In initial period upon switching on the circuit there takes place the process of setting the voltage. Under conditions of modeling a CAP voltage at output of the delay block will scarcely change by jump and therefore process of setting up practically will not effect accuracy of simulating processes of control. If it is necessary to increase accuracy of reproduction of delay and to expand range of permissible values of wr. it is possible to use, for example, the first six terms of series (11.27), as C. D. Morrill recommends [1]. However for reproduction of such a transfer function there will be required 10 operational amplifiers.



b)

いたい

Fig. 206. Oscillograms of work of circuit of Fig. 205. t_y is setting up time.

A somewhat different approach to synthesis of transfer functions, with respect

to recation of their poles and zeroes, approximating the transfer function of the line with delay and developed by W. J. Cunningham [1].

Among devices, reproducing in principle accurately phase-frequency response and approximately gain-frequency are, delay units, based on use of capacitors and magnetic tape as memory units. Here the current values of the input magnitudes are continuously stored in the memory and continuously are selected from it after a given time delay.



Fig. 207. Fundamental circuit of delay block with storage capacitors.

Principle of action of a device with remembering capacitors (V. V. Gurov [2]) consists of the following: for a definite, fairly small intervals of time output voltage of operational amplifier 1 (Fig. 207), representing input magnitude of the delay block is stored by charging capacitors C_1, C_2, \ldots by charged brushes 4. Voltage of these capacitors after a time, equal to the time of delay, is transmitted by discharge brushes 5 to low-capacity capacitor $C_{\rm oc}$, in the feedback circuit of output operational amplifier 2. Use of operational amplifiers here ensures practically instantaneous charge of capacitors C_1, C_2, \ldots to value of voltage $c_{\rm Bx}$ due to the low value of the output impedance of amplifier 1. Discharge of capacitor C in the interval between two periods of charge, caused by external leaks R_y , will here be negligible, since the time constant of discharge is very great:

$$T = R_y C_{sc} (1 + K_y). \tag{11.31}$$

where F_y is the amplification factor of the operational amplifier with open negative feedback.

As the device, commutating capacitors $\binom{1}{2}, \binom{2}{2}, \ldots$ there are used stensing selectors or special collector commutators. In case of application of stepping selectors the brush contacts move, but in case of collector commutators—collectors move with constant speed.

Time delay : is set by change of angular velocity Ω of rotation of motor 3 and angle a between brushes:

$$\tau = \frac{1}{9}.$$
 (11.32)

By force of finiteness of interval of time Δt between charge of two adjacent capacitors C_i and C_{i+1} in such device there is stored and reproduced with shift not a continuous curve $e_{at}(t)$, but a stepped curve. This leads to error both in amplitude, and in time of delay of output magnitude. Error in delay time here does not exceed magnitude M, and error in amplitude can be estimated by the evident relationship

$$\Delta r_{\rm ex} = \frac{dr_{\rm ex}}{dt} \Delta L, \qquad (11.33)$$

where $M = \frac{a_1}{m^2}$, n is the number of storage capacitors, a_1 is the general angle, at which contacts of the commutator are located.

with the help of rel: ionships (11.32) and (11.33) when $e_{at} = e_{at max} \sin \omega t$ we find the maximum value of relative error in the form

where sume is minimum gap between brushes.

when some a se lus

$$(\delta e)_{max} = 0.1 u_{\tau}.$$
 (11.34)

From (11.34) it follows that for obtaining maximum error $(2e)_{max} = 2^{\circ}$, magnitude $(w^{\circ})_{max}$ must not be larger than 0.2. Besides error, caused by stepness of curve of output voltage, such a method of reproduction of delay introduces error due to finiteness of magnitude of capacity of capacitor C. Absolute error can be estimated by expres-

$$\Delta U_{C}^{\prime} = \frac{C_{con}}{C_{c} + C_{con}} \frac{de_{av}}{dt} \Delta t.$$

Here C is the capacity of the storage capacitor C_i .

e

ıd

Sing the earlier derived relationship for M and considering $e_{**} = e_{**} e_{*} e_{*}$

$$(\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{C}})_{\max} \simeq 0.1 \frac{C_{\infty}}{C_{T}} \frac{w^{2}}{C_{\infty}} \qquad (11.35)$$

when $w_{\pm} = 0.2$ and $(\mathcal{U}_{c})_{max} = 0.25$. from (11.35) we obtain $C_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{2}C$.

The fact that capacitor $C_{\rm oc}$ during switching on of storage copacitor is charged inaccurately up to voltage($r_{\rm sc}$), caused adjustment of the step-by-step variable signal not at once, but after several cycles of charge of capacitor $C_{\rm oc}$. This as it were introduces parasitic inertial delay in the system. Fisually capacitors $C_{\rm i}$ and $C_{\rm oc}$ for decrease of leak are selected as type KPG or HGS (with styroflex dielectric).

An original method of lowering error due to step nature of the output voltage curve was offered in the work of Ya. I. Grinva and P. N. Kopay-Gora [1]. This method consists of adding to each step of curve $r_{out}(t)$ a linearly variable voltage. This voltage results from integration of difference of voltages on capacitors C_{oc} , ob-

$$U_{\text{prop}} = \frac{1}{T} \int_{t_1}^{t_1 + 1} (U_{i+1} - U_i) dt = \frac{\lambda U_{i+1} + \lambda}{T}$$

In order to receive linear smoothing of the stepped curve, it is necessary, that $U_{a,m}(t_{i+1}) = \Delta U_{i+1}$. This is possible, if $T = \Delta t$. In case of application of integrating operational amplifier the given condition reduces to

Thus, with correct selection of transmission factor $\frac{1}{M_{\odot}}$ of the integrating block summation of result of integration with current value of stepped output voltage gives output voltage of piecewise-linear form. We will estimate maximum value of relative error with such approximation. On basis of previously derived relationship (5.7)

-381-

we have

$$(\Delta e_{\text{surg}})_{\text{mag}} = \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{d^2 e_{e_1}}{d t^2} \right)_{\text{mag}} \Delta t^2.$$

After substituting of value is when $e_{ox} = e_{ox} \min and and and a min a constant of value of the second second$

when $(M_{nur})_{ux} = 2^{\circ}$, the permissible value of wt (4. Thus, other conditions equal, introduction of piecewise-linear approximation as compared with stepped gives an increase of maximum permissible value of wt by an order. However error from inaccurate transmission of voltage to capacitor C_{∞} remains. If one were to select

 $C_{\rm ee} \ll C$, then with preservation of low error $U_{\rm e}$ it is possible to increase maximum permissible value of $_{\rm eff}$ to 4. Fundamental circuit of delay block, using considered principle of smoothing the stepped output voltage shown in Fig. 208. For preparation of circuit at the end of interval of time M for forming the following linear addition there is provided periodic discharge of capacitor C. By the given diagram delay blocks are industrially produced in these block commutation of two groups of 2ℓ capatitors of type FGS of 0.1 microfarad is executed with the help of two stepping selectors (type ShI 25/8). Duration of interval can be fixed at 0.1 sec, 0.2 sec, 0.5 sec, and 1 sec, time lag $\pm -$ from 0.1 to 20 sec in steps. Accuracy of reproduction of output voltage constitutes $\pm 3\%$ up to (wt)_{max} ≤ 5 .



Fig. 208. Fundamental circuit of delay block with storage capacitors in which there is provided linear smoothing. With the necessity of carrying out constant delay greater than 50 sec it is expedient to use principle of magnetic renording. In Fig. 209 is presented blockdiagram of such an instrument (V. A. Ivanov [1]). Input signal, variable with low frequency, is modulated by Entrance signal variable with low frequency, is modulated in frequency by sweep oscillator of RC type. Magnitude of input signal can take value of $\underline{1}$ 6 v; here the voltage frequency of oscillator changes linearly from 500 to 900 cps. Voltage of generator proceeds through power amplifier to recr ding head in which there is set the maximum value of amplitude of magnetizing field. The signal thus recorded on the magnetic tape, passing through a special device of "infinite cassette" type, induces in the head of reproduction with delay time a voltage, which moves to the input of the amplifier. Infinite cassette can contain from 0.5 to 250 m.



Fig. 209. Fundamental circuit of delay block with application of magnetic recording. 1-output device, 2-pulse counter, 3-amplifier with limitation, 4-infinite cassette, 5-speed setting, 6-stabilized rectifier, 7-high-frequency oscillator, 8-motor, 9reductor, 10-generator of control pulses, 11-power amplifier, 12-leading shaft, 13reproduction head, 14-erasing head, 15recording head, 16-tachogenerator.

At the output of the amplifier-limiter we obtain a variable rectangular voltage tension variable in frequency, whose amplitude strictly is calibrated and does not depend on magnitude of emf induced in the reproduction head. After the amplifierlimiter the received square voltage pulses pass through a pulse counter, at whose

-383-

output there is connected a capacitor, so that voltage on this capacitor is proportional to the number of pulses per unit time, i.e., frequency of recorded voltage or magnitude of input signal.

In Fig. 210a is brought the general form of delay block with application of magnetic recording as made by Academy of Sciences of USSR. In this block the beltdrive mechanism is moved by a d-c motor of type SL221. Speed of rotation changes by a change of excitation current. Fixed speed is kept constant by a system of automatic adjustment of speed. The delay block allows us to receive a delay time from 0.5 to 20 minute, and this range is covered smoothly. Magnitude of delay time is sustained with great stability (error near 0.1%). Error of reproduction of input signal does not exceed 1.5%. Maximum frequency of reproduced signals is 2-5 cps. In Fig. 210 (b, c, d) are brought several characteristic oscillograms, illustrating work of described delay block. On a delay block, made on magnetic drume, see also for K. W. Goff [2].

In Table IX are compared main technical characteristics of separate types of delay block.

No. in	Type Delay Block	Limiting Values		Maximum Error	Note
Order		1	ωτ		
1	Block of 4 operation- al amplifiers by Fig. 201a diagram			<u>+</u> 2.5%	Error, phase, re- lated to (=t)max = 3
2	Block with applica- tion of storage ca- pacitors and linear smoothing	from 0.1 to 20 sec	5	<u>+</u> 3%	Error, am- plitude, re lated to "mix = 100 V when "mix = 1 Cps.
3	Block with use of magnetic recording	sec to 20	from 12 to several thousand	<u>+</u> 1.5%	Error, am- plitude, re lated to wmax < 2-5 cps.

Table IX



Fig. 210. a) general form of work of delay block with application of magnetic recording; b,c,d) oscillograms of shift with respect to time of rectangular, sinusoi-dal and aperiodic processes: 1--initial process, 2--delayed process.

If one were to consider that in systems of automatic control in practice $w\pi < \pi$, then from the data brought in the table it follows that with small time lags one can successfully use a circuit with operational amplifiers, and with large ones---delay blocks, based on magnetic recording. Delay blocks with storage capacitors as compared with circuits of amplifiers, other conditions being equal, are significantly

-385-

1
more complicated, more expensive and less reliable.

5. Simulation of Systems of Automatic Control with Interferences

For a number of contemporary systems of automatic control (system of automatic racking of radar stations, etc.) of large significance is calculation of influence of interferences, penetrating the system simultaneously with useful signal. Problem of simulating of such CAP can be formulated in two ways. In one case the probmen is posed of more precise definition of parameters of system taking into account influence of interferences, introduced to model by reproduction of recordings of change of input signal, received by full-scale tests. In the other case there is studied influence on the process of adjustment of change of main statistical characteristics of interferences by addition to input signal of signal of interferences, produced by special generator with predetermined statistical characteristics. The last formulation of the problem usually occurs in the first stages of creation of the CAP, when it is possible to express only highly tentative assumptions about statistical characteristics of input signal.

With recordings of change of input signal, recieved in real conditions, reproduction is carried out variously depending upon nature of carrier of this recording. With use of magnetic recording one can successfully apply the delay block, described in the preceding section. With the help of this block it is possible to carry out both recording and reproduction of input signals. During reproduction of noises, registered on the tape, there is used a servo electronic-optical system, in many respects reminiscent of the cathode-ray functional generators considered in Chapter VII. Signal, controlling the position of the spot on the edge of the oscillogram during its movement before the screen of the cathode-ray tube, is used as the output signal of noises.

For generating noises in radio engineering they use ordinary electron tubes (most frequently diodes), fluctuations of whose current are amplified by multistage broad-band amplifiers. However for modeling CAP these generators are of little use,

-386-

since during creation of noises in a narrow band of low frequencies (from 1 cps and lower) with power of the order of 0.1-1 w requires very great amplification. Replacement of vacuum tube by a gas-discharge tube (for example, thyratron) removes only partly the need to amplify the signal. For generating noises in the band of frequencies below 1 cps large advantages pertain to application of a ball generator (A. M. Petrovskiy [1], [2]) and a generator, made of voltage dividers (C. A. Wass [1]).

As can be seen from Fig. 211, he primary source of noises in a ball generator is a drum, filled with steel balls. Axis and lateral surface of drum are made of conducting, and the face covers are made from insulating material. To the axis and lateral surface of drum by slide contacts is applied a constant voltage. The drum is rotated by an electric motor through reductor with variable transmission ratio. Hpon rotation of the drum the balls poured inside it create irregular contact between the wall of the drum and the axis, thanks to which current in the feed circuits continuously changes. The emf of interference is taken from a resistor, included in the feed circuit. As was shown in the work of A. M. Petrovskiy, in regions of low frequencies (w < NF) the spectrum of frequencies of generated noises is practically uniform:

$$S(w) = 2E_1^3 \bar{Y} \frac{1}{NF}$$
, (11.36)

where S(w) is the spectral density, E_1 is voltage of power source of drum with balls, \tilde{Y} is mean value of cylinder-axis conductance, N is the number of balls in the cylinder, F is angular velocity or rotation of drum in deg/sec.

Amplitude of output signal of such generator is subject to normal distributive law, since the instantaneous value of conductance Y_k is a function of a large number of independent random variables.

Number of balls in drum should be sufficiently great to ensure free fall of separate balls and sharp changes of conductance of drum. It has been practically fixed



Fig. 211. Fundamental circuit of ball generator of noises. KEY: (a) Reductor; (b) Output; (c) Rectifier.

that balls must occupy approximately half of the volume of the drum (N \approx 50 to 200). with decrease of angular velocity of rotation of drum power of noises in the frequency band, where S(m) is constant, increases, however simultaneously there occurs narrowing of this band of frequencies. Narrowing of band of uniform spectrum of generated frequencies also results from application of limiters of amplitude at output of generator. With necessity of conversion of spectrum of frequencies of generated noises at output of generator there can be connected the corresponding filter. Usually the drum is fitted with balls of close diameters (from 0.5 to 4 mm); with filling by balls of strongly differing diameters fall of separate balls during rotation of the drum no longer is free, since one ball of large diameter draws after it a group of smaller ones. In this case fall of separate groups will be free which leads to appearance in output voltage of separate splashes. The latter can be successfully used in a number of cases of simulation.

Principle of construction of generator of fluctuating emf with use of switchable potentiometers is illustrated by the diagram of Fig. 212. Potentiometers will form a rectangular grid. Cursors of potentiometers, located in every vertical column, are joined to a common terminal UI_1, UI_2, \ldots, UI_n , and these are joined to output



Fig. 212. Principle of construction of generator of fluctuating emf with use of switchable potentiometers. KEY: (a) Control unit; (b) Output.

through contacts of relays P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_n . Relays are controlled from cyclical electronic meter through commutator. Distribution of amplitudes of output voltage is given by setting of cursors of potentiometers on the basis of experimental data or given characteristics of random process. Feed moves to potentiometers with the help of two switches Π_1 and Π_2 . Strictly speaking, output voltage of such instrument cannot be called random. Possibility of repetition of signal from such generator is a known convenience, since it reduces the number of required solutions on models.

CHAPTER XII

INVESTIGATION OF DYNAMICS OF AUTOMATIC SYSTEMS WITH RATIONAL FRACTIONAL TRANSFER FUNCTIONS

In investigation of systems of automatic adjustment and control by electronic analog computers there often is the necessity of **reproduction** of rational fractional transfer functions of form

$$W(s) = \frac{b_{n}p^{n} + b_{n-1}p^{n-1} + \dots + b_{1}p + b_{0}}{a_{n}p^{n} + a_{n-1}p^{n-1} + \dots + a_{1}p + a_{0}}, \qquad (12.1)$$

where $m \leq n$; b_m , b_{m-1} , ..., b_1 , b_0 and a_n , a_{n-1} , a_{n-2} , ..., a_1 , a_0 are given constant coefficients, and p is a complex variable.

To such transfer functions leads, for example, approximate presentation of delay by Pade series, synthesis of correcting circuits, and also a number of problems of statistical dynamics of automatic control systems.

Application differentiators in setup circuits of these transfer functions is excluded due to sharp amplification of interferences, always attending cutput signal of operational amplifier; presentation of the right side as a given function of tire is possible only in a very limited number of cases, when beforehand we know the law of change of input signal.

From literature (A. K. Ganulich [1], D. Michel [1], J. H. Laning and R. H. Battin [1], C. L. Johnson [1]) we know various methods of reproduction of these transfer functions with application of only integrators and summers. These methods can be reduced to four main ones:

1) direct integration;

2) decomposition of transfer function into partial fractions (method of transformation of structures);

3) expansion into first order equations;

4) combining derivatives.

These methods in literature were not compared and certain of them were mentioned only casually. Of interest also is establishment of the possibility of their propagation when coefficents of initial differential equations for (12.1) are given functions of time.

1. Method of Direct Integration

Let system of automatic control be described by equation of form

 $a_{n}y^{n} + a_{n-1}y^{(n-1)} + \ldots + a_{1}y^{1} + a_{n}y = \\ = b_{m}x^{(m)} + b_{m-1}x^{(m-1)} + \ldots + b_{1}x^{(1)} + b_{n}x \quad (n \ge m).$

It is required to find y(t) for given constant coefficients a_i , b_i (i = 1, 2, . . . , n) and perturbation x, whose dependence on time is not given beforehand.

For finding rules of composition of the functional diagrams we solve the initial equation for highest order derivative $y^{(n)}$, if n - m, or when n = m for the difference of highest order derivatives:

$$a_{n}y^{(n)} = b_{n}x^{(n)} = (a_{n-1}y^{(n-1)} - b_{n-1}x^{(n-1)}) = \dots = (a_{n-2}y^{(n-2)} - b_{n-2}x^{(n-2)}) = \dots = (a_{n}y^{(1)} - b_{1}x^{(1)}) = (a_{n}y - b_{n}x).$$

Introducing the symbolic designation of operation of integration $\int dt = \frac{1}{p}$, $\int \int dt dt = \frac{1}{p^2}$, etc., we will receive

$$a_{n}y = b_{n}x = -\frac{1}{p}(a_{n-1}y - b_{n-1}x) = \frac{1}{p^{2}}(a_{n-2}y - b_{n-2}x) = \dots = -\frac{1}{p^{n-1}}(a_{1}y - b_{1}x) = \frac{1}{p^{n}}(a_{1}y - b_{n}x). \quad (12.2)$$

In order to preserve during set up initial values of coefficients a_i, b_i, we

add to the left and right sides of expression (12.2) the term $-(a_n-1)y^n$). As a result we receive

$$y = -\frac{1}{p} (u_{n-1}y - h_{n-1}x) = \frac{1}{p^2} (u_{n-2}y - h_{n-2}x) = \dots = \frac{1}{p^2} (u_1y - h_1x) = \frac{1}{p^2} (u_1y - h_1x) + h_nx = (u_n - 1)y$$
(12.3)

Expression (12.3) allows us directly to constitute functional setup diagram. Indeed, we designate in (12.3) the sum of terms, containing symbols of operation of integration by a new variable z_1 , then we will receive equation

$$y = s_1 + b_n x - (u_n - 1)y, \qquad (12.4)$$

For further construction of the diagram we determine the value of the derivative of pz.:

$$pz_1 = -(u_{n+1}y - b_{n+1}x) = \frac{1}{p}(u_{n+2}y - b_{n+2}x) - \dots - \frac{1}{p^{n-1}}(u_{n+2}y - b_{n+1}x) = \frac{1}{p^{n-1}}(u_{n+1}y - b_{n+1}x).$$

Introducing designation

$$s_2 = -\frac{1}{p}(a_{n-2}y - b_{n-2}x) - \dots - \frac{1}{p^{n-2}}(a_1y - b_1x) - \frac{1}{p^{n-1}}(a_0y - b_0x),$$

we receive

$$pz_1 = -(a_{n-1}y - b_{n-1}x) + z_2.$$

"entinuing similar transformations, we will come to the generalized expression

 $pz_{n} = -(a_{n-k}y - b_{n-k}x) + z_{k+1} \quad (k = 1, 2, ..., n), \ z_{n+1} = 0, \tag{12.5}$

Equations (12.4) and (12.5) lead directly to the setup diagram shown in Fig. 213. The total general number of required blocks when $m \to n$ here is $n \to 3$, when m > n, obviously, it is possible to do without the output adder, and then number of blocks will be $n \to 2$. The set up diagram for that case comes automatically from the one in Fig. 213 rejecting of all $n \to m \to 1$ couplings, which feed input signal x forward. Here naturally, there is the possibility to extract from the diagram derivatives of output coordinat y of order above $n \to m \to 1$. J. Matyas [1] first

PIt is mecessary to turn attention to the fact that this method is useful to apply with sufficiently large $a_{n,2,0}$. Otherwise one should preliminarily divide (12.2) by a_n .



Fig. 213. Setup diagram of differential equation of n-th order by method of direct integration. KEY: (a) Odd; (b) Even.

indicated this possibility and formulated rules of composition of diagram for that particular case.

Initial conditions for integrators 1, 2 and n can be calculated by the given relationships for z_1 and z_k by generalized formula

$$s_{k}(0) = s_{k-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} [a_{i+1}y^{i-1}(0) - b_{i+1}x^{i-1}(0)]. \qquad (12.6)$$

where j = n - k, i = 1, 2, 3, ...

Main advantage of considered method is that setup is carried out with respect initial coefficients, and calculation of initial conditions is executed comparatively simply.

2. <u>Necomposition of Transfer Function</u> into Partial Fractions

This rethod is based on the fact that any transfer function W(p), where p is a complex variable, can be considered as a transfer function of a certain one-circuit system with negative feedback, which in the direct channel has transfer function $W_1(p)$, and in feedback circuits $W_2(p)$. On functions W_1 and W_2 are placed conditions, according to which the numerator of the first does not contain terms with p, and the numerator of the second can have a polynomial of p with degree, one smaller than the polynomial in the numerator of W(p).

.....

Indeed, let



$$W'(p) = \frac{R(n)}{P(p)} = \frac{W(p)}{1 + W_1(p)W_1(p)} \cdot (12.7)$$

Functional diagram of connection of $W_1(p)$ and $w_2(p)$ is shown in Fig. 214. Let

Fig. 214. Equivalent closed circuit of connection $w_1(p)$ and $W_2(p)_*$

$$W_{1}(p) = \frac{y(p)}{x(p) - u(p)} \frac{1}{V_{1}(p)}, \quad W_{2}(p) = \frac{u(p)}{y(p)} = \frac{Q_{1}(p)}{Q_{2}(p)} \quad (12.P)$$

We will find condition, which must be satisfied by $w_{1}(p)$.

 $Q_2(p)$ and $Q_3(p)$, so that equality (12.7) is correct:

whence

$$\frac{R(p)}{P(p)} = \frac{Q_1(p)}{Q_1(p)Q_2(p)+Q_1(p)},$$
(12.5)
$$R(p) = Q_2(p), \quad P(p) = Q_1(p)Q_2(p)+Q_3(p).$$
(12.10)

From condition (12.10) it follows that the degree of polynomial -1(p) should be equal to the difference of degrees of polynomials P(p) and R(p), and from (12.8) and (12.9)—the degree of a polynomial -3(p) should be one less than the degree of polynomial R(p). Using these peculiarities, it is possible to write the general form of polynomials -1(p) and -3(p):

$$Q_1(p) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} l_i p^i, \quad Q_1(p) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} m_i p^i. \quad (12.11)$$

where \underline{l}_i and m_i are constants to be determined.

For example, let $R(p) = b_0 + b_1 p + b_2 p^2 + b_3 p^3$, and $P(p) = a_0 + a_1 p + a_2 p^2 + a_3 p^3$. Then by (12.11) we obtain:

$$Q_1(p) = i_0, \quad Q_2(p) = b_0 + b_1(p) + b_2 p^2 + b_3 p^3,$$

$$Q_3(p) = m_0 + m_1 p + m_2 p^2.$$

To determine \underline{l}_0 , \underline{m}_0 , \underline{m}_1 , and \underline{m}_2 we substitute the found values of \underline{a}_1 , \underline{a}_2 and \underline{a}_3 in (12.10). As a result we receive

$$a_0 + a_1 p + a_2 p^2 + p^3 = l_0 h_3 p^3 + (l_0 b_2 + m_2) p^2 + (l_0 b_1 + m_1) p + l_0 b_0 + m_0.$$

whence the sought for coefficients will be:

$$l_{0} = \frac{1}{b_{3}}, \quad m_{0} = a_{0} - \frac{b_{0}}{b^{3}}, \quad m_{1} = a_{1} - \frac{b_{1}}{b_{3}}, \quad m_{2} = a_{2} - \frac{b_{2}}{b_{3}}.$$

inus,

$$W_1(p) = \frac{1}{l_0}, \quad W_2(p) = \frac{m_0 + m_1 p + m_2 p^2}{b_0 + b_1 p + b_2 p^2 + b_3 p^3}.$$

 $u_2(p)$ in turn can be presented

$$W_2(p) = \frac{W_{11}(p)}{1 + W_{11}(p) W_{22}(p)}$$

-394-

where

$$W_{11}(p) = \frac{1}{n_0 + \kappa_1 p}, \quad W_{22}(p) = \frac{c_0 + c_1 p}{m_0 + m_1 p + m_1 p^3}.$$

For determination of unknown coefficients we will use on the basis of (12.10) the relationship

$$b_0 + b_1 p + b_2 p^2 + b_3 p^3 = (\pi_0 + \pi_1 p)(m_0 + m_1 p + m_2 p^2) + (c_0 + c_1 p).$$

Equating coefficients, we receive:

$$c_{0} = b_{0} - \left(b_{2} - b_{3} \frac{m_{1}}{m_{2}}\right) \frac{m_{1}}{m_{2}}, \quad c_{1} = b_{1} - \left[b_{3} \frac{m_{0}}{m_{2}} + \frac{m_{1}}{m_{3}}\left(b_{2} - b_{3} \frac{m_{1}}{m_{3}}\right)\right],$$

$$n_{0} = \frac{b_{2} - b_{3} \frac{m_{1}}{m_{3}}}{m_{2}}, \quad n_{1} = \frac{b_{1}}{m_{3}}.$$

We will decompose W₂₂(p) into partial components:

$$W_{22}(p) = \frac{W_{111}(p)}{1 + W_{111}(p) W_{222}(p)}, \quad W_{111}(p) = \frac{1}{q_2 - q_1 p},$$
$$W_{222}(p) = \frac{r_0}{(1 - c_1 p)}.$$

Coefficients r and q we will determine from relationship $m_0 + m_1 p + m_2 p^2 =$ $= (q_1 + q_1 p)(c_0 + c_1 p) + r_0.$

whence

$$\begin{aligned} q_1 &= \frac{m_1}{c_1}, \quad q_1 &= \left(m_1 - \frac{c_2}{c_1} m_2\right) \frac{1}{c_1}, \\ r_0 &= m_0 - \left(m_1 - m_2 \frac{c_0}{c_1}\right) \frac{c_0}{c_1}, \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the problem was reduced to setup of the following system of equations: $y = \frac{1}{I_0} (x - u).$

$$(n_1 + n_1p)u = y - u_1, (q_0 + q_1p)u_1 = u - u_2, (c_0 + c_1p)u_2 = r_0u_1.$$

Functional and setup diagrams, corresponding to this system of equations, are shown in Figs. 215 and 216. Initial conditions with respect to new variables u_1 , and u_2 can be found by the given initial conditions by the above mentioned system of equations.

As follows from Fig. 216, such a method of setup requires a large number of inverters as compared to method of direct integration. Furthermore, it is necessary to expend comparatively greater time on calculation of coefficients of transformed equations.



Fig. 215. Functional dip gram, explaining method of decomposition of transfer function into partial fractions.



Fig. 216. Setup diagram, using method of decomposition of transfer function into partial fractions.

3. Expansion of Initial Inhomogeneous n-th Order Equation into a System of n Inhomogeneous First Order Equations

This expansion is not unique, however the best result is yielded by the method, described by J. H. Laning and R. H. Battin [1], according to which a linear differential equation with constant coefficients

$$\frac{d^{n}v}{dt^{n}} + a_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}y}{dt^{n-1}} + \dots + a_{1}\frac{dy}{dt} + a_{n}y = (12.12)$$

$$= b_{0}x + b_{1}\frac{dx}{dt} + \dots + b_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}x}{dt^{n-1}} + b_{n}\frac{d^{n}x}{dt^{n}}$$

$$= b_{0}x + b_{1}\frac{dx}{dt} + \dots + b_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}x}{dt^{n-1}} + b_{n}\frac{d^{n}x}{dt^{n}}$$

can be presented in the form of a system of linear first order differential equations:

$$y = y_{1} + 2_{n}x,$$

$$\frac{dy_{1}}{dt} = y_{2} + 2_{n-1}x,$$

$$\frac{dy_{n-1}}{dt} = y_{n} + 2_{1}x,$$

$$\frac{dy_{n-1}}{dt} = y_{n} + 2_{1}x,$$

$$\frac{dy_{n}}{dt} = -a_{n-1}y_{n} - a_{n-2}y_{n-1} - \dots - a_{1}y_{2} - a_{1}y_{1} + 2_{1}x.$$
(12.13)

Indeed, excluding y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_n from the last equation of system (12.13), we arrive at an equation of the form

$$\frac{d^{n}y}{dt^{n}} + a_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}y}{dt^{n-1}} + \dots + a_{1}\frac{dy}{dt} + a_{0}y = a_{n}\frac{d^{n}x}{dt^{n}} + (a_{n-1} + a_{n-1}a_{n-1})\frac{d^{n-1}x}{dt^{n-1}} + \dots + (a_{1} + a_{n-1}a_{2} + \dots + a_{1}a_{n})\frac{dx}{dt} + (12.14) + (a_{0} + a_{1}a_{n-1}a_{1} + a_{n-1}a_{1} + a_{n}a_{1})x.$$

So that equations (12.13) and (12.14) were identical, it is necessary, that values of new coefficients 2, satisfy the following equalities:

$$b_{0} = z_{0} + z_{1}a_{n-1} + z_{2}a_{n-2} + \dots + z_{n-1}a_{1} + z_{n}a_{0},$$

$$b_{1} = z_{1} + 1 + z_{2}a_{n-1} + \dots + z_{n-1}a_{2} + z_{n}a_{1},$$

$$b_{2} = z_{2} + 1 + \dots + z_{n-1}a_{3} + z_{n}a_{2},$$

$$b_{n-1} = z_{n-1} + 1 + z_{n}a_{n-1},$$

$$b_{n-2} = z_{n-1} + \dots + z_{n-1}a_{n-1},$$

The functional circuit is constructed for system of equations (12.13) in the form shown in Fig. 217. The total number of required blocks is n + 3. Coefficients z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_n easily are calculated on the basis of (12.15) by consecutive substitution of values z_i , starting with $e_n = \delta_n$. Initial conditions with respect to new variables y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_n are determined by system of equations (12.13) by given $y(0), y^{(1)}(0), \ldots, y^{(n-1)}(0)$ and $x(0), x^{(1)}(0), \ldots, x^{(n-1)}(0)$.

As an example let us consider reproduction of transfer function

$$W'(p) = \frac{p^{2} - \frac{6}{\tau}p + \frac{12}{\tau^{2}}}{p^{2} + \frac{6}{\tau}p + \frac{12}{\tau^{2}}},$$

approximating transfer function of a delay link $e^{-p\tau}$ by a Pade series where $p=\tau=2$. Here n=2, $a_0=\frac{12}{\tau^2}$, $a_1=\frac{6}{\tau}$, $a_2=1$, $b_0=\frac{12}{\tau^2}$, $b_1=-\frac{b}{\tau}$, $b_2=1$.

Equivalent system of equations on basis of (12.13) will be written in the form (zero initial conditions are assumed)

-397-

$$\frac{dy_2}{dt} = -u_1y_2 - u_0y_1 + z_0x_1 - \frac{dy_1}{dt} - y_2 + z_1x_1 - y_1 + z_2x_1$$

where y corresponds to output signal e_{max} and x to input e_{max} . Coefficients z_j , z_j and z_j on basis of preceding will be

$$a_2 = b_2 = 1$$
, $a_1 = b_1 - a_1 = -\frac{12}{2}$, $a_0 = \frac{72}{2^3}$.

Setup diagram is shown in Fig. a.



Fig. 217. Jetup diagram of n-th order differential equation, composed by method of expansion of initial inhomogeneous equation into n inhomogeneous first order differential equations.

4. Method of Combining Derivatives

we divide initial equation (12.12) in two, introducing new variable

$$\mathbf{a} = \frac{\mathbf{x}}{\mathbf{p}^{a} + \mathbf{e}_{a-1}\mathbf{p}^{a-1} + \cdots + \mathbf{e}_{i}\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{e}_{a}}.$$
 (12.16)

As a result we obtain

$$y = b_{a} \frac{d^{a} u}{dt^{a}} + b_{a-1} \frac{d^{a-1} u}{dt^{a-1}} + \dots + b_{1} \frac{du}{dt} + b_{a} u.$$
(12.17)

Expression (12.16) can be rewritten in differential form:

$$\frac{d^{a_{u}}}{dt^{a}} + a_{a-1} \frac{d^{a-1}u}{dt^{a-1}} + \dots + a_{1} \frac{du}{dt} + a_{u}u = x.$$
(12.18)

For composition of functional setup diagram it is necessary at first to "setup" equation (12.18) by method of lowering the order of the derivative, and then form the sought for variable y in the form of the sum of derivatives of u with corresponding coefficients. Values of derivatives $\frac{d'u}{dr}$ are obtained directly from corresponding outputs of integrators during solution of equation (12.18). Certain simplification of the setup circuit can result if in equation (12.17) we exclude

-398-



Fig. 218. Diagram of setup of differential equation, composed by method of combining derivatives.

 $\frac{d^2 4}{dt^2}$ by substitution of its value from equation (12.18). As a result we pass to equations

$$\frac{d^{a}u}{dt^{a}} + a_{n-1}\frac{d^{n-1}u}{dt^{n-1}} + \dots + a_{1}\frac{du}{dt} + a_{n}u = x.$$

$$y_{-i}(\dots + b_{n}u_{n-1} + b_{n-1})\frac{d^{n-1}u}{dt^{n-1}} + \dots + (-b_{n}a_{1} + b_{1})\frac{du}{dt} + \dots + (-b_{n}a_{n} + b_{n})u + b_{n}x.$$

The functional setup diagram by these equations for m = n = 3 is shown in Fig. 218. In general for setup it is necessary to have n + 3 computing blocks. For determination of coefficients during setup there is not required fulfillment of labor-computing calculations.

5. Methods of Simulation of Differential Equations with Variable Coefficients

Methods of simulation of differential equations with variable coefficients are considered sufficiently enough by J. H. Laning and R. H. Battin [1] and J. Matyas [3]. Therefore we will limit ourselves here only to brief remarks.

Composition of functional setup diagram in case of solution of equation (12.12) with coefficients variable in time can be done by direct integration or method of

transition to an equivalent system of first order differential equations." Main distinction of these methods consists in method of determination of new variable coefficients for equations to be set up. Indeed, for setup by method of direct intepration we replace equation (12.12) by equivalent equation

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-b^{j} (a_{j} y)^{j}) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-b^{j} (c_{j} x)^{j}).$$
(12.19)

where y,x are the same variable as in (12.12) and $x_j(t), (j_j(t))$ are new functions of time. Using properties of adjoint linear operators, Matyas [3] showed that new variable coefficients should be coupling with the following old relationships:

$$\beta_{n-k} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} (-1)^{(n-i)} \frac{(n-i)!}{(n-k)!(k-i)!} p_{n-i}^{(k-i)} (k-0, 1, 2, ..., m),$$

$$a_{n-k} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} (-1)^{(n-i)} \frac{(n-i)!}{(n-k)!(k-i)!} a_{n-i}^{(k-i)} (k-0, 1, 2, ..., n).$$

Functional setup diagram of equation (12.19) is obtained by method, mentioned above for differential equation (12.12) with constant coefficients with only this difference, that in corresponding places there are connected dividers of variable coefficients for setting $\beta_{n-2}(t)$ and $\alpha_{n-2}(t)$.

Transition to an equivalent system of first order differential equations is executed just as in the case of constant coefficients, but now new coefficients $a_n(t), a_{n-1}(t), \dots, a_n(t)$ must be considered certain functions of time. Determination of these functions of time by initial variable coefficients can be done on the basis of the work of J. H. Laning and R. H. Battin [1] by recurrence formula: $a_n(t) = b_n(t)$.

$$\mathbf{a}_{i}(t) = \mathbf{b}_{i}(t) \sum_{\mathbf{p} \neq \mathbf{q}} \sum_{r=\mathbf{q}}^{t-1} C_{\mathbf{q}}^{1-t} \mathbf{e}_{t-\mathbf{q}-r}(t) = \frac{d^{t} \mathbf{v}_{r}(t)}{dt^{t}}$$

From comparison of the two considered methods it follows that transition to equivalent system of first order differential equations requires fulfillment of less

Methods of decomposition of transfer function into partial fractions and combining of derivatives turn out to be invalid, since they lead to change of places of differential operators which is impermissible with variable coefficients. calculating work, since in setup there participate all initial variable coefficients $u_j(t)$ in unconverted form. During solution of the problem by the method of direct integration it is necessary answ to calculate all variable coefficients in the equations to be set up.

Comparison of considered methods of similation of a rational fractional transfer functions allows us to draw the following conclusions:

1. Reproduction of rational fractional transfer functions and initial differential equations for them with the help of electronic models without differentiating elements is possible to carry out by several methods. With non-zero initial conditions there must also be known values of perturbation and its n - 1 derivatives at the initial moment of time.

1

B

2. Minimum number of operational amplifiers in functional setup circuit in general case constitutes n + 3, where n is the order of setup differential equation and does not depend on method of setup. An exception is the method of decomposition of transfer function into partial fractions, leading to functional circuits with a large number of operational amplifiers.

3. Simplest from the viewpoint of volume of required preparatory work is method of combining derivatives. This method is applicable only in problems with constant coefficients.

4. During resolution of problems with variable coefficients one should give preference to method of transition to equivalent system of first order differential equations, requiring a minimum of auxiliary calculations.

-401-

CHAPTER XIII

SIMULATION OF NONLINEAR SYSTEMS OF AUTOMATIC CONTROL.

Necessity of solution of nonlinear problem appears every time it is necessary to consider behavior of system of automatic control with output beyond the limits of small delfections of regulated magnitude, to consider limited power of object and actuating mechanism of regulator, limitation of certain coordinates of system, and also a number of pecularities, accompanying physical realization of system (dry friction, some of insensitivity, gap in transmissions, etc.). Often nonlinear connections are introduced in system to achieve optimum processes of adjustment.

In all enumerated cases it is necessary not only to develop stability, but also to select structure and parameters of systems, ensuring given character of flow of process of adjustment for all possible perturbations in system.

To avoid errors² during simulation of nonlinear ACS one should turn special attention to correctness of recording of differential equations. In connection with this it is expedient to distinguish reproduction of nonlinear dependences in electronic and inertial elements of control systems. As was already montioned in Chapter V nonlinearities, met in systems of automatic control, can be divided into typical ones, those leading to elementary functions (sin x, cos x, xy, x/y, etc.), and arbitary ones, obtained from experiment.

^{*}Besides author these same errors were indicated by G. I. Monastyrshin [1] who offered to replace verbal extension of definition and graphs by introduction of functions <u>sign</u>.

If for simulation of arbitrary nonlinearities and nonlinearities which lead to elementary functions, we need special nonlinear blocks (See Chapter V, VI, VII and VIII), then during simulation of typical nonlinearities we can use operational amplifiers in combination with diode limiters or electromechanical relays.

Typical nonlinearities are what we usually call nonlinearities, connected with intermittent changes of transmission factor of separate sections, appearing at one or another value of input or output magnitude. Such intermittent change of transmission factor usually results from presence of some of insensitivity, dry friction, gaps in transmissions, relay characteristics, limitation of coordinates, speeds and accelerations in nodulus, loop hysteresis in elements of regulator and controlled process[#].

1. Simulation of System of Automatic Control with Typical Nonlinear Characteristics in Electronic Elements

<u>Limitation of coordinates in modulus</u>. In real systems of automatic control for constructive considerations and due to power limitations usually the range of change of coordinates is limited.

During simulation of such systems of electronic integrator it is necessary that output voltage of one or another operational amplifier, representing the coordinate interesting us, after reaching a certain predetermined value does not change further. This can be realised by connecting a diode limiter in the feedback circuit or at the output of operational amplifier. In Fig. 219a is depicted one possible scheme of connecting a diode limiter in feedback circuit of operational amplifier. At low values of input voltage diodes Π_i and Π_2 are locked by voltage + 5 and --5 from outside source and operational amplifier when $R_1 = R_2$ has transmission factor K = 1.

-403-

[&]quot;Questions of simulating typical nonlinearities already were touched upon in in literature by various authors (See T. N. Sakolov [1], A. A. Feldbaum [3], C. D. Morrill and R. F. Baum [2], S. Ya. Kogan [4], C. A. Heneley [1] and others).

when under the influence of increasing input voltage, output voltage attains absolute magnitude value E, one diode will unlock, and now transmission factor of amplifier will be

$$K = \frac{\left(1 + \frac{r_{a}}{r_{a} + r_{1} + r_{1} + r_{1}}\right)r_{a} + r_{a}}{R_{a} + r_{a}\left(1 + \frac{r_{a}}{r_{a} + r_{1} + r_{1} + r_{1}}\right) + r_{a}} - \frac{R_{a}}{R_{a}}$$
(13.1)

When $R_1 = R_2 = 1$ megoha, $r_1 = 500$ cm, $r_0 = 5000$ cm, r = 33 kiloha, $r_{1,2} = 10$ kiloha, we will take $K = -\frac{5.657}{10.010} = 5.65 \cdot 10^{-3}$.

It is obvious that with such a small transmission factor of block it is pos-ible with accuracy sufficient for practice to consider magnitude on its output constant during change of input magnitude.

Changing magnitude of resistance R_2 , it is possible to affect steepness of change of output voltage of block in the interval between the boundaries of limitation. Especially important is the case where $R_2 \rightarrow \infty$. Here, by in force of the very large gain factor of amplifier it is possible to consider that output voltage reaches its limit with the slightest change of input voltage (Fig. 219c). Such a block reproduces s-form nonlinear characteristics.







-loli-

Diagram of connection of limiter to output of operational amplifier (See R. I. Medkeff and R. I. Parent [1]) is shown in Fig. 220a. At low output voltage of block e_{int}^{*} diodes $\mathcal{A}_{1}, \mathcal{A}_{2}, \mathcal{A}_{3}$ and \mathcal{A}_{4} pass current, and difference of potentials between points a and b is equal to zero. Therefor $e_{int}^{*} = e^{i\theta}_{int}^{*}$. Depending upon magnitude of E and r for definite value of $e_{int}^{*} = e^{i\theta}_{int}^{*}$. Depending \mathcal{A}_{1} and then \mathcal{A}_{1} lock, and when $e_{int}^{*} = e^{i\theta}_{int}^{*} = e^{i\theta}_{int}^{*} \mathcal{A}_{2}$ diodes \mathcal{A}_{1} and then \mathcal{A}_{1}^{*} lock, and when $e_{int}^{*} = 0$ diodes \mathcal{A}_{2}^{*} and \mathcal{A}_{3}^{*} lock, as a result of which voltage on output resistor with further increase of e_{int}^{*} remains unchanged and equal to $E \frac{R_{int}}{R_{int}^{*} + r}$. Such limiter as compared with considered one has only the advantage that it gives more accurate cutoff of output voltage. However, it has significantly higher output impedance, increasing with growth of voltage of limitation, and it requires twice the number of diodes.





Fig. 220. Operational amplifier with diode limiter at output.

Accurate setting of voltage of limitation is also given by the circuit of a triode limiter (Fig. 220b), connected in the feedback circuit of the operational suplifier. Here triodes in more of linear change of output voltage remain locked due to negative voltage between grid and cathode.

Slope of characteristic of circuit when diodes are conducting turns out to be smaller than for diodes due to removal of resistance of divisor r_0 and decrease of internal resistance of triode with zero grid potential.

Reproduction of some of insensitivity. If diode limiter, depicted in Fig. 217a, is connected in series with input impedance of operational amplifier, then transmission factor of such block will change just as transmission factor of the section possessing zone of insensitivity changes (Fig. 211a). Combination of two diode limiter, one, in series with input impedance and the other, parallel to feedback impedance of operational amplifier, allows us to reproduce static characteristics of a section of a system of automatic control, possessing zones of insensitivity with simultaneous limitation of output magnitude in modulus.

たいで

トント

たいわうと言いうと



Fig. 221. Scheme for simulating a sone of insensitivity.

If in scheme of Fig. 221 we change magnitude of resistance R_1 , then it is possible to change steepness of voltage build-up at output and when $R_1 \rightarrow 0$ we can get practicully instantaneous build-up. With limitation of output voltage of subsequent block in Fig. 209a or the very same block in Fig. 220 it is possible to reproduce characteristic of a relay with restoration coefficient, equal to one (Fig. 221b).

<u>Simulation of transmission gaps</u>. For reproduction of static characteristics of a section. containing a gap in kinematic circuit, there should be routed components, reproducing the area of insensitivity, and also devices keeping constant the value of output coordinate with change of direction of motion of driving component until the whole gap of the kinematic circuit is taken out. Upon such consideration they usually assume that the driven component does not possess a moment of inertia, but is under influence of small moment of griction, as a consequence of which it keeps its position, antedating change of direction of motion of master component.



Fig. 222. Simulating gaps in transmissions.

In the scheme of Fig. 222a as the memory component there is used an operational amplifier with capacitor in feedback circuits and at input. Transmission of such decisive amplifier will be:

$$K = -\frac{C_1}{C_2}.$$
 (13.2)

When we disconnect the input circuit output voltage keeps its previous value thanks to very slow discharge of capacitor C_2 . Capacitor C_1 with accuracy up to e_3 always is charged to voltage $e_{11} = 1$ and therefore automatically, ensures

-407-

secondary switching on of circuit with decrease of input voltage by a magnitude, equal to 2 .

のの日本であるというというです。

きないというである。「きましい」

Scheme of Fig. 222b is built on principle of servo system. Input magnitude here is compared with output on first operational amplifier. In the strengthening errors amplification channel are connected in series a diode limiter, switching on the circuit only when input magnitude exceeds output by magnitude $\pm \epsilon$, and an integrating operational amplifier with a large amplification factor, at whose output voltage is preserved during breaking of the channel of error amplification by diode limiter. In number of operational amplifiers the diagram of Fig. 22a is more economical. To decrease error of first diagram due to resistance, introduced by diode limiter to input of first operational amplifier, one should decrease capacitance of capacitors utilized in this circuit.

With help of these diagrams it is possible also approximately to reproduce characteristics of steady-state mode of a section, possessing magnetic hystoresis.*

Simulation of static relay characteristics. A scheme for reproduction of static relay characteristics taking inot account restoration coefficient shown in Fig. 223a (B. Ya. Kogan [4]). It consists of two operational amplifiers 1 and 2 with limiters in feedback circuit, changing like relays output voltage with change of sign of input voltage, and one summing amplifier 3. In absence of input signal due to constant voltages $+U_0$ and $-U_0$ fed to inputs of amplifiers 1 and 2, on cutput of summing amplifier voltage turns out to be equal to zero. When with growth of input voltage polarity of total voltage changes, for example at input of amplifier 1, then on output of summing amplifier 3 there will appear with a jump voltage 22. Part of this voltage, taken from the divider, moves in the form of positive feedback to input of amplifiers 1 and 2. Therefore, with decrease of input signal

*For scheme of modeling of family of static hysteresis loops see article of V. G. Vasil'yev, V. A. Zverev [1].



Fig. 223. Schemes for simulating static relay characteristics.

change of sign of output voltage of amplifier 1 occurs now with a value of $e_{xx} = U_0$, but with a value of $e_{xx} = U_0 - U_{\Delta}$. The lower part of the scheme works analogously with opposite on input signal.

On oscillograms of Fig. 224a are shown dependences of e_{uut} on e_{uu} , received with the help of considered scheme for various values of U_0 , E and U_{Δ} . In Fig. 223b is presented a diagram of modeling of static relay characteristics on two operational amplifiers, offered by A. I. Manukhin [1]. Reduction of number of operational amplifiers here is attained by limitation of possibilities of the circuit. U_{Δ} here can change from 0 to 4 v, U_0 from 0 to 6 v and 2E from 24 to 100 v.

Combination of a relay element and memory unit in the form of integrating amplifier in a circuit with negative feedback (C. A. Meneley [1]) allows us to reproduce approximately the static characteristic of a linear potentiometric pickup

-409-











Fig. 225. Characteristic of potentiometric pickup taking into account step nature of potentiometer and fundamental circuit of its electronic model. KEY: (a) Relay element.

Ş-

*

FL

In Fig. 225 is shown fundamental circuit of such a device. Depending upon form of characteristic of relay element (I or II in Fig. 225) it is possible approximately to model the step nature of potentionster accordingly without calculation or taking into accout the gap in kinematics of the cursor drive.

Relay element can be made in various ways: by thyratrons, neon tubes or more accurately by the diagram of Fig. 223 (See N. A. Shnaydman [3]).

The connection between parameters of the diagram, the characteristic of the

step are given by relationships:#

$$(\Delta e_{ost})_{1} = (\Delta e_{ost})_{2} - (\Delta e_{ost})_{2} = \dots = (\Delta e_{ost})_{n} = (U_{cp}) \frac{R_{11}}{R_{ost}},$$

$$(\Delta e_{out})_{1} = (\Delta e_{out})_{2} = \dots = (\Delta e_{out})_{n} = \frac{R_{19}}{R_{ost}} \frac{R_{11}}{R_{ost}}, (U_{cp}).$$

Speed of voltage build-up of a step will be

$$\left(\frac{de_{\text{evil}}}{de_{\text{ei}}}\right) = \frac{U_{\text{e}}}{\text{Step}} CR_{\text{e}}$$

Comparison of diagrams on Figs. 219, 220, 221, 222, 223 and 224, shows that for reproduction of typical nonlinearities of electronic elements of systems of automatic control it is sufficient to have a diode limiter and a certain number of usual operational amplifiers.

Let us consider as an example simulation of several typical nonlinear problems of automatic control on dc electronic analog computers.

Simulating relay system of automatic control. Equations of investigated systems are given in the form



$$\begin{array}{c} (p^2 + 2.5p + 1) x_2 = -kx_1, \\ x_1 = f(x_2). \end{array}$$
 (13.3)

Function $f(x_2)$ is given by graph (Fig. 226a). It is required to determine character of transients with initial conditions $x_2(0) = 1$, $x_2(0) = 0$ and various values of k, namely: k = 30k, k = 400, k = k = 200 and k = 100.

The setup diagram on model for given equations (13.3) is shown in Fig. 227. The dotted line circles that part of the diagram which reproduces the

*In these relationships the minus sign is omitted and it is taken that $U_{release} = 0$.

-111-

relay characteristic.

Equations for voltages for every block of the setup diagram will be:

$$U_{1} = -(K_{11}U_{0} + K_{12}z_{2}U_{3} + K_{12}z_{1}U_{2}),$$

$$U_{3} = -\frac{1}{p}K_{21}U_{1},$$

$$U_{3} = -\frac{1}{p}K_{21}U_{2},$$

$$U_{4} = -K_{41}U_{2},$$

$$U_{6} = f(U_{2}).$$

ŀ

P



Fig. 227. Functional diagram of similation of relay system of automatic control.

Solving the resulting system of equations for U_3 , which represents coordinate x_2 , we receive

$$U_{\lambda}(p^{2} + K_{ii}K_{ii}K_{ii}) = K_{ii}K_{ii}K_{ii}K_{ii}) = -K_{ii}K_{ii}K_{ii}f(U_{i}).$$

After transformation of variable $x_2 = M_{x_2}U_3$; $x_1 = M_{x_1}U_6$ we receive

$$s_2(p^2 + K_{21}K_{12}K_{41}z_1p + K_{21}K_{12}K_{12}z_2) = -M_{A_1}K_{22}K_{22}K_{11}/(\frac{R_1}{M_{p_1}}).$$

-412-

Comparing with initial equations and taking that $M_{x_1} = \frac{x_1(0)}{U_0} = \frac{1}{10} = 0.1$ and $M_{x_1} = M_{x_1}$, we have

$$K_{21}K_{11}K_{41}z_{1} = 2.5, \quad K_{21}K_{31}K_{32}z_{2} = 1, \quad \frac{M_{z_{1}}}{M_{z_{1}}}K_{21}K_{31}K_{11} = k, \\ K_{21}K_{31}K_{11} = k, \\ U_{4} = f(U_{3}), \quad U_{3} = \frac{\pi_{2}}{M_{z_{1}}}.$$

Dependence $U_6 = f(U_3)$ with the taken numerical values of scale is shown in Fig. 226b.

Since coefficient k significantly differs from remaining coefficients and thereby causes difficulty during setup (possibility of output of blocks beyond the limits of linearity), it is expedient to introduce a time scale.

If one sets $t = \frac{1}{3}\tau$, then initial equations will take the form

$$\frac{d^{2}x_{1}}{dt^{2}} = -0.835 \frac{dx_{1}}{dt} - 0.111x_{2} - \frac{k}{9}x_{1}$$

Now transmission factors of separate blocks can be determined from relationships:

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{K}_{21}\mathcal{K}_{13}\mathcal{K}_{41}z_1 = 0.835, \\ & \mathcal{K}_{21}\mathcal{K}_{33}\mathcal{K}_{12}z_2 = 0.111, \\ & \mathcal{K}_{21}\mathcal{K}_{31}\mathcal{K}_{11} = \frac{4}{9}. \end{split}$$

Values of every transmission factor for various k are brought in the following table.

Table	X
-------	---

•	.	K ,	r ,	K _b	K.	x.	•	•
IN	8,4)	0.25	0.15		1	1	OAX	0.111
AU Ð	11 10	0,25	0.25	•	ł	1	0.835	0,111
300	\$.56	0.25	0.25	+	1	1	(0.8.1)	0,111
IUD	278	0.25	0.25	•	1	1	0.835	0,111





In Fig. 226 a, b, c, d are given oscillograms of transicuts for various k. Comparison of results from oscillograms with data .: calculation, by pointwise transformation,* are shown in this table:

*Calculation by I. M. Smirnova (a--amplitude of cocillations).

. . . .

TONTA VI	T/	b 1		I
----------	----	------------	--	---

(a) Repourty	(b) .	(c) .	(b). pers	(c).
304	۵,61	13,6	1,07	1,05
400	16,4	16,4	1,13	1,07
200	9,75	9,1	1,00	1,02
100	-	-	-	-

KEY: (a) Parameter; (b) Calculated; (c) Experimental.



THH

Fig. 229. Phase portraits of relay system of automatic control.

From comparison of data of the table can see sufficiently well coincidence of calculating and experimental values. A picture of phase plane, photographed from screen of cathode-ray oscilloscope for three values k = 304, 400 and 100 and various initial conditions, is shown in Fig. 229a, b, c.

Results of experiment confirm presence of a stable limit cycle when k = 400, 304 and 200.

<u>Simulation electro-hydraulic serve argien</u> with calculation for limitation of current of frame of electromechanical converter. In Fig. 230 is brought the fundamental circuit of electro-hydraulic serve system, used in device, intended for conversion of output voltage of electronic model into angle of rotation of platform (V. A. Khokhlov [1]). Such converters are required in a number of cases of simulation with elements of the control loop.

-415-

Equation of motion of separate elements of diagram on the assumption that load of hydraulic servomotor is small and nonlinearity is developed only in limitation of current of electromechanical converter, will be:

equation of hydraulic servomotor

$$T_{tw} \frac{dq}{dt} = k_{tw} - k_{tw}, \qquad (13.4)$$

where φ is angle of rotation of servessotor, ρ_1 is displacement of value, k_{re} is proportionality factor:

equation of motion of valve with hydraulic amplifier

$$T_1 \frac{d\gamma_1}{dt} + \gamma_2 = \gamma.$$
 (13.5)

where T_1 is time constant, and ρ is dislocation of needle of hydraulic amplifier;



Fig. 230. Fundamental circuit of electro-hydraulic serve system. 1--electromechanical converter, 2---potentiometer of setting of table, 3---hydraulic amplifier, 4--pickup of speed, 5---potentiometer of feedback, 6---hydraulic actuator, 7---discharge.

equation of electromechanical converter (.elay)

$$T_{1}\frac{d\gamma}{dt} + T_{1}\frac{d\gamma}{dt} + \mu = k_{\mu}t_{\mu}.$$
 (13.6)

where I_y --current of control in relay coil, variable within limits $A < I_y < A$, K_p is proportionality factor, T_2 , T_3 are time constants;

equation of electronic amplifier

$$I_{y} = S_{y} \left[e_{0x} - k_{ux} \left(1 + T_{4} \frac{dz}{dt} + T_{1}^{2} \frac{d^{2} \varphi}{dt^{2}} \right) \right]. \qquad (13.7)$$

where S_y is steepness of amplifier, k_{oc} -feedback factor, T_4 , T_5 are time constants of differentiating circuits with respect to first and second derivatives.

Problem consists of finding influence of limitation of control current on the transient in the system with the following numerical parameters:

 $T_{rw} = 1.16 \text{ sec.} \quad k_{rw} = 105 \ 1/c.u, \quad T_1 = 0.38 \cdot 10^{-2} \text{ sec.}$ $T_2 = 0.15 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ sec}^2, \quad T_3 = 0.18 \cdot 10^{-2} \text{ sec.} \quad k_p = 0.13 \cdot 10^{-2} \ c.u/ua.$ $S_y = 12.8 \ ua/a, \quad k_{ac} = 57.3 \ v/deg, \quad -50 \ ua < l_y < 50 \ ua.$ $T_4 = 20 \cdot 10^{-2} \text{ sec.} \quad T_5^2 = 0.8 \cdot 10^{-5} \text{ sec}^2.$

Functional diagram of setup of these equations is shown in Fig. 231. Taking scales of representation of initial variable

$$M_{1} = M_{1} = 0.1$$
, $M_{1} = 0.1$, $M_{2} = M_{3} = 0.1$ and $M_{1} = 11$,

we receive transmission factors of separate computer blocks:

$$K_{11} = 9.5, \quad K_{12} = 10, \quad K_{13} = 1.2, \quad K_{21} = 10, \quad K_{31} = 6.67, \\ K_{41} = 4, \quad K_{42} = 26.3, \quad K_{51} = 9.05, \quad K_{61} = 6.73, \quad K_{62} = 6.73, \\ K_{63} = 1, \quad K_{21} = 1.$$



Fig. 231. Punctional diagram of simulation of electrohydraulic servo system.

Results of oscilloscoping transients during step change of input signal are shown in Fig. 232a, b accordingly for a linear problem and taking into account limitation of current I_y . Oscillograms show noticeable lowering of speed of reaching steady-state value with limitation of current.

It is necessary to indicate that during construction of converting devices large difficulties arise, caused by the fact that natural parameters of the device must not distort processes of adjustment, obtained in the simulation. Therefore, the transmission band of the converter should be at least one order wider than the transmission band of the investigated system.



Fig. 232. Oscillograms of processes of adjustment in electro-hydraulic serve system, obtained during simulation.

At present converters are constructed on the basis of a servo system, converting voltage into angle of rotation, voltage into angular velocity of rotation of platform and, finally, in the form of a model of physical analogy, converting voltage of model into moment acting on shaft of a mechanical system with one degree of freedom. One example of a converter, based on combined use of enumerated principles, is

2. <u>Simulation of Systems of Automatic Control with</u> Typical Nonlinearities in Inertial Elements

<u>Simulation taking into account limitation of coordinates</u>. During simulation of limitations of coordinates of electronic elements (for example, limitation of output voltage of electronic amplifier) it makes no difference where the amplifier is coupled in, at input, output or in feedback circuit of operational amplifier.



Fig. 233. Diagram of electro-hydraulic servo system, from book of G. Korn and T. Korn [1]. 1--pickup of input signal, 2--potentiometric pickup of miamatch, 3-feedback, 4--load, 5--servomotor, 6--converter, 7--amplifier, 8--valve.

Completely otherwise stands the matter during reproduction of limitations of coordinates in inertial elements. For example let us consider simulation of the hydraulic actuating mechanism of the serve system, described in the book of G. Korn and T. Korn [1]. Equation of motion of this actuating mechanism (Fig. 233) in linearized form will be:

a) for electronic amplifier

$$U = k_1 \delta; \tag{13.8}$$

b) for electromechanical converter (relay, solemoid, etc)

$$(T_{2}p+1)a = k_{1}U;$$
 (13.9)

-419-

c) for value

$$(T_4 T_3 \rho^2 + T_3 \rho + 1)\rho = k_3 r_3$$
(13.10)

d) for servomotor

$$T_{s}px = k_{s}p. \tag{13.11}$$

In reality corrdinates U, ρ and x cannot change infinitely. Thanks to finite value of voltage of power supplies and load output voltage of amplifier can change linearly only within limits A_1 U (A. That is to limited productivity of oil pump and finite area of apertures, covered by value, $A_2 \leq \rho \leq A_2$ and, consequently, speed px, developed by piston, will also be limited. Also limited will be movement of piston $x (-A_3 \leq x \leq A_3)$.

After coordinates U, ρ and x reach limits, these equations of motion become invalid. Assuming that vibration in mounts does not occur and limitations of coordinates do not set on simultaneously, we arrive at the following possible cases:

1.
$$(T_{3}p + 1)a = k_{2}A_{1},$$

 $(T_{4}T_{3}p^{2} + \frac{1}{3}p + 1)p = k_{3}a,$
 $T_{5}px = k_{5}p$
2. $U = k_{1}\delta,$
 $(T_{2}p + 1)a = k_{2}U,$
 $pp = 0, p = A_{2},$
 $T_{5}px = k_{5}A_{2}$
3. $U = k_{1}\delta,$
 $(T_{2}p + 1)a = k_{2}U,$
 $T_{5}px = k_{5}A_{2}$
3. $U = k_{1}\delta,$
 $(T_{2}p + 1)a = k_{2}U,$
 $(T_{4}T_{3}p^{2} + T_{3}p + 1)p = k_{3}a,$
 $px = 0,$
 $x = A_{3}$
when $|k_{1}\delta| < A_{1},$
 $|k_{3}a| < A_{2},$
 $\frac{k_{1}}{T_{5}} \left| \int_{0}^{L} p \, dt \right| > A_{3},$

It is obvious that during simulation it is necessary to have the possibility of reproducing all enumerated cases. Frequently, they disregard such detailed recording of equations, as a result of which they allow incorrectness into solution of the problem. In Fig. 234a is shown setup diagram of computer blocks of the model, brought in the mentioned book of G. Korn and T. Korn, for solution of the placed problem.

From analysis of this diagram it follows that after working of the output limiter integrating amplifiers 4 and 5 will continue to integrate input signals, and up to moment of reverse movement of servomotor on these integrators there can be established voltage of any magnitude (within limits of linearity). These voltages will represent initial conditions with respect to coordinates $\frac{d_2}{dt}$ and φ for reverse movement and will lead to motions of system, in principle differing from those, which should take place in reality.

In Fig. 234b is shown a diagram of simulation, without the indicated deficiencies. Limitation of the coordinate of the inertial element here is attained by forced conversion to zero of its speed by means of short-circuiting the feedback circuit of the corresponding operational amplifier. For every limited coordinate here there are introduced two additional units: a comparator and a unit of the sign of acceleration. For the purpose of greatest graphicness for commutation, in the circuit there are used electromagnetic and polarized relays (CP). Analogous commutation when indispensable can be fulfilled on diode keys.

<u>Simulating an inertial actuating mechanism taking into account dry friction</u> <u>on output shaft</u>. Dry friction in an electronic element usually is reproduced by the same circuits, which are used for obtaining the static characteristic of clearance.

For an inertial element such an approach leads to incorrect results. As it is known, equation of inertail actuating mechanism taking into account moment of freiction on output shaft can be reduced to the form

$$(T_{P}+1) = k_{\sigma} - \frac{1}{e} M_{v_{P}} \operatorname{sign} =$$

$$(vhen = \neq 0 \text{ or if } = 0. \text{ but } |k_{\sigma}| > \frac{1}{e} M_{v_{P}}).$$

$$(13.12)$$
and
$$x = \operatorname{const}$$

$$(vhen = 0 + |k_{\sigma}| < \frac{1}{e} M_{v_{P}}).$$

-421-


いたちの日間になったいというからいで



Fig. 234. Functional diagram of simulation of CAP of Fig. 233.

Here T is time constant of actuating mechanism, x is output coordinate of actuating mechanism, ω is speed of output shaft, σ is control signal, k--ampli-fication factor, M_{TD} is moment of dry friction, ϵ is coefficient of self-levelling.

Moment of friction when $\omega = 0$ is equal in modulus and opposite in direction to total effective moment k_2 as lond as the latter does not excel limit value $\frac{1}{4}M_{TP}$.

In Fig. 235a is brought diagram of solution of this equation on a model. Until the input signal is less than voltage, which represents friction U_{TP} , the circuit works as a unique relay serve system. Operational amplifier 2 here reproduces the relay characteristic. Indeed, with output voltage $|U_2| < |\mathcal{E}|$ gain factor of amplifier due to breaking of feedback is very great and the least change of input signal leads to appearance at output of signal +E or -E depending upon sign of input signal. If the input signal determines speed, then output signal of such block will

-422-



represent moment of friction.

「大学の大学

1.1

Output voltage of first block, which is the mismatch signal of the considered servo system, will be minute (since gain factor of subsequent block is very great), and, therefore, as long as $U_{\sigma} < U_{T,p}$, $U_{\omega} = 0$, and consequently, $U_{T,p}$ in magnitude will follow U_{σ} .

After signal U_g exceeds value of U_{ip min}, the latter does not change further and processes in system occur in accordance with given equation for constant value of U_{ip min}. For removal of natural oscillations, appearing in circuit of model during work in mode of relay servo system, one must connect in feedback circuit of operational amplifier 2 small capacitance of order C = 300 pf.

In Fig. 235b, c are brought oscillograms of change of separate voltages in the circuit of Fig. 235a when time constant is T = 1 sec and 0.4 milliseconds. The last case takes place during calculation of dry friction, for example, in low-inertia sensor of a regulator.

As an example let us consider simulation of the system of automatic control of speed of steam turbine taking into account friction in value of servomotor.*

During investigation of the system of automatic control of speed of steam turbine on stand in the VTI (All Union "Order of Red Banner of Labor" Scientific Research Institute of Heat Engineering in name of F. E. Deershinskiy) there were revealed natural oscillations of the control system in the presence of friction, artificially introduced in sensor of control circuit bith diagonal coupling. There was formulated the problem of reproducing these phenomena on an electronic model and of investigating influence of magnitude of introduced friction on character of transients, amplitude and frequency of natural oscillations.

Equations, which describe motion of investigated system of automatic control,

"Work on simulation of this CAP is being conducted by the author with G. A. Kirokomyants.

according to the data of VTI have form:

equation of sensor

$$T_k \frac{d\eta}{dt} + \eta = \mu + \varphi - |r| \operatorname{sign} \left(\frac{d\eta}{dt} \right); \qquad (13.13)$$

equation of valve

$$e = -\eta;$$
 (13.14)

equation of servomotor

$$T_{e}\frac{d\mu}{dt} = 2; \qquad (13.15)$$

equation of controlled process

$$T_a \frac{dq}{dt} + 27 = (1 - 2)\mu.$$
 (13.16)

where η is coordinate of sensor, μ is coordinate of servomotor σ is coordinate of valve, φ is regulated magnitude (speed), α is coefficient of self-levelling, Γ is force of dry friction, T_{μ} , T_{μ} , T_{μ} are time constants of system.

Equations are given in relative magnitudes.

Functional setup diagram of these equations on electronic model is shown in Fig. 236. For reproduction of friction we use the earlier considered circuit. The connection between transmission factors of separate blocks and coefficients of differential equations is determined from equations:

$$\frac{1}{T_{0}} = K_{13}K_{31}K_{21}, \quad \frac{1}{T_{0}}|r| = K_{31}K_{11}K_{21}U_{1p},$$

$$\frac{1}{T_{0}} = K_{11}K_{21}M_{p}, \quad \frac{1}{T_{0}} = K_{51}M_{p},$$

$$\frac{1}{T_{c}} = K_{41}B_{0}M_{p}, \quad \frac{1-1}{T_{0}} = K_{52}-K_{61}M_{p},$$

$$\frac{1}{T_{0}} = K_{12}K_{21}M_{p},$$

-425-

On oscillograms of Fig. 237 for illustration of received results there are brought transients in system at initial value of coordinates $\varphi(0) = -1$, $\eta(0) = 0$, $\mu(0) = 1$ and values of parameters $T_k = 0.22$ sec; $T_c = 0.3$ sec, $\alpha = 0.316$, $T_a = 0.41$ sec, $H_{\mu} = 1.16$, $H_{\psi} = 2.3 \beta_{\mu} = 0.92$ without and with of frictional force r = 0.1.





Fig. 237. Oscillograms of transients in system of automatic control of speed of steam turbine. a) for linearised system, b) with calculation for dry friction in valve of servomotor.

As follows from the oscillograms, with these values of parameters of system and its structure friction in sensor leads to appearance of natural oscillations and considerably worsens quality of process.

Simulation of inertial actuating mechanism taking into account gaps in kinematic circuit, inertial load and friction on output shaft. Let us consider equation of motion of actuating mechanism, in which motor is coupled with regulating unit by means of gear transmissesion, possessing clearance (Fig. 238). We will also consider inertia of the regulated unit and moment of load, created by it on output shaft of reductor.* Equation of motion of such dynamic system will vary depending upon whether there is selected a gap in transmission or not.

*As far as this author knows, simulation of such a problem was first considered by A. A. Fel'dbaum [4]; see also A. A. Fel'dbaum and S. P. Omufryuk [1]. Take the following designations: J_1 is given moment of inertia of driving shaft, J_2 is moment of inertia of driven shaft, \mathbf{i}_1 is coordinate of driving shaft, \mathbf{i}_2 is coordinate of driven shaft axis, \mathbf{i} is gap of transmission, M_{10} is moment, developed by motor of actuating mechanism on driving shaft, \mathbf{M} is counteracting moment, developed by load (in particular case this can be moment of dry friction).



Fig. 238. Toward deriving equations (12.21). 1--motor of actuating mechanism, 2--reductor, 3--regulated unit.

Breaking of system due to presence of transmission clearance will take place whenever $|\delta_1 - \delta_2| < \frac{4}{2}$. Here equations of motion of driving and driven elements will be independent:

$$J_1 \frac{M_1}{4M} = M_{\mu}.$$
 (13.17)

$$J_2 \frac{d^2 n_1}{dt^2} = -M_0. \tag{13.18}$$

When gap is selected $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta$, system will move as a whole. Here we will receive

$$(J_1 + J_2) \frac{dn}{dt^2} = M_{ab} - M_{a}. \tag{13.19}$$

During solution of this problem on a simulator it is possible to use two different methods. Introducing for consideration moment of reaction of driven element to driving and of driving to driven^{*} (suggested by A. A. Pel'dbaum) it is possible to preserve recording of equation of motion of considered system in the form of system of two equations both for motion in some of gap, and for motions with

*Physically this moment of reaction can be treated as a moment of elastic strains, appearing in reductor during transmission of moving moment to load. selected gap. In another method of solution of problem transition from system of two independent equations (13.17) and (13.18) to equation (13.19) is carried out automatically with departure from clearance limits.

Determining in first case moment Mo as

$$M_{0} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{a} \left(\mathbf{i}_{1} - \mathbf{i}_{2} - \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2} \right) \text{ when } |\mathbf{i}_{1} - \mathbf{i}_{2}| > \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}, \quad \mathbf{i}_{1} > 0, \\ 0 \qquad \text{when } |\mathbf{i}_{1} - \mathbf{i}_{2}| < \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}, \quad (13.20) \\ \mathbf{a} \left(\mathbf{i}_{1} - \mathbf{i}_{2} + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2} \right) \text{ when } |\mathbf{i}_{1} - \mathbf{i}_{2}| > \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}, \quad \mathbf{i}_{1} < 0, \end{cases}$$

we write equations of motion of considered actuating mechanism in t - form

$$J_{1} \frac{d^{2} h_{1}}{dt^{2}} = M_{m} - M_{0}.$$

$$J_{2} \frac{d^{2} h_{2}}{dt^{2}} = M_{0} - ... I_{n}.$$
(13.21)



Pig. 239. Punctional diagram of similation of processes in inertial elements containing gaps.

Thus, problem of simulation of inertial actuating mechanism in the presence of gap in transmission boils down to solution of system of nonlinear equations, into which there enters nonlinear function M_{\odot} (determined by relationship (13.20)). When $M_{\odot} = 0$ (motion in some of gap), system of investigated equations becomes free, and when $M_{\odot} \neq 0$ it is connected. Nonlinear function M_{\odot} as it were commutates system of equations (13.21). Forming of this function is most conveniently carried out by two operational amplifiers, united in series with diode elements.

Fig. 239 is brought complete diagram of simulation of considered problem.

series with diode elements.

In Fig. 239 is brought complete diagram of simulation of considered problem. It differs from that offered by A. A. Feld'baum only in smaller number of operational amplifiers and coverage of diodes \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_3 by a feedback circuit. The latter pursue the goal of decreasing error, caused by nonl'mearity of volt-ampere characteristic of diodes with small plate voltages. Diodes \mathcal{I}_1 and \mathcal{A}_4 coupled in circuit of auxiliary feedback of amplifiers 3 and 6, serve to switch in this feedback during break of main diodes \mathcal{A}_3 and \mathcal{A}_4 . This ensures prese vation of voltage at summing points of operational amplifiers 3 and 6 in all regimes at a very low level and allows us to receive output voltage in blocks 3 and 6 practically equal to zero when diodes \mathcal{A}_3 and \mathcal{A}_4 are locked.

When motion is in the some of clearance $(\delta_1 - \delta_2 - \frac{4}{2} < 0 \text{ or } \delta_1 - \delta_2 + \frac{4}{3} > 0)$, diodss \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_4 are locked and \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_3 are unlocked and variables δ_1 and

is change independently (accordingly under the influence only of H ... and H.).

Outside the clearance some $\left|\left|\delta_{1}-\delta_{2}\right| \geq \frac{1}{2}\right)$ depending upon direction of rotation either diode \mathcal{A}_{1} , or diode \mathcal{A}_{1} opens and the circuit as a whole should reproduce equation (13.19).



Fig. 240. Equivalent scheme for limit case of Fig. 239.

In Fig. 240 is depicted diagram of model for that limit case under the condition that $\beta_1 > 0$. With change of direction of motion ($-\beta_1 < 0$) diagram of Fig. 240 in structure remains as before, but in it operational amplifier 3 should be replaced by operational amplifier 6 together with connected input impedances.

We will find those limitations, which it is necessary to put on parameters of diagram (Fig. 240), so that transients in it are described by equation (13.19). Output voltage of amplifier 3 taking into account switched in feedback circuit of integrators can be writted in the form

$$U_{8} = -\frac{U_{6} \frac{Y_{30}}{Y_{31}} T_{12} T_{21} p^{2} + U_{M_{22}} - U_{c} \frac{Y_{13}}{Y_{31}} T_{12} T_{21} p^{2}}{\frac{Y_{31} + Y_{32} - Y_{32}}{Y_{31}} \frac{Y_{12} T_{21}}{Y_{31}} p^{2} + 1}$$
(13.22)

where $T_{12} = R_{12}C$, $T_{21} = R_{21}C$, $Y_{33} = \frac{1}{R_{31}}$, $Y_{32} = \frac{1}{R_{33}}$, $Y_{33} = \frac{1}{R_{31}}$.

With sufficiently large gain factor K_3 , when in working range of frequencies the following is valid

$$\left|\frac{Y_{31}+Y_{30}+Y_{33}}{Y_{31}}\cdot\frac{T_{12}T_{31}}{K_3}\omega^2\right|\ll 1.$$

expression (13.22) can, with accuracy sufficient for practice be presented in the form

$$U_{2} = -U_{4} \frac{Y_{21}}{Y_{21}} T_{12} T_{21} p^{2} - U_{M_{22}} + U_{\frac{4}{3}} \frac{Y_{13}}{Y_{21}} T_{12} T_{21} p^{2}.$$
(13.23)

Equation, connecting output voltage of fifth block with input of fourth, will be

$$U_{5} = \frac{1}{T_{51}P^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{T_{41}} U_{3} + \frac{1}{T_{42}} U_{M_{0}} \right).$$
 (13.24)

where

$$T_{s1} = R_{s1}C, \quad T_{41} = R_{41}C, \quad T_{45} = R_{45}C.$$

In the model, presented in Fig. 240, voltage U_5 represents output coordinate $\frac{1}{2}$.* Therefore, equations (13.23) and (13.24), describing processes in considered circuit should be solved for voltage U_5 .

After excluding U3 and transition to originals taking into account that

 $U_{\frac{1}{2}} = const, we receive$

$$\left(1+\frac{T_{12}T_{31}}{T_{41}T_{51}}\frac{Y_{32}}{Y_{31}}\right)\frac{d^2U_3}{dt^2}=-\left(\frac{1}{T_{41}T_{51}}U_{M_{22}}-\frac{1}{T_{42}T_{51}}U_{M_{12}}\right).$$
 (13.25)

#With opposite sign.

Assuming T = T and considering that scales k_M of input magnitudes are 41 43selected identical, i.e., $U_{M_{10}} = k_M \cdot M_{av}$, and $U_{M_{10}} = k_M \cdot M_{av}$, we will receive

$$\left(T_{41} \cdot T_{51} + T_{12}T_{21}\frac{Y_{12}}{Y_{21}}\right)\frac{d^2l_{s_1}}{dl^2} = k_{M}(M_{AB} - M_{B}).$$
(13.26)

So that equation (13.26) is identical to equation (13.19), it is necessary, that when $U_s = -\frac{1}{3}d_s$ we have

$$\frac{Y_{10}}{Y_{01}} = \frac{Y_{01}}{Y_{00}} = 1; \quad k_5 T_{41} T_{51} = k_M J_2; \quad k_5 T_{12} T_{21} = k_M J_1.$$

where k₅ is scale factor of output magnitude.

Main deficiency of presented method of solution is inclination of circuit of model to generate undamped oscillations. Indeed, considering circuit of Fig. 240 in the form of one amplifier with complicated feedback, we can verify that in its circuit for a finite value of gain factor there must appear undamped oscillations. If one were to consider that gain factor K_3 is not a constant magnitude, and by force of inertness of the amplifier represents a certain function of frequency, then the possibility of loss of stability will become evident. Presence of undamped oscillations leads to distortion of transmission of signals of main process of adjustment. Use of usual methods of removal of these oscillations leads to lowering upper limit of frequencies of signals, developed without distortion in such simulation of the investigated servo system.

In connection with this it is useful to consider another method of solution of the formulated problem, in which simultaneously on models there is not reproduced the main process of adjustment and oscillations, caused by elastic deformations in transmission, but there is carried out automatically transition from one differential equations (13.17) and (13.18) to another (13.19) and back depending upon state gap in transmissions.

If Fig. 241a is presented a complete fundamental circuit of the model, necessary during solution of problem by the considered method. In circuit are shown whose

-431-

sw to cl ke of ti

No. of the second se

いいののないないないないで、これのないで

switching operations, which provide transition from equation (13.17) and (13.18) to equation (13.19) and vice versa. These operations are executed by normallyclosed diode keys K_1 , K_2 , K_3 and normally open ones K_4 and K_5 . Change of state of key is car.ied out by commutating voltage $\pm U_k$, appearing every time after selection of gap in transmission. With appearance of commutating voltage occurs cross-connoction of input voltages to blocks 1 and 4 and disconnection of block 5 from block 4. Simultaneously, with this transmission factor of blocks 1 and 4 increases which reproduces increase of general moment of inertia of system due to moment of inertia of output axis.

So that after selection of clearance we have equality $\delta_1 = \delta_2$, in the circuit is an additional sixth block, forming circuit of negative feedback for blocks 5 and 3. Selecting great gain factor of this circuit (by decrease of R_{52}), it is possible to achieve satisfactory accuracy of tracking. Voltage $U_{M_{MB}}$ is fed to block 4 so that at output of this block after selection of clearance we receive voltage, proportional to δ_2 . This voltage during reverse input in zone of clearance serves as voltage of initial conditions and ensures, thereby, correct repeated union of blocks 4 and 5.

Fundamental circuit of normally-closed diode key, shunting input impedance of operational amplifiers is shown in Fig. 241b. From this diagram it is possible to obtain the diagram of normally closed key K₃. With change of polarity of voltages $U_{\rm k}$ and U_{∞} , we obtain diagram of keys K₄ and K₅.

Impedances of normally-closed key are selected from relationships: in absence of commutating voltage

$$\pm U_{on}Y_{13} \mp e_{os}\max Y_{11} \leq 0, \qquad (13.27)$$

in the presence of commutating voltage

$$\mp U_{\rm s} Y_{\rm H} \pm U_{\rm es} Y_{\rm H} \pm e_{\rm ex} mes} Y_{\rm H} \ge 0.$$
 (13.28)

Hence

Iſ

$$Y_{13} \ge \frac{\sigma_{\text{ex}\,\text{max}}}{U_{ee}} Y_{11}, \quad Y_{14} \ge Y_{13} \frac{U_{ee}}{U_{e}} + \frac{\sigma_{\text{ex}\,\text{max}}}{U_{e}} Y_{11} \ge \frac{\sigma_{\text{ex}\,\text{max}}}{U_{e}} 2Y_{11},$$
$$U_{ee} = \pm 30 \, \text{V}, \quad \sigma_{\text{ex}\,\text{max}} = U_{x} = \pm 100 \, \text{V}, \quad \text{then}$$
$$Y_{13} = \frac{10}{3} Y_{11}, \quad Y_{14} = 2Y_{11}.$$



Fig. 241. Diagram of simulation of processes in inertial elements with gap, based on application of electronic keys. KEY: (a) Output.

Conductance Y_{11} usually is determined from required values of transmission factor of block in every position of key. Let there be given two required values of transmission factors of block K_1 and K_2 accordingly for closed and opened state of key. Then

$$K_{1} = \frac{Y_{\text{NC}}}{Y_{1}} = 2 \frac{Y_{11}}{Y_{2}} + \frac{Y_{12}}{Y_{2}}$$
$$K_{2} = \frac{Y_{12}}{Y_{2}}.$$

Hence

$$Y_{11} = Y_2 \frac{K_1 - K_2}{2}. \tag{13.29}$$

Considered examples of simulation of certain nonlinear problems also give an

idea of methods of simulating problems of adjustment, requiring realization of automatic transition from certain equations to others, differing not only in coefficients, but also in structure. Apparently, presented methods may also be used for realization of automatic transition of a CAP from one law of adjustment to another depending upon phase and nature of the transient.

その時にも、「「「「「「「「」」」を見たいできた。

3. Examples of Solution of Nonlinear Problems of Automatic Control

During investigation of systems of automatic control by electronic models it is possible to obtain not only particular solutions, correct for the given numerical values of parameters, but also, which is very valuable, to reveal the total picture of possible motions for givne structure of the system and, thus, to make recommendations on selection of parameters. Let us consider the method of formulating such investigations with two examples of very simple systems of industrial control.*

As the first example let us consider system of automatic control of inertial object of first order, regulated by relay astatic regulator. Here we will assume presence of delay τ in transmission of controller action. In these conditions considered system of automatic control is described by following system of differential equations:

$$T_0 \frac{d\varphi}{dt} + \varphi = k_{\mu} (t - \tau), \quad \frac{d\mu}{dt} = f(\varphi). \tag{13.30}$$

where T_0 is time constant of object, k_0 is amplification factor of object, τ is time lag, μ is controlling action, φ is controlled variable, and function $f(\gamma)$ is determined thus:

$$f(\varphi) = \begin{cases} 0 \text{ when } -\varphi_u \leqslant \varphi \leqslant \varphi_u. \\ \pm A \text{ when } \varphi > \varphi_u \text{ and } \varphi < -\varphi_u. \end{cases}$$

"These examples were considered by author on the advice of A. Ya. Lerner.



Fig. 242. Functional diagram of simulation of astatic relay system of automatic control with constant delay. for is delay block. Dotted line circles circuit, reproducing relay characteristics.

The problem is set in the following form: to find decomposition of plane of parameters of system k_0 and $\frac{\tau}{T_0}$ into regions with attenuating process and natural oscillations for various values of the zone of insensitivity of relay $\frac{\Psi_{\pi}}{T_{max}}$ ($\frac{\Psi_{\pi}}{T_{max}}$ is maximum value of controlled variable) and initial conditions $\varphi(0) \neq 0, \ \mu(0) = 0$,

Setup diagram is shown in Fig. 242. During simulation there was established a fixed value of magnitude A. Change of magnitude A is equivalent to change of k_0 . Magnitude T_0 for convenience was taken equal to 1.0 sec. Zone of insensitivity of relay was set equal to in $\frac{y_n}{\varphi(0)} = 0.1$ and 0.05. Zone of insensitivity is related to $\kappa \varphi(0)$, since experiment $\varphi(0) = \gamma_{max}$. Results of simulation for value $\varphi(0) =$ =1 is shown in Fig. 243a, and b. In Fig. 243a is brought decomposition of plane of characteristic parameters of system, and in Fig. 243b is the dependence of amplitude γ_{ex} and frequency f_{ex} of natural oscillation on $\frac{\pi}{T_e}$. These materials allow us to make selection of main parameters of valuable conclusions about properties of considered control system.

As a second example of simulation of control process let us consider the same object as in the preceding case, but with a proportional-pulse controller. Equations

-435-





describing process of adjustment in this case are:

のないとのないでのないのないのでしょう

$$T_{0} \frac{d\psi}{dt} + \psi = k_{0} \psi (t - \tau),$$

$$T_{c} \frac{d\mu}{dt} = f(\psi - \tau),$$

$$T_{u} \frac{d\tau}{dt} + \tau = \beta T_{u} \frac{d\mu}{dt},$$

(13.31)

where T_{c} is time constant of servomotor, * is coordinate of the driftless stabilizer T_{H} is time constant of the driftless stabilizer, β is proportionality factor of the driftless stabilizer. Operating characteristic of servomotor $f(\gamma - \epsilon)$ is given by graph of Fig. 244.



Fig. 244. Characteristic of actuating mechanism.

We find, as before, decomposition of plane of parameters of system k_0 and $\frac{1}{T_0}$ into values regions with stable self-excited and attenuating processes for two values of some of insensitivity of servomotor and various values of coefficient of the driftless stabilizer on the condition that $T_n = T_0$ (condition "tuned driftless stabilizer". A. A. Voronov [1]). Functional setup diagram is shown in Fig. 245. We take also $\frac{T_0}{T_c} = 10$, A = 1, tan $\psi = 1$ and $T_0 = 1$ sec. Change of magnitude A and tan $\frac{1}{2}$ ends to increase or decrease of general gain factor. Change of k_0 works in the same direction. In Fig. 246 are given results of conducted investigations. Oscillograms of Fig. 247a and b illustrate effect of introduction of a driftness stabilizer in considered system. As follows from these oscillograms, without a driftlers stabilizer in system impermissible natural oscillations is set. Introduction of the driftless stabiliser removes natural oscillation and ensures reduction of duration of transients approximately to one half-period of natural oscillations.



Fig. 245. Functional diagram of simulating a CAP by proportional-plus-floating controller. 53-delay block.

Investigation of transients in systems of automatic control with nonlinear damping. Lately nonlinear feedbacks have found wide application for improvement of quality of transients in systems of automatic control. However, calculation of transients in such systems, usually executed by approximate numerical methods, turns out to be very labor-consuming. We will show as an example determination of transients in such systems by a simulator.

In Fig. 248 is shown a serve system (See Dah. L'yuis [? Lewis or Louis] [1]), in which for improvement of quality of transients there is introduced additional damping, opposite in sign to signal of main damping and proportional to product of performance speed by the magnitude of error signal. In beginning of process, when error signal is great, additional damping considerably decreases total damping in system and, thereby, ensures maximum possible build-up speed of process. With decrease of error signal additional damping decreases and system is effectively braked.

If we disregard inductances of armsture and excitation coil of tachogenerator, and also the delay, introduced by amplifiers K_1 and K_2 , then equation of motion

-438-

of considered servo system can be reduced to the form

$$J_1 \frac{d^3 x_{0w1}}{dt^3} + A \frac{d x_{0w1}}{dt} + B(x_{0w1} - x_{00}) \frac{d x_{0w1}}{dt} + Dx_{0w1} = Dx_{00}$$
(13.32)



Fig. 246. Boundaries of regions with attenuating and divergent processes in plane of parameters k_0 and $\frac{1}{T_{c}}$ with various values of $\frac{1}{T_{c}}$. I-region of divergent oscillations, II-region of attenuating processes, I-L-boundary of unstable limit cycles.

Coefficients J_1 . A and B are determined by parameters of motor, tachogenerator and amplifiers.

Problem consists of determining character of transients in system for preselected parameters $\left(\frac{A}{J_i} = 8, \frac{B}{J_i} = 7.2, \frac{D}{J_i} = 15.2\right)$, step change of input signal $x_{j_i} = 1$ and zero initial conditions.

Functional setup diagram is shown in Fig. 249. Here to obtain identical effect during supplying and removal of perturbation into the multiplier there is introduced the modulus of error signal. Obtaining of modulus of variable is attained





.



...

K1 and Y2-amplifiers. r .. and rr, tachogenerators P---reductor,



by use of additional sign-inverting amplifier 6 and two diodes \mathcal{A}_{i} , \mathcal{A}_{i} , coupled by a scheme of full-wave rectification.

Equations of voltages for separate computing blocks of the functional diagram have the form:

$$U_{1} = \frac{1}{p} (K_{11}U_{0} + K_{12}U_{3} + K_{13}U_{3} + K_{14}U_{1}),$$

$$U_{2} = -\frac{1}{p} K_{21}U_{1},$$

$$U_{3} = -K_{31}U_{2},$$

$$U_{4} = -(K_{41}U_{2} + U_{6}K_{42}),$$

$$U_{5} = -\beta_{5}U_{1}U_{7},$$

$$U_{6} = -K_{61}U_{0},$$

$$U_{7} = |U_{4}|.$$

Solving this system of equations for voltage U_2 , representing in the circuit initial variable x_{exc} , we will receive

$$\frac{d^{3}U_{3}}{dt^{3}} + K_{14} \frac{dU_{1}}{dt} - K_{12}3_{5} |(K_{61} \cdot K_{42}U_{0} - K_{41}U_{2})| \frac{dU_{1}}{dt} + K_{13}K_{21}K_{21}U_{2} = K_{11}K_{21}U_{0}$$

Introducing transformation of variables $x_{sx} = M_{sx}U_{0}$, $x_{swx} = M_{swx}U_{2}$ and assuming $M_t = 1$, we will recieve after comparison with initial equation (12.32):

$$\frac{A}{J_1} = 8 = K_{14}, \quad \frac{B}{J_2} = 7.2 - \frac{K_{11}J_3K_{41}}{M_{0NII}},$$

$$\frac{K_{12}J_5K_{41}K_{42}M_{21dX}}{M_{0X}} = \frac{B}{J_1}, \quad \frac{D}{J_1} = 15.2 = K_{21} \cdot K_{13} \cdot K_{31} = K_{11} \cdot K_{21} \frac{M_{014X}}{M_{0X}},$$

Assuming $K_{41} = K_{42}$ and $K_{61} = 1$ and considering that $\beta_1 = \frac{1}{10}$, we select scales of presentation of variables. Having in mind best use of full scale of model, we let $x_{m_1} = 1$ be represented in installation by voltage $U_0 = 100$. Then $M_{m_1} = M_{m_{m_2}} = 0.01$. Here transmission of factors of blocks will be:

$$K_{11} = 8, \quad K_{61} = 1, \quad K_{21} = 3, \quad K_{11} = 5.07, \quad K_{51} = 5, \quad K_{11} = 1.01,$$

 $K_{11} = K_{42} = 1, \quad K_{12} = 0.72.$



Fig. 250. Transients in servo system: a) with linear damping and step input; b) with nonlinear damping and step input; c) with linear damping and sinusoidal input; d) with nonlinear damping and sinusoidal input.

In Fig. 250 are shown oscillograms of transients in the circuit for two cases: with supplying of unit perturbation a and b and with sinusoidal input c and d. As can be seen from the oscillograms, duration of transients in system with unit perturbation is reduced approximately to half of that with linear variant system, possessing fairly great damping.

With sinusoidal input there is attained certain decrease of phase shift, but

-442-

there appear significant conlinear distortions. The latter indicates once again the well-known fact that by reaction of monlinear system to unit perturbations one must not judge its behavior during perturbations of other types.

CHAPTER XIV

METHODS OF SIMULATING AUTOMATIC SYSTEMS WITH DYNAMIC RANGE OF CHANGE OF VARIABLE, EXCEEDING DYNAMIC RANGE OF ELECTRONIC MODEL

As is known, dynamic range of the best models of electonic analogs does not exceed 10^3 . However, in solving a number of problems of automation it is necessary to deal with cases, when range of change of variable considerably exceeds this figure. Among these cases one can mention solution of problem of moving a flying object into the some of self-guidance, processes of nuclear reactor startup, solution of certain problems of automation of chemical processes, etc. In solving these problems use of electronic models requires application of special methods. Of these methods one should mention: 1) decomposition of total interval of change of variables into subranges with limits, permissible for electronic model, of change and realization of automatic transition from one step to the next with corresponding change of scales of representation of variables and transmissions factors of separate blocks; 2) transformation of initial equations into logarithmic presentation of variables.

Below both enumerated methods are expounded in the example of investigation of processes of starting a nuclear reactor (B. Ya. Kogan [6]). Application of electronic models also to reproduction of processes of starting considerably expands region of their application, especially as trainers.

-يلينيا-

1. Pundamental Equations of Reactor Startup

To show the main laws of starting a reactor we will write the equation of kinetics in simplified form. With this aim we will take "one group" theory of calculation of delayed neutrons, and also the assumption that all allocated power goes for heating the reactor, and the effective multiplication factor linearly depends on position of the moderating rod and temperature. Upon these assumptions "• have:

$$\frac{dn}{dt} = -\frac{3n}{t} - \frac{1-3}{t} \delta k_{pp} n + tC + S.$$

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = \frac{4k_{pp}^3}{t} n + \frac{3}{t} n - kC.$$
(14.1)
$$\frac{dT}{dt} = \mu n.$$

where $\partial k_{so} = at - aT$.

Here are accepted the following designations : n-total number of numbers at moment of time t; $i_{k_{10}}$ -effective multiplication factor; \dot{p} -percent of delayed neutrons in total number of fission neutrons; 1-average lifetime of prompt neutron; C-number of radioactive fragments of equivalent group of delayed neutrons; λ -disintegration constant of radioactive fragments of equivalent group; S-number of neutrons, radiated by outside source; \ddot{T} -average temperature of reactor; μ -proportionality factor, determined by physical properties of material of active zone and geometry of reactor; a-speed of change of reactance with advancement of rod; a -temperature coefficient of reactance.

By solving system (14.1) one must receive dependences n(t), C(t) and T(t) for linear movement of rods and given initial conditions.

Neutron power of reactor and concentration of nuclei-emitters of delayed neutrons here can change in very wide limits (for example, from 0 to 10^{10}).

2. Solution of Equations of Startup by Sections

Solution of equations of startup by sections can be carried out both manually and automatically. In the first case solution is conducted up to the moment, when voltage, representing in the model initial variable n, reaches 100 v. Then the installation is changed to the "stop" mode, we record values of all voltage: on integrators toward the end of the period of solution. Before beginning the following stage of solution the new initial conditions are set in a scale, corresponding this section of the solution. As shown below, values of transmission factors of certain computing blocks of the model must change with each transition to a new scale of representation of variables.



Fig. 251. Setup diagram of equations of reactor.

Martin Charles

Indeed, relationships for voltages in the setup diagram of equations (14.1) (Fig. 251) will be:

$$\frac{dU_{1}}{dt} = -K_{14}U_{1} + 0.01K_{12}U_{1}U_{4} - K_{12}a_{4}U_{5} - K_{11}U_{5},$$

$$\frac{dU_{1}}{dt} = -K_{21}U_{1} - 0.01K_{22}K_{11}U_{1}U_{4} - K_{22}U_{5},$$

$$\frac{dU_{1}}{dt} = -a_{1}K_{34}U_{1},$$

$$U_{4} = \int_{0}^{1} K_{44}K_{b1}U_{0}^{*}dt - K_{22}U_{3}.$$
(14.2)

Introducing scales of representation of initial variables $A = -M_{a}U_{1}$. $C = M_{C}U_{2}, \quad \overline{T} = M_{c}U_{3}, \qquad \frac{\delta A_{ab} = M_{ab}U_{4}}{S} = M_{s}U_{3}$ and considering time scale to be one, we will receive the following relationships between coefficients of initial equation, scales and transmission factors of separate blocks:

$$K_{14} = \frac{3}{1}, \quad K_{21} \frac{M_C}{M_0} = \frac{3}{1}, \quad M_{10}K_{11}K_{51}U_0^* = 0,$$

$$\frac{0.01K_{10}}{M_{10}} = \frac{1-3}{1}, \quad \frac{K_{12}K_{21} \cdot 0.01M_C}{M_{10}M_0} = \frac{3}{1}, \quad \frac{M_{10}}{M_T}K_{12} = 2,$$

$$\frac{M_0}{K_{11}} \frac{M_0}{M_C} = A, \quad K_{21} = h, \quad \frac{M_0}{M_0}K_{11}Z_0 = 1, \quad z_1K_{31} \frac{M_0}{M_0} = H.$$

From analysis of these relationships it follows that during change of scales M_{e} and M_{c} during transitions from one section of the excursion to the next it is simultaneously necessary to change values of e_{0} and e_{1} . Thus, for example, if in process of startup M_{e} increases with transition from one section to the next by an order, then coefficient should be increased by the same magnitude e_{1} and coefficient e_{1} should decrease.

During process automation of simulation of startup of reactor with variable scales of representation of variables it is necessary to anticipate accumulation in new scale of voltage of initial conditions for the following stage of solution. This can be realised in principle by various memory units. In the work of B. Ta. Kogan [6] it was with this aim that it was proposed to double part of operational elements of set in order, that when one part is completed in solution, the other



ŝ

1.100.0

Fig. 252. Setup diagram of equations of reactor taking into account automatic change of scales during transition from one section of startup to the next.



Fig. 253. Oscillogram of starting process of reactor by steps.

is prepared for solution, storing in new scale the initial conditions.

In Fig. 252 is shown setup diagram taking into account automatic transition from section to section.

Control circuit of simulator should with such method of solution ensure automatically a definite sequence of succession of regimes of each group of computing elements, participating in the solution. With this aim they use two signals: one, obtained from comparison circuit, switching on relay a when voltage, representing variable n, attains a magnitude of 100 v, and the other form the delay circuit. With growth of neutron power \tilde{T} grows and, consequently, thermal negative feedback increases by forch of which neutron power starts to fall and as a result of an oscillatory process arrives at steady state regime. Fall of neutron power under the influence of input of thermal negative feedback can in a number of cases be so large that for its reproduction it will be necessary, just as in build-up, to go through the whole process in sections. Here, naturally, with decrease of power it is necessary to decrease scale of representation of variables n and C.

Since process of change of concentration of nuclei-emitters of delayed neutrons will lag behind process of change of neutron power, then with decrease of power one must decompose the solution into intervals, being oriented on the process of change of C. For this purpose in the control circuit from operational amplifiers 11 and 12 there results a signal during change of sign of derivative $\frac{dn}{dt}$. Derivative $\frac{dn}{dt}$ is obtained by repeated summation of all components of first equation of system (i.4.1). Switching on of relay β excites auxiliary relay X_{j} , executing all necessary commutation for transition to tracking for U. Transmission factors of ampl. forms 8 and 9 $K_{g1} = K_{g1} = 0.1$, and $K_{g2} = K_{g2} = 10$. So that output voltage of amplifiers 8 and 9 not exceed 100 v in process of tracking C, at inputs of 92 and 82 there are connected auxiliary limiters, preventing input into these amplifiers of a voltage exceeding 10 v. Simultaneously with change of scales M_n and M_{c} , it is necessary to change on every interval values of a_{s} and a_{1} , but in the opposite

-449-

direction. For this there are used reversible stepping selectors [IIMP] and [IIMP2, changing direction of motion after every switching on of relay. In Fig. 253, as an example, there is brought the oscillogram of the process of starting of the reactor, obtained by the above method.



Fig. 254. A) Sotup diagram with application of additional capacitors; B' Control of model with additional capacitors. KEY: (a) Control relay of base blocks.

When in process of starting of magnitudes n and C due to action of thermal feedback are not lowered more than an order or when one is interested only in the process of build-up power, it is possible to considerably simplify the scheme of automatic solution of problem by sections. With this aim at the beginning of every subsequent stage of solution for setting voltages of integrators C and n, decreased by 10 times, there is used connection for the preparatory period of additional capacitors parallel to capacitors of these integrating blocks* (Fig. 254a). It

[&]quot;Simultaneously with author this method was offered by N. Filipchak, V. Filipchak, T. Zelinskiy [1].

is natural that in periods of work these additional capacitors must be disconnected and reliably discharged. Since additional capacitors do not participate in process of solution, they need not have a polystyrene or styroflex dielectric.



Fig. 255. Oscillogram of starting process with application of circuit with additional capacitors.

Magnitude of capacity of additional capacitor C_{II} is by evident relationship

$$C_z = C\left(\frac{U_z}{U_z} - 1\right)$$
 when $\frac{U_z}{U_z} = 10$. $C_z = 9C$. (14.3)

where C is capacity of integrator, U_{k} is voltage at end of preceding working interval, U_{H} is voltage, which should be at the beginning of the subsequent working section.

Control and setup diagram with such a method of change of scales is considerably simplified (See Fig. 254a and b). Oscillogram of starting process, taken with the help of application of discharging capacitors, is shown in Fig. 255.

3. On Solution Error

Error in given interval of solution is caused by the following main factors: inaccuracy of setting of transmission factors of separate computer blocks, static error of multiplier, error of linear computing elements, inaccuracy of setting of initial conditions.

In accuracy of work of comparison circuits and scattering in operation of control relays need not in principle affect accuracy of solution. Their influence shows only on magnitude and number of intervals of solution. Comparison of results of investigation of errors shows that one of the main components is caused by error of multiplier. In Table XII is brought comparison of data, received from solution of the problem of starting on digital computer and on an electronic analog with application of multipliers of various type.



Table XII

KEY: (a) Value of power of reactor during starting, received by; (b) Power; (c) Digital computer; (d) Electronic analog with electronic multiplier; (e) Electronic analog with electromechanical multiplier; (f) Note; (g) Time from beginning of starting, sec; (h) Relative error.

Comparison of data of table indicates expediency of application of multipliers of increased accuracy. In a number of cases good results can be achieved with the help of an electromechanical multiplier (See, for example, G. Korn and T. Korn [3]). Considering that $\partial_{k,\phi}$ changes comparatively slowly and can be fed to inertial input of the multiplier, application of such a multiplier will not put limitation on transmission band of signal.

4. <u>Investigation of Starting Processes with the Help of</u> Equations, Preliminarily Converted to Logarithmic Representation of Power.

Expounded method is based on the fact that the system of initial differential equations (14.1) is solved not for power n, but for magnitude y, the inverse of the reactor period:

-452-

Here $\int y \, dt = \int \frac{1}{n} \, dn = \ln n$ and consequently, $y = \frac{d(\ln n)}{dt}$. Designating for brevity C/n = x, S/n = W we find:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{dC}{n} = \frac{1}{n} \frac{dC}{dt} - \frac{C}{n} \frac{1}{n} \frac{dn}{dt}, \quad \frac{dW}{dt} = \frac{dS}{n} = \frac{1}{n} \frac{dS}{dt} - \frac{S}{n} \frac{1}{n} \frac{dn}{dt}. \quad (14.4)$$

Dividing the first two equations of system (14.1) by magnitude n and considering $\frac{dS}{dt} = 0$ we will write taking into account (14.1) a system of transformed equations
(14.1) in the form:

 $y = \frac{1}{n} \frac{dn}{dl}$

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -xy - \frac{U_{10}3}{l} - ix + \frac{3}{l}, \quad \frac{d\bar{T}}{dt} = \mu n, \\ \frac{dW}{dt} = -Wy, \quad y = -\frac{3}{l} + \frac{1-3}{l}\delta k_{10} + ix + W.$$

$$(14.5)$$

$$\delta k_{10} = at, \quad -x\bar{T}, \quad n = e^{\int y \, dt}.$$

Variables x, y in this system change in significantly narrower limits than in the initial one which allows us to investigate the process of starting as a whole. For solution of this system on electronic model there are required nonlinear computing elements: two multipliers* and one functional generator.

If we designate by y not the derivative of $\ln \pi$, but simply $\ln \pi$ itself, then we come to a system, equivalent to the one brought earlier, with the same setup diagram (Fig. 256). If one were to apply electromechanical or pulse-time multia pliers, then by one multiplier there can be obtained both sought for products, having one general co-factor.

^{*}It is necessary to indicate that the requirement of accuracy of multiplier, delivering the product W_{-Y} may be not so high, since with growth of power n magnitude W begins to vanish and starting from a certain value n it can be completely ignored. Influence of thermal negative feedback at beginning of starting process practically is inconspicuous due to small values of temperature \uparrow , and therefore, this coupling actually can be connected, only starting from a certain value of \uparrow , i.e., after definite time after the starting process.

Equations of voitages for circuit of Fig. 256 will be:

$$U_{1} = -(K_{11}U_{11} + K_{12}U_{10} + K_{13}U_{10} + K_{14}U_{6}).$$

$$\frac{dU_{1}}{dt} = -K_{21}U_{1}.$$

$$U_{3} = -ve^{3U_{1}}.$$

$$\frac{dU_{4}}{dt} = -K_{41}U_{3}.$$

$$\frac{dU_{5}}{dt} = -K_{51}U_{12}.$$

$$U_{6} = -(K_{61}U_{4} + K_{67}U_{5}).$$

$$U_{7} = -0.01U_{1}.U_{n}.$$

$$\frac{dU_{6}}{dt} = -(K_{61}U_{1} + K_{62}U_{10} + K_{63}U_{5} + K_{61}U_{4}).$$

$$U_{9} = -0.01U_{1}U_{10}.$$

$$\frac{dU_{10}}{dt} = -K_{101}U_{2}.$$
(14.6)

Section of scales ν and ξ for functional generator is executed proceeding from requirement that when $U_2 = 100 \text{ v}$, $U_3 = 100 \text{ v}$.

Relationships for determination of scales of representation of variables will be: $\mathbf{y} = -\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{y}}\mathbf{U}_{1}$, $\mathbf{n} = -\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{U}_{3}\mathbf{\tilde{T}} = \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{U}}\mathbf{U}_{4}$, $\partial_{\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{y}_{2}}} = M_{\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{y}}}U_{\mathbf{v}}$, $\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{U}}\mathbf{U}_{0}$, $\int y \, dt = M_{\mathbf{j}}U_{\mathbf{v}}$ After substitution in initial system of equations of voltage and comparison

with given system (14.5) we will receive:

$$M_{y}K_{11}U_{11} = \frac{1}{l}, \quad M_{f} = \frac{M_{y}}{K_{11}}, \quad \frac{M_{y}}{M_{f}}K_{61} = 1, \quad M_{y} = 1, \quad M_{g} = 1, \quad K_{02}K_{11}U_{12}M_{13} = 0,$$

$$\frac{M_{y}}{M_{g}}K_{12} = \lambda, \quad \frac{W_{01}}{M_{y}} = 1, \quad K_{02}K_{01}U_{02}M_{g} = 0, \quad \frac{M_{y}}{M_{10}}K_{12} = \frac{1-3}{l}, \quad \frac{K_{01}M_{p}}{M_{a}} = \mu, \quad \frac{K_{01}M_{g}}{M_{g}} = 0,$$

From these relationships it follows that selection of scales ν and ξ influence value of transmission factors K_{21} , K_{41} and magnitude of scale M_n , and the latter in turn effects the maximum value of power, which can be represented by the electronic model. Limiting steepness, reproduceable by functional generator, to magnitude $S_4 = 10$, we will take

$$U_{3} = -\frac{100}{e^{10}} e^{\frac{U_{3}}{e^{10}}}.$$
 (14.7)

It is obvious that when $U_2 = 100v$, $U_3 = -100v$, and when $U_2 = 0$, $U_3 = (100/e^{10}) < 0.005 v$.



Fig. 256. Setup diagram of equations of reactor, transformed to logarithmic representation of power.

Steepness is

$$S_0 = \left(\frac{dU_3}{dU_2}\right) = 10 \text{ when } U_2 = 100 \text{ V}.$$

Scale of representation of power is

$$M_{\rm e} = \frac{1}{v} \frac{e^{v}}{100} = 220,26.$$

When maximum output voltage $U_3 = 100 \text{ v}$, maximum power, which can be represented on model, constitutes

It is necessary to note that during reproduction of dependence (14.7) oy functional generator with piecewise-linear approximation when permissible error

= 0.25 the least length of interval of decomposition of axis of argument

(See Chapter VI) constitutes

$$h_1 = \sqrt{\frac{B_1}{(\ell_{s1}^{2})_{max}}} = \sqrt{\frac{B \cdot 0.25}{l}} = 1.41 \text{ V}.$$

Length of adjacent section will be

$$h_2 = \sqrt{\frac{8 \cdot 0.25 r^{10}}{r^{3.65}}} = 1.45 \text{ V}.$$

Realization of such a functional generator by diode elements, as calculation shows, requires at least 12 diode elements and runs into large difficulties from comparative proximity of points of switching of diode elements toward the end of the argument scale.

Application of quadratic approximation on diode elements with a carrier (R. A. Bruns [1], A. A. Maslov and Yu. G. Purlov [1]) or by combining thyrite nonlinear resistances (L. D. Kovach and W. Comley [2]) significantly simplifies the circuit of functional generator and increases accuracy and reliability of its work.

Indeed, with quadratic approximation with permissible error * = 0.25 the length of least interval of decomposition of argument will be

$$h_1 = 5 \sqrt{\frac{1}{(r_{mix})_{max}}} = 5 \sqrt{\frac{0.25}{1}} = 6.8 \vee.$$
 (14.8)

Rounding to lower whole figure, we take $h_1 = 6 v$. Then remaining sections will be: $h_2 = 8 v$, $h_3 = 10 v$, $h_4 = 15 v$, $h_5 = 25 v$.

Thus, the total number of elements in case of quadratic approximation decreases mor than half as compared with case of linear approximation. Diagram of functional generator with quadratic approximation is shown in Fig. 257.* Here for lowering of

*Diagram was developed by A. A. Maslov and Yu. G. Purlov.

current characteristics of separate diode elements their coupling is taken mixed. First four diode elements (numeration is taken in order of growth of argument) are coupled at input, and two---in a circuit, parallel to amplifier. Ideal currentcorroded characteristics of input circuit and circuit, parallel to amplifier, are shown in Fig. 258. From Fig. 258 it follows that with accuracy of 0.16% current characteristic of first diode element can be replaced by a segment of axis of abscissas.



Fig. 257. Diagram of functional generator with diode elements and carrier.

In Fig. 259 is presented oscillogram of process of starting with logarithmic representation of power and use of electromechanical multiplier. Comparison of this solution with solution, received on digital machine, shows that maximum error constitutes 26-30%, including and error of reading of magnitudes from oscillogram (from finite thickness of lin , which themselves can reach 10%. It is natural that application of electronic multiplier based on thyrites in this case leads to increase of error.

In logarithmic representation of power to sources of error, taking place in case of solution of problem by sections, inaccuracy of work of functional generator (antilogarithm). However, inaccuracy of work of functional generator leads to increase of error of resolution only starting from moment of time, when thermal

-457-
negative feedback becomes effective, i.e., after first maximum attained by power in process of startup.



Fig. 258. Current characteristics of functional generator with carrier.



Fig. 259. Oscillogram of process of starting with logarithmic representation of power.

Thus, during solution on electronic models of problems connected with investigation of processes with wide range of change of variables, it is expedient to apply circuit of solution by sections with automatic transition from one section to the next. This circuit gives higher accuracy as compared with solution during logarithmic presentation of variables, although it requires certain increase of number of computing elements and a special control circuit.

When investigation is conducted only on section of build-up of variable or when lowering of variab's after reaching a maximum does not exceed two orders, modeling should also be conducted by sections with automatic change of scale of representation of variables with the help of circuit with additional capacitors. This circuit is marked for simplicity of control system and does not require increase of number of computer elements.

With use of logarithmic representation of power the circuit is complicated by necessity to have an additional generator (reproducing antilogarithmic dependence) and gives less accuracy of solution by sections.

From what has been presented, furthermore, it follows that functional generator in circuit with logarithmic representation can be practically realized only with application of piecewise-quadratic approximation and limits magnitude of variable, which can be represented in electronic model to five orders.

-459-

APPENDIXES

monthant of the second

用たいたがも

APPENDIX I

REPRODUCTION OF COMBINED LINEAR OPERATIONS BY ONE OPERATIONAL AMPLIPIER

Linear operations, executed by operational amplifier in combination with simplest passive electric circuits, already were considered in Chapter II. It turns out that by means of complication of these passive electric circuits it is possible by one amplifier to obtain more complicated linear operations. With such use of operational amplifier we can reduce quantity of amplifiers necessary for solution of problem, and in certain cases (for example, during reproduction of oscillatory sections of CAP) lower limitations, caused by imperfectness of frequency responses of computing blocks.

However, such complication of passive circuits of operational amplifier often leads to a state where we can no longer clearly divide input circuit from the circuit, parallel to the amplifier. This in turn demands a more general approach to derivation of transfer function of such an operational amplifier.*

Let us consider the most general circuit diagram of linear circuits and amplifier (Fig. 260).

In this diagram to input of operational amplifier and parallel to it are switched passive multipole networks Y_1 and Y_2 . For finding transfer function of

^{*}Such approach is met in a number of works of F. H. Raymond [1] and R. Peretz [1].

such operational amplifier we will write equation of currents at the poles:

$$\overline{I}_{11} = [Y_{11}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{01} + [Y_{12}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{001} + [Y_{13}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{3}.$$

$$\overline{I}_{21} = [Y_{21}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{01} + [Y_{22}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{001} + [Y_{23}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{4}.$$

$$\overline{I}_{31} = [Y_{31}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{01} + [Y_{32}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{001} + [Y_{33}(P)]_1 \overline{e}_{4}.$$

and

$$\bar{I}_{12} = [Y_{11}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_{n1} + [Y_{12}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_{nu1} + [Y_{13}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_4.$$

$$\bar{I}_{22} = [Y_{21}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_{n1} + [Y_{22}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_{nu1} + [Y_{23}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_4.$$

$$\bar{I}_{32} = [Y_{31}(P)]_2 \bar{e}_{n1} + [Y_{32}(P)]_4 \bar{e}_{nu1} + [Y_{33}(F)]_4 \bar{e}_4.$$
(1.2)



Fig. 260. Skeleton diagram for deriving basic relationships.

In expressions (1.1) and (1.2) the index after brackets indicates number of multiterminal network. Conductances $[Y_{ij}(P)]_1$ and $[Y_{ij}(P)]_2$ are determined as ratio of current I₁₁ or I₁₂ in considered pole to voltage, standing as a factor in sought for conductance on the condition that all remaining voltages, determining current of pole, are equal to zero.

Thus, for example, $[Y_{11}(P)]_1 = \frac{T_{11}}{\tilde{e}_{01}}$ when $e_{001} = e_1 = 0$; $[Y_{12}(P)]_1 = \frac{T_{11}}{\tilde{e}_{001}}$ when $e_{01} = e_1 = 0$. Disregarding grid current of input cascade of amplifier, we arrive, as before, at equations of operational amplifier in the form

$$\left. \begin{array}{c} \bar{I}_{31} + \bar{I}_{32} = 0, \\ e_{\text{sug}} = -K_y e_{i}, \end{array} \right\}$$
(1.3)

where \overline{I}_{31} and \overline{I}_{32} are determined by third lines of expressions (1.1) and (1.2).

On basis of (1.1), (1.2) and (1.3) we obtain finally operational equation of operational amplifier in the most general form:

$$\overline{e_{our}} = -\frac{[Y_{11}(P)]_1 + [Y_{11}(P)]_2}{[Y_{12}(P)]_1 + [Y_{12}(P)]_2} \cdot \frac{\overline{e_{or}}}{1 - \frac{1}{K_y} \frac{[Y_{11}(P)]_1 + [Y_{12}(P)]_2}{[Y_{12}(P)]_1 + [Y_{12}(P)]_2}}$$
(1.4)

With very great K_y , when in working range of frequencies the following is correct

$$\left|\frac{1}{K_{y}}\frac{|Y_{33}(j\omega)|_{1}+|Y_{33}(j\omega)|_{2}}{|Y_{32}(j\omega)|_{1}+|Y_{32}(j\omega)|_{2}}\right|\ll 1.$$

equation (1.4) is simplified:

$$\bar{\theta}_{out} \approx -\frac{[Y_{11}(P)]_1 + [Y_{11}(P)]_2}{[Y_{12}(P)]_1 + [Y_{12}(P)]_2} \bar{\theta}_{ox}.$$
(1.5)

Relative error, caused by such simplification (finite value of K_y), is determined by expression

$$\overline{\lambda}_{P_{042}}^{-} = \frac{1}{K_y} \frac{[Y_{33}(P)]_1 + [Y_{33}(P)]_2}{[Y_{34}(P)]_1 + [Y_{33}(P)]_2}$$
(1.6)

Let us consider several particular cases, flowing from general relationships (1.5) and (1.6).

Let in circuit of operational amplifier there be used only multiterminal network Y_1 . Then in expressions (1.5) and (1.6) all conductances with index "2" after square brackets must be set equal to zero.

As a result we arrive at relationships:

$$\overline{\theta}_{\text{max}} = -\frac{\left[Y_{1}, \left(P\right)\right]_{1}}{\left[Y_{10}, \left(P\right)\right]_{1}} \overline{\theta}_{n1}.$$
(1.7)

$$\overline{M_{out1}} = \frac{1}{K_y} \frac{(Y_{10}(P))_1}{(Y_{10}(P))_1}.$$
 (1.8)

where $[Y_{31}(P)]_1 = \frac{T_{31}}{r_{31}}$ when $r_{out} = r_0 = 0$, $[Y_{32}(P)]_1 = \frac{T_{31}}{\bar{r}_{out}}$ when $r_{out} = r_0 = 0$, $[Y_{32}(F)]_1 = \frac{T_{31}}{\bar{r}_{4}}$ when $r_{out} = r_{01} = 0$.

If we use only multiterminal network Y_2 , then, proceeding as in preceding case,

$$\bar{e}_{pure} = -\frac{[Y_{s1}(P)]_{s}}{[Y_{sn}(P)]_{s}} \bar{e}_{s1}.$$
(1.9)

$$\delta \bar{e}_{BMI} = \frac{1}{K_y} \frac{(Y_{yy}(P))_y}{(Y_{yy}(P))_y}.$$
 (1.10)

When in circuit of operational amplifier we use instead of multiterminal networks two quadripoles Y_1 and Y_2 , connected so that Y_2 is not directly coupled with input, and Y_1 is not directly coupled with output of operational amplifier, we obtain

$$[Y_{31}(P)]_{2} := [Y_{32}(P)]_{1} = 0.$$

Therefore

$$= \{Y_{11}(P)\}_{1} =$$

(1))

$$\widetilde{\omega}_{\text{But}}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{K_{\gamma}} \frac{[Y_{11}(P)]_{1} + [Y_{11}(P)]_{2}}{[Y_{11}(P)]_{2}}.$$
(1.12)

Some practically important circuits of operational amplifiers, ensuring fulfillment of combined linear operations, calculated by these formulas, are shown in Table XIII below.

Of great interest is circuit, brought in third column of XIII on page 467 reproducing undamped harmonic oscillations. Use of such a circuit as pickup of sinusoidal oscillations has this deficiency, that for change of frequency of oscillations it is necessary simultaneously to change all parameters of the circuit. However, here there is attained economy of computing blocks and bandwidth of generated sinusoidal oscillations is considerably expanded.

		Tains of an paral	adurtanano - lat to anglé	et ekreski. Flar) Nam of sumbols Sugah object		
	17 1	IY=(7%	17-17	17. 074	17-17M	17-10-14	17. UNI.	
$a_{m1} = -\frac{ Y_{m}(p) }{4} \left(nCp + \frac{1}{NCp} \right) a_{m1}^{2}$	$\overline{u_{min}} = \frac{1}{4\lambda_{y}} \left[RC_{y} + 1 + \frac{1}{RC_{y}} \right]$		-	ð	Tuch + ih + ruch		1+ 400 K	्याम्
$\frac{d}{dt} = -\left[\frac{1}{R_{1}}\right]_{1} + RC_{1} + \frac{1}{R_{1}}\left(1 + \frac{C_{1}}{C_{1}}\right)_{1}$	$\frac{1}{N_{max}} + \frac{R_{1}}{N_{2}} \left(\frac{C_{1}}{C_{2}} + 1 \right) + 1 \right]$				$\left[\frac{2^{n}}{1} + \frac{1}{2^{n}}\left(\frac{2^{n}}{2} + 1\right)\right] + \frac{1}{2^{n}}$	$1 + a, c, o\left(\frac{c}{c} + 1\right)$	$\frac{c_{1}c_{2}}{c_{1}c_{2}} + a_{1}\left(\frac{1}{c_{1}c_{2}} + \frac{1}{c_{2}}\right) + a_{1}a_{1}$	
1	$V_{\rm eff} = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} \left[1 \pm \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} + \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} \right] = \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} \left[1 \pm \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} + \frac{1}{\Lambda_{\rm eff}} \right]$	Ę	Ę,		1 - c. 24	I	1 + C	; ; ; ; ; ;

Table XIII

Table XIII Continued

A A	-		adustations of all	·····	Paises	of equival	ngiante of Mái	
		IV-177	11-174	17-176	17.)-11	(Y = (/)	[7_ (.71	
	$r_{mi} = \frac{1}{R_{2}} \left[1 + \frac{R_{2}}{R_{1}} \frac{(R_{1}C_{1}\rho + 1)}{(R_{1}C_{1}\rho + 1)(R_{2}C_{2}\rho + 1)} \right]$	1+ C A.	<u>1 - RC12</u>		$\frac{2R_1C_1\rho + 1}{2H_1(H_1, C_1, \rho + 1)}$	l	TR, 07,7,2 + 1	
	$\frac{1}{X_{y}} = \frac{1}{X_{y}} \left[\frac{R_{y}}{1 + (1 + K, C, p)(1 - R_{y}C, p)} \right]$	1 + Crar	1+2612		$\frac{1}{R_{i}} + \frac{2R_{i}C_{i}\rho + 1}{2\left[\frac{1}{R_{i}C_{i}\rho + 1}\frac{2R_{i}C_{i}\rho + 1}{4C_{i}\rho} + R_{i}\right]}$	1	1 + ancie	
	$\frac{1}{\frac{1}{N_{1}}} \left[1 + \frac{1}{1 + \frac{N_{1}}{N_{1}}} \frac{2N_{1}N_{2}N_{2}}{(1 + \frac{1}{1 + 2N_{1}})^{2}} + \frac{N_{1}N_{2}N_{2}}{(1 + \frac{1}{1 + 2N_{1}})^{2}} \right]$				- 14		14 -	

-721-

にいい

And the second seco

•

.

.

	ſ	tates of page particle	utures of a		••••	f omlad inte dan	ijaji f≮≁ nama d	17
		IF-LINK	(Y_)		1701	17= 17k	P. 01	
$\frac{2R_{3}}{R_{1}} = -\frac{2R_{3}}{R_{1}} = -\frac{2R_{3}}{R_{1}} = -\frac{(R_{1}C_{1}p - 1)(1 - R_{1}C_{1}p - R_{2}C_{1}p_{1})}{R_{1}C_{2}p_{2}} = -\frac{2R_{3}}{R_{1}} = -\frac{2R_{3}$	$= \frac{1}{K_{y}} \left[1 + \frac{2R_{y}}{R_{y}} (2R_{y}C_{y} - 1) (R_{y}C_{y} - 1) + \frac{1}{K_{y}} \left[1 + \frac{2R_{y}}{R_{y}} (2R_{y}C_{y} - 2) (R_{y}C_{y} - 1) + \frac{1}{R_{y}} (R_{y}C_{y} - 2) \right] \right]$	$\frac{1}{43} + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} + 1$	$\frac{1+a_{i}C_{i}\rho+a_{i}a_{i}C_{i}\rho^{2}}{4b_{i}(b_{i}C_{i}\rho+1)}$	1	$\frac{36,C,p+1}{36,(4,C,p+1)}$	ł		
$\frac{1}{(1-R_1C_p)(1+R_1C_p+M_1C_1C_p)} = \frac{R_1C_1p(M_2C_1p+M_1C_1C_p)}{(1+R_1C_p+M_1C_1C_p)}$		$\frac{c_{\mu}}{2} + \frac{a_{\mu}c_{\mu}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$	1 + R.C.J + R.C.C.J 20, (R.C.J + 1)	1	1 1+ 2/C	1	SUL + K.C.M	
N(1) + 1 N(1) + N(C, 0(1 + N(C, 0) N(C, 0)(N(C, 0) + 1) N(C, 0(1 + N(C, 0) N(C, 0) + 1)	Non - 1 ×	The second and the second		1	miles	1	145241	

Table XIII Continued

A P C E N D I X II

BRIEF TECHNICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF CERTAIN TYPES OF D-C ELECTRONIC ANALOG COMPUTERS

-		Fure of differential restince estret on contact		Persientitie dereiten of integer im in een	Remains Length & states t Lengt Lengt		ingen Ingen Independ Frage Nach La Frage
5			La apolan			n .	.
1	[FT- 54]	Lamer	9	130	30 × 0	•5	2
2	₩ ₽ ₹~\$#}	1	K	200	700 × 80 × 130	•	8
	. 	LINNER OLIA LIPALAAL AMALIANARISIINA	9	280480	(622 × 476 × 1339	-	2,1
4	111 - 1	-Lange	6	150	120 < 41 × 70	0,23	0,85
8	4	Sent. Loose	6	130	-pilore andropi all 0,1 ar		0,74
6	1	·	32	1880			25
7	and the N		•	200	46 , 30 × 140		
		•	6	7892	66 ⊠ 59 ≤ 54	9,97	0,35
•	₩ -2N'	•	•	229	∕ <mark>nate standit</mark> ed O_1 er		0,130
	39.400 :		-st of Hambert Listin	2800	35×39×39	-	0,05
n	•	Set of autuinum Simbs	-	for classed	Place scoupiss an indus Subser	-	0,7
					Hammisten of Marin Scott STE E coll 2 E 100 an		
12	_	Babilinen.	19	601	380 × 39 × 175	-	
13	€ -u	Linney and analised site statements lagen and priceses	3	r-m.j.s v 30000 m.	722 73	-	15
M	- **		34	1989	72277		2
16			••		15		*

Table XIV. General Specifications of Certain Electronic Analog Computers, Developed in USSR

₽

.

"Wata for these electronic models are brought in article of E. A. Glusberg [1]. ""Figures are given for one base block, designed for resolution of second order equations.

ومرسهم ومردد الراب والمرها والانت ستتمطي والهرورون

~



Fig. 261. Electronic analog computer of type IPT-5 (industrial model). 1 - block of operational amplifier, 2 - block of variable coefficient, 3 - block of coefficient, 4 - control panel.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations up to the ninth order inclusively with constant and variable coefficients. It is constructed in the form of separate blocks (in one block is located one computing element), united by woggle joints in accordance with problem to be solved. Total complex of computing blocks is fed from the stabilized rectifiers.

The installation is composed of:

1. Operational amplifiers - 18 (9 with plate load 20 kilohm, and 9 piece with plate load 10 kilohm).

2. Blocks of constant coefficients (dividers) - 18.

Blocks of variable coefficients - 18.
 Control panel.

Operational amplifiers are three-cascade with triode compensation in first cascade (see diagram of Fig. 37). Installation allows union with automatic control equipment. There is automatic repetition of resolution for possibility of observation of solution of cathode-ray indicator.

-470-



Fig. 262. Electronic analog computer of type MPT-9 (industrial model). 1 - setup field, 2 - control panel, 3 - section of operational amplifiers, 4 section of blocks of variable coefficients, 5 - section of blocks of constant coefficients.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations up to 16-th order inclusively with constant and variable coefficients. It is constructed in the form of separate sectionstands.

The installation is composed of:

1. ection of operational amplifiers — 4 (total operational amplifiers — 48; 16 integrating and 32 scale — summing).

Section of blocks of variable coefficients
 4 (total blocks of variable coefficients -- 48).
 3. Sections of blocks of constant coefficients
 - 4 (total blocks of constant coefficients [dividers] -- 48).

- 4. Control panel.
- 5. Setting field.
- 6. Special crystal oscillator 50 cps.

7. Power blocks (electronic stabilized rectifiers with ferroresonant stabilizers) - 4.

8. Power supplies of incandescence - 2.

Operational amplifiers are made with automatic stabilization of zero level (by circuit of Fig. 48). Blocks of variable coefficients are made of stepping selectors.

Installation allows combination with automatic control equipment. There is automatic repetition of solution to ensure possibility of observation of solution on cathode-ray indicator.



Fig. 263. Electronic analog computer type LMU-1 (industrial model): 1 - section of operational amplifiers — main, 2 - section of variable coefficients, 3 - power units, 4 - cathode-ray indicator, 5 - panel of check of blocks of variable coefficients.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations with coefficients constant and variable in time up to ninth order, and also reproduction of typical nonlinear characteristics. It is constructed in the form of machine of structural-sectional type with two separate stabilized power supplies.

The installation is composed of: 18 operational amplifiers, 20 variable coefficients, 18 voltage dividers, 68 plug-in input impedances, 1 setting field (not interchangeable), 12 input resistance boxes, 8 diode elemonts.

Operational amplifiers are three-cascade with triode compensation in first cascade. Gain factor of amplifier st zero frequency is 5 · 10³, drift 3 millivolt after 10 minute, bandwith in closed state 500 cps at Nevel 0.99. Amplifiers are located 6 to a plateau.



Fig. 264. Electronic analog computer of type EMU-3 (Academy of Sciences of USSR). 1 - block of operational amplifier, 2 - block of constant coefficient, 3 - control panel, 4 - block of adjustment, 5 - power block.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations up to sixth order inclusively with coefficients constant and variable in time. Structural type in the form of a stand. Setup is carried out by connection of separate blocks by flexible cords.

Feeding is carried out from one stabilised rectifier.

The installation is composed of: 1. Operational amplifiers — 12 (allowing external load of 10 ma).

 Blocks of constant coefficients - 22.
 Blocks with capacitors - 2 (0.01 - 1 microfarad).
 Block of dividers - 1 (0.01 - 1).

5. Electromechanical variable speed drive of coefficients - 1 per 20 variable coefficients (added separately).

6. Control panel.

Operational amplifiers are three-cascade with triode compensation in first cascade (see circuit of Fig. 37). Installation allows combination with automatic control equipment.



Fig. 265. Electronic analog computer of type MN-7 (industrial model). 1 - setting "ield, 2 - knobs for adjustment of zero, 3 - functional generator, 4 - multiplier block, 5 - control buttons, 6 - knobs for setting initial conditions.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential equations up to sixth order inclusively, with constant coefficients. Installation is in the form of portable desk instrument with separate power block.

In MN-7 there are 16 operational amplifiers with triode compensation (see circuit of Fig. 37), six of which can execute function of integration. Remaining amplifiers are used as adders and signinverters.

In lower part of installation are four cells, into which can be inserted multiplier blocks or blocks of universal drode functional generators. These blocks do not have their own operational amplifiers. Multiplier blocks are made from silicon diodes and for work require three operational amplifiers. In functional generator they use tube diodes. Functional generator can be coupled both to input of operational amplifier and in feedback circuit. For work of generator there are required one or two operational amplifiers. Setup is carried out by plugs and short wires on setting field, located on top of the computer.



Electronic analog computer of type MN-8 (industrial model).

tions up to 32-nd order inclusively with constant and variable coefficients. type, in the form of separate sections. Total sections --- 11. Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential equa-Of structural

Connection of separate blocks is carried out by flexible cords.

In model is composed of:

amplifiers (4 amplifiers in each) -- 8. N • Blocks of integrating operational

in each) - 12. amplifiers of change of sign (4 amplifiers Blocks of summing amplifiers and

ω • Blocks of variable coefficients (in Blocks of constant coefficients --48

every block 4 variable coefficients) - 12. 5. Functional generators of one argu-

ment - 10.

mates and some of insensitivity -- 6. 12. F 10. 9 œ 7. 0. Blocks of limitation of coordi-Cathods-ray indicators -- 3. Dynamic blocks --- 3. Control panels -- 2 Differentiating blocks -- 4. Multipliers (with 3 inputs) -- 12 Linear load sections --- 3, Delay blocks - 4.

of multiplication of three input magnitudes in one device. Delay block uses of operational mation by diodys. Multipliers are made with application of stepping selector with possibility control equipment. amplifiers. Model gives possibility of investigating transient with connection of automatic (see circuit of Fig. 48). Functional generators use principle of piecewise-linear approxi-Operational amplifiers are made in a circuit with automatic stabilization of zero level

tor. There is iteration of solution with possibility to examine solution on cathode-ray indica-Model MN-8 allows us to solve simultaneous two separate problems.



Fig. 267. Electronic analog computer of type EMU=5 (Academy of Sciences of USSR).

power block, 5 - oseillograph EO-7 with tube 131036. Variant I: 1 - nonlinear blocks, 2 - linear part, 3 - additional control block, 4 -

F I power block, 5 - oscillograph EO-7 with tube 131036. Variant II: 1 - nonlinear attachment, 2 - linear part, 3 - additional control block,

equations up to and including sixth order. instrument. Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential Of structural type, in the form of portable desk

Installation is developed in two modifications. In composition Variant I is composed of:

- 1 Operational amplifiers - 12.
- Multipliers -- 1.
- Functional generators -- 1.
- Blocks of typical nonlinearities -- 4.

?. **6** \$

Cathode-ray indicator -- 1.

Power block - 1.

Additional control block ---

.

÷

tipliers and eight functional generators with 24 operational amplifiers. Operational ampli-fiers are made with automatic stabilization of zero level and economic output cascade (see circuit of Fig. 52). Installation allows combination with control equipment. There is possibility of automatic iteration of solution. In Variant II nonlinear blocks are replaced by nonlinear attachment composed of two mul-Installation allows combination with control equipment. There is

States of the second second

1



Fig. 268. Electronic analog computer of type ENU-6 (Academy of Sciences of USSR). 1 - multiplier, 2 functional generator, 3 - linear part, 4 - electronic indicator, 5 - additional control block, 6 - power block.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and norlinear differential equations up to and including the sixth order. Of structural type, in the form of portable desk instrument with separate power block.

Model is composed of:

- 1. Operational amplifiers 12.
- 2. Multiplier 1.
- 3. Punctional generator 1.
- 4. Blocks of typical nonlinearities 4.
- 5. Additional control block 1.
- 6. Cathede-ray indicator 1,

Operational amplifiers are unde with automatic stabilisation of sore level and economic output abooade (see sirvuit of Fig. 52). In installation and separate computing elements is computed "ground insulation". Setup is carried cut by bipolar plugs and short woggle juints on face of setting field.

Installation allows combination with control equipment. There is possibility of antenntic iterations of solution.



Fig. 269. Electronic analog computer of type MN-10 (industrial model).

Installation is intended for solution of nonlinear differential equations with constant coefficients up to and including sixth order. Number of nonlinear computing blocks (functional generators of one variable and multipliers) does not exceed 6. Setup is carried out on special switching field. All computing elements of machine and sources of stabilised power (block MSV-10) are made of semiconductors.

Installation is composed of: 24 operational amplifiers, 6 diode cells for reproduction of typical nonlinearities, 4 universal functional generators of one variable, 4 multipliers. Operational amplifiers are made of semiconductors by a scheme with automatic stabilisation of zero level.





Fig. 270. Electronic analog computer of type EMU-8 (Academy of Sciences of USSR).

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential equations. Constructed in the form of separate base blocks, designed for solution of differential equations of second order. Every base block is supplied with four operational amplifiers (see circuit of Fig. 58) not requiring stabilised feeding, power supplies and a certain number of linear and nonlinear feedback circuits, in the form of plug-in inserts.

In typical setup of model, intended for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations up to and including the 10-th order, there are foreseen following varieties of inserts: a) linear (integration, summation, change of sign, setting of scale, reproduction of typical nonlinearities); b) nonlinear, intended to execute multiplier-divider operations; c) nonlinear, intended for reproduction of nonlinear dependences of one argument; d) nonlinear, intended for reproduction of fixed nonlinear dependences of type sine, cosine; e) intended to execute operations of control; f) measuring, intended to execute operations of measurement during adjustment. Cathode-ray indicator is mounted in separate base block.

Installation allows union with real equipment.



Fig. 271. Set of nonlinear blocks NNB (industrial model).

Setup of nonlinear blocks is intended for expansion of the circle of problems, which can be solved by linear electronic analogs of type IPT-5, MPT-9, LMU-1, and increase of number of nonlinear computing elements of MN-7 and others.

NNB ensures fulfillment of following nonlinear operations: reproduction of three nonlinear dependences of one variable, three operations of multiplication or division. It is constructed in the form of three base blocks. In each base block are two doubled operational amplifiers, made in a circuit with parallel amplification channels (see Fig. 58), two plug-in inserts of nonlinear feedback circuits and a power supply. Development on basis of installation EMU-8.



) |}'

Fig. 272. Electronic analog computer of type EDA (Academy of Sciences of USSR).

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear and nonlinear differential equations up to and including 19-th order. Of structural type, constructed in the form of two cabinets.

Installation is composed of:

- 1. Operational amplifiers -- 38.
- 2. Multipliers 4.
- 3. Functional generators of one variable -- 4.
- 4. Generator of harmonics -- 1.

Operational amplifiers are supplied with system of periodic setting of zero level (see Fig. 150). Multipliers are based on the pulse-time principle. Functional generator uses approximation of given function by 8 terms of a Fourier series (I. S. Bruk and N. N. Lenov [1]).

Installation allows combination with control equipment.



Fig. 273. Complex of electronic simulation equipment of type MN-14 (industrial model). Intended for solution of complicated dynamic problems, described by ordinary linear or monlinear differential equations up to and including 30-th order with large number of nonlinear dependences.

Installation includes: 90 operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level, of which 30 can work as integrator, 30 — as adder, 20 — in change of sign made and 10 — auxiliary to execute certain linear, nonlinear and logical operations. To execute nonlinear operations there are: 50 blocks,

executing operations and 20 blocks of universal functional generators of one variable, 4 blocks of typical nonlinearities, 6 is ks for reproduction of trigonometric functions, 12 pulsetime multipliers. Total number of amplifiers in machine is 360. There is automation of introduction and recovery of data. Setup is carried out on plugin setting field provided with digital voltmeter and a two-coordinate table.



Fig. 274. Complex of electronic simulation equipment of type EMU-10 (industrial model); on the right and on the left — universal stands; in center — specialized stand.

Complex of simulation equipment EMU-10 is intended for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations up to and including 24-th order, and also solution of certain problems of optimisation with number of regulated parameters, not exceeding 7. Equipment consists of universal and specialized stands. Universal stand contains: 48 broad-band operational amplifiers, assembled in circuit with parallel amplification channels (see Fig. 59), of which 24 can work as integrator; 4 electronic multipliers; 4 electronic universal functional generators; 4 combined electromechanical functional generators (for 20 coefficients; variable in time; 4 electromechanical multiplierdividers; 84 ten-turn potentiometers, of which 64 are set automatically by servo system of digital voltmeter; plug-in setting field, standard of tension and time. System of control ensures static and dynamic control of problem stop at a given moment, iteration of solution for all or part of the computing elements. It includes special block for automatic change of scale of representation of variable. Specialised stand includes semi-channel relay optimiser and 4 blocks of variable delay, for which time lag can continuously change into voltage functions of the model.



Fig. 275. Electronic analog computer with automated solution scanning of type MN-11 (industrial model).

Installation MN-11 is intended for automatic finding of a solution, satisfying certain prescribed criteria. Installation includes: 9 integrating operational amplifiers, 38 summing operational amplifiers, 6 multipliers, 3 blocks of variable coefficients, 4 three-docade voltage dividers. There are three main regimes: detecting of sclution by method "minimization," semiautomatic detecting of solution by method "survey", crdinary solution of problem with selection manually of required solution.

Structually the installation consists of the electronic model itself, working with frequency of repetition of solution 100 times per second, power section and control table for checking and tuning plug-in elements and functional blocks.

		-				-	
No. in order	Designation of electronale model und fire	Country	Tear of Latin (Lantatively)	this electronictics (compaction of sampl- icg blocky)	Vert etch real chjerto	unntity of production	Bri a
ì	GAP/N of D, A, Phillinget	usa	1964 GRM 7012cming	Soi of electronic linner and medicate fran- tical blashs. Re- linner blashs. Re- plines and functional generators of an verichic. Rests are ordiorited in conjucting cirects by carie	Provided	holensat ici curico	
2	Anness of Flot- Signate Else- tris Owy		8 968	A	Provided	-	
)	711911 diminister of H.I.T.		1940	Unlitter electricie andei up to mietà order en s-o electro- methanical biotes el 400 eps. Roro ties 20 desembles ambli- fiere	Pruvidas	Antigue ati- ablas for Ut Chay	its compositions of modules by Quantic blant
•	Stift of Bening Alsynhese So,	URIA	2960	Linear andal 1 stant per 13 operational explifiero, 13 Linear peterticariero, stanter ilatioro, valanter end peer supply	Providens	Ini-secut In certico	
5	Athing employ "Resing" of Budge dir- plane Co.		1953 and Falloning	20 optimizational expli- filow (of them 13 for committee and 20- togenitee). 12 diants classes for continue withouts, 20 priorition withouts, 20 priorition withouts, 20 priorition withouts, 1 classification withouts, 1 classification withouts, 1 classification withouts, provide and so- vise for estemptic cutting of anyo	Prevldes	Delemani in contine	
\$	Similator (1925 of (Oncipator Almonth Corp.)		1990 and following	Bulliner until up to Li-th order uith clottransimical and clottrans sublaner empeting cloumte	Provided	Po ano	
,	Elsetratic autai of Sporty Op- resource	uita	1990	Linear (presibly, nap- linear) simulator		Aveduat for est	
•	Cartino, of Car- tion Wright Corp.	1764	1 990	Liness and semilinear	Provided	balances to cortan	
•	TDA of computer Corporation of Auerica		1951	Linstr main up to 6-th subor, for which there is predicted exploringly a get of continent blacks for mailmetrisics in- hered is control orpigment	Provided	Antonens In purter	
70	Electronic sime- ister of boll	USA	1990-1951	Remiinear model up to 12-th enter tith electromotecil numlicar exampling elements	Previdet	••••	

Table XV. Main Indices of Electronic Analog Computers Produced Abroad

-485-

~

ar ya a to a secondar

...

. . .

.....

-

Table XV Continued

, is rier	Boulgation of electropic andol and firs	Country	Tenr of Labor (tentatively)	Nain okaristise (omposition of ompot- ing blocks)	Nork vilk Paki Sbjasis	amotity of headurtich
ш	Typinens of MA		1 990-19 51	Emilinear installation, an which unve calved problem of centrel of restest missiles. It has converte blocks of mitiglication, built with application of digital classes. In installation are 4:5 sparetismides appli- fiere with columnia stabilization of enve integrating. There are also 18 corve op- tess for malinear blocks	Rot prortian	Thingso the object for UK Newy
u	Robles of Her- through Alexandry Data,	124	1951-1953	Realizate andal	Prevides	ikique m- phine for US Rety
ນ	Norma of Har- throp Advance's 2011		1951-1952	Conlinear model	Providui	Senil les for our prode
79	Bidl of Beckman with particle- pation of Buduloy		1952 ent following	Linear and mulianer blants, In 1 obsets there are 30 operations of amplifiers and a power supply, depa- ting field and prim- tignious for analys- must of constant on- officients, Blant of multiplication and functional generators are electruits	Persession	kelanand in oories
15	Electropic usiol of impics Alexand Opp- puters		1952	Buliner and Linear Installations	Provided	in 1952 and identical approximation first of sill for private messio
14	Type "24-31" of Ristignica Autochten Bro.		195) est following	Presidion mailmar alsotramic model. Verieux composition of stands com here from 20 to 96 operational complifiers. from 4 to 20 miliplication bisets with corve app- tem, a mather of also- trepredension blocks with corve system for functional generation, a softing field and other blocks	Providesi	Ani enced in ecrico
17	Type "E-460" of HA-(antory Butrankis		193-1396 and following	Samii perisele nanlises- elostramis model with 12 operational ampi- fices, i blast of non- lisestritice with serve aptime, a clostramic diote clamante	Provided	Rolanosi In cortes
10	Incor-Hots) 300-t of Roriso Labo- rotaries	UFA	.s. 1953 vike – In development,	Smill sharp donk non- linger simulator, Causiots of sol of blacks connected by cards	Providen	in development

Cable XV Jonting of

No, in order	matematical of	- exptry	Tear of Leave (Lantalively	Main sharacteristics composition of comput- ing biosxe)	Nort with Popl object	admilly of production	III.
19	 Ans.og computer of type איבר-101, (~202 of אפירפו (ה- et manent orp.) 	1E A	: 49a	mail periable linear simulator with 12 stabilized operational amplifiers	huridar	Ral shoul in portae	
2)	Analog sempotor of type KKal-adX' of Keeres Instru- ment (erp.	' £' ∎ A	1955	Nen inear similator. It - intains i' doubled operations, amplifiers non-inear functional blocks of both clos- treats and alestrom- chanics lyps and a plug-in sotting field	Prorided		Fire two produced since 1967 380 installetions
~1	Analog opporter of Degmor (c)- entific (o,	USA	1956	anil partable linear model. It contains 10 operational empli- fiery	Provided	Relepsed is carles	
	Analog computer of Raythown Mrg. Co.	, USA	1956	Samil periohic linear model. It contains 9 unstabilized opera- tional amplifiers	Provided	Rolegons Le cortes	Per description one B. V. Presider and H. A. Brenn (1.)
a	Anning compater of Control Specialists, The.	1 (Esta	1455	Small pertable linear model of simils order. It contains is open- tional amplifiers	Provided	Balanant In carles	
4	Hedifon Ltd.	ingiand I	1953	Humitmear operinitized	Provided	Walt Longe	
۵	i Arsiag computer of Unort Brothers and Harland	i ang Land	1 1 1953 -	Aniag computer, intend- est for solution of three linear escent order differential equations. To com- vists of 10 4-s as- plifiers and corre- sponding member of RC sirevite and 20 three-deade resis- lance searce	Truridud	Enlocated in cortes	
- 0	Liectronic modul SEPI of Piece ig o.		I	Universal model of 16-48 urder, intended for existion of problems of dynamics. It exp- tional amplifier, is multipliers, 12 functional generators. Nuitipliers are based on the pulse-time primetals.			Trial author of Tains to 600
				Prescienci generators with application of cathese-way tubes. Operations: amplifi- ore are equipped with a cymtem of group outling of some level			

ž

-487-

....

Table XV Continued

No. in erter	Disignation of electronic andel and firm	Country	Tear of Lores (teatotively)	This shareforistics (composition of comput- ; ing blocks)	Mark ulsi reni objert	of production	No.e
0	Similator "Tri- das" of Ellicit Brothers		4734	Similator is intended for estation of three- dismostrais problems of dynamics of flight : F	Trevided		Per instaliation 6 special maining she bailt. 20- meription in 7. A, shee 7.
	Simiator (M-12 of SEA (Second do Electronique ot Pastannium	ni r	1950 and following	Linear andol of 15th order		xelegani La gories	
.9	Juminser of symp Juminser of San Juminser 2 of San		1951 and following	Linest built of Linit event with 10 peter- tionstore for esting of emotest coeffi- cients. To is separate semilar by a coparate semilar computing alases	Provided	Helenood in sories	
¥0	Hode: accessibly of stands of OHL, ferming the signifier of SEA	P regisco	1954 and following	Hunlinear undel, consis- ting of two vieweds. In one there are 12 operational emplifiers with automatic stall- lightme of more loval and individual panear oupplies, in the ser- oupplies, in the ser- unet diand are non- linear computing ele- unets (multipliers, oupple-law and size fuertional generators) Reserving devices and control panea	Provi ded	Reiensed La peries	
31	'imilator OMB-P2 of SBA	Presso	1931	Linear undel of 12-th arder of increased accuracy. it opera- tional amplificer with estantic clobilize- tion of acce level, it biasts of complet confficients. It can be augusted by nam- items computing sim- music	Provided	Heighand In antion	
1 4	Similator of Lipp Di 20 of Late- retarios 8. Dervene	. 779847	1999	Installation is inten.ed for excluse reactors. It semiciss of 30 eventional equifi- ers, is provident exclusion and is equified on the install of corrections of earth		Reiesens in arries	I

Table XV Continued

a. In articr	Designation of electronic undal	Country	Tear of Lopus (Lestatively)	Nhin characteristics (composition of comput- ing blocks)	tine state rank abject	ef grobutie	10.0
	Clastronic sim- Later of Tre- pole Pres ULI- versity		1953-1996	Large numlinear simila- ter, estaining 5 high-prote operation- al amplifiers, 60 eperational amplifiers 9 maltipliers, 6 fung- tional generators, 4 generators of given futuine of time, equ- ted mool, reserving out writing equipment	Provided	Varit entropie	
L	imistor of Polish According of Telensor	Polenti	1934	Munificate model, corting ofth iteration of emission. The compo- cition of opthal emiser of assumption blocks, o blocks of emitipiers, blocks of emission of blocks of emission-may Functional generations, and orthog and reserv- ing devices	₩. provided	dhis anaple	
15	Instator of Research Br- etitute of Thional To- cisty in Tuesdania		1 95 2	Linear sizes with a deg applifiers (2 into- grating), t accurate priorizes in sizes into methics use augmented by black of miliplication with raiss-time circuit. There is a function, derive, milit on the space of sugnetic dram	Proviant	Jajt mamma.⊕	
14	Analog computer for Londsign- Link of Apro- spinston, Pro- shrulin Nor- uky an Apri- of GEDS		1061	Model with J, amplifi- ore, It contains addres, Lutagraines, phase Lowerters, mi- tiplions and fun- tions, generator, for which they use a elevals stb diame	Provided	b termsy my 1955 Listers dears & outh in- thalis- tigger	
••	Li oot rubir sinte- int or Tenger (11 of Tenge- Sainsari Riot- tris Camping	-	1 61 3	Installation with arti- fields iteration of monthing for design- ing optime of only oblic control. It is accombing from d-r copilfiors, oblick an- outle queration of indeposition, ream tion and expandion of sizewide. Par monthing of Lingfor Particles of segments eventues of California eventues of California	Napose i bi e	Boi gnord La partiop	Fire relegant a.m. instal Listan of tr escution : 0 : 1 : 1. distribution : action : acti

-489-

- مستعد

. 18

• .



(United States) consists of 50 operational amplifiers, 10 electromechan-ical multipliers, made with servo systems, control panel with two setting and other equipment. fields, 156 potentiometers for setting initial conditions, two voltmeters Fig. 276. Electronic analog computer of firm "Electronic Associates"

with serve systems, 32 voltage dividers and one plug-in setting field. Firm also releases installation of smaller dimensions of type 16-31 R (see Fig. 276b). It contains 20 operational amplifiers, four multipliers

10. 1 Mar

.



Fig. 277. Electronic analog computer (Radio Corporation of America) of type "Typhoon". KEY: (a) General form; (b) Three-stage platform; (c) Control panel.

It is intended for investigation of problems of control of spatial motion of missiles. It consists of four main blocks: block of rocket missile, carrying out solution of equation of motion of missile for given initial conditions and current values of forces and moments; aerodynamics unit, executing, according to given data of wind tunnel test and current values of coordinates and speed of object, calculation of forces and moments; target block, giving coordinates and speed of target; guidance unit, producing control signals and stabilisation by data on motion of target and missile.

	Number of elem	computing ments			
Designation of blocks of model	Stabilized operational amplifiers	Servo systems	Note		
Block of aerodynamics	135	6	There are 36 multiplier		
Guidance unit	148	ш	of increased accuracy.		
Block of rocket missile	135		From total of 445 oper- ational amplifiers, 80 are intended for work as integrator. All equipment is mounted on 43 panels		
Target block	9	2	Total number of tubes 4000		
Recording devices	18	-	Total power consumption from network 46 kilo- watts		
In all	44.5	19			

Composition of computing elements of installation can be characterized by the following table:

Results of molution are fixed on two recording tables. For visual observation there is a three-stage platform with model of missile, reproducing motion about center of gravity. Trajectory of motion of center of gravity of rocket missile and the target can be observed on special table with luminescent balls. Possibility of conjunction with real equipment of stabilization and control is not foreseen.





Fig. 278. Electronic analog computer of "Beckman Instruments, Inc." type EASE-1100 (the United States).

It is intended for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations; it consists of 60 operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level (made by Goldberg's diagram). To execute nonlinear operations there are 8 electronic pulse-time multipliers with two frequencies of saw-toothed voltage for work with narrow and broad band width, 10 electromechanical multipliers, made with servo systems. Electronic diode functional generators (20) allow us to carry out approximation in 20 sections. With the help of additional block there is foreseen possibility of automatic adjustment of these generators for reproduction of given nonlinear dependence. Furthermore, in installation are mounted 6 devices for transformation of coordinates, 8 sine-cosine generators, 10 pairs of diode elements. Setup is carried out on plug-in setting field with 3600 holes, by shielded connecting wires. With machine there can be used system of automatic setting of potentiometers from punched tape and electric typewriter. By this it is possible to give signal for measurement of output of any computing element of the installation.

Passive circuits of operational amplifiers are located in special housing, inside which a constant temperature is maintained.


Fig. 279. Electronic analog computer of "Goodyear Avicraft Corporation" type GEDA.

Installation is intended for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations. Installation includes: 108 operational amplifiers with centralized system of compensation of drift of zero level, 6 electronic diods functional generators, approximating given nonlinear dependence in 10 sections, 6 electronic pulse-time multipliers.

For setup there serve two plug-in setting fields. There is a digital voltneter, which in combination with accurate bridge is used for setting potentiumsters and automatic printing of results. Serve systems are used for automatic setting of potentiometers and functional generators. In installation is a system, allowing us automatically to control and read output voltage from any computing element.



NL

Fig. 280. Electronic analog computer of Reeves Instruments Corporation of type REAC-301.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations up to and including sixth order. It consists of 12 operational amplifiers with automatic stabilisation of zero level, 18 accurate potentiometers, stabilized power supplies and a 26-wolt supply for relays. Setup is carried out on plug-in setting field.

-495-



5

Ŧ

Fig. 281. Electronic analog computer REAC-400 of Reeves Instruments Corporation.

Installation contains 17 doubled operational amplifiers, four high-speed servo systems for multipliers, two transformers of coordinates and plug-in setting field.

-496-





Fig. 282. Electronic analog computer of Control Specialists, Inc.

Installation is intended for solution of ordinary linear differential equations up to and including sixth order. It consists of 12 d-c operational amplifiers with gain factor near $3 \cdot 10^4$ (six of them can work as an integrator).



Fig. 283. Electronic analog computer of Donner Scientific Company.

Installation consists of 10 operational amplifiers, each f which is made with one pentode. Setup is carried out on a separate setting field.



Brothers (England). 1 — laboratories, 2 — generating substation, 3 — site for electromechanical servo systems, 4 — hydraulic reductors, 5 electronic devices, 11 - location for storage of instruments, 12 - fan, trol station, 9 -- location for rectifiers, 10 -- location for checking oil tank, 6 - location of hydraulic pumps, Fig. 284. 13 - air coaler. General view of site of computer of type "TRIDAC" of Elliot 7 - oil cooler, 8 - con-



۰.

Fig. 285. Model assembly of stands of nonlinear analog with 12 operational amplifiers. SEA (France).



「ないないない」 ころうちょう ちょう



Fig. 286. Simulator of increased accuracy of type OME-P-2 of SEA (France).



Fig. 287. Electronic analog computer, with iteration of solution, of Tokyo Shibaura Electric Co.

Installation consists of 12 operational amplifiers, intended for work as integrator, adder, and also for fulfillment of other linear operations, and 6 amplifiers, utilized for multiplication by constant coefficient and inversion. To execute nonlinear operations there is foreseen a multiplier, two functional generators and a certain number of elements for reproduction of type nonlinear characteristics. Limits of linearity of output voltage \pm 50 v. Control voltage is fed from separate generator of cyclic pulses. For observation of solution there is used a built-in cathode oscillograph.



Fig. 288. Electronic analog computer with iteration of solution,

Installation provides solution of problem in 20, 50 and 100 milliseconds; it consists of 12 integrators, 10 summers, 6 scale blocks and 4 inverters. To execute nonlinear operations there are: one multiplier, one diode functional generator, one cathoderay functional generator and three blocks for reproduction of typical nonlinearities.







Fig. 290. Small electronic analog computer of type MEDA (Czechoslovakia).

It is intended for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations. It contains 20 operational amplifiers with automatic stabilization of zero level.

Ì



Fig. 291 Pardubice) of type AR3 (left part), AR4 (right side) (Csechoslovakia). Complex of electronic analog equipment (developed WVZ TESLA

woltage comparators, 6 devices for reproduction of time dependences. erators, 4 diode multipliers, 8 electromechanical multipliers, 10 and 48, nonlinear operations. Nonlinear part includes: 16 diode limi-ters, 4 universal functional generators, 16 specialized functional genand 48, nonlinear operations. of 112 operational amplifiers, of which 64 are used to execute linear, AR3 is electronic analog computer of average divension, consisting

inclusion at input of operational amplifier, 8 specialized functional generators (4 for reproduction of function x^2 , 2 for reproduction of function x^3 and 2 for reproduction of function sin x). limiters for inclusion in feedback circuit, 2 diode bridge limiters for amplifiers and the following nonlinear computing elements: AR4 -- small electronic analog computer, having 16 operational 4 diode

「ない」という

きまたまたい

•







Fig. 292. Electronic analog computer of VEB Archimedes Rechenmaschinenfabrik of type EAR-64 (German Democratic Republic).

Universal installation for solution of linear and nonlinear differential equations. It consists of 64 operational amplifiers with automatic stabilisation of sero level, of which 32 can work as integrator and summer. To execute nonlinear operations there can be used 16 nonlinear computing elements (electronic multipliers and universal functional generators). Nonlinear computing elements are constructed on basis of piecewise-linear approximation on diode elements. There is a setting field of 100 accurate potentiometers for setting coefficients, 4 amplifiers with relay output.

laterature dited

M.	A. Ayzerman 1. Theory of automatic control of motors. Gostekhizdat (1952).
D.	L. Iste An electrical method of analogue multiplication. Instrument Practice, London, Vol. 7, No. 8. June (1953).
•	l. styla and A. A. Cemenko vic h l. D-c electronic amplifiers. State Power Engineering Publishing House, (1957).
Ţ)	J. T. Buckerfield The parallel — T. J. C. amplifier. Proc. IEE, part II, Vol. 90, No. 71, Oct (1952).
G.	N. Balasanov Theoretical and experimental investigations of static power converter with semiconductor resistors. Uand. dissertation, IAT Academy of Sciences of USOR (1954).
V.	L. Benin Wattmeter with carborundum resistors. Automation and telemechanics, Vol. XVI, No. 2 (1955).
R.	R. Bennet and A. S. Fulton 1. The generation and measurement of low frequency random noise. Journ. Appl. Phys., Vol. 22, No. 9 (1951).
Å.	 A. Birunteyn 1. Computer mechanisms of instruments of control of surface-to-air naval artil- lery. Voyenizdat (1948).
Α.	M. Bonch-Bruyevich 1. Application of electron tubes in experimental physics. Gostekhizdat (1955).
R.	L. Bright 1. Junction transistors used as switches. Trans. AIEE, part 1, Vol. 74, March (1955).
R.	A. Bruns 1. An improved diode function generator for analog computers. Jet Propulsion Lab., Pasadena (1956).
A.	Ya. Breytbart 1. Parts and components of radar stations. Translation from English, ed. by A. Ya. Breytbart Press "Soviet radio," Vol. III (1953).
N.	G. Bruyevich 1. Accuracy of mechanisms. Gostekhizdat (1946).
N.	G. Bruyevich and B. G. Dostupov 1. Computers. Izdatel'stov VVIA Mescew (1954).

.

I. D. Bruk

- 1. Machine for integration of differential equations. Publishing House of Academy of Sceinces of USSR (1941).
- 2. Instrument for multiplication of two magnitudes, given in the form of electric voltages, variable in time. Bull. of inventions, No. 3, page 32 (1950).
- I. S. Bruk and N. N. Lenov
 - 1. Electronic differential analyzer of G. M. Krzhizhanovskiy Power Institute of Academy of Sciences of USSR Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 3 (1956).

V. A. Bush

- 1. The differential analyzer, a new machine for solving differential equations. Journ. Frankl. Inst., Vol. 212, No. 10 (1931).
- V. A. Bush and C. H. Coldwell
 - 1. A new type of differential analyzer. Journ. Frankl. Inst., Vol. 226, No. 10 (1945).
- M. L. Bykhovskiy
 - 1. Accuracy of electric circuits. Estimation of accuracy of main formula of theory of errors of electric circuits. Transactions of seminar on accuracy of mechanisms and machines, No. 1 (1952).
 - 2. Accuracy of electric circuits, working in transient regimes. Transactions of seminar on accuracy of mechanisms and machines, No. 4 (1952).
 - 3. Bases of dynamic accuracy of electric and mechanical circuits, Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR, Moscow (1958).
- R. L. Van Allen
 - 1. Four quadrant multiplication with transistors and magnetic core. Trans. AIEL, part 1 -- Communication and Electronics, No. 21, November (1955).
- P. R. Vance and D. L. Haas
 - 1. An input-output unit for analog computers. Proc. IRE, No. 10 (1953).
- V. G. Vasil'yev and V. A. Zverev
 - Electronic simulation of hysteresis characteristics of ferromagnetic materials. News of higher educational institutions. Electromechanics, No. 9, (1959).

C. A. Wass

1. Introduction to electronic analog computers. London, Pergamon Press (1955).

V. S. Vedrov

1. Dynamic stability of aircraft. Oborongiz (1938).

- L. B. Wadel and A. W. Wertham
 - 1. A survey of electronic analog computer installations. Trans. IRE, Vol. E-C-4, No. 2 (1955).
- V. A. Venikov
 - 1. Application of theory of similitude and physical simulating in electronics. State Power Engineering Publishing House (1949).

- I. M. Vittenberg
 - D-c amplifiers. Transactions of Decond All-Union Conference on Theory of Automatic Control. Publishing House of Academy of Deciences of UCCR, Vol. III (1955).
 - 2. Functional devices of nonlinear electric models, developed in the designing bureau of Ministry of Machine Building and Instrument-Making of UCCH. Trans. of Second All-Union Conference on Theory of Automatic Control, Vol. III. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).

V. F. Vlasov

- 1. Electronic vacuum instruments. Svyaz'izdat (1949).
- A. A. Voronov
 - 1. Elements of theory of automatic control. Voyenizdat (1950).
- I. N. Warfield
 - 1. Introduction to electronic analog computers. Prentice-Hall, Inc. (1959).
- A. K. Ganulich
 - 1. Methods of correlation of distortions during simulation of certain systems of automatic control. Trans. Zhukov VVIA No. 553 (1955).
- S. A. Ginzburg
 - 1. Logical method of synthesis of functional generators. Trans. of first congress IFAK, Vol. IV, page 267 (1961).
- E. A. Gluzberg
 - 1. Application of electronic analog computers in engineering studies. Instrument-Making, No. 6 (1956).
- B. B. Gnedenko
 - 1. Probability theory. Gostekhizdat (1957).
- E. A. Goldberg
 - 1. Stabilization of D-c amplifiers. RCA Rev., Vol. 11, No. 2, p. 296 (1950).
 - 2. Step multiplier in guided missile computer. Electronics, Vol. 24, No. 8 (1951).
 - 3. A High-Accuracy Time Division Multiplier. RCA Rev. Vol. 13, No. 3 (1952).
- I. G. Goldreer
 - 1. Stabilizers of voltage. State Power Engineering Publishing House (1952).
- K. W. Goff
 - 1. An analog electronic correlator for acoustic measurements. Journ. Acoust. Soc. Amer., Vol. 27, No. 2 (1955).
 - 2. The development of a variable time delay. Proc. IRE, Vol. 41, No. 11 (1953).
- I. C. Gradshteyn
 - 1. On behavior of solutions of systems of nonlinear differential equations degenerating in boundary value. DAN SSSR, Vol. 53, No. 5, pages 395-399 (1946).
- I. A. Greenwood, J. V. Holdman and D. Mac Ray
 - 1. Electronic Instruments, Vol. 21, McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York (1948).

...

Ya. I. Grinya and P. N. Kopay-Fora

1. Delay block with use of operational amplifiers and capacitors. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 5, pages 524-531 (1956).

V. V. Gurov

18 -

- 1. On use of electronic analog computers for investigation of slow processes of automatic control. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 5 (1956).
- Device for creation of constant delay. Trans. of Second All-Union Conference on Theory of Automatic Control, Vol. III. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
- V. V. Gurov, B. Ya. Kogan, A. D. Talantsev and V. A. Trapeznikov
 - 1. New electronic simulating equipment of Institute of Automation and Telemechanics of Academy of Sciences of USSR. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 1 (1956).
- L. I. Gutenmakher
 - 1. Electric simulation (electronic integrator). Aublishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1943).
 - 2. Electric models. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1949).
- L. I. Gutenmakher, N. V. Korol'kov, I. A. Vissonov, L. S. Klabukov and G. K. Kuz'minok 1. Handbook on electron-tube integrators of type ELI. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1952).
- M. Danloux-Dumesnils
 - 1. Le calcul analogique par Courants Continuz. Dunod, Paris (1958).
- A. S. Jackson

1. Analog computation. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc. (1960).

- C. L. Johnson
 - 1. Analog computer techniques. McGraw-Hill Book Co. (1956).
- K. V. Diprose

1. Analog computing in aeronautics. Journ. Roy. Aeronaut. Soc., Vol. 59, No. 535 (1955).

- C. S. Deering
 - 1. A Wide-band direct-coupled operational amplifier. Proceedings National Simulation Conference. January 19, 20, 21, 1956.
- S. O. Dobrogurskiy 1. Computing mechanisms. Oborongiz (1950).
- S. C. Dobrogurskiy and V. K. Titov 1. Computers. Oborongiz (1953).
- B. E. Davis and I. H. Swift
 - 1. An analogue computer technique using magnetic amplifiers. Trans. AIEE, part 1 -- Communication and Electronics, No. 16, Jan., (1955).
- J. N. Dukes 1. Electrical computing. Electronic Engineering, Vol. 24, No. 289 (1952).

- V. M. Hvseyev
 - 1. Operational amplifiers, not requiring stabilized power supplies. Automation and Telemechan cs, Vol. XVII, No. 5 (1957).
- G. M. Chdanov
 - 1. Synopsis of lectures in course "Computer automation," Jection I. Functional generators. MEL, Moscow (1953).
 - 2. Synopsis of lectures in course "computer automation," Section II. Integratordifferentiators. MEI, Moscow (1954).
- H. Liebolz and H. M. Paynter
 - 1. Possibilities of two-time scale computing system for control and simulation of dynamic systems. Proceeding NEC, Vol. IX p. 215-223 (1954).
- V. A. Ivanov
 - 1. Delay block with application of magnetic recording. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 4 (1956).
- W. J. Cunningham
 - 1. Time-Delay networks for analog computer. Trans. IRE, Vol. EC-3, No. 4, December (1954).
- M. I. Kantorovich
 - 1. Operator calculus and non-stationary phenomena in electric circuits. Gostekhizdat (1949).
- N. A. Kaptsov

1. Electric phenomena in gases and vacuum. Gostekhizdat (1947).

- V. A. Karabanov
 - 1. Electrodynamic analog. Coll. "Instruments and stands," Institute of Technical and Economic Information of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
- J. T. Carleton
 - 1. A versatile small scale analog computer. Proc. NEC, Vol. 6, Chicago (1951).
- 'f. V. Kirpichev and M. A. Mikheyev.
 - 1. Simulation of thermal devices. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1936).
- N. Klamka
 - 1. Ein elektronischer Modellregelkreis für die Synthese und Analyse von Regelvorgangen und Regelgeraten. Deutsche Elektrotechnik, No. 5 (1956).
- N. Ye. Kobrinskiy
 - 1. Mathematical analogs computers. Gostekhizdat (1954).
- L. D. Kovach and W. Comley
 - 1. An analogue multiplier using thyrite, Trans. IRE, Vol. EC-3, No. 2 (1954).
 - 2. Nonlinear transfer with thyrite. IRE Transactions on Electronic Computers, No. 2, p. 91-97 June (1958).
- B. Ya. Kogan.
 - 1. Simulation of processes of automatic control. Coll. "Techniques of automatic control, "VNITOE (1951).
 - 2. Electronic analog computers, IAT Academy of Sciences of USSH. Trans. of

Second All-Union Conference on theory of automatic control, Vol. III. Putlishing House of Academy of Iciences of USUR (1955).

- Methods of setup and solution on clectronic analog computers. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 1 (1956).
- 4. In similation of systems of automatic control with typical nonlinear characteristics. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVI, No. 2 (1955).
- 5. Theory of nonlinear computing elements, using piecewise linear approximation. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 12 (1956).
- 5. Reproduction of processes of startup of nuclear rectors. News UTN, Power Engineering and Automation, No. 4 (1961).
- 7. Methods of simulating rational-fractional-transfer functions without help of differentiating elements. Automation and Telemechanics, No. 1 (1960).
- 5. Ya. Kogan, A. A. Maslov and D. Ye. Polonnikov
 - 1. Electronic analog equipment of type EMU-8A. Herald of Academy of Sciences of USSR, No. 7 (1958).
- L. G. Kogan
 - 1. Investigation of systems of automatic control of voltage on electric model. Cand. dissertation, IAT Academy of Sciences of USSR (1948).
- G. Korn
 - Design of D-C Electronic Integrators. Electronics, Vol. 21, No. 5, pp. 124 - 126 (1948).
- G. Korn and T. Korn
 - 1. Electronic Analog Computers. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Toronto-London (1952).
 - Russian translation, Izdatel'stvo Inostrannou Literatury (1955).
 - 2. Relay time division multiplier. Rev. Sci. Instr., Vol. 25, No. 10, Oct. (1954).
 - 3. Electronic analog computers, second Ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co. (1950).
- I. V. Korol'kov and I. A. Bubnov

1. Step integrator. Author's application. Priority 1954.

- R. L. Cosgriff
 - 1. Integral controller for use in Carrier type servomechanisms. Trans. AIEE, part 11, Vol. 69 (1950).
- M. P. Kostenko
 - Electrodynamic model for investigation of stability. Electricity, No. 9 (1950).
- I. Ya. Krichevskiy
 - 1. Considerations on selection of circuit of experimental installation for investigation of regulators of speed . transport motors. Kharkov (1954).
- K. A. Krug
 - 1. Bases of electrical engineering. Energoizdat (1946).
- Ye. K.Krug and O. M. Minina
 - 1. Actuator of Automatic Recording Control with electromagnetic clutch. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XV. No. 6 (1954).

A. W. Krylov

1. Our un integrateur des equations differentielles ordinaires. News of Academy of Sciences, Series V, Vol. XX, No. 1 (1904).

L. J. Craig

 The magnetic amplifier as analog computer component. Proc. IRE, Vol. 41, No. 10 (1953).

A. C. Kurosh

1. Course of higher algebra. Gostekhizdat (1955).

A. A. Currie

- 1. The General purpose analog Computer. Bell Laboratories Record, Vol. 29, No. 3 (1951).
- J. H. Laning and R. H. Battin
 - 1. Random processes in problems of automatic control, Trans. from English, IL (1958).

N. N. Lenov

- 1. Electronic differential analyzer. Cand. dissertation ENIN, Academy of Sciences of USSR, Moscow (1954).
- 2. Contemporary state of design, production and operation of analog computers. Institute of Technical and Economic Information of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
- A. Ya. Lerner
 - 1. Improvement of dynamic properties of automatic compensators with the help of nonlinear couplings. Doctor's dissertation, IAT Academy of Sciences of USSR, Moscow (1955).

V. L. Lossiyevskiy

- 1. Application of theory of similitude and dynamic analogies to problems of simulating control systems and processes. State Power Engineering Publishing House (1951).
- 2. Simulating control processes of industrial plants. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XIV, No. 3 (1953).
- L. A. Lukashevich
 - 1. Multiplying system, built on principle of double amplitude modulation. Bulletin of Polish Academy of Sciences, Sect. IV, Vol. 3, No. 3 (1955).

Dzh. L'yuis [? Lewis or Louis]

1. Application of nonlinear feedback for improvement of transients in systems of automatic control. Coll. "Questions of rocket technology," IL, No. 4 (1954).

C. A. Ludeke

- 1. An electro-mechanical device for solving nonlinear differential equations. Journ. Appl. Phus., V. 20, No. 6, June (1949).
- 2. Analogues and simulators for solving nonlinear systems with several degrees of freedom. Proc. of International Analogy Computation Meeting, Bruxelles-Belgique (1956).

D. Mvnall

1. Electronic function generator. Nature, Vol. 159 (1947).

- G. D. McCann, C. H. Wilts and B. N. Locanthi
 - 1. Electronic technique applied to studing a mode of computation. Proc. IRE, Vol. 37, No. 8 (1949).
- D. M. Mackay
 - A high speed electronic function generator. Nature, Vol. 159, p. 406, March (1947).
- W. A. McCool
 - 1. An AM-FM Electronic analog multiplier. Proc. JRE, Vol. 41, No. 10 (1953).
- A. C. Munster
 - 1. Monoformer. Radio and Television News. Chicago-N. Y., Vol. 15, No. 10 (1950).
- A. I. Manukhin
 - 1. Electronic equivalent of a three-position relay. Informational pamphlet, NII MRTP, 6 (30), X (1955).
- I, M. Markovich
 - 1. Power systems and their regimes. State Fower Engineering Publishing House (1952).
- A. A. Maslow
 - 1. Calculation and projection of multipliers on carborundum resistors. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVIII, No. 4 (1957).
- A. A. Maslow and Yu. G. Purlow
 - 1. Universal functional generator using principle of quadratic approximation. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XXI No. 2 (1960).
- J. Matyas

f

ng

- 1. Rozbor presnosti elektronickych diferencialnich analyzator. Stroja na Zprocovani informaci, Coll. V (1957) pages 199 - 250.
- 2. Method of setup of linear differential equations with constant coefficients on analog computers. Veak Current Review, 21 (1960).
- 3. Programming of linear differential equations with variable coefficients for their solution by analog computers. Automation and Telemechanics, No. 7 (1959).
- C. A. Menaley
 - 1. Applications of electronic differential analyzers to engineering problems. Proc. IRE, Vol. 41, No. 10 (1953).
- C. A. Menaley and C. D. Morrill
 - 1. Linear electronic analog computer design. Proc. NEC, Vol. 5 (1949).
- M. Mehron and W. Otto
 - 1. Instantonious multiplier for computers. Electronics, Vol. 27, No. 2 (1954).
- R. L. Mille
 - 1. An Accurate Inexpensive Electronic Multiplier with Wide Dynamic Range. (Program of the Forty-Fifth Neeting of the Acoustical Society of America, May, 1953). Journ. Acoust. Soc. of America, Vol. XXV, No 4 (1953).

- N. F. Minorsky
 - 1. Application des circuits electriques a l'integration graphique de quelques equations differentielles. Rev. Gener. de l'Electr. Vol. 39, No. 22 (1936).
- D. Michel
 - 1. Techniques of application of analog computers. Materials of conference on analog computers in collection of materials of conference in Cranfield in 1951, Trans. from English, IL (1954).
- G. I. Monastyrshin
 - Mathematical simulation of dry friction. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XIX, No. 12 (1958).
- C. D. Morrill
 - 1. A sub-audio time delay circuit. Trans. IRE, Vol. EC-3, No. 2, June (1954).
- C. D. Morrill and R. V. Baum
 - 1. Stabilized time division multiplier. Electronics, Vol. 25, No. 12 (1952).
 - 2. Diode limiters simulate mechanical phenomena. Electronics, Vol. 25, No. 11, p. 122 (1952).
- F. J. Murray.
 - 1. Theory of mathematical machines. IL (1949).
- R. I. Medkeff and R. I. Parent
 - 1. A diode bridge limiter for use with electronic analogue computers. Trans. IEE, part 1, Vol. 70 (1951).
- H. F. Meissinger
 - 1. Representation of Function of several variables on REAC Equipment. Project Cyclone Symposium, Reeves Instr. Corp., No. 1 (1951).
 - 2. An Electronic circuit for the generation of function of several variables. Conv. Rec. IRE, part 4 (1955).
- F. E. Nixon
 - 1. Automatic control. New York, Prentice Hall (1954).
- Ya. V. Novosel'tsev and A. N. Lebedev 1. Computers. Mashgiz (1954).
- K. H. Norsworthy
 - 1. A simple electronic multiplier. Electron. Eng., Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 72 75 (1954).
- E. E. Newholl
 - 1. Waveform Gonerator uses pulse techniques. Electronics, Vol. 28, No. 6 (1955).
- I. Obradovich

- 1. Electronic analog computer for solution of problems of automatic control. Report on conferences "Ways of development of Soviet mathematical machine building," (1956).
- E. W. Pike and T. R. Silverberg
 - 1. Designing mechanical computers. Machine Design., Vol. 24, No. 7 and Vol. 24, No. 8 (1952). There is a Russian translation: Designing of mechanisms for realization

.

of functions of several variables. Collection of translations "Applied mechanics and Machine Building," No. 2 (1953).

C. N. Pederson, A. A. Gerlach, and R. E. Zenner

1. A Precise electronic function generator. Proc. NEC, Vol. 7 (1952).

N. Polegrin

1. Machines a calcules Electroniques arithmetiques et analogiques. Dunod, Paris (1959).

R. Peretz

 Calculateur analogique electronique. Ensemble analogique, electronique de l'Universite libre de Bruxelles, destine a l'etude des systemes physiques. Rev. E. Belg., Vol. 1, No. 7 (1955).

0. Perron

1. Die Lehre von den Kettenbrüchen. Leipzig und Berlin. Verlag von B. G. Teubner (1913).

A. I. Petrenko

1. Functional generator of graphics representations. Dissertation for degree of candidate of technical sciences, MEI (1952).

A. M. Petrovskiy

- 1. Generator of fluctuating noises for infrasonic frequencies. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XIV, No. 4 (1953).
- 2. Servey of methods of generating of infrasonic fluctuating emf. Trans. of Second All-Union Conference on Theory of Automatic Control, Vol. III. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).

L. G. Polimerou

1. A new method of generating functions. Trans. IRE, Vol. EC-3, No. 3, Sept. (1954).

D. Ye. Folonnikov

1. Wide-band operational amplifiers. Automation and Telemschanics, No. 12 (1960).

L. V. Polonskaya

1. Application of method of electric analogies to investigation and calculation of electromechanical servo system. Cand. dissertation, Kalinin LPI (1951).

Ye. P. Fonov

١

1. Dynamics of systems of automatic control. Gostekhisdat (1954).

N. I. Pchel'nikov

- 1. Instruments of control of surface-to-air artillery fire. Voyenisdat (1940).
- I. R. Ragazzini, R. H. Randall and F. A. Russell
 - 1. Analysis of problems in dynamics by electronic circuits. Proc. IRE, Vol. 35, No. 5 (1947).

A. A. Riskin

1. Bases of theory of amplifying circuits. Isd-vo "Soviet radio" (1951).

- G. B. Ringham and A. E. Culter
 - 1. Flight simulators. Journ. Roy. Aeronaut. Soc., Vol. 58, No. 518, March (1954).
- A. E. Rogers and T. W. Connoly
 - 1. Analog computation in engineering design. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York-Toronto-London (1960).
- M. A. Rozenblat and O. A. Sedykh
 - 1. Electric properties and application of carborundum resistors. Automation and Telemechanis, Vol. XII, No. 4 (1951).
- F. H. Raymond

- 1. Le calcul analogique. Principes et contributions a une theorie generale, Rome (1954).
- I. M. Sadovskiy
 - 1. Asynchronous servomotor as element of control circuit. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XIII, No. 6 (1952).
- A. Svoboda
 - 1. Computing mechanisms. Izd-vo. inost. lit. (1949).
- G. W. Smith and R. C. Wood
 - 1. Principles of analog computation. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York-Toronto-London (1959).
- A. A. Sokolov
 - 1. Electronic d-c amplifiers. Electricity, No. 10 (1949).
 - Electronic d-c amplifiers. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVI, No. 2 (1955).
- T. N. Sokolov
 - 1. Electromechanical systems of automatic control. State Power Engineering Publishing House (1952).
- V. V. Solodovnikov
 - 1. Certain methods of investigation of cystems of automatic adjustment. Cand. dissertation, VEI (1939).
- W. W. Soroka
 - 1. Analog methods in computation and simulation. N. Y., McGraw-Hill Book Co. (1954).

à

- B. J. Stanislavskiy
 - 1. Bases of theory of electric computers. Oborongiz (19/6).
- M. Strett
 - 1. Lame, Mathieu and related functions in physics and technology. Kharkov (1935).
- D. E. Sunstein
 - 1. Photoelectric waveform generators. Electronics, Vol. 22, No. 2 (1949).
- V. I. Sushkevich, ed 1. Vacuum-tube amplifiers, Vol. II. Translation from English. Izd-vo

"Soviet radio" (1951).

- M. J. Tucker
 - 1. An Electronic Square-law Circuit for use with a grafic recorder. Electron. Eng., Vol. 24, Oct. (1952).
- A. D. Talantsev
 - 1. Operational amplifiers with small zero drift. Trans. of Second All-Union Conference on Theory of Automatic Control, Vol. III. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
 - Diode functional generators. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 2 (1956).
 - 3. Author's certificate No. 96260. Priority, 20 February 1952.
 - 4. Cathode-ray functional generators. Report IAT Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
- V. S. Tarasov
 - 1. Bases of theory and designing of mathematical analog computers. No. I. Linear computer elements (summary of lectures), LPI (1961).
- F. Ye. Temnikov
 - 1. Automatic recording instruments. Mashgiz (1954).
- I. M. Tetel'baum

1. Electric simulation. Fishatgiz (1959).

- R. Tomovic
 - 1. Can intour analogiques repetitifs. Masson et Cie, Editeurs 120. Paris (1958).
- R. Tomovic and W. Karplus
 - 1. High speed analog computers (1962).
- S. B. Tompkins and Zh. N. Vakelin
 - 1. High speed computers. Translation from English, ed by D. Yu. Panov, IL (1952).
- V. A. Trapesnikov
 - 1. Simulating automatic devices. Electricity, No. 8 (1955).
- V. A. Trapeznikov and B. Ya. Kogan
 - 1. Principles of construction of simulators for investigation of processes of automatic control. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XIII, No. 6 (1952).
 - 2. State and main directions of development of electronic simulation in automation. Trans. of session of Academy of sciences on scientific problems of automation of production (1957).
- V. A. Trapesnikov, B. Ya. Kogan, V. V. Gurov and A. A. Maslov
 - 1. Description of electronic model of type EMU-5. Institute of Technical and Economic Information of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1956).
- S. Fifer

ž

1. Analogue computation. Theory, Techniques and Application. McGraw-Hill Book Co. (1961).

- A. A. Felidbaum
 - 1. Electric systems of automatic adjustment. Oborongiz (1954).
 - 2. On synthesis of optimum systems with the help of phase space, Automation and Telemschanics, Vol. XVI, No. 2 (1955).
 - 3. Methods of investigation of transients in self-adjusting systems. Doctor's dissertation, IAT Academy of Sciences of USSR, Moscow (1948).
 - 4. Electronic model of clearance. Author's certificate No. 101953, priority from 16 Oct., 1961.
 - 5. Computers in automation. Fizmatgiz M. (1959).
- A. A. Fel'dbaum and A. I. Manukhin
 - 1. Electronic apparatus for obtaining functions of two variables. Author's certificate No. 100891, priority from 16 Oct., 1951.
 - 2. Electronic multiplier. Coll. NII MPSS, No. 12 (1951).
- A. A. Fel'dbaum and S. P. Onufryuk
 - 1. Electronic model of clearance. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 6 (1956).
- A. A. Fel'dbaum and L. N. Fitsner
 - Diode nonlinear generators. Coll. NII MPSS, No. 12 (1951); see also A. A. Fel'dbaum — author's certificates No. 86673, February 1950 and No. 98305, June 1951.
- N. Filipchak, V. Filipchak and T. Zelinskiy
 - 1. Method of mathematical simulation of physical processes, without limitation of region of variation of parameter, and its application to questions of automatic control of nuclear reactors. Trans. of I International Congress, IFAK, Vol. VI page 374, Moscow (1961).
- L. A. Finzi and R. A. Mathias
 - 1. An application of magnetic amplifier circuits to perform multiplication and other analytical operations. Trans. AIEE, part 1, Vol. 72 (1953).
- L. N. Fitsner
 - 1. Device for multiplication of two magnitudes. Bull. of Inventions, No. 2, page 31 (1955).
 - 2. Multiplier using thyrites. Instrument-making, No. 4 (1956).
 - 3. On one type of servo system with correcting actions. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVII, No. 3 (1956).
- L. N. Fitsner and L. I. Shevchenko
 - 1. On one method of integration of electric voltage. Instrument-making, No. 8 (1957).
- E. Flater and K. Frans
 - 1. Multiplicador electronica par impulsos modulados en duracion y amplitude. Revista Telegrafica Electronica, Vol. 41, Buenos Aires (1952).
- M. W. Fossier and H. A. Rosen
 - 1. A desk model electronic analog computer. Trans. IRE, Vol EC-3, No. 7, Dec. (1954).
- A. E. Kharybin

1. Manufacture and testing of separate blocks of a simulator. Report IAT

Academy of Sciences of USSR, No. 2 (1952).

- R. Havilend
 - 1. Arbitrary Function Generator. U. S. Pat. No. 223105, class 235-61, 20 Apr. 1951.
- E. J. Hancock
 - 1. Photoformer design and performance. Proc. NEC, Vol. 7, pp. 228-234 (1951).
- I. N. Holmes and M. A. Dukes
 - 1. A speech-waveform correlator with magnetic tape delay and electronic multiplication. Proc. IEE, part 111, No. 72, July (1954).
- V. A. Khokhlov
 - Electro-hydraulic converters for d-c electronic integrators. Trans. of Second All-Union Conference on Theory Automatic Control, Vol. III. Publishing House of Academy of Sciences of USSR (1955).
- H. Hamer

.

- 1. A stabilized driftless analog integrator. Trans. IRE, Vol. EC-3, No. 4, Dec. (1954).
- Ya. Z. Tsypkin and P. V. Bromberg
 - 1. On degree of stability of linear systems. Izd-vo OTH of Academy of Sciences of USSR, No. 12 (1945).
- B. Chance, F. C. Williams, C. G. Yang, J. Busser and J. Higgins
 - 1. A square-law multiplier using a segmented parabolic characteristic. Rev. Sci. Instr., Vol. 22, No. 9 (1951).
- B. Chance and V. Huges
 - Waveforms. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York (1949). Russian translation -- Generating of electric oscillations of special form, Vols. I, II, translation from English ed. by L. Yu. Blyumberg and T. R. Brakhtman. Izd-vo "Soviet radio" (1951).
- H. Chestnut, W. Sollecito and P. Troutman 1. Predictive control system application. Application and Industry, July (1961).
- D. H. Schaefer
 - 1. A static Magnetic Transistor Analogue Divider. Trans. AIFE, part 1. Electronics and Communication, No. 21, Nov. (1955).
- M. A. Shnaydman
 - 1. Investigation of accuracy of computing elements of a model. Automaticn and Telemechanics, Vol. XIV, No. 2 (1953).
 - 2. Elements of nonlinear model for investigation of systems of automatic control. Report IAT Academy of Sciences of USSR, NM 543 (1953).
 - 3. Simulation of a pickup in accounting for step nature of potentiometer and hysteresis of sensor. Automation and Telemechanics, Vol. XVIII, No. 7 (1957).
- G. L. Shnirman
 - 1. Electric methods of integration and differentiation. Labors of Seismologic Institute of Academy of Sciences of USSR, No. 105 (1940).
- Ye. G. Shramkov, ed 1. Flectric and magnetic measurements. ONTI (1937).

T. E. Stern

1. Piecewise -- Linear network analysis and synthesis. Proceedings of the symposium on nonlinear circuit analysis. New York-London (1957).

H. W. Shultz

- 1. The photoformer in allocan calculations. Proc. NEC, Vol. 5. pp. 40 47 (1949).
- D. P. Ekkman and I. Lefkovich
 - 1. Principles of application of models in optimum systems of control. Trans. of First International Congress on Automatic Control, Publishing House of Arademy of Sciences USSR, 3 (1961).
- K. E. Erglis
 - 1. Electronic circuit cross-multiplier of instantaneous values of two signalternating voltages. Cand. dissertation, MEI, Moscow (1950).
- I. I. Etterman
 - 1. Mathematical analog machines. Mashgiz (1957).

DISTRIBUTION LIST

•

.

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENS	E NR. COPIES	MAJOR ATR COMMANDS	NR. COPIES
		DDC	20
HEADQUARTERS USAF ARL (ARB)	l	AFSC SCFTC TDBDP TDBDP (Mrs. Webb) TDBTL TDBMT TDBXP TDGS	1 2 1 5 5 1 1
OTHER AGENCIES		TDT SSD (SSF) SESCA (Warshawsky) ASD (ASFR)	2 2 5 2
CIA DIA ATD NASA (ATSS-T)	5 4 2 1	SSD (SSFAR) APGC (PGF) ESD (ESY) RADC (RAY)	2 1 1 1
OAR OTS NSA ARMY (FSTC)	1 2 6 3	AFWL (WLF) AFETR (MIW) ASD (ASFA)	1 1 2
NAVY NAFEC ABC RAND AFCRL (CRXLR)	3 1 2 1 1		

PTD-MT- 64-115

.

.